Evidence-Based Massage Therapy

EVIDENCE-BASED MASSAGE THERAPY

A Guide For Clinical Practice

RICHARD LEBERT

eCampusOntario



Evidence-Based Massage Therapy by Richard Lebert is licensed under a <u>Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License</u>, except where otherwise noted.

CONTENTS

| | Introduction | 1 |
|-----|---|----|
| | Aims and Structure of The Book | 5 |
| | About The Author | 7 |
| | | |
| | | |
| | Part I. Setting the Groundwork for Evidence-Based Massage | |
| 1. | Critical Thinking and Evaluating Sources | 13 |
| 2. | The Hierarchy of Scientific Evidence | 16 |
| 3. | Systematic Reviews of Massage Therapy | 18 |
| | | |
| | | |
| | Part II. Theories and Treatment Strategies | |
| 4. | Massage Therapy: An Evidence-Based Framework | 33 |
| 5. | Pain Education | 41 |
| 6. | Neural Mobilization | 48 |
| 7. | Myofascial Release | 55 |
| 8. | Myofascial Triggerpoints | 61 |
| 9. | Joint Mobilization | 67 |
| | | |
| | | |
| | Part III. Complementary Therapies | |
| 10. | Instrument Assisted Soft Tissue Mobilization | 77 |
| 11. | Self Massage and Foam Rolling | 81 |
| 12. | Cupping Therapy | 84 |
| 13. | Elastic Therapeutic Tape | 87 |
| 14. | Medical Acupuncture | 90 |
| 15. | Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) | 99 |

16. Thermal Applications: Heat & Cold

Part IV. Clinical Examination

| 17. | Interpersonal Communication Skills | 115 |
|-----|------------------------------------|-----|
| 18. | Screening for Red and Yellow Flags | 118 |
| 19. | Orthopedic Physical Examination | 123 |
| 20. | Neurological Examination | 128 |

Part V. Massage Therapy for Musculoskeletal Pain

| 21. | Temporomandibular Disorders | 141 |
|-----|--|-----|
| 22. | Migraines and Tension-Type Headaches | 146 |
| 23. | Post-Concussion Syndrome | 153 |
| 24. | Neck Pain | 159 |
| 25. | Shoulder Pain | 165 |
| 26. | Elbow Pain | 173 |
| 27. | Thoracic Outlet Syndrome | 178 |
| 28. | Carpal Tunnel Syndrome | 186 |
| 29. | Dupuytren's Disease | 193 |
| 30. | Back Pain | 199 |
| 31. | Sciatica | 210 |
| 32. | Hip Pain | 217 |
| 33. | Knee Pain | 225 |
| 34. | Achilles Tendinopathy | 233 |
| 35. | Ankle Pain | 239 |
| 36. | Plantar Heel Pain | 245 |
| 37. | Rehabilitation for Strains and Sprains | 250 |
| 38. | Fibromyalgia | 257 |
| 39. | Chronic Pain | 261 |
| 40. | Osteoarthritis | 267 |
| 41. | Delayed Onset Muscle Soreness | 274 |

| 42. | Tendinopathy | 281 |
|-----|---|-----|
| | Supplementary Resources Supplementary Resources | 289 |
| | Glossary | 296 |
| | <u>Glossary</u> | |

Introduction

Chronic musculoskeletal pain is associated with significant social and economic costs (<u>Blyth et al., 2019</u>, <u>Shupler et al., 2019</u>). What's more is that conventional treatment options such opioid-based analgesics, corticosteroid injections, and surgical interventions are associated with small improvements versus placebo for pain and function and an increased risk of harm (<u>Busse et al., 2017</u>, <u>Chou et al., 2020</u>). This has prompted stakeholders to re-evaluate how treatment is provided for people living with chronic musculoskeletal pain (<u>Lewis et al., 2020</u>; <u>Lin et al., 2020</u>).

Musculoskeletal pain is a complex and multifactorial phenomenon and treatment requires an individualized multidisciplinary approach that addresses biopsychosocial influences and empowers people with shared decision-making. Increasingly evidence-based non-pharmacological treatments options are being integrated with standard care as part of a person-centered approach (Lin et al., 2020; Manchikanti et al., 2020).

The paradigm shift to an evidence-based multidisciplinary approach presents an opportunity for massage therapists to collaborate with other healthcare professionals to improve a patient's health and treatment outcome. With respect to the multidisciplinary treatment of pain, massage therapy has a desirable safety profile and it is a health care option that has been shown to be effective for many persistent pain syndromes (Skelly et al., 2020). What is often not appreciated is that a number of clinical practice guidelines and systematic reviews support the use of massage therapy for patients suffering from a whole host of conditions including but not limited to back pain, tension-type headaches, temporomandibular joint disorder, carpal tunnel syndrome, and plantar heel pain.

Specific examples would be the endorsement from the American College of Physicians who now recognizes massage therapy as a treatment option for patients with acute and chronic low back pain (<u>Chou et al., 2017</u>; <u>Qaseem et al., 2017</u>). Another example is the Canadian Guideline for Opioid and Chronic Non-Cancer Pain now recommends a trial of massage therapy rather than a trial of opioids for a number of conditions including: back and neck pain, osteoarthritis of the knee and headaches (<u>Busse et al., 2017</u>). Internationally – The Global Spine Care Initiative also recognizes the value of non-pharmacological treatment options such as exercise, yoga, and massage therapy (<u>Chou et al., 2018</u>).



Key Takeaways

Based on updated clinical practice guidelines, as a profession Massage Therapists will see an increase in direct physician referrals as we are now recognized as front line treatments for acute and chronic pain. This is a change that did not happened over night, for years massage therapy has been shown to be a safe, effective non-pharmacological therapeutic intervention that is simple to carry out, economical, and has very few side effects.

References & Sources

Blyth, F. M., Briggs, A. M., Schneider, C. H., Hoy, D. G., & March, L. M. (2019). The Global Burden of Musculoskeletal Pain-Where to From Here?. *American journal of public health*, 109(1), 35–40. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304747

Busse, J. W., Craigie, S., Juurlink, D. N., Buckley, D. N., Wang, L., Couban, R. J., ... Guyatt, G. H. (2017). Guideline for opioid therapy and chronic noncancer pain. *CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association journal*, 189(18), E659–E666. doi:10.1503/cmaj.170363

Chou, R., Deyo, R., Friedly, J., Skelly, A., Hashimoto, R., Weimer, M., ... Brodt, E. D. (2017). Nonpharmacologic Therapies for Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review for an American College of Physicians Clinical Practice Guideline. *Annals of internal medicine*, 166(7), 493–505. doi:10.7326/M16-2459

Chou, R., Côté, P., Randhawa, K., Torres, P., Yu, H., Nordin, M., ... Cedraschi, C. (2018). The Global Spine Care Initiative: applying evidence-based guidelines on the non-invasive management of back and neck pain to low- and middle-income communities. *European spine journal*, 27(Suppl 6), 851–860. doi:10.1007/s00586-017-5433-8

Chou, R., Hartung, D., Turner, J., Blazina, I., Chan, B., Levander, X., ... Pappas, M. (2020). *Opioid Treatments for Chronic Pain. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality* (US). DOI: https://doi.org/10.23970/AHRQEPCCER229.

Côté, P., Yu, H., Shearer, H. M., Randhawa, K., Wong, J. J., Mior, S., ... Lacerte, M. (2019). Non-pharmacological management of persistent headaches associated with neck pain: A clinical practice guideline from the Ontario protocol for traffic injury management (OPTIMa) collaboration. *European journal of pain (London, England)*, 23(6), 1051–1070. doi:10.1002/ejp.1374

Foster, N. E., Anema, J. R., Cherkin, D., Chou, R., Cohen, S. P., Gross, D. P., ... Lancet Low Back Pain Series Working Group (2018). Prevention and treatment of low back pain: evidence, challenges, and promising directions. *Lancet (London, England)*, 391(10137), 2368–2383. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30489-6

Fraser, J. J., Corbett, R., Donner, C., & Hertel, J. (2018). Does manual therapy improve pain and function in patients with plantar fasciitis? A systematic review. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 26(2), 55–65. doi:10.1080/10669817.2017.1322736

Huisstede, B. M., van den Brink, J., Randsdorp, M. S., Geelen, S. J., & Koes, B. W. (2018). Effectiveness of Surgical and Postsurgical Interventions for Carpal Tunnel Syndrome-A Systematic Review. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 99(8), 1660–1680.e21. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2017.04.024

Lewis, J. S., Cook, C. E., Hoffmann, T. C., & O'Sullivan, P. (2020). The Elephant in the Room: Too Much Medicine in Musculoskeletal Practice. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 50(1), 1–4.

Lin, I., Wiles, L., Waller, R., Goucke, R., Nagree, Y., Gibberd, M., ... O'Sullivan, P. (2020). What does best practice care for musculoskeletal pain look like? Eleven consistent recommendations from high-quality clinical practice guidelines: systematic review. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(2), 79–86. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099878

4 | INTRODUCTION

Manchikanti, L., Singh, V., Kaye, A. D., & Hirsch, J. A. (2020). Lessons for Better Pain Management in the Future: Learning from the Past. *Pain and therapy*, 10.1007/s40122-020-00170-8. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s40122-020-00170-8

Qaseem, A., Wilt, T. J., McLean, R. M., Forciea, M. A., & Clinical Guidelines Committee of the American College of Physicians (2017). Noninvasive Treatments for Acute, Subacute, and Chronic Low Back Pain: A Clinical Practice Guideline From the American College of Physicians. *Annals of internal medicine*, 166(7), 514–530. doi:10.7326/M16-2367

Randhawa, K., Bohay, R., Côté, P., van der Velde, G., Sutton, D., Wong, J. J., ... Taylor-Vaisey, A. (2016). The Effectiveness of Noninvasive Interventions for Temporomandibular Disorders: A Systematic Review by the Ontario Protocol for Traffic Injury Management (OPTIMa) Collaboration. *The Clinical journal of pain*, 32(3), 260–278. doi:10.1097/AJP.00000000000247

Shupler, M. S., Kramer, J. K., Cragg, J. J., Jutzeler, C. R., & Whitehurst, D. (2019). Pan-Canadian Estimates of Chronic Pain Prevalence From 2000 to 2014: A Repeated Cross-Sectional Survey Analysis. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 20(5), 557–565. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2018.10.010

Skelly, A.C., Chou, R., Dettori, J.R., Turner, J.A., Friedly, J.L., Rundell, S.D., ... Ferguson, A.J.R. (2020). *Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review Update*. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). DOI: https://doi.org/10.23970/ AHRQEPCCER227.

AIMS AND STRUCTURE OF THE BOOK

Aims and Structure of The Book

This book exists to facilitate interprofessional education and collaboration between massage therapists and health care teams. As the practice of massage therapy moves into mainstream medical care for a number of physical ailments, students and practicing massage therapists have an urgent need for a clinical resource that will be continuously updated as new research becomes available. The primary goal of this resource is to turn recent policy changes into actionable gains for the advancement of our profession globally, by:

- 1. Identifying and describing key postulates and applications of an evidence-based framework.
- 2. Providing an overview of current research findings and their practical implications for massage therapists.
- 3. Fostering a culture of evidence-based practice by incorporating new scientific findings and methods into clinical practice.

Note On The Format Of The Book

This is a project utilizing Open Educational Resources (OERs) to set the groundwork for research literacy and evidence based practice. This resource is a living document that is constantly being updated and systematically edited for clarity and flow. It will be monitored and updated throughout the life-cycle, based off Paul Hibbits Learning & Technology Development Process Model.





This work by Paul D. Hibbitts and Myra T. Travin is licensed under a

Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 International License.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

About The Author: Richard Lebert

Richard Lebert is an educator, researcher, and health care professional with a focus on digital literacy, interprofessional collaboration and person-centred care. He is Associate Faculty in The School of Health Science, Community Services and Creative Design at Lambton College and a Registered Massage Therapist with over ten years of experience. In addition to his training as a massage therapist, Richard has certification in Medical Acupuncture from McMaster University and a Certificate of Online and Open Learning from The University of Windsor.

An active advocate for interdisciplinary collaboration, Richard is involved in a number of committees and ongoing projects. This has led to him being recognized by the Registered Massage Therapists' Association of Ontario (RMTAO) for his contribution to the profession.



Contact Person

Richard Lebert – Associate Faculty, School of Health Science, Community Services and Creative Design at Lambton College Richard.Lebert@lambtoncollege.ca Lambton College, Sarnia, Ontario, Canada 1457 London Road, Sarnia, ON, N7S 6K4

Note to Educators Using this Resources

This resource can support learners knowledge and skill related to clinical practice with a client with musculoskeletal pain. If you would like to share your experience using this open educational resource or provide feedback, please contact Richard Lebert.

PART I SETTING THE GROUNDWORK FOR EVIDENCE-BASED MASSAGE

Setting the Groundwork for Evidence-Based Massage Therapy

Being a recognized treatment option for people in pain means the profession of massage therapy is moving into new formal settings. As this shift occurs, it is important that therapists adhere to evidence-based medicine and utilize critical thinking and research literacy skills. David Sackett and Gordon Guyatt first introduced evidence-based medicine (EBM) in 1996 as the conscientious use of current best evidence in making decisions about patient care. It is a process intended to reduce the risk of harm and optimize decision-making by emphasizing the use of



evidence from well designed research. This includes the use of logical reasoning and the gathering of ideas and knowledge from many overlapping disciplines.

• **Patient Values** – The needs and requests of your patient will influence your decision making. Therapists need to be able to hear the patient's values and create a working relationship with the patient. Shared-decision making will include developing a plan of care based on individualized goals and needs of the patient.

• **Research Evidence** – Research's main role is to help guide clinical decisions and to warn of known harm, the higher the quality of the evidence the more confident we can be as a therapist making an informed decision.

• Clinical Expertise – Clinical experience is used to create individualized treatment plans as patient presentation will vary on a case by case basis. Making sound decisions requires the clinician to expertly assess the patient's personal, social, and clinical context and integrate this information with the values and preferences of the informed patient. The therapist will use his/her clinical expertise and allow the evidence to guide this process, rather than dictate it.

Key Takeaways

Evidence-based medicine systematically integrates **research evidence** with **clinical expertise** and **patient values** to achieve the best possible patient management, while minimizing the potential for harm. This section features a number of resources that help to bridge the gap between research and clinical practice.

References and Sources

Albarqouni, L., Hoffmann, T., Straus, S., Olsen, N. R., Young, T., Ilic, D., ... Glasziou, P. (2018). Core Competencies in Evidence-Based Practice for Health Professionals: Consensus Statement Based on a Systematic Review and Delphi Survey. *JAMA network open*, 1(2), e180281. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.0281

Baskwill, A. (2016). A guiding framework to understand relationships within the profession of massage therapy. *Journal of bodywork and movement therapies*, 20(3), 542–548. doi:10.1016/j.jbmt.2015.12.003

Baskwill, A. J., & Dore, K. (2016). Exploring the awareness of research among registered massage therapists in Ontario. *Journal of complementary & integrative medicine*, 13(1), 41–49. doi:10.1515/jcim-2015-0006

Baskwill, A., Vanstone, M., Harnish, D., & Dore, K. (2019). "I am a healthcare practitioner": A qualitative exploration of massage therapists' professional identity. *Journal of complementary & integrative medicine*, /j/jcim.ahead-of-print/ jcim-2019-0067/jcim-2019-0067.xml. Advance online publication. doi:10.1515/jcim-2019-0067

Gowan-Moody, D. M., Leis, A. M., Abonyi, S., Epstein, M., & Premkumar, K. (2013). Research utilization and evidence-based practice among Saskatchewan massage therapists. *Journal of complementary & integrative medicine*, 10, /j/jcim.2013.10.issue-1/jcim-2012-0044/jcim-2012-0044.xml. doi:10.1515/jcim-2012-0044

Greenhalgh, T., Howick, J., Maskrey, N., & Evidence Based Medicine Renaissance Group (2014). Evidence based medicine: a movement in crisis?. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 348, g3725. doi:10.1136/bmj.g3725

Greenhalgh, T. (2017). How to Implement Evidence-Based Healthcare. Wiley-Blackwell.

Greenhalgh, T. (2019). Understanding Research Methods for Evidence-Based Practice in Health (2nd ed). Wiley.

Kennedy, A. B., Cambron, J. A., Sharpe, P. A., Travillian, R. S., & Saunders, R. P. (2016). Clarifying Definitions for the Massage Therapy Profession: the Results of the Best Practices Symposium. *International journal of therapeutic massage* & *bodywork*, 9(3), 15–26. doi:10.3822/ijtmb.v9i3.312

Kennedy, A. B., Cambron, J. A., Sharpe, P. A., Travillian, R. S., & Saunders, R. P. (2016). Process for massage therapy practice and essential assessment. *Journal of bodywork and movement therapies*, 20(3), 484–496. doi:10.1016/j.jbmt.2016.01.007

Larsen, C. M., Terkelsen, A. S., Carlsen, A. F., & Kristensen, H. K. (2019). Methods for teaching evidence-based practice: a scoping review. *BMC medical education*, 19(1), 259. doi:10.1186/s12909-019-1681-0

Ooi, S. L., Smith, L., & Pak, S. C. (2018). Evidence-informed massage therapy – an Australian practitioner perspective. *Complementary therapies in clinical practice*, 31, 325–331. doi:10.1016/j.ctcp.2018.04.004

Patelarou, A. E., Kyriakoulis, K. G., Stamou, A. A., Laliotis, A., Sifaki-Pistolla, D., Matalliotakis, M., ... Patelarou, E. (2017). Approaches to teach evidence-based practice among health professionals: an overview of the existing evidence. *Advances in medical education and practice*, 8, 455–464. doi:10.2147/AMEP.S134475

Sackett, D. L., Rosenberg, W. M., Gray, J. A., Haynes, R. B., & Richardson, W. S. (1996). Evidence based medicine: what it is and what it isn't. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 312(7023), 71–72. doi:10.1136/bmj.312.7023.71

Smith, R., & Rennie, D. (2014). Evidence-based medicine-an oral history. *JAMA*, 311(4), 365-367. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.286182

CRITICAL THINKING AND EVALUATING SOURCES

Critical Thinking and Evaluating Sources

Bias has the potential to influence perceptions and decision-making. To help mitigate flaws in thinking there are a number of different filters you can use to process information and evaluate resources. In this text we use the CRAAP method of evaluating information, but there are a number of other tools that are just as useful.

The CRAAP Method of Evaluating Sources

In the age of 'new media' and 'fake news' it is important to be able to critically evaluate information. If you are unsure of the validity of what you are reading, **The CRAAP Method** is a simple acronym that will simplify the way you evaluate information.

Research Literacy – Think CRAAP

| Currency | Is the information current? |
|-----------|--|
| Relevance | Does the information answer your question? |
| Accuracy | Is the information supported by evidence? |
| Authority | Who is the author & what are their qualifications? |
| Purpose | Are the authors intentions clear? |

The CRAAP test is a test to check the reliability of sources across academic disciplines.

Key Takeaways

If you are unsure of the validity of what you are reading, **The CRAAP Method** is a simple acronym that will simplify the way you evaluate information.

References and Sources

Higgins, J. P., Altman, D. G., Gøtzsche, P. C., Jüni, P., Moher, D., Oxman, A. D., ... Sterne, J. A. (2011). The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 343, d5928. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d5928 Kamper, S. J. (2018). Bias: Linking Evidence With Practice. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(8), 667–668. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2018.0703

Kamper, S. J. (2020). Risk of Bias and Study Quality Assessment: Linking Evidence to Practice. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 50(5), 277–279. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2020.0702

Nisbett, R. (2015). Mindware: Tools for Smart Thinking. Random House Canada.

Weisman, A., Quintner, J., Galbraith, M., & Masharawi, Y. (2020). Why are assumptions passed off as established knowledge?. *Medical hypotheses*, 140, 109693. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2020.109693

THE HIERARCHY OF SCIENTIFIC EVIDENCE

The Hierarchy of Scientific Evidence

Evaluating research involves ranking studies based on their methods. **The Hierarchy of Evidence Pyramid** provides an overview of various types and levels of scientific research.



The hierarchy of research evidence

Key Takeaways

The hierarchy of evidence pyramid provides an overview of various types and levels of scientific research, systematic reviews sit at the top of the pyramid, followed by randomized control trials and observational studies. Expert opinion and anecdotal experience are ranked at the bottom.

References and Sources

Burns, P. B., Rohrich, R. J., & Chung, K. C. (2011). The levels of evidence and their role in evidence-based medicine. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery*, 128(1), 305–310. doi:10.1097/PRS.0b013e318219c171

Murad, M. H., Asi, N., Alsawas, M., & Alahdab, F. (2016). New evidence pyramid. *Evidence-based medicine*, 21(4), 125–127. doi:10.1136/ebmed-2016-110401

Tomlin, G., & Borgetto, B. (2011). Research Pyramid: a new evidence-based practice model for occupational therapy. *The American journal of occupational therapy: official publication of the American Occupational Therapy Association*, 65(2), 189–196. doi:10.5014/ajot.2011.000828

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS OF MASSAGE THERAPY

Systematic Reviews of Massage Therapy

Massage Therapy – The Science is Emerging

Systematic reviews are used as part of an evidence-based model of care to help identify and evaluate existing research for a specific topic. Conducting a systematic review is a complex process. This specific type of research, requires multiple research experts each with their own specialized background to collaborate and analyze all the existing research available for one specific topic.

First researchers will pick a particular topic – for example we could say, 'the use of massage therapy for low back pain'. Then the researchers comb through research databases to find studies from around the world carried out on that specific topic. After the search is completed the articles are evaluated based on a predefined inclusion criteria. Then articles are separated by those that meet the pre-defined criteria and those that do not meet the predefined criteria.

The research articles that meet the pre-defined criteria are then individually screened for potential biases. There are a number of ways that biases sneak into research, for massage therapy one of the primary sources of bias is due to therapist and patient blinding (this is hard to control for). In addition to evaluating studies for potential biases, researchers are looking for potential harms, and treatment effect size. Essentially, does this treatment work, and how does it compare to a placebo/sham intervention.



Identify the issue and determine the question

Healthcare Triage: Systematic Review and Evidence-based Medicine



A List of Systematic Reviews of Massage Therapy

Twenty years ago there was a limited number of systematic reviews of massage therapy, since 2005 there has been a steady increase in the quality and number of systematic reviews of massage therapy.



Systematic Reviews of Massage Therapy (1998-2019)

Graphical representation of the steady increase in number of systematic reviews

Improvement in Quality & Quantity

Based on these systematic reviews massage therapy has a growing body of evidence supporting its effectiveness in reducing pain and improving health-related quality of life in a variety of health conditions and rehabilitation, including but not limited to:

- Chronic Pain (Busse et al., 2017; Crawford et al., 2016; Skelly et al., 2020)
- Low Back Pain (Chou et al., 2017; Qaseem et al., 2017; Brasure et al., 2019; Skelly et al., 2020)
- Neck Pain (Chou et al., 2018; Côté et al., 2016; Skelly et al., 2020)
- Headaches and Migraines (Busse et al., 2017; Côté et al., 2019)
- Temporomandibular Disorder (Martins et al., 2016; Randhawa et al., 2016)
- Shoulder Pain (Hawk et al., 2017; Steuri, et al., 2017; Pieters et al., 2020)
- Carpal Tunnel Syndrome (Huisstede et al., 2018)
- Lateral Epicondylitis (Sutton et al., 2016)
- Arthritis (<u>Nelson et al., 2017</u>)
- Hip Osteoarthritis (Cibulka et al., 2017; Skelly et al., 2018)
- Knee Osteoarthritis (Busse et al., 2017; Newberry et al., 2017)
- Plantar Fasciitis (Fraser et al., 2018)
- Chronic Ankle Instability (Powden et al., 2017)
- Surgical Pain Population (Boitor et al., 2017; Boyd et al., 2016; Kukimoto et al., 2017)
- Symptom Burden of Critically Ill Adults (<u>Thrane et al., 2019</u>)

22 | SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS OF MASSAGE THERAPY

- Cancer-Related Fatigue (<u>Hilfiker et al., 2018</u>)
- Cancer Pain Population (Boyd et al., 2016; Calcagni et al., 2019)
- Fibromyalgia (<u>Busse et al., 2017; Skelly et al., 2020; Yuan et al., 2015</u>)
- Delayed Onset Muscle Soreness (Dupuy et al., 2018; Guo et al., 2017)
- Postpartum Maternal Sleep (<u>Owais et al., 2018</u>)
- Pain Management in Labour (<u>Smith et al., 2018</u>)
- Antenatal Depression (Smith et al., 2019)
- Hypertrophic Scarring (Ault et al., 2018)
- Palliative Care (<u>Armstrong et al., 2019</u>; <u>Zeng et al., 2018</u>)
- Dementia (behavioural & psychological symptoms) (Leng et al., 2020; Margenfeld et al., 2019; Watt et al., 2019)
- Parkinson's Disease (motor and non-motor symptoms) (<u>Angelopoulou et al., 2020</u>)

Key Takeaways

Massage therapy is a clinically-oriented healthcare option, that is increasingly being used alongside standard medical care to help manage a number of symptoms. This chapter highlights a number of systematic reviews that support the use of massage therapy.

References and Sources

Angelopoulou, E., Anagnostouli, M., Chrousos, G. P., & Bougea, A. (2020). Massage therapy as a complementary treatment for Parkinson's disease: A Systematic Literature Review. *Complementary therapies in medicine*, 49, 102340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2020.102340

Armstrong, M., Flemming, K., Kupeli, N., Stone, P., Wilkinson, S., & Candy, B. (2019). Aromatherapy, massage and reflexology: A systematic review and thematic synthesis of the perspectives from people with palliative care needs. *Palliative medicine*, 33(7), 757–769. doi:10.1177/0269216319846440

Ault, P., Plaza, A., & Paratz, J. (2018). Scar massage for hypertrophic burns scarring-A systematic review. *Burns: journal of the International Society for Burn Injuries*, 44(1), 24–38. doi:10.1016/j.burns.2017.05.006

Boitor, M., Gélinas, C., Richard-Lalonde, M., & Thombs, B. D. (2017). The Effect of Massage on Acute Postoperative Pain in Critically and Acutely Ill Adults Post-thoracic Surgery: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Heart & lung: the journal of critical care*, 46(5), 339–346. doi:10.1016/j.hrtlng.2017.05.005

Boyd, C., Crawford, C., Paat, C. F., Price, A., Xenakis, L., Zhang, W., & Evidence for Massage Therapy (EMT) Working Group (2016). The Impact of Massage Therapy on Function in Pain Populations-A Systematic Review and Meta-

Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials: Part II, Cancer Pain Populations. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, 17(8), 1553–1568. doi:10.1093/pm/pnw100

Boyd, C., Crawford, C., Paat, C. F., Price, A., Xenakis, L., Zhang, W., & Evidence for Massage Therapy (EMT) Working Group (2016). The Impact of Massage Therapy on Function in Pain Populations-A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials: Part III, Surgical Pain Populations. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, 17(9), 1757–1772. doi:10.1093/pm/pnw101

Brasure, M., Nelson, V.A., Scheiner, S., Forte, M.L., Butler, M., Nagarkar, S., Saha, J., Wilt, T.J. (2019). Treatment for Acute Pain: An Evidence Map [Internet]. *Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US)*.

Busse, J. W., Craigie, S., Juurlink, D. N., Buckley, D. N., Wang, L., Couban, R. J., ... Guyatt, G. H. (2017). Guideline for opioid therapy and chronic noncancer pain. *CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association journal*, 189(18), E659–E666. doi:10.1503/cmaj.170363

Calcagni, N., Gana, K., & Quintard, B. (2019). A systematic review of complementary and alternative medicine in oncology: Psychological and physical effects of manipulative and body-based practices. *PloS one*, 14(10), e0223564. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0223564

Chou, R., Deyo, R., Friedly, J., Skelly, A., Hashimoto, R., Weimer, M., ... Brodt, E. D. (2017). Nonpharmacologic Therapies for Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review for an American College of Physicians Clinical Practice Guideline. *Annals of internal medicine*, 166(7), 493–505. doi:10.7326/M16-2459

Chou, R., Côté, P., Randhawa, K., Torres, P., Yu, H., Nordin, M., ... Cedraschi, C. (2018). The Global Spine Care Initiative: applying evidence-based guidelines on the non-invasive management of back and neck pain to low- and middle-income communities. *European spine journal*, 27(Suppl 6), 851–860. doi:10.1007/s00586-017-5433-8

Cibulka, M. T., Bloom, N. J., Enseki, K. R., Macdonald, C. W., Woehrle, J., & McDonough, C. M. (2017). Hip Pain and Mobility Deficits-Hip Osteoarthritis: Revision 2017. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 47(6), A1–A37. doi:10.2519/jospt.2017.0301

Côté, P., Wong, J. J., Sutton, D., Shearer, H. M., Mior, S., Randhawa, K., ... Salhany, R. (2016). Management of neck pain and associated disorders: A clinical practice guideline from the Ontario Protocol for Traffic Injury Management (OPTIMa) Collaboration. *European spine journal*, 25(7), 2000–2022. doi:10.1007/s00586-016-4467-7

Côté, P., Yu, H., Shearer, H. M., Randhawa, K., Wong, J. J., Mior, S., ... Lacerte, M. (2019). Non-pharmacological management of persistent headaches associated with neck pain: A clinical practice guideline from the Ontario protocol for traffic injury management (OPTIMa) collaboration. *European journal of pain (London, England*), 23(6), 1051–1070. doi:10.1002/ejp.1374

Crawford, C., Boyd, C., Paat, C. F., Price, A., Xenakis, L., Yang, E., ... Evidence for Massage Therapy (EMT) Working Group (2016). The Impact of Massage Therapy on Function in Pain Populations-A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials: Part I, Patients Experiencing Pain in the General Population. *Pain medicine* (*Malden, Mass.*), 17(7), 1353–1375. doi:10.1093/pm/pnw099

24 | SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS OF MASSAGE THERAPY

Dupuy, O., Douzi, W., Theurot, D., Bosquet, L., & Dugué, B. (2018). An Evidence-Based Approach for Choosing Postexercise Recovery Techniques to Reduce Markers of Muscle Damage, Soreness, Fatigue, and Inflammation: A Systematic Review With Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in physiology*, 9, 403. doi:10.3389/fphys.2018.00403

Fraser, J. J., Corbett, R., Donner, C., & Hertel, J. (2018). Does manual therapy improve pain and function in patients with plantar fasciitis? A systematic review. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 26(2), 55–65. doi:10.1080/10669817.2017.1322736

Guo, J., Li, L., Gong, Y., Zhu, R., Xu, J., Zou, J., & Chen, X. (2017). Massage Alleviates Delayed Onset Muscle Soreness after Strenuous Exercise: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in physiology*, 8, 747. doi:10.3389/ fphys.2017.00747

Hawk, C., Minkalis, A. L., Khorsan, R., Daniels, C. J., Homack, D., Gliedt, J. A., ... Bhalerao, S. (2017). Systematic Review of Nondrug, Nonsurgical Treatment of Shoulder Conditions. *Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics*, 40(5), 293–319. doi:10.1016/j.jmpt.2017.04.001

Hilfiker, R., Meichtry, A., Eicher, M., Nilsson Balfe, L., Knols, R. H., Verra, M. L., & Taeymans, J. (2018). Exercise and other non-pharmaceutical interventions for cancer-related fatigue in patients during or after cancer treatment: a systematic review incorporating an indirect-comparisons meta-analysis. *British journal of sports medicine*, 52(10), 651–658. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2016-096422

Huisstede, B. M., van den Brink, J., Randsdorp, M. S., Geelen, S. J., & Koes, B. W. (2018). Effectiveness of Surgical and Postsurgical Interventions for Carpal Tunnel Syndrome-A Systematic Review. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 99(8), 1660–1680.e21. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2017.04.024

Kukimoto, Y., Ooe, N., & Ideguchi, N. (2017). The Effects of Massage Therapy on Pain and Anxiety after Surgery: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Pain management nursing: official journal of the American Society of Pain Management Nurses*, 18(6), 378–390. doi:10.1016/j.pmn.2017.09.001

Leng, M., Zhao, Y., & Wang, Z. (2020). Comparative efficacy of non-pharmacological interventions on agitation in people with dementia: A systematic review and Bayesian network meta-analysis. *International journal of nursing studies*, 102, 103489. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2019.103489

Margenfeld, F., Klocke, C., & Joos, S. (2019). Manual massage for persons living with dementia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International journal of nursing studies*, 96, 132–142. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2018.12.012

Martins, W. R., Blasczyk, J. C., Aparecida Furlan de Oliveira, M., Lagôa Gonçalves, K. F., Bonini-Rocha, A. C., Dugailly, P. M., & de Oliveira, R. J. (2016). Efficacy of musculoskeletal manual approach in the treatment of temporomandibular joint disorder: A systematic review with meta-analysis. *Manual therapy*, 21, 10–17. doi:10.1016/j.math.2015.06.009

Nelson, N. L., & Churilla, J. R. (2017). Massage Therapy for Pain and Function in Patients With Arthritis: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Trials. *American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation*, 96(9), 665–672. doi:10.1097/PHM.00000000000000712

Newberry, S.J., FitzGerald, J., SooHoo, N.F., Booth, M., Marks, J., ... Shekelle, P. (2017). *Treatment of Osteoarthritis of the Knee: An Update Review*. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). DOI: https://doi.org/10.23970/AHRQEPCCER190

Owais, S., Chow, C., Furtado, M., Frey, B. N., & Van Lieshout, R. J. (2018). Non-pharmacological interventions for improving postpartum maternal sleep: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep medicine reviews*, 41, 87–100. doi:10.1016/j.smrv.2018.01.005

Pieters, L., Lewis, J., Kuppens, K., Jochems, J., Bruijstens, T., Joossens, L., & Struyf, F. (2020). An Update of Systematic Reviews Examining the Effectiveness of Conservative Physical Therapy Interventions for Subacromial Shoulder Pain. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 50(3), 131–141. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2020.8498

Powden, C. J., Hoch, J. M., & Hoch, M. C. (2017). Rehabilitation and Improvement of Health-Related Quality-of-Life Detriments in Individuals With Chronic Ankle Instability: A Meta-Analysis. *Journal of athletic training*, 52(8), 753–765. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-52.5.01

Qaseem, A., Wilt, T. J., McLean, R. M., Forciea, M. A., & Clinical Guidelines Committee of the American College of Physicians (2017). Noninvasive Treatments for Acute, Subacute, and Chronic Low Back Pain: A Clinical Practice Guideline From the American College of Physicians. *Annals of internal medicine*, 166(7), 514–530. doi:10.7326/M16-2367

Randhawa, K., Bohay, R., Côté, P., van der Velde, G., Sutton, D., Wong, J. J., ... Taylor-Vaisey, A. (2016). The Effectiveness of Noninvasive Interventions for Temporomandibular Disorders: A Systematic Review by the Ontario Protocol for Traffic Injury Management (OPTIMa) Collaboration. *The Clinical journal of pain*, 32(3), 260–278. doi:10.1097/AJP.00000000000247

Skelly, A.C., Chou, R., Dettori, J.R., Turner, J.A., Friedly, J.L., Rundell, S.D., ... Ferguson, A.J.R. (2018). *Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review*. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). DOI: https://doi.org/10.23970/AHRQEPCCER209

Skelly, A.C., Chou, R., Dettori, J.R., Turner, J.A., Friedly, J.L., Rundell, S.D., ... Ferguson, A.J.R. (2020). *Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review Update*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). DOI: https://doi.org/10.23970/AHRQEPCCER227

Smith, C. A., Levett, K. M., Collins, C. T., Dahlen, H. G., Ee, C. C., & Suganuma, M. (2018). Massage, reflexology and other manual methods for pain management in labour. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 3(3), CD009290. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD009290.pub3

Smith, C. A., Shewamene, Z., Galbally, M., Schmied, V., & Dahlen, H. (2019). The effect of complementary medicines and therapies on maternal anxiety and depression in pregnancy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of affective disorders*, 245, 428–439. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2018.11.054

Steuri, R., Sattelmayer, M., Elsig, S., Kolly, C., Tal, A., Taeymans, J., & Hilfiker, R. (2017). Effectiveness of conservative interventions including exercise, manual therapy and medical management in adults with shoulder impingement: a

26 | SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS OF MASSAGE THERAPY

systematic review and meta-analysis of RCTs. *British journal of sports medicine*, 51(18), 1340–1347. doi:10.1136/ bjsports-2016-096515

Sutton, D., Gross, D. P., Côté, P., Randhawa, K., Yu, H., Wong, J. J., ... Taylor-Vaisey, A. (2016). Multimodal care for the management of musculoskeletal disorders of the elbow, forearm, wrist and hand: a systematic review by the Ontario Protocol for Traffic Injury Management (OPTIMa) Collaboration. *Chiropractic & manual therapies*, 24, 8. doi:10.1186/s12998-016-0089-8

Thrane, S. E., Hsieh, K., Donahue, P., Tan, A., Exline, M. C., & Balas, M. C. (2019). Could complementary health approaches improve the symptom experience and outcomes of critically ill adults? A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Complementary therapies in medicine*, 47, 102166. doi:10.1016/j.ctim.2019.07.025

Watt, J. A., Goodarzi, Z., Veroniki, A. A., Nincic, V., Khan, P. A., Ghassemi, M., ... Straus, S. E. (2019). Comparative Efficacy of Interventions for Aggressive and Agitated Behaviors in Dementia: A Systematic Review and Network Metaanalysis. Annals of internal medicine, 10.7326/M19-0993. Advance online publication. doi:10.7326/M19-0993

Yuan, S. L., Matsutani, L. A., & Marques, A. P. (2015). Effectiveness of different styles of massage therapy in fibromyalgia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Manual therapy*, 20(2), 257–264. doi:10.1016/j.math.2014.09.003

Zeng, Y. S., Wang, C., Ward, K. E., & Hume, A. L. (2018). Complementary and Alternative Medicine in Hospice and Palliative Care: A Systematic Review. *Journal of pain and symptom management*, 56(5), 781–794.e4. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2018.07.016

PART II THEORIES AND TREATMENT STRATEGIES



A wall painting found in the tomb of the highest official after the Pharaoh – Ankhmahor. This wall painting is dated back to 2330 B.C

Theories and Treatment Strategies

For thousands of years, people with illnesses and disabilities were treated with various methods of massage, the history of which varies from country to country. Ancient Babylonia, Assyria, China, India, Greece and Rome all practiced some form of massage. One of the oldest accounts is in Egypt in the tomb of Akmanthor, in this tomb there is a painting dating back to 2330 BC that depicts two men having work done on their feet and hands.

Another historical account is in Homer's Iliad and the Odyssey where "massage with oils and aromatic substances is mentioned as a means to relax the tired limbs of warriors and a way to help the treatment of wounds". The use of massage for therapeutic purposes originated in a pre-scientific era and some of the reasoning once used to explain the effects do not make sense in the light of what we know today. As such we should aim to update some of our explanations and align it with current medical practice.

The contemporary practice of massage therapy is often practiced as a multi-modal approach that includes, but is not limited to classical massage, swedish massage, myofascial mobilization, instrument-assisted soft tissue mobilization (IASTM), cupping, joint mobilization, strain-counterstrain, neuromuscular therapy, muscle energy techniques, neural mobilizations, manual lymphatic drainage, and education. Treatment approaches in massage therapy may vary and

28 | THEORIES AND TREATMENT STRATEGIES

despite being called different names, most of these techniques have similar effects and outcomes outlined in the chart below.

Overview of Massage Therapy Techniques
| Commonly Used Techniques | Swedish massage (effleurage, petrissage, percussion, vibration, friction), Joint mobilization (grades 1-4) Neural mobilization (nerve gliding, nerve flossing, sliders and tensioners) Neuromuscular therapy and muscle energy techniques Strain counterstrain and positional release Lymphatic drainage techniques Golgi tendon organ techniques Rocking and shaking Triggerpoint techniques Myofascial mobilization (muscle stripping, skin rolling) |
|--------------------------|--|
| Safety Considerations | Patient comfort: Always treat client within the agreed upon pain tolerance Treatment related adverse effects: discomfort, increase of pain aching muscles, headache, and tenderness; reports of increased pain Underlying pathologies: Varicosities, uncovered opening or recent incision, contagious skin lesion, hemophilia or anticoagulant medication, deep vein thrombosis, congestive heart failure, etc. Red flags: A referral will be given if a serious underlying pathology is suspected (e.g. cauda equina syndrome, spinal fracture, malignancy, and spinal infection). |

| Effects & Outcomes | Decrease pain perception Increase range of motion Decrease muscle spasm Increase local circulation Sensory motor integration (Wholebody integration) Stimulate the parasympathetic nervous system to promote relaxation & wellness Enhanced body and postural awareness |
|--------------------|---|
|--------------------|---|

Key Takeaways

As the body of knowledge to support the use of massage therapy to help alleviate the musculoskeletal disorders associated with everyday stress, physical manifestation of mental distress, muscular overuse and many persistent pain syndromes continues to grow, understanding the basic science behind what we do enable us to apply this work to a number of conditions. Treatment approaches in Massage Therapy may vary, but each therapeutic encounter involves some overlapping principles. This book will conceptualize the main domains of an evidence-based framework for Massage Therapy using recent scientific research.

References and Sources

Bialosky, J. E., Beneciuk, J. M., Bishop, M. D., Coronado, R. A., Penza, C. W., Simon, C. B., & George, S. Z. (2018). Unraveling the Mechanisms of Manual Therapy: Modeling an Approach. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(1), 8–18. doi:10.2519/jospt.2018.7476

Çetkin, M., Bahşi, İ., & Orhan, M. (2019). The Massage Approach of Avicenna in the Canon of Medicine. *Acta medicohistorica adriatica: AMHA*, 17(1), 103–114. doi:10.31952/amha.17.1.6 Chaitow, L. (2016). Dosage and manual therapies – Can we translate science into practice?. *Journal of bodywork and movement therapies*, 20(2), 217–218. doi:10.1016/j.jbmt.2016.03.003

Geri, T., Viceconti, A., Minacci, M., Testa, M., & Rossettini, G. (2019). Manual therapy: Exploiting the role of human touch. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 44, 102044. doi:10.1016/j.msksp.2019.07.008

Graham, D. (1884). A Practical Treatise on Massage, Its History, Mode of Application, and Effects. W. Wood & Company

Hunt, E. R., Baez, S. E., Olson, A. D., Butterfield, T. A., & Dupont-Versteegden, E. (2019). Using Massage to Combat Fear-Avoidance and the Pain Tension Cycle. *International Journal of Athletic Therapy and Training*, 24(5), 198-201. doi:10.1123/ijatt.2018-0097

Iorio, S., Gazzaniga, V., & Marinozzi, S. (2018). Healing bodies: the ancient origins of massages and Roman practices. *Medicina Historica*, 2(2), 58-62.

MacDonald, C. W., Osmotherly, P. G., Parkes, R., & Rivett, D. A. (2019). The current manipulation debate: historical context to address a broken narrative. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 27(1), 1–4. doi:10.1080/10669817.2019.1558382

Miake-Lye, I. M., Mak, S., Lee, J., Luger, T., Taylor, S. L., Shanman, R., ... Shekelle, P. G. (2019). Massage for Pain: An Evidence Map. *Journal of alternative and complementary medicine (New York, N.Y.)*, 25(5), 475–502. doi:10.1089/ acm.2018.0282

Moyer, C. A., Rounds, J., & Hannum, J. W. (2004). A meta-analysis of massage therapy research. *Psychological bulletin*, 130(1), 3–18. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.130.1.3

Quin, G. (2017). The Rise of Massage and Medical Gymnastics in London and Paris before the First World War. *Canadian bulletin of medical history*, 34(1), 206–229. doi:10.3138/cbmh.153-02022015

Rabey, M., Hall, T., Hebron, C., Palsson, T. S., Christensen, S. W., & Moloney, N. (2017). Reconceptualising manual therapy skills in contemporary practice. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 29, 28–32. doi:10.1016/j.msksp.2017.02.010

Ruffin, P. T. (2011). A history of massage in nurse training school curricula (1860-1945). *Journal of holistic nursing: official journal of the American Holistic Nurses' Association*, 29(1), 61–67. doi:10.1177/0898010110377355

Pettman, E. (2007). A history of manipulative therapy. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, *15*(3), 165–174. doi:10.1179/106698107790819873

Sherman, K. J., Dixon, M. W., Thompson, D., & Cherkin, D. C. (2006). Development of a taxonomy to describe massage treatments for musculoskeletal pain. *BMC complementary and alternative medicine*, 6, 24. doi:10.1186/1472-6882-6-24

Standley, P. R. (2014). Towards a Rosetta Stone of manual therapeutic methodology. *Journal of bodywork and movement therapies*, 18(4), 586–587. doi:10.1016/j.jbmt.2014.06.004

32 | THEORIES AND TREATMENT STRATEGIES

Terlouw, T. J. (2007). Roots of Physical Medicine, Physical Therapy, and Mechanotherapy in the Netherlands in the 19 Century: A Disputed Area within the Healthcare Domain. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, *15*(2), E23–E41. doi:10.1179/jmt.2007.15.2.23E

MASSAGE THERAPY: AN EVIDENCE-BASED FRAMEWORK

Massage Therapy: An Evidence-Based Framework

Massage therapists want to help patients, and part of our approach requires having a clear message of who we are and the value we offer. Adopting an evidence-based framework offers a solution, as it can provide a cohesive message of our nature and value. An evidence-based framework is an interdisciplinary approach to clinical practice used throughout healthcare. By adopting this approach, massage therapists will ensure that healthcare professionals consider the complex interplay between physiological and psychological factors that massage therapy affects.

Treatment approaches in massage therapy may vary, but each therapeutic encounter involves some overlapping principles. This book highlights the main principles of an evidence-based framework for massage therapy using recent scientific research.



Affective Touch: Therapeutic massage is a source of safety, comfort and relief

Socially appropriate interpersonal touch has been shown to stimulate the release of neurochemicals (endogenous opioids and oxytocin) associated with relaxation and pain relief (Rapaport et al., 2012; Vigotsky et al., 2015; Walker et al., 2017). Massage therapy has been shown to have an effect on cortisol levels, but the effect is generally small and, in most cases not clinically significant (Moyer et al., 2004; Moyer et al., 2011). In general a reassuring therapeutic encounter, in which a patient is provided with compassionate touch, provides the patient with a safety message. This can result in reduced physiological and behavioural reactivity to stressors and improved mood/affect.

"We will experience pain when our credible evidence of danger related to our body is greater than our credible evidence of safety related to our body. Equally we won't have pain when our credible evidence of safety is greater than our credible evidence of danger"- Lorimer Moseley

Contextual Factors: A person-centered clinical experience enhances the natural healing capacity of the body

It has long been known that the way a clinician presents both themselves and their treatment, is tied to health-related outcomes – this is known as the contextual factors of a therapeutic encounter (<u>Rossettini et al., 2018</u>). In the book *How Healing Works: Get well and stay well* using your hidden power to heal, Wayne Jonas talks about creating an optimal healing environment. This involves providing a person-centered clinical experience that embraces the placebo response and the natural healing capacity of the body (<u>Ongaro et al., 2019</u>).

In essence, behaviours and interactions with patients facilitate a relaxation response that will help to influence healthrelated outcomes; the magnitude of a response is influenced by mood, expectation, and conditioning.

"By definition, CFs (Contexual Factors) are physical, psychological and social elements that characterize the therapeutic encounter with the patient. CFs are actively interpreted by the patient and are capable of eliciting expectations, memories and emotions that in turn can influence the health-related outcome, producing placebo or nocebo effects." – Rossettini et al., 2018

Mechanical Factors: Therapeutic massage influences tissue and cell physiology

Researchers have investigated the effect of soft-tissue massage on cellular signalling and tissue remodelling; this is referred to as mechanotherapy. Geoffrey Bove a researcher at the University of New England has conducted research examining the effect of modelled manual therapy on repetitive motion disorders and the development of fibrosis. One study published in *The Journal of Neurological Sciences* showed soft-tissue massage prevented the deposition of collagen and transforming growth factor beta-1 (TGF beta 1) in the nerves and connective tissues of the forearm (Bove et al., 2016). This was recently followed up by a study published in the prestigious journal *Pain* showing that by attenuating

the inflammatory response (with modelled massage) in the early stages of an injury, they were able to prevent the development of neural fibrosis (<u>Bove et al., 2019</u>).

Research demonstrated that massage therapy (effleurage in particular) has a modest effect on local circulation and perfusion both in the massaged limb and also in the contralateral limb (<u>Monteiro Rodrigues et al., 2020</u>). Furthermore, a recent joint research effort between Timothy Butterfield of the University of Kentucky and researchers at Colorado State University demonstrated that modelled massage enhanced satellite cell numbers (<u>Miller et al., 2018</u>; <u>Hunt et al., 2019</u>). This was in addition to earlier research from Butterfield and his collaborators at the University of Kentucky, which proposes the idea that mechanical stimulation prompts a phenotype change of pro-inflammatory M¹ macrophages into anti-inflammatory M² macrophages (<u>Waters-Banker et al., 2014</u>). Taken together the increase in satellite cell numbers and reduction in inflammatory signaling may improve the body's ability to respond to subsequent rehabilitation.

Neurological Factors: Therapeutic massage stimulates specialized sensory receptors

Therapeutic massage is processed by specialized sensory receptors located in cutaneous and subcutaneous structures. Specialized mechanoreceptors located cutaneous and subcutaneous structures are what informs the body about the type of touch they are receiving, there are five major types of mechanoreceptors that massage therapists should be aware of:

- Two of these are located in the superficial layers of the skin: Merkel cells and Meissner corpuscles.
- Two receptors, the Pacinian corpuscle and the Ruffini endings, are found in the subcutaneous and deeper tissue layers.
- The fifth type of mechanoreceptor are the recently discovered C-tactile fibers that play a specific role in transmitting the pleasurable properties of touch (They also play a role in affective touch mentioned prior.).

Massage therapy is a form of peripheral somatosensory stimulation that can modulate the activity of neuro-immune (peripheral, cortical, subcortical) processes correlated with the experience of pain. Through a process of gently stretching muscles, neurovascular structures and investing fascia nociceptive processing associated with tissue damage (actual or perceived) is modifiable in such a way that the pain subsides. Preferential sites for stimulation are associated with areas rich in specialized sensory receptors such as Merkel cells, Meissner corpuscles (superficial layers of the skin), Pacinian and Ruffini's corpuscles (joint capsules & subcutaneous tissue) and C-tactile fibers which play a role in the singling of affective aspects of human touch.

Affective Touch - Interpersonal touch mediates the release of neurochemicals. Which can result in reduce physiological and behavioral reactivity to stressors and improved mood/affect.

Contextual Factors - A positive therapeutic encounter is tied to clinical outcomes; the magnitude of a response is influenced by mood, expectation, and conditioning.

Mechanical Factors - Gentle stretching of neurovascular structures and muscles induces a molecular response that helps diminish intraneural edema and expedite clearance of noxious biochemical by-products.

Neurological Factors - Therapeutic stimulation of somatosensory nerves inhibits nociceptive processing and activate descending inhibitory mechanisms. This influences neuro-immune processes correlated with the experience of pain.

Evidence-Based Benefits of Massage Therapy for Pain and Health-related Quality of Life



Building of Effective Patient-Provider Relationships in the Context of Chronic Pain

Massage therapy is a form of peripheral somatosensory stimulation that can modulate the activity of neuro-immune (peripheral, cortical, subcortical) processes correlated with the experience of pain (<u>Bialosky et al., 2018</u>). By activating ascending and descending inhibitory systems, massage therapy may be able to mitigate the transition, amplification and development of chronic pain.

Massage therapy is a clinically-oriented healthcare option that can improve quality of life for patients with a variety of conditions. The responses to massage therapy are multifactorial, even if the mechanisms of action have not yet been fully elucidated. There is evidence that in terms of clinical responses to massage therapy affective touch, contextual factors, mechanical factors, and neurological factors are likely to play a role.

How Manual Therapy Works - From Physiotutors



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=58

Key Takeaways

The Body is Adaptable

With respect to the multidisciplinary treatment of chronic pain massage therapy has a desirable safety profile and it is a health care option that is effective, economical and accessible. Understanding the basic science behind massage therapy and the guiding principles of adaptability enables massage therapists to think flexibly about what's going on, both in terms of specific and nonspecific effects. Based on available evidence the best way to describe the effects of massage therapy, is not in a single unified response, but as a collection of interconnected adaptive responses within the nervous system and soft tissue structures. A biopsychosocial framework of health and wellness helps put into context the interconnected and multidirectional interaction between: physiology, thoughts, emotions, behaviours, culture, and beliefs. In terms of clinical responses to massage therapy there are a couple of proposed mechanisms of action, including but not limited to: affective touch, contextual factors, mechanical factors, neurological factors.

References & Sources

Bialosky, J. E., Beneciuk, J. M., Bishop, M. D., Coronado, R. A., Penza, C. W., Simon, C. B., & George, S. Z. (2018). Unraveling the Mechanisms of Manual Therapy: Modeling an Approach. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(1), 8–18. doi:10.2519/jospt.2018.7476

Bove, G. M., Harris, M. Y., Zhao, H., & Barbe, M. F. (2016). Manual therapy as an effective treatment for fibrosis in a rat model of upper extremity overuse injury. *Journal of the neurological sciences*, 361, 168–180. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2015.12.029

Bove, G. M., Delany, S. P., Hobson, L., Cruz, G. E., Harris, M. Y., Amin, M., ... Barbe, M. F. (2019). Manual therapy prevents onset of nociceptor activity, sensorimotor dysfunction, and neural fibrosis induced by a volitional repetitive task. *Pain*, 160(3), 632–644. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001443

Eggart, M., Queri, S., & Müller-Oerlinghausen, B. (2019). Are the antidepressive effects of massage therapy mediated by restoration of impaired interoceptive functioning? A novel hypothetical mechanism. *Medical hypotheses*, 128, 28–32. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2019.05.004

Geri, T., Viceconti, A., Minacci, M., Testa, M., & Rossettini, G. (2019). Manual therapy: Exploiting the role of human touch. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 44, 102044. doi:10.1016/j.msksp.2019.07.008

Hunt, E. R., Confides, A. L., Abshire, S. M., Dupont-Versteegden, E. E., & Butterfield, T. A. (2019). Massage increases satellite cell number independent of the age-associated alterations in sarcolemma permeability. *Physiological reports*, 7(17), e14200. doi:10.14814/phy2.14200

Hunt, E. R., Baez, S. E., Olson, A. D., Butterfield, T. A., & Dupont-Versteegden, E. (2019). Using Massage to Combat Fear-Avoidance and the Pain Tension Cycle. *International Journal of Athletic Therapy and Training*, 24(5), 198-201.

Jonas, W. (2018). How Healing Works: Get well and stay well using your hidden power to heal. Lorena Jones Books

Kinney, M., Seider, J., Beaty, A. F., Coughlin, K., Dyal, M., & Clewley, D. (2018). The impact of therapeutic alliance in physical therapy for chronic musculoskeletal pain: A systematic review of the literature. *Physiotherapy theory and practice*, 1–13. Advance online publication. doi:10.1080/09593985.2018.1516015

Lawrence, M. M., Van Pelt, D. W., Confides, A. L., Hunt, E. R., Hettinger, Z. R., Laurin, J. L., ... Miller, B. F. (2020). Massage as a mechanotherapy promotes skeletal muscle protein and ribosomal turnover but does not mitigate muscle atrophy during disuse in adult rats. *Acta physiologica (Oxford, England)*, e13460. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1111/apha.13460

Miller, B. F., Hamilton, K. L., Majeed, Z. R., Abshire, S. M., Confides, A. L., Hayek, A. M., ... Dupont-Versteegden, E. E. (2018). Enhanced skeletal muscle regrowth and remodelling in massaged and contralateral non-massaged hindlimb. *The Journal of physiology*, 596(1), 83–103. doi:10.1113/JP275089

Monteiro Rodrigues, L., Rocha, C., Ferreira, H. T., & Silva, H. N. (2020). Lower limb massage in humans increases local perfusion and impacts systemic hemodynamics. *Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md.: 1985)*, 128(5), 1217–1226. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00437.2019

Moyer, C. A., Rounds, J., & Hannum, J. W. (2004). A meta-analysis of massage therapy research. *Psychological bulletin*, 130(1), 3–18. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.130.1.3

Moyer C. A. (2008). Affective massage therapy. International journal of therapeutic massage & bodywork, 1(2), 3-5.

Moyer, C. A., Seefeldt, L., Mann, E. S., & Jackley, L. M. (2011). Does massage therapy reduce cortisol? A comprehensive quantitative review. *Journal of bodywork and movement therapies*, 15(1), 3–14. doi:10.1016/j.jbmt.2010.06.001

Ongaro, G., & Kaptchuk, T. J. (2019). Symptom perception, placebo effects, and the Bayesian brain. *Pain*, 160(1), 1–4. doi:10.1097/j.pain.000000000001367

Rapaport, M. H., Schettler, P., & Bresee, C. (2012). A preliminary study of the effects of repeated massage on hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal and immune function in healthy individuals: a study of mechanisms of action and dosage. *Journal of alternative and complementary medicine (New York, N.Y.)*, 18(8), 789–797. doi:10.1089/ acm.2011.0071

Rapaport, M. H., Schettler, P., Larson, E. R., Edwards, S. A., Dunlop, B. W., Rakofsky, J. J., & Kinkead, B. (2016). Acute Swedish Massage Monotherapy Successfully Remediates Symptoms of Generalized Anxiety Disorder: A Proof-of-Concept, Randomized Controlled Study. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry*, 77(7), e883–e891. doi:10.4088/JCP.15m10151

Rapaport, M. H., Schettler, P. J., Larson, E. R., Carroll, D., Sharenko, M., Nettles, J., & Kinkead, B. (2018). Massage Therapy for Psychiatric Disorders. *Focus (American Psychiatric Publishing)*, 16(1), 24–31. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.focus.20170043

Reed, W. R., Lima, C. R., & Martins, D. F. (2020). Physiological Responses Induced By Manual Therapy In Animal Models: A Scoping Review. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 14, 430. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2020.00430

Rossettini, G., Carlino, E., & Testa, M. (2018). Clinical relevance of contextual factors as triggers of placebo and nocebo effects in musculoskeletal pain. *BMC musculoskeletal disorders*, 19(1), 27. doi:10.1186/s12891-018-1943-8

Sato-Suzuki, I., Kagitani, F., & Uchida, S. (2019). Somatosensory regulation of resting muscle blood flow and physical therapy. *Autonomic neuroscience: basic & clinical*, 220, 102557. doi:10.1016/j.autneu.2019.102557

Vigotsky, A. D., & Bruhns, R. P. (2015). The Role of Descending Modulation in Manual Therapy and Its Analgesic Implications: A Narrative Review. *Pain research and treatment*, 2015, 292805. doi:10.1155/2015/292805

Walker, S. C., Trotter, P. D., Swaney, W. T., Marshall, A., & Mcglone, F. P. (2017). C-tactile afferents: Cutaneous mediators of oxytocin release during affiliative tactile interactions?. *Neuropeptides*, 64, 27–38. doi:10.1016/j.npep.2017.01.001

Waters-Banker, C., Dupont-Versteegden, E. E., Kitzman, P. H., & Butterfield, T. A. (2014). Investigating the mechanisms of massage efficacy: the role of mechanical immunomodulation. *Journal of athletic training*, 49(2), 266–273. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-49.2.25

PAIN EDUCATION

Pain Education

The Human Body is Complex and Adaptable

The human body is not a simple structure, but rather a complex and adaptable network of overlapping systems. We must move from the myth of a simple biomechanical framework, or pathoanatomical model of trying to fix the structure, to understanding the complexity of a biopsychosocial framework and how all of the systems within the body interact to experience all types of pain. The "no pain, no gain" mindset is being changed.

Increasingly, research shows that attributing the experience of pain solely to poor posture, minor leg length discrepancies, vertebral misalignment and other structural abnormalities is an oversimplification of a complex process (Green et al., 2018). Even in the case of degenerative changes in the knee, shoulder, and spine several landmark studies have shown that tissue tears revealed on imaging are a part of normal aging (Culvenor et al., 2019; Girish et al., 2011; Sihvonen et al., 2018). This disconnect between tissue damage seen on imaging and clinical presentation often creates confusion for both patients and clinicians. As a result, the medical community has moved on from a traditional biomechanical framework into a biopsychosocial framework.

The shift from a biomechanical framework to a biopsychosocial framework helps put into context the interconnected and multi-directional interaction between: physiology, thoughts, emotions, behaviors, culture, and beliefs. Humans are complex and are composed of many overlapping systems, knowing how they interact is important for any therapist. The general consensus is that structural abnormalities alone do not explain or necessarily predict pain. The reason people experience pain differently is in part is due to differences in genetics, depression, emotional stress, history of physical trauma and sensitization of the nervous system (Green et al., 2018).

Correlation Doesn't Prove Causation

There is often a weak correlation between radiographic findings and symptoms – Several landmark studies have shown tissue tears revealed on imaging are a common finding in patients who are asymptomatic. This disconnect between tissue damage seen on clinical imaging and clinical presentation is part of normal aging and unassociated with pain. One study illustrates this concept well is a systematic review published in 2015, it provides important data demonstrating that degenerative changes can exist on a spinal magnetic resonance imaging and people can have no pain.



Age-specific degenerative spine imaging findings in asymptomatic patients -Brinjikji et al. 2015

"Imaging findings of spine degeneration are present in high proportions of asymptomatic individuals, increasing with age. Many imaging-based degenerative features are likely part of normal aging and unassociated with pain. These imaging findings must be interpreted in the context of the patient's clinical condition." (Brinjikji et al., 2015).

Tame the Beast - It's time to rethink persistent pain



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=56

IASP Terminology Activity

This activity will help familiarize learners with terminology used by The International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP).



An interactive or media element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=56

The Placebo Response and The Therapeutic Encounter

The way a clinician presents themselves and their treatment has influence on therapeutic outcomes. The magnitude of a response may be influenced by mood, expectation, and conditioning, this is often referred to as the placebo response. The placebo effect isn't a single phenomenon but a number of responses involving cortical, subcortical and emotional responses. Any therapeutic encounter can trigger significant biological changes that ease symptoms.

The existence of placebo-induced effects do not negate treatment-induced results, patients feel better after a therapeutic encounter because of a complex physiological response to the treatment that INCLUDES, but is not LIMITED to placebo.

Learn more about the placebo response in this 5 min TED-Ed video.



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=56 Key Takeaways

Employing An Individualized Biopsychosocial Approach to Pain Management

Ascribing a patient's pain solely to a tissue-driven pain problem is often an oversimplification of a complex process. This insight provides us with an opportunity to re-frame our clinical models. Over time the supportive theories behind techniques evolve or change completely. It is becoming increasing evident that a biomechanical model as a basis for treatment is outdated based on the latest research into pain science. A shift to a biopsychosocial model of massage therapy helps put into context the interconnected and multidirectional interaction between: physiology, thoughts, emotions, behaviours, culture, and beliefs.

References and Sources

Beecher, H. K. (1956). Relationship of significance of wound to pain experienced. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 161(17), 1609–1613. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1956.02970170005002

Benedetti, F., Frisaldi, E., Barbiani, D., Camerone, E., & Shaibani, A. (2020). Nocebo and the contribution of psychosocial factors to the generation of pain. *Journal of neural transmission (Vienna, Austria : 1996)*, 127(4), 687–696. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-019-02104-x

Benedetti, F., & Piedimonte, A. (2019). The neurobiological underpinnings of placebo and nocebo effects. *Seminars in arthritis and rheumatism*, 49(3S), S18–S21. doi:10.1016/j.semarthrit.2019.09.015

Brinjikji, W., Luetmer, P. H., Comstock, B., Bresnahan, B. W., Chen, L. E., Deyo, R. A., ... Jarvik, J. G. (2015). Systematic literature review of imaging features of spinal degeneration in asymptomatic populations. *AJNR. American journal of neuroradiology*, 36(4), 811–816. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A4173

Colloca, L., & Barsky, A. J. (2020). Placebo and Nocebo Effects. *The New England journal of medicine*, 382(6), 554–561. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1907805

Culvenor, A. G., Øiestad, B. E., Hart, H. F., Stefanik, J. J., Guermazi, A., & Crossley, K. M. (2019). Prevalence of knee osteoarthritis features on magnetic resonance imaging in asymptomatic uninjured adults: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *British journal of sports medicine*, 53(20), 1268–1278. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099257

Girish, G., Lobo, L. G., Jacobson, J. A., Morag, Y., Miller, B., & Jamadar, D. A. (2011). Ultrasound of the shoulder: asymptomatic findings in men. *AJR. American journal of roentgenology*, 197(4), W713–W719. doi:10.2214/AJR.11.6971

Green, B. N., Johnson, C. D., Haldeman, S., Griffith, E., Clay, M. B., Kane, E. J., ... Nordin, M. (2018). A scoping review

46 | PAIN EDUCATION

of biopsychosocial risk factors and co-morbidities for common spinal disorders. *PloS one*, 13(6), e0197987. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0197987

Hayden, J. A., Wilson, M. N., Riley, R. D., Iles, R., Pincus, T., & Ogilvie, R. (2019). Individual recovery expectations and prognosis of outcomes in non-specific low back pain: prognostic factor review. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 2019(11), CD011284. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD011284.pub2

Hush, J. M., Nicholas, M., & Dean, C. M. (2018). Embedding the IASP pain curriculum into a 3-year pre-licensure physical therapy program: redesigning pain education for future clinicians. *Pain reports*, 3(2), e645. https://doi.org/10.1097/PR9.00000000000645

Kaptchuk, T. J., & Miller, F. G. (2015). Placebo Effects in Medicine. *The New England journal of medicine*, 373(1), 8–9. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1504023

Kaptchuk, T. J., & Miller, F. G. (2018). Open label placebo: can honestly prescribed placebos evoke meaningful therapeutic benefits?. *BMJ(Clinical research ed.)*, 363, k3889. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.k3889

Lewis, J., & O'Sullivan, P. (2018). Is it time to reframe how we care for people with non-traumatic musculoskeletal pain?. *British journal of sports medicine*, 52(24), 1543–1544. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099198

Louw, A., Nijs, J., & Puentedura, E. J. (2017). A clinical perspective on a pain neuroscience education approach to manual therapy. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 25(3), 160–168. doi:10.1080/10669817.2017.1323699

Louw, A., Zimney, K., Puentedura, E. J., & Diener, I. (2016). The efficacy of pain neuroscience education on musculoskeletal pain: A systematic review of the literature. *Physiotherapy theory and practice*, 32(5), 332–355. doi:10.1080/09593985.2016.1194646

Ongaro, G., & Kaptchuk, T. J. (2019). Symptom perception, placebo effects, and the Bayesian brain. *Pain*, 160(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000001367

Rossettini, G., Carlino, E., & Testa, M. (2018). Clinical relevance of contextual factors as triggers of placebo and nocebo effects in musculoskeletal pain. *BMC musculoskeletal disorders*, 19(1), 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-018-1943-8

Sihvonen, R., Paavola, M., Malmivaara, A., Itälä, A., Joukainen, A., Nurmi, H., ... FIDELITY (Finnish Degenerative Meniscal Lesion Study) Investigators (2018). Arthroscopic partial meniscectomy versus placebo surgery for a degenerative meniscus tear: a 2-year follow-up of the randomised controlled trial. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*, 77(2), 188–195. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2017-211172

Stewart, M., & Loftus, S. (2018). Sticks and Stones: The Impact of Language in Musculoskeletal Rehabilitation. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(7), 519–522. doi:10.2519/jospt.2018.0610

Watson, J. A., Ryan, C. G., Cooper, L., Ellington, D., Whittle, R., Lavender, M., ... Martin, D. J. (2019). Pain Neuroscience Education for Adults With Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain: A Mixed-Methods Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 20(10), 1140.e1–1140.e22. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2019.02.011

Watt-Watson, J., McGillion, M., Lax, L., Oskarsson, J., Hunter, J., MacLennan, C., Knickle, K., & Victor, J. C. (2019). Evaluating an Innovative eLearning Pain Education Interprofessional Resource: A Pre-Post Study. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, 20(1), 37–49. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pny105

NEURAL MOBILIZATION

Neural Mobilization: A Conceptual Framework

Neural mobilization is a multidimensional treatment approach that has gained popularity because it is effective, and easy to implement. These maneuvers can be performed in a passive manner where a therapist guides the client through a movement pattern, it can also be carried out as part of a self-care program that clients perform on their own. Clinicians may be familiar with terms such as nerve gliding, nerve flossing, sliders and tensioners. These names describe similar approaches and all these techniques fall under the umbrella of neural mobilization – a gentle form of manual therapy that aims to assess and address irritated peripheral nerves.

Pathophysiology: Sensitivities of Axons Exposed to a Pathological Environment

As peripheral nerves pass through the body they may be exposed to mechanical or chemical irritation at different anatomical points. Prolonged compression or fixation of a nerve may result in a reduction of intraneural blood flow (Bove et al., 2019). This then triggers the release of pro-inflammatory substances (calcitonin gene-related peptide and substance P) from the nerve. This by product is referred to as neurogenic inflammation and it can disrupt the normal function of nerves even without overt nerve damage, it can also contribute to the initiation and propagation of chronic pain (Matsuda et al., 2019).



Prolonged compression or fixation of a nerve may result in a reduction of intraneural blood flow.

Examination: Clinical Sensory Testing Can Be Used to Assess for Increased Sensitivity of the Nervous System

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors (eg, coping style) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

If there is an irritated peripheral nerve, clinical sensory testing can be used to assess for areas of hypersensitivity. In addition to orthopedic testing this could involve palpation (neural and non-neural structures). If a hypersensitive peripheral nerve has been identified, a treatment plan is then implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance.

FXNL: How Do Nerves Become Hypersensitive?



Treatment Considerations

Education

Provide patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

The responses to neural mobilization are complex and multifactorial – physiological and psychological factors interplay in a complex manner. Systematic reviews have shown that neural mobilization combined with multimodal care can improve symptoms, decrease disability and improve function for patients who suffer from peripheral nerve entrapment (Basson et al., 2017).

The biopsychosocial model provides a practical framework for investigating the complex interplay between manual

therapy and clinical outcomes. Based on this, the investigation into mechanisms of action should extend beyond local tissue changes and include peripheral and central endogenous pain modulation (<u>Bialosky et al., 2018</u>).

Central Response

Neural mobilization has a modulatory effect on peripheral and central processes via input from large sensory neurons that prevents the spinal cord from amplifying the nociceptive signal. This anti-nociceptive effect of massage therapy can help ease discomfort in patients who suffer from peripheral nerve entrapments.

Peripheral Response

Neural mobilization may also involve specific soft tissue treatment to optimize the ability of mechanical interfaces to glide relative relative to the neural structure. The application of appropriate shear force and pressure impart a mechanical stimulus that may attenuate tissue levels of fibrosis and TGF- β 1 (Bove et al., 2016; Bove et al., 2019). Furthermore, passive stretching may help diminish intraneural edema and/or pressure by mobilizing the peripheral nerve as well as associated vascular structures (Boudier-Revéret et al., 2017; Gilbert et al., 2015).

Nerves, Knowledge and Theratube With David Butler



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=49

Prognosis

In terms of research evidence neural mobilization has been shown to be particularly helpful for common forms of back, neck, leg and foot pain (<u>Basson et al., 2017</u>). An observed favorable outcome may be explained by a number of overlapping mechanisms in the periphery, spinal cord, and brain, including but not limited to affective touch, contextual factors, neurological factors, and mechanical factors.

Key Takeaways

Nerves can be exposed to mechanical or chemical irritants at different anatomical points. Gently stretching the muscles, neurovascular structures, and investing fascia activates endogenous pain modulating systems that help to mitigate the transition, amplification and development of peripheral neuropathies and chronic pain.

References and Sources

Barral, J.P. (2007). Manual Therapy for the Peripheral Nerves. Elsevier.

Barral, J.P. (2008). Manual Therapy for the Cranial Nerves. Elsevier.

Basson, A., Olivier, B., Ellis, R., Coppieters, M., Stewart, A., & Mudzi, W. (2017). The Effectiveness of Neural Mobilization for Neuromusculoskeletal Conditions: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 47(9), 593–615. doi:10.2519/jospt.2017.7117

Bialosky, J. E., Beneciuk, J. M., Bishop, M. D., Coronado, R. A., Penza, C. W., Simon, C. B., & George, S. Z. (2018). Unraveling the Mechanisms of Manual Therapy: Modeling an Approach. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(1), 8–18. doi:10.2519/jospt.2018.7476

Boudier-Revéret, M., Gilbert, K. K., Allégue, D. R., Moussadyk, M., Brismée, J. M., Sizer, P. S., Jr, ... Sobczak, S. (2017). Effect of neurodynamic mobilization on fluid dispersion in median nerve at the level of the carpal tunnel: A cadaveric study. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 31, 45–51. doi:10.1016/j.msksp.2017.07.004

Bove, G. M., Harris, M. Y., Zhao, H., & Barbe, M. F. (2016). Manual therapy as an effective treatment for fibrosis in a rat model of upper extremity overuse injury. *Journal of the neurological sciences*, 361, 168–180. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2015.12.029

Bove, G. M., Delany, S. P., Hobson, L., Cruz, G. E., Harris, M. Y., Amin, M., ... Barbe, M. F. (2019). Manual therapy

prevents onset of nociceptor activity, sensorimotor dysfunction, and neural fibrosis induced by a volitional repetitive task. *Pain*, 160(3), 632–644. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001443

Butler, D. (2000). The Sensitive Nervous System. Rittenhouse Book Distributors.

Cohen, S. P., & Mao, J. (2014). Neuropathic pain: mechanisms and their clinical implications. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 348, f7656. doi:10.1136/bmj.f7656

Gilbert, K. K., Smith, M. P., Sobczak, S., James, C. R., Sizer, P. S., & Brismée, J. M. (2015). Effects of lower limb neurodynamic mobilization on intraneural fluid dispersion of the fourth lumbar nerve root: an unembalmed cadaveric investigation. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 23(5), 239–245. doi:10.1179/2042618615Y.0000000009

Gilbert, K. K., Roger James, C., Apte, G., Brown, C., Sizer, P. S., Brismée, J. M., & Smith, M. P. (2015). Effects of simulated neural mobilization on fluid movement in cadaveric peripheral nerve sections: implications for the treatment of neuropathic pain and dysfunction. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 23(4), 219–225. doi:10.1179/2042618614Y.0000000094

Goodwin, G., Bove, G. M., Dayment, B., & Dilley, A. (2020). Characterizing the Mechanical Properties of Ectopic Axonal Receptive Fields in Inflamed Nerves and Following Axonal Transport Disruption. *Neuroscience*, 429, 10–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2019.11.042

Holmes, S. A., Barakat, N., Bhasin, M., Lopez, N. I., Lebel, A., Zurakowski, D., ... Borsook, D. (2019). Biological and behavioral markers of pain following nerve injury in humans. *Neurobiology of pain (Cambridge, Mass.)*, 7, 100038. doi:10.1016/j.ynpai.2019.100038

Jacobs, D. (2016). Dermoneuromodulating. Diane Jacobs.

Jacobson, L., Dengler, J., & Moore, A. M. (2020). Nerve Entrapments. *Clinics in plastic surgery*, 47(2), 267–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cps.2019.12.006

Jain, A., Hakim, S., & Woolf, C. J. (2020). Unraveling the Plastic Peripheral Neuroimmune Interactome. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)*, 204(2), 257–263. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1900818

Ji, R. R., Chamessian, A., & Zhang, Y. Q. (2016). Pain regulation by non-neuronal cells and inflammation. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 354(6312), 572–577. doi:10.1126/science.aaf8924

Ji, R. R., Nackley, A., Huh, Y., Terrando, N., & Maixner, W. (2018). Neuroinflammation and Central Sensitization in Chronic and Widespread Pain. *Anesthesiology*, 129(2), 343–366. doi:10.1097/ALN.000000000002130

Ji, R. R., Donnelly, C. R., & Nedergaard, M. (2019). Astrocytes in chronic pain and itch. Nature reviews. *Neuroscience*, 20(11), 667–685. doi:10.1038/s41583-019-0218-1

Matsuda, M., Huh, Y., & Ji, R. R. (2019). Roles of inflammation, neurogenic inflammation, and neuroinflammation in pain. *Journal of anesthesia*, 33(1), 131–139. doi:10.1007/s00540-018-2579-4

54 | NEURAL MOBILIZATION

Nee, R. J., Jull, G. A., Vicenzino, B., & Coppieters, M. W. (2012). The validity of upper-limb neurodynamic tests for detecting peripheral neuropathic pain. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 42(5), 413–424. doi:10.2519/jospt.2012.3988

Neto, T., Freitas, S. R., Andrade, R. J., Vaz, J. R., Mendes, B., Firmino, T., Bruno, P. M., Nordez, A., & Oliveira, R. (2020). Shear Wave Elastographic Investigation of the Immediate Effects of Slump Neurodynamics in People With Sciatica. *Journal of ultrasound in medicine: official journal of the American Institute of Ultrasound in Medicine*, 39(4), 675–681. https://doi.org/10.1002/jum.15144

Ogle, T., Alexander, K., Miaskowski, C., & Yates, P. (2020). Systematic review of the effectiveness of self-initiated interventions to decrease pain and sensory disturbances associated with peripheral neuropathy. *Journal of cancer survivorship: research and practice*, 10.1007/s11764-020-00861-3. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-020-00861-3

Plaza-Manzano, G., Ríos-León, M., Martín-Casas, P., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., & Ortega-Santiago, R. (2019). Widespread Pressure Pain Hypersensitivity in Musculoskeletal and Nerve Trunk Areas as a Sign of Altered Nociceptive Processing in Unilateral Plantar Heel Pain. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 20(1), 60–67. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2018.08.001

Satkeviciute, I., Goodwin, G., Bove, G. M., & Dilley, A. (2018). Time course of ongoing activity during neuritis and following axonal transport disruption. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 119(5), 1993–2000. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00882.2017

Schmid, A. B., Brunner, F., Luomajoki, H., Held, U., Bachmann, L. M., Künzer, S., & Coppieters, M. W. (2009). Reliability of clinical tests to evaluate nerve function and mechanosensitivity of the upper limb peripheral nervous system. *BMC musculoskeletal disorders*, 10, 11. doi:10.1186/1471-2474-10-11

Schmid, A. B., Nee, R. J., & Coppieters, M. W. (2013). Reappraising entrapment neuropathies-mechanisms, diagnosis and management. *Manual therapy*, 18(6), 449–457. doi:10.1016/j.math.2013.07.006

Schmid, A. B., Hailey, L., & Tampin, B. (2018). Entrapment Neuropathies: Challenging Common Beliefs With Novel Evidence. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(2), 58–62. doi:10.2519/jospt.2018.0603

Shacklock, M. (2005). Clinical Neurodynamics. Elsevier.

Srinivasan, J., Chaves, C., Scott, B., Small, J. (2020). Netter's Neurology (3rd ed.). Elsevier Canada.

Stecco, A., Pirri, C., & Stecco, C. (2019). Fascial entrapment neuropathy. *Clinical anatomy (New York, N.Y.)*, 32(7), 883-890. doi:10.1002/ca.23388

Trescot, A. (2016). Peripheral Nerve Entrapments: Clinical Diagnosis and Management. Springer.

Zhu, G. C., Böttger, K., Slater, H., Cook, C., Farrell, S. F., Hailey, L., ... Schmid, A. B. (2019). Concurrent validity of a low-cost and time-efficient clinical sensory test battery to evaluate somatosensory dysfunction. *European journal of pain (London, England)*, 23(10), 1826–1838. doi:10.1002/ejp.1456

MYOFASCIAL RELEASE

Myofascial Release

A Look at Fascial Anatomy

Andreas Vesalius (1514-1564) is often considered to be the first anatomist and is best remembered for publishing the famous anatomy text, *De humani corporis fabrica* in 1543. If you look at these early illustrations they present the fascia and muscles as one continuous soft tissue structure. Fast forward to the 20th century (texts we study) most omit fascial tissue in order to depict muscles in a cleaner fashion. Some recent anatomy textbooks have made an effort to include this 'forgotten tissue' in their depictions and descriptions.

An example of this is the *Functional Atlas of the Human Fascial System* by Carla Stecco, an Orthopedic surgeon and a professor of human anatomy at the University of Padua in Italy, the same University that once employed Andreas Vesalius in the early 1500's. Another example is *Anatomy Trains* by Thomas Myers, in this book Myers presents conceptual 'myofascial meridians', recent systematic review confirmed a number of these continuous soft tissue structures (Wilke et al., 2016; Wilke et al., 2019).

To better understand myofascial release, there is a need to clarify the definition of fascia and how it interacts with various other structures: muscles, nerves, vessels.

Fascia has Been Used as an Ambiguous Term

Inconsistent definitions in the literature has led to confusion for researchers and therapists. A definition put forth by the Fascial Research Society hopes to provide some guidance. These researchers suggest making the distinction between A Fascia and The Fascial System (Schleip et al., 2019).



Image from De humani corporis fabrica circa 1543

A Fascia – " A fascia is a sheath, a sheet, or any other dissectible aggregations of connective tissue that forms beneath the skin to attach, enclose, and separate muscles and other internal organs."

The Fascial System – "The fascial system consists of the three-dimensional continuum of soft, collagen-containing, loose and dense fibrous connective tissues that permeate the body. It incorporates elements such as adipose tissue, adventitiae and neurovascular sheaths, aponeuroses, deep and superficial fasciae, epineurium, joint capsules, ligaments, membranes,

meninges, myofascial expansions, periostea, retinacula, septa, tendons, visceral fasciae, and all the intramuscular and intermuscular connective tissues including endo-/peri-/epimysium."

Myofascial Release in Various Forms Stimulates Mechanoreceptors

Ascribing a patient's pain solely to a tissue-driven pain problem is often an oversimplification of a complex process. This insight provides us with an opportunity to re-frame our clinical models. When it comes to myofascial release a biopsychosocial framework helps put into context the interconnected and multidirectional interaction between a number of proposed mechanisms of action, including but not limited to: affective touch, contextual factors, neurological factors, and mechanical factors.

Neurologically myofascial release may be used to stimulate mechanoreceptors, which in turn, trigger tonus changes in skeletal muscle fibers. Furthermore, input from sensory neurons may prevent the spinal cord from amplifying nociceptive signalling.

Myofascial Release in Various Forms Influences Tissue and Cell Physiology

Researchers have investigated the effect of soft-tissue massage on cellular signalling and tissue remodelling; this is referred to as mechanotherapy. Geoffrey Bove a researcher at the University of New England has conducted research examining the effect of modelled manual therapy on repetitive motion disorders and the development of fibrosis. One study published in the *Journal of Neurological Sciences* showed soft-tissue massage prevented the deposition of collagen and transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF beta 1) in the nerves and connective tissues of the forearm (Bove et al., 2016). This was recently followed up by a study published in the prestigious journal *Pain* showing that by attenuating the inflammatory response (with modelled massage) in the early stages of an injury, they were able to prevent the development of neural fibrosis (Bove et al., 2019). This is potentially impactful in postoperative rehabilitation because TGF-β1 plays a key role in tissue remodelling and fibrosis.

Furthermore, a recent joint research effort between Timothy Butterfield of the University of Kentucky and researchers at Colorado State University demonstrated that modelled massage enhanced satellite cell numbers (Miller et al., 2018; Hunt et al., 2019). This was in addition to earlier research from Butterfield and his collaborators at the University of Kentucky, which proposes the idea that mechanical stimulation prompts a phenotype change of pro-inflammatory M1 macrophages into anti-inflammatory M2 macrophages (Waters-Banker et al., 2014). Another group of researchers at The University of Arizona propose that mechanical stimulation can trigger fibroblasts to express anti-inflammatory cytokines (Zein-Hammoud & Standley, 2015; Zein-Hammoud & Standley, 2019). Taken together the increase in satellite cell numbers and reduction in inflammatory signalling may play a role in tissue remodelling and improve the body's ability to respond to subsequent rehabilitation.

Does Myofascial Release Break Adhesions?

Following trauma there are often a number of pathological adaptations which may impair the bodies ability to respond to subsequent rehabilitation. Traditionally when soft tissue structures have a reduced ability to glide adhesions are blamed. Currently there is a paucity of research to support the claim that manual therapy can break mature adhesions. However, in the developmental phase manual therapy may be able to attenuate the development of post-surgical adhesions (<u>Bove et al., 2017</u>). In the remodelling phase the mechanisms by which myofascial release interrupts the sequelae of pathological healing is most likely not in a single unified response.

Michael Hamm: An Ecological Approach To Nerves and Fascia



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: <u>https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=52</u>

Key Takeaways

Myofascial Release is a treatment approach that stimulates mechanoreceptors and influences tissue and cell physiology. Clinically this translates into improved proprioception, increased range of motion and pain management.

References and Sources

Behm, D. G., & Wilke, J. (2019). Do Self-Myofascial Release Devices Release Myofascia? Rolling Mechanisms: A Narrative Review. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 49(8), 1173–1181. doi:10.1007/s40279-019-01149-y

Bialosky, J. E., Beneciuk, J. M., Bishop, M. D., Coronado, R. A., Penza, C. W., Simon, C. B., & George, S. Z. (2018). Unraveling the Mechanisms of Manual Therapy: Modeling an Approach. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(1), 8–18. doi:10.2519/jospt.2018.7476

Bove, G. M., Harris, M. Y., Zhao, H., & Barbe, M. F. (2016). Manual therapy as an effective treatment for fibrosis in a rat model of upper extremity overuse injury. *Journal of the neurological sciences*, 361, 168–180. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2015.12.029

Bove, G. M., Chapelle, S. L., Hanlon, K. E., Diamond, M. P., & Mokler, D. J. (2017). Attenuation of postoperative adhesions using a modeled manual therapy. *PloS one*, 12(6), e0178407. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0178407

Bove, G. M., Delany, S. P., Hobson, L., Cruz, G. E., Harris, M. Y., Amin, M., ... Barbe, M. F. (2019). Manual therapy prevents onset of nociceptor activity, sensorimotor dysfunction, and neural fibrosis induced by a volitional repetitive task. *Pain*, 160(3), 632–644. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001443

Chaitow, L. (2017). What's in a name: Myofascial Release or Myofascial Induction?. *Journal of bodywork and movement therapies*, 21(4), 749–751. doi:10.1016/j.jbmt.2017.09.008

Dischiavi, S. L., Wright, A. A., Hegedus, E. J., & Bleakley, C. M. (2018). Biotensegrity and myofascial chains: A global approach to an integrated kinetic chain. *Medical hypotheses*, 110, 90–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2017.11.008

Hunt, E. R., Confides, A. L., Abshire, S. M., Dupont-Versteegden, E. E., & Butterfield, T. A. (2019). Massage increases satellite cell number independent of the age-associated alterations in sarcolemma permeability. *Physiological reports*, 7(17), e14200. doi:10.14814/phy2.14200

Miller, B. F., Hamilton, K. L., Majeed, Z. R., Abshire, S. M., Confides, A. L., Hayek, A. M., ... Dupont-Versteegden, E. E. (2018). Enhanced skeletal muscle regrowth and remodelling in massaged and contralateral non-massaged hindlimb. *The Journal of physiology*, 596(1), 83–103. doi:10.1113/JP275089

Myers, T. (2020). Anatomy Trains: Myofascial Meridians for Manual and Movement Therapists (4th ed.). Elsevier.

Schleip, R., Hedley, G., & Yucesoy, C. A. (2019). Fascial nomenclature: Update on related consensus process. *Clinical anatomy (New York, N.Y.)*, 32(7), 929–933. doi:10.1002/ca.23423

Schleip, R., & Klingler, W. (2019). Active contractile properties of fascia. *Clinical anatomy (New York, N.Y.)*, 32(7), 891–895. doi:10.1002/ca.23391

Schleip, R., Gabbiani, G., Wilke, J., Naylor, I., Hinz, B., Zorn, A., ... Klingler, W. (2019). Fascia Is Able to Actively Contract and May Thereby Influence Musculoskeletal Dynamics: A Histochemical and Mechanographic Investigation. *Frontiers in physiology*, 10, 336. doi:10.3389/fphys.2019.00336

Stecco, C. (2015). The Functional Atlas of the Human Fascial System. Churchill Livingstone.

Stecco, A., Stern, R., Fantoni, I., De Caro, R., & Stecco, C. (2016). Fascial Disorders: Implications for Treatment. *PM* & *R: the journal of injury, function, and rehabilitation*, 8(2), 161–168. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2015.06.006

Waters-Banker, C., Dupont-Versteegden, E. E., Kitzman, P. H., & Butterfield, T. A. (2014). Investigating the mechanisms of massage efficacy: the role of mechanical immunomodulation. *Journal of athletic training*, 49(2), 266–273. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-49.2.25

Wilke, J., Krause, F., Vogt, L., & Banzer, W. (2016). What Is Evidence-Based About Myofascial Chains: A Systematic Review. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 97(3), 454–461. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2015.07.023

Wilke, J., Schleip, R., Yucesoy, C. A., & Banzer, W. (2018). Not merely a protective packing organ? A review of fascia and its force transmission capacity. *Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md. : 1985)*, 124(1), 234–244. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00565.2017

Wilke, J., & Krause, F. (2019). Myofascial chains of the upper limb: A systematic review of anatomical studies. *Clinical anatomy (New York, N.Y.)*, 32(7), 934–940. doi:10.1002/ca.23424

Wilke, J., Debelle, H., Tenberg, S., Dilley, A., & Maganaris, C. (2020). Ankle Motion Is Associated With Soft Tissue Displacement in the Dorsal Thigh: An in vivo Investigation Suggesting Myofascial Force Transmission Across the Knee Joint. *Frontiers in physiology*, 11, 180. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2020.00180

Wong, R., Geyer, S., Weninger, W., Guimberteau, J. C., & Wong, J. K. (2016). The dynamic anatomy and patterning of skin. *Experimental dermatology*, 25(2), 92–98. doi:10.1111/exd.12832

Zein-Hammoud, M., & Standley, P. R. (2015). Modeled Osteopathic Manipulative Treatments: A Review of Their in Vitro Effects on Fibroblast Tissue Preparations. *The Journal of the American Osteopathic Association*, 115(8), 490–502. doi:10.7556/jaoa.2015.103

Zein-Hammoud, M., & Standley, P. R. (2019). Optimized Modeled Myofascial Release Enhances Wound Healing in 3-Dimensional Bioengineered Tendons: Key Roles for Fibroblast Proliferation and Collagen Remodeling. *Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics*, 42(8), 551–564. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmpt.2019.01.001

Zügel, M., Maganaris, C. N., Wilke, J., Jurkat-Rott, K., Klingler, W., Wearing, S. C., ... Hodges, P. W. (2018). Fascial

60 | MYOFASCIAL RELEASE

tissue research in sports medicine: from molecules to tissue adaptation, injury and diagnostics: consensus statement. *British journal of sports medicine*, 52(23), 1497. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099308

MYOFASCIAL TRIGGERPOINTS

Myofascial Triggerpoints

Convergent Thinking and Myofascial Triggerpoints

The concept of sore spots that can be leveraged for therapeutic purposes have been independently discovered by a number of different cultures in Europe, Africa and Asia. One of the oldest examples on record is a 5,300 year old naturally preserved human body discovered in the Tyrolean Alps of Austria called Otzi "The Iceman". This frozen body has 61 tattoos that correspond to myofascial triggerpoints and traditional acupuncture points that are commonly utilized to treat musculoskeletal pain. This 5300 year old preserved body gives insight into ancient medical practices, as it is believed that these tattoos represent an early form of therapeutic treatment similar to acupuncture used to treat low back and knee pain (Kean et al., 2013; Zink et al., 2019).

It is well documented in asian cultures that traditional healers would therapeutically treat sore spots with manual therapy or acupuncture needles, one example is ASHI (ah yes!) points, a central tenant in acupuncture for over two thousand years. Many years later in the 1930's Jonas Henrik Kellgren started the scientific investigation into these sore spots or what he called Referred Pain from Muscle (Kellgren, 1938). This was then followed up by years of research and documentation by Janet Travell and David Simons, the result of their cumulative work was the textbook – Travell, Simons and Simons' Myofascial Pain and Dysfunction (now in its 3rd edition).

What Are Muscle Knots? SciShow



Myofascial Triggerpoint Pathophysiology: Sore Spots Exist, But Their Etiology is Still Not Well Understood.

Early research into myofascial triggerpoints often focused on a physiological dysfunction involving local soft tissue, but recently clinicians have spoken out against these traditional narratives to say that the explanations used in the past of this observable phenomenon are flawed in reasoning. They posit that what we call a myofascial triggerpoint may represent a form of nociplastic pain where there are neuroplastic changes of the peripheral or central nervous system (Quintner et al., 2015).

Moving forward as a profession we ought to acknowledge that there is uncertainty on the subject of myofascial triggerpoints and update the way we communicate with patients and other healthcare providers. One issue is that ascribing a patient's pain solely to MTrPs or other tissue-driven pain problem is often an oversimplification of a complex process. When it comes to MTrPs there are a number of competing hypothesis, including, but not limited to:

• **Cinderella Hypothesis** – low-level, continuous muscle contractions overload tissues and makes "Cinderella" fibers susceptible to calcium dysregulation and subsequently sarcomere contracture (<u>Bron et al., 2012</u>).

- Integrated Hypothesis the zone around a MTrP seems to be in an ischemic state resulting in a shortage of glucose and oxygen for metabolism and subsequent contracted sarcomeres in skeletal muscle (Gerwin et al., 2004; Gerwin et al., 2020).
- **Neurogenic Inflammation** the release of inflammatory substances from the nerve axon, results in a lower threshold for depolarization and hyperalgesia in innervated tissue (Quintner et al., 2015).
- **Central Sensitization** several studies support the hypothesis that persistent nociceptive input from MTrP contributes to the development of central sensitization and/or changes in the dorsal horn. In contrast, preliminary evidence suggests that central sensitization can also promote MTrP activity (Fernández-de-las-Peñas et al., 2014).

International Consensus on Diagnostic Criteria and Clinical Considerations of Myofascial Trigger Points

In an effort to establish standard terminology an international panel of 60 clinicians and researchers was recently consulted to establish a consensus for identification of a myofascial trigger point. The panel agreed on two palpatory and one symptom criteria: a taut band, a hypersensitive spot, and referred pain (Fernández-de-Las-Peñas & Dommerholt, 2018).

Myofascial Trigger Points: Examination and Treatment Considerations

It has been demonstrated in a number of studies that patients benefit from hands on work aimed at MTrPs, but this may not always be due to reasons we once were taught. Even if some of the traditional narratives around myofascial triggerpoints may be flawed, from a clinical perspective, myofascial triggerpoints describe an observable phenomenon that may be help clinicians investigate common pain patterns, such as:

- Neck Pain (Morikawa et al., 2017; Castaldo et al., 2019)
- Migraine Headaches (Landgraf et al., 2018)
- Tension-Type Headache (Fernández-De-Las-Peñas & Arendt-Nielsen, 2017; Palacios-Ceña et al., 2018)
- Carpal Tunnel Syndrome (<u>Meder et al., 2017</u>)
- Low Back Pain (<u>Takamoto et al., 2015; Kodama et al., 2019</u>)
- Chronic Pelvic Pain (Fuentes-Márquez et al., 2019)

Key Takeaways

Myofascial Trigger Points: What Are They, Really?

From a clinical perspective, myofascial triggerpoints describe an observable phenomenon that may help clinicians investigate common pain patterns. There is still no consensus on the etiology of these sore spots and what role they play in the generation and propagation of myofascial pain syndrome.

References and Sources

Bron, C., & Dommerholt, J. D. (2012). Etiology of myofascial trigger points. *Current pain and headache reports*, 16(5), 439–444. doi:10.1007/s11916-012-0289-4

Castaldo, M., Catena, A., Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., & Arendt-Nielsen, L. (2019). Widespread Pressure Pain Hypersensitivity, Health History, and Trigger Points in Patients with Chronic Neck Pain: A Preliminary Study. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, 20(12), 2516–2527. doi:10.1093/pm/pnz035

Chen, Q., Wang, H. J., Gay, R. E., Thompson, J. M., Manduca, A., An, K. N., ... Basford, J. R. (2016). Quantification of Myofascial Taut Bands. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 97(1), 67–73. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2015.09.019

Donnelly, J., Fernandez de las Penas, C., Finnegan, M., Travell, J. (2019). *Travell, Simons and Simons' Myofascial Pain and Dysfunction* (3rd ed.). Wolters Kluwer.

Dorfer, L., Moser, M., Bahr, F., Spindler, K., Egarter-Vigl, E., Giullén, S., ... Kenner, T. (1999). A medical report from the stone age?. Lancet *(London, England)*, 354(9183), 1023–1025. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(98)12242-0

Fernández-de-las-Peñas, C., & Dommerholt, J. (2014). Myofascial trigger points: peripheral or central phenomenon?. *Current rheumatology reports*, 16(1), 395. doi:10.1007/s11926-013-0395-2

Fernández-De-Las-Peñas, C., & Arendt-Nielsen, L. (2017). Improving understanding of trigger points and widespread pressure pain sensitivity in tension-type headache patients: clinical implications. *Expert review of neurotherapeutics*, 17(9), 933–939. doi:10.1080/14737175.2017.1359088

Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., & Dommerholt, J. (2018). International Consensus on Diagnostic Criteria and Clinical Considerations of Myofascial Trigger Points: A Delphi Study. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, 19(1), 142–150. doi:10.1093/pm/pnx207

Forstenpointner, J., Wolff, S., Stroman, P. W., Jansen, O., Rehm, S., Baron, R., & Gierthmühlen, J. (2018). "From ear to trunk"-magnetic resonance imaging reveals referral of pain. Pain, 159(9), 1900–1903. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.0000000000001279

Fuentes-Márquez, P., Valenza, M. C., Cabrera-Martos, I., Ríos-Sánchez, A., & Ocón-Hernández, O. (2019). Trigger Points, Pressure Pain Hyperalgesia, and Mechanosensitivity of Neural Tissue in Women with Chronic Pelvic Pain. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, 20(1), 5–13. doi:10.1093/pm/pnx206
Gerwin, R. D., Dommerholt, J., & Shah, J. P. (2004). An expansion of Simons' integrated hypothesis of trigger point formation. *Current pain and headache reports*, 8(6), 468–475. doi:10.1007/s11916-004-0069-x

Gerwin, R. D., Cagnie, B., Petrovic, M., Van Dorpe, J., Calders, P., & De Meulemeester, K. (2020). Foci of Segmentally Contracted Sarcomeres in Trapezius Muscle Biopsy Specimens in Myalgic and Nonmyalgic Human Subjects: Preliminary Results. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, pnaa019. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1093/ pm/pnaa019

Kean, W. F., Tocchio, S., Kean, M., & Rainsford, K. D. (2013). The musculoskeletal abnormalities of the Similaun Iceman ("ÖTZI"): clues to chronic pain and possible treatments. *Inflammopharmacology*, *21*(1), 11–20. doi:10.1007/s10787-012-0153-5

Kellgren, J. H. (1938). Referred Pains from Muscle. British medical journal, 1(4023), 325-327. doi:10.1136/ bmj.1.4023.325

Kodama, K., Takamoto, K., Nishimaru, H., Matsumoto, J., Takamura, Y., Sakai, S., ... Nishijo, H. (2019). Analgesic Effects of Compression at Trigger Points Are Associated With Reduction of Frontal Polar Cortical Activity as Well as Functional Connectivity Between the Frontal Polar Area and Insula in Patients With Chronic Low Back Pain: A Randomized Trial. *Frontiers in systems neuroscience*, 13, 68. doi:10.3389/fnsys.2019.00068

Landgraf, M. N., Biebl, J. T., Langhagen, T., Hannibal, I., Eggert, T., Vill, K., ... Heinen, F. (2018). Children with migraine: Provocation of headache via pressure to myofascial trigger points in the trapezius muscle? – A prospective controlled observational study. *European journal of pain (London, England)*, 22(2), 385–392. doi:10.1002/ejp.1127

Meder, M. A., Amtage, F., Lange, R., & Rijntjes, M. (2017). Reliability of the Infraspinatus Test in Carpal Tunnel Syndrome: A Clinical Study. *Journal of clinical and diagnostic research: JCDR*, 11(5), YC01–YC04. doi:10.7860/JCDR/2017/25096.9831

Melzack, R., Stillwell, D. M., & Fox, E. J. (1977). Trigger points and acupuncture points for pain: correlations and implications. *Pain*, 3(1), 3–23. doi:10.1016/0304-3959(77)90032-x

Moayedi, M., Krishnamoorthy, G., He, P. T., Agur, A., Weissman-Fogel, I., Tenenbaum, H. C., ... Cioffi, I. (2020). Structural abnormalities in the temporalis musculo-aponeurotic complex in chronic muscular temporomandibular disorders. *Pain*, 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001864. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000001864

Morikawa, Y., Takamoto, K., Nishimaru, H., Taguchi, T., Urakawa, S., Sakai, S., ... Nishijo, H. (2017). Compression at Myofascial Trigger Point on Chronic Neck Pain Provides Pain Relief through the Prefrontal Cortex and Autonomic Nervous System: A Pilot Study. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, 11, 186. doi:10.3389/fnins.2017.00186

Palacios-Ceña, M., Wang, K., Castaldo, M., Guillem-Mesado, A., Ordás-Bandera, C., Arendt-Nielsen, L., & Fernándezde-Las-Peñas, C. (2018). Trigger points are associated with widespread pressure pain sensitivity in people with tensiontype headache. *Cephalalgia: an international journal of headache*, 38(2), 237–245. doi:10.1177/0333102416679965

66 | MYOFASCIAL TRIGGERPOINTS

Phan, V., Shah, J., Tandon, H., Srbely, J., DeStefano, S., Kumbhare, D., ... Gerber, L. (2019). Myofascial Pain Syndrome: A Narrative Review Identifying Inconsistencies in Nomenclature. PM & R: the journal of injury, function, and rehabilitation, 10.1002/pmrj.12290. Advance online publication. doi:10.1002/pmrj.12290

Quintner, J. L., Bove, G. M., & Cohen, M. L. (2015). A critical evaluation of the trigger point phenomenon. *Rheumatology (Oxford, England)*, 54(3), 392–399. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keu471

Shah, J. P., Danoff, J. V., Desai, M. J., Parikh, S., Nakamura, L. Y., Phillips, T. M., & Gerber, L. H. (2008). Biochemicals associated with pain and inflammation are elevated in sites near to and remote from active myofascial trigger points. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 89(1), 16–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2007.10.018

Shah, J. P., Thaker, N., Heimur, J., Aredo, J. V., Sikdar, S., & Gerber, L. (2015). Myofascial Trigger Points Then and Now: A Historical and Scientific Perspective. *PM & R: the journal of injury, function, and rehabilitation*, 7(7), 746–761. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2015.01.024

Takamoto, K., Bito, I., Urakawa, S., Sakai, S., Kigawa, M., Ono, T., & Nishijo, H. (2015). Effects of compression at myofascial trigger points in patients with acute low back pain: A randomized controlled trial. *European journal of pain (London, England)*, 19(8), 1186–1196. doi:10.1002/ejp.694

Thompson, E. N., & Usichenko, T. (2018). Pain in the hand caused by a previously undescribed mechanism with possible relevance for understanding regional pain. *Scandinavian journal of pain*, 18(4), 743–746. doi:10.1515/ sjpain-2018-0090

Travell, J. & Rinzler, S.H. (1952). The myofascial genesis of pain. *Postgraduate medicine*, 11(5), 425–434. doi:10.1080/00325481.1952.11694280

Vadasz, B., Gohari, J., West, D., Grosman-Rimon, L., Wright, E., Ozcakar, L., & Kumbhare, D. (2020). Improving characterization and diagnosis quality of Myofascial Pain Syndrome: a systematic review of the clinical and biomarker overlap with Delayed Onset Muscle Soreness. *European journal of physical and rehabilitation medicine*, 10.23736/S1973-9087.20.05820-7. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.23736/S1973-9087.20.05820-7

Zhang, M., Jin, F., Zhu, Y., & Qi, F. (2020). Peripheral FGFR1 Regulates Myofascial Pain In Rats Via The PI3K/ AKT Pathway. *Neuroscience*, S0306-4522(20)30217-7. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.neuroscience.2020.04.002

Zink, A., Samadelli, M., Gostner, P., & Piombino-Mascali, D. (2019). Possible evidence for care and treatment in the Tyrolean Iceman. *International journal of paleopathology*, 25, 110–117. doi:10.1016/j.ijpp.2018.07.006

Joint Mobilization

Joint mobilization is a type of passive movement of a skeletal joint with the aim of achieving a therapeutic effect such as decreasing pain or increasing range of motion.

TedEd: Why do joints pop?



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=520

Classification and Mechanisms of Joint Mobilization

Joint mobilization is classified by five 'grades' of motion (grade 1 through grade 5), each of which describes the range of motion of the target joint during the procedure. Joint mobilization stimulates joint mechanoreceptors which may stimulate a number of reflex effects including reduction of pain. The different grades of mobilization are believed to produce selective activation of different mechanoreceptors in the joint, but in terms of outcomes studies have demonstrated that general approach to joint mobilization is as effective as a specific one (McCarthy et al., 2019).

Movements are classified as

- Anterior to Posterior (AP)
- Medial to Lateral
- Oscillations (which stimulate dynamic, rapidly adapting receptors, i.e., Meissner's and Pacinian Corpuscles)
- Translation
- Distraction is the separation of joint surfaces without rupture of their binding ligaments and without displacement

The Goals of Joint Mobilization are

- Decrease pain in joint/periarticular structures
- Induce reflex muscle relaxation

Grade 1

- Small amplitude movement at the beginning range of joint play
- Used when pain and spasm limit movement early in ROM

Grade 2

- Large amplitude movement at the mid range of joint play
- Used for pain control, spasm reduction which inhibit movement

Grade 3

- Large amplitude movement at the end range of joint play
- Reduce pain, and increase periarticular extensibility

Grade 4

- Small-amplitude movement at the end of the range of joint play
- Reduce pain, and increase periarticular extensibility

Grade 5 (also referred to as a manipulation)

- Manipulation of high velocity and low amplitude to the anatomical end point of a joint
- Usually accompanied by a popping sound called a cavitation.

Precautions

- Joint ankylosis
- Joint hypermobility
- Rheumatoid arthritis
- Malignancy
- Fracture
- Osteoporosis
- Tuberculosis
- Paget's disease
- Joint effusion
- Severe scoliosis
- Spondylolisthesis
- Pregnancy

PhysioTutors: Maitland Mobilization Grades



Key Takeaways

Joint mobilization is a type of passive movement of a skeletal joint with the aim of achieving a therapeutic effect. The different grades of mobilization are believed to produce selective activation of different mechanoreceptors in the joint, but in terms of outcomes studies have demonstrated that a general approach to joint mobilization is as effective as a specific one.

References and Sources

Bialosky, J. E., Beneciuk, J. M., Bishop, M. D., Coronado, R. A., Penza, C. W., Simon, C. B., & George, S. Z. (2018).

Unraveling the Mechanisms of Manual Therapy: Modeling an Approach. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(1), 8–18. doi:10.2519/jospt.2018.7476

Côté, P., Bussières, A., Cassidy, J. D., Hartvigsen, J., Kawchuk, G. N., Leboeuf-Yde, C., Mior, S., Schneider, M. (2020). A united statement of the global chiropractic research community against the pseudoscientific claim that chiropractic care boosts immunity. *Chiropractic & manual therapies*, 28(1), 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12998-020-00312-x

Foster, N. E., Anema, J. R., Cherkin, D., Chou, R., Cohen, S. P., Gross, D. P., ... Lancet Low Back Pain Series Working Group (2018). Prevention and treatment of low back pain: evidence, challenges, and promising directions. *Lancet (London, England)*, 391(10137), 2368–2383. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30489-6

Funabashi, M., Nougarou, F., Descarreaux, M., Prasad, N., & Kawchuk, G. N. (2017). Spinal Tissue Loading Created by Different Methods of Spinal Manipulative Therapy Application. *Spine*, 42(9), 635–643. doi:10.1097/BRS.000000000002096

Hengeveld, E. & Banks, K. (2013). Maitland's Vertebral Manipulation, Vol 1. (8th ed.). Elsevier.

Hengeveld, E. & Banks, K. (2013). Maitland's Peripheral Manipulation, Vol 2. (5th ed.). Elsevier.

Hing, W., Hall, T., Mulligan, B. (2019). The Mulligan Concept of Manual Therapy (2nd ed.). Elsevier.

Jun, P., Pagé, I., Vette, A., & Kawchuk, G. (2020). Potential mechanisms for lumbar spinal stiffness change following spinal manipulative therapy: a scoping review. *Chiropractic & manual therapies*, 28, 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12998-020-00304-x

Kinney, M., Seider, J., Beaty, A. F., Coughlin, K., Dyal, M., & Clewley, D. (2018). The impact of therapeutic alliance in physical therapy for chronic musculoskeletal pain: A systematic review of the literature. *Physiotherapy theory and practice*, 1–13. Advance online publication. doi:10.1080/09593985.2018.1516015

Kawchuk, G. N., Fryer, J., Jaremko, J. L., Zeng, H., Rowe, L., & Thompson, R. (2015). Real-time visualization of joint cavitation. *PloS one*, 10(4), e0119470. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0119470

McCarthy, C. J., Potter, L., & Oldham, J. A. (2019). Comparing targeted thrust manipulation with general thrust manipulation in patients with low back pain. A general approach is as effective as a specific one. A randomised controlled trial. *BMJ open sport & exercise medicine*, 5(1), e000514. doi:10.1136/bmjsem-2019-000514

Melzack, R., & Wall, P. D. (1965). Pain mechanisms: a new theory. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 150(3699), 971–979. doi:10.1126/science.150.3699.971

Navarro-Santana, M. J., Gómez-Chiguano, G. F., Somkereki, M. D., Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., Cleland, J. A., & Plaza-Manzano, G. (2020). Effects of joint mobilisation on clinical manifestations of sympathetic nervous system activity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Physiotherapy*, 107, 118–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physio.2019.07.001

Paige, N. M., Miake-Lye, I. M., Booth, M. S., Beroes, J. M., Mardian, A. S., Dougherty, P., ... Shekelle, P. G. (2017).

72 | JOINT MOBILIZATION

Association of Spinal Manipulative Therapy With Clinical Benefit and Harm for Acute Low Back Pain: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA*, 317(14), 1451–1460. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.3086

Pfluegler, G., Kasper, J., & Luedtke, K. (2020). The immediate effects of passive joint mobilisation on local muscle function. A systematic review of the literature. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 45, 102106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msksp.2019.102106

Rossettini, G., Carlino, E., & Testa, M. (2018). Clinical relevance of contextual factors as triggers of placebo and nocebo effects in musculoskeletal pain. *BMC musculoskeletal disorders*, 19(1), 27. doi:10.1186/s12891-018-1943-8

Rubinstein, S. M., de Zoete, A., van Middelkoop, M., Assendelft, W., de Boer, M. R., & van Tulder, M. W. (2019). Benefits and harms of spinal manipulative therapy for the treatment of chronic low back pain: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 364, 1689. doi:10.1136/bmj.1689

Vigotsky, A. D., & Bruhns, R. P. (2015). The Role of Descending Modulation in Manual Therapy and Its Analgesic Implications: A Narrative Review. *Pain research and treatment*, 2015, 292805. doi:10.1155/2015/292805

PART III COMPLEMENTARY THERAPIES

Complementary Therapies

There are a number of modalities that may be taught in recognized massage educational institutions that could be integrated into a multi-modal massage treatment approach if the therapist has recognized training in the specific modality. Massage Therapists who provide complementary modalities must be accountable to ensure that the modality is integrated into a treatment plan that consists of modalities with the scope of practice and understand that they are responsible for:

- Following
 - Code of Ethics
 - Standards of Practice & Regulations
- Determining the appropriateness of the complementary modality
- Ensuring that they have the knowledge, skill, and judgment to perform the modality competently
- Performing an assessment of clients before providing the treatment
- Explaining to the client the anticipated effects, the potential benefits, and the potential risks of the proposed modality so the client can make an informed choice
- Obtaining informed consent before beginning treatment
- Evaluating the ongoing status of the client and the effects of the modality on the client's condition and overall health

Informed Consent

Informed consent is based upon a clear appreciation and understanding of all relevant facts, this includes a knowledge of possible risks and benefits. If a patient requests to see the literature, as part of our professional relationship with our patients we should do all we can do to provide them with links and resources. Essentially what information does the patient require to make an educated decision, this involves the disclosure of evidence on both sides of the issue and will vary on a case by case basis.

Instrument Hygiene and Sanitation

Just like any other therapy, IASTM and Cupping should be subject to universal precautions for infection control and prevention. It is recommended to use a disinfectant cloth to clean and sanitize tools after each session. Stainless steel tools are preferred because of their non-porous structure for hygiene reasons.

74 | COMPLEMENTARY THERAPIES

Precautions

Screening for risk factors and other underlying conditions and asking for feedback from the patient during treatment ensure a safe and positive outcome for the patient.

- Be aware of the patient's overall health, high fever, cramps, spasms, skin allergies, open or recently healing wounds, unknown skin rashes, swelling and edema are all cautions
- Use caution over bony prominences and areas where the skin is thin.
- Be aware that some clients may have less fatty tissue as well as less elasticity in the skin (elderly & congenital conditions).
- Like all musculoskeletal therapies, cupping should be done within the client's tolerance; it may feel tight but not painful. If a patient finds the process painful, modify to accommodate their comfort levels.
- Recognize conditions requiring urgent medical attention and respond accordingly.
- Apply standard hygiene and infection control precautions.
- Inform patients of the possibility of a petechiae response Cupping will often leave circular marks from the suction drawing blood to the skin's surface. To the best of your abilities avoid swelling, hematomas, petechiae and ecchymoses.

Soft Tissue injuries that can be caused by cupping and IASTM

- Bruise- an injury appearing as an area of discolored skin on the body, caused by a blow or impact rupturing underlying blood vessels.
- Hematoma- a solid swelling of clotted blood within the tissues.
- Ecchymosis- a discoloration of the skin resulting from bleeding underneath, typically caused by bruising.
- Purpura- a rash of purple spots on the skin caused by internal bleeding from small blood vessels.

*Consult your regulatory body in regards to your ability to practice this technique. Health professionals often will require training and certification to be covered within liability insurance.



There are a number of modalities that can be integrated into a treatment plan by a massage therapist, the massage therapist must be accountable to ensure that the modality is integrated into a treatment plan that consists of modalities with the scope of practice.

• Make sure you're doing it safely

- Make sure what you're doing is supported by the evidence
- Make sure you're explaining your intervention correctly

INSTRUMENT ASSISTED SOFT TISSUE MOBILIZATION

What is Instrument Assisted Soft Tissue Mobilization?

Instrument Assisted Soft Tissue Mobilization (IASTM) is a soft tissue technique that uses hand held tools to impart a mechanical stimulates local mechanoreceptors. IASTM devices may be made from different materials (e.g. wood, stone, jade, steel, ceramic, resin).

How can Massage Therapists Incorporate IASTM into Treatments?

IASTM has been shown to improve short term range of motion and improve function for athletes (<u>Cheatham et al.</u>, 2016). IASTM is closely related to transverse friction massage which has long been used for tendon pain and sports injuries. The depth of application varies from simple massage based techniques aiming at stimulating mechanoreceptors and improving range of motion to a complex soft-tissue treatment system encompassing the latest research on mechanotherapy.

There are many nuances to using these techniques, with the possibility of bruising and petechiae if treatments are not done with care. Not fully understanding the different aspects and approaches to IASTM is leading to a great deal of confusion about what exactly IASTM is, when it's appropriate and how to use these techniques.

IASTM Protocols

IASTM techniques are frequently combined with other techniques, exercises, positions or different types of stretching. First, the treatment area is lubricated with massage lotion, then short sweeping movements are applied using multi-directional assessment and treatment strokes. IASTM techniques are frequently combined with active and passive stretching. Around 2-3 minutes of light scraping per area should be enough to stimulate local mechanoreceptors.

Post-Operative Care

Treatments depend on the underlying pathology, but IASTM may have a role in post-surgical care. A recent study published in *The Journal of Knee Surgery* looked at the effect that soft-tissue treatments with hand-held instruments have on post-surgical knee stiffness (<u>Chunghtai et al., 2016</u>). In the study soft-tissue treatments were shown to improve knee

78 | INSTRUMENT ASSISTED SOFT TISSUE MOBILIZATION

flexion deficits by 35° and knee flexion contractures by 12° in a small cohort of individuals who had failed to respond to traditional rehabilitation and manipulation under anesthesia. Hypothetically it may be used to impart a mechanical stimulus that contributes to the breakdown of immature scar tissue and developmental fibrosis. Fibrosis is a potential complication of surgery or trauma characterized by the production of excessive fibrous scar tissue, which may result in decreased movement. Understanding the cellular effectors and signaling pathways that drives the accumulation of fibrotic deposition, helps therapists optimize treatment protocols.

In the normal wound healing response, the cascade of biological responses is tightly regulated. Fibrotic development is characterized by a lack of apoptosis in the proinflammatory phase, resulting in an imbalance between synthesis and degradation. Persistent transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) secretion and downstream responses are thought to contribute to a sustained inflammatory response (Cheuy et al., 2017). One study published in *The Journal of Neurological Sciences* showed soft-tissue massage prevented the deposition of collagen and transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF beta 1) in the nerves and connective tissues of the forearm (Bove et al., 2016). This was recently followed up by a study published in the prestigious journal *Pain* showing that by attenuating the inflammatory response (with modelled massage) in the early stages of an injury, they were able to prevent the development of neural fibrosis (Bove et al., 2019). This is potentially impactful in postoperative rehabilitation because TGF- β 1 plays a key role in tissue remodelling and fibrosis.

Key Takeaways

The responses to IASTM are complex and multifactorial – biopsychosocial factors interplay in a complex manner. The use of prophylactic IASTM may help patients manage postoperative pain. It may also affect the development of fibrosis by mediating differential cytokine production. The next step for researchers is to look into what sort of dosage and duration would be needed to optimize the effects of this non-pharmacological approach.

References and Sources

Begovic, H., Zhou, G. Q., Schuster, S., & Zheng, Y. P. (2016). The neuromotor effects of transverse friction massage. *Manual therapy*, 26, 70–76. doi:10.1016/j.math.2016.07.007

Bove, G. M., Harris, M. Y., Zhao, H., & Barbe, M. F. (2016). Manual therapy as an effective treatment for fibrosis in a rat model of upper extremity overuse injury. *Journal of the neurological sciences*, 361, 168–180. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2015.12.029

Bove, G. M., Delany, S. P., Hobson, L., Cruz, G. E., Harris, M. Y., Amin, M., ... Barbe, M. F. (2019). Manual therapy

prevents onset of nociceptor activity, sensorimotor dysfunction, and neural fibrosis induced by a volitional repetitive task. *Pain*, 160(3), 632–644. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001443

Cheatham, S. W., Lee, M., Cain, M., & Baker, R. (2016). The efficacy of instrument assisted soft tissue mobilization: a systematic review. *The Journal of the Canadian Chiropractic Association*, 60(3), 200–211.

Cheatham, S. W., Baker, R., & Kreiswirth, E. (2019). Instrument assisted soft-tissue mobilization: a commentary on clinical practice guidelines for rehabilitation professionals. *International journal of sports physical therapy*, 14(4), 670–682.

Cheatham, S. W., Kreiswirth, E., & Baker, R. (2019). Does a light pressure instrument assisted soft tissue mobilization technique modulate tactile discrimination and perceived pain in healthy individuals with DOMS?. *The Journal of the Canadian Chiropractic Association*, 63(1), 18–25.

Cheuy, V. A., Foran, J., Paxton, R. J., Bade, M. J., Zeni, J. A., & Stevens-Lapsley, J. E. (2017). Arthrofibrosis Associated With Total Knee Arthroplasty. *The Journal of arthroplasty*, 32(8), 2604–2611. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2017.02.005

Christie, W. S., Puhl, A. A., & Lucaciu, O. C. (2012). Cross-frictional therapy and stretching for the treatment of palmar adhesions due to Dupuytren's contracture: a prospective case study. *Manual therapy*, 17(5), 479–482. doi:10.1016/j.math.2011.11.001

Chughtai, M., Mont, M. A., Cherian, C., Cherian, J. J., Elmallah, R. D., Naziri, Q., ... Bhave, A. (2016). A Novel, Nonoperative Treatment Demonstrates Success for Stiff Total Knee Arthroplasty after Failure of Conventional Therapy. *The journal of knee surgery*, 29(3), 188–193. doi:10.1055/s-0035-1569482

Chughtai, M., Newman, J. M., Sultan, A. A., Samuel, L. T., Rabin, J., Khlopas, A., ... Mont, M. A. (2019). Astym® therapy: a systematic review. *Annals of translational medicine*, 7(4), 70. doi:10.21037/atm.2018.11.49

Gunn, L. J., Stewart, J. C., Morgan, B., Metts, S. T., Magnuson, J. M., Iglowski, N. J., ... Arnot, C. (2019). Instrumentassisted soft tissue mobilization and proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation techniques improve hamstring flexibility better than static stretching alone: a randomized clinical trial. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 27(1), 15–23. doi:10.1080/10669817.2018.1475693

Hussey, M. J., Boron-Magulick, A. E., Valovich McLeod, T. C., & Welch Bacon, C. E. (2018). The Comparison of Instrument-Assisted Soft Tissue Mobilization and Self-Stretch Measures to Increase Shoulder Range of Motion in Overhead Athletes: A Critically Appraised Topic. *Journal of sport rehabilitation*, 27(4), 385–389. doi:10.1123/jsr.2016-0213

Ikeda, N., Otsuka, S., Kawanishi, Y., & Kawakami, Y. (2019). Effects of Instrument-assisted Soft Tissue Mobilization on Musculoskeletal Properties. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 51(10), 2166–2172. doi:10.1249/MSS.00000000002035

Kim, J., Sung, D. J., & Lee, J. (2017). Therapeutic effectiveness of instrument-assisted soft tissue mobilization for

80 | INSTRUMENT ASSISTED SOFT TISSUE MOBILIZATION

soft tissue injury: mechanisms and practical application. *Journal of exercise rehabilitation*, 13(1), 12–22. doi:10.12965/ jer.1732824.412

Loghmani, T. M., Bayliss, A. J., Clayton, G., & Gundeck, E. (2015). Successful treatment of a guitarist with a finger joint injury using instrument-assisted soft tissue mobilization: a case report. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 23(5), 246–253. doi:10.1179/2042618614Y.000000089

McCormack, J. R., Underwood, F. B., Slaven, E. J., & Cappaert, T. A. (2016). Eccentric Exercise Versus Eccentric Exercise and Soft Tissue Treatment (Astym) in the Management of Insertional Achilles Tendinopathy. *Sports health*, 8(3), 230–237. doi:10.1177/1941738116631498

Nazari, G., Bobos, P., MacDermid, J. C., & Birmingham, T. (2019). The Effectiveness of Instrument-Assisted Soft Tissue Mobilization in Athletes, Participants Without Extremity or Spinal Conditions, and Individuals with Upper Extremity, Lower Extremity, and Spinal Conditions: A Systematic Review. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 100(9), 1726–1751. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2019.01.017

Stanek, J., Sullivan, T., & Davis, S. (2018). Comparison of Compressive Myofascial Release and the Graston Technique for Improving Ankle-Dorsiflexion Range of Motion. *Journal of athletic training*, 53(2), 160–167. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-386-16

SELF MASSAGE AND FOAM ROLLING

Self Massage and Foam Rolling

The goal of performance support is ensuring that athletes possess the health, physical and mental capacities necessary to compete at the top level. Which can be a challenge, due to the number of variables can affect athletic performance (eg. fatigue, recovery, training status, health and well-being).

Increasingly athletes have taken soft tissue work into their own hands, using foam rollers to ease the pain of overexertion and support athletic performance.

Can Foam Rolling Ease The Pain of Overexertion?

There is conflicting evidence for the use of foam rolling for reducing pain perception after delayed onset muscle soreness (DOMS), but evidence seems to justify the use of foam rolling as a warm-up activity rather than a recovery tool (Wiewelhove et al., 2019). Other studies have demonstrated that the addition of self-massage significantly improved stretch tolerance and flexibility compared with isolated static stretching (Capobianco et al., 2018). As well decrease muscle excitability through central mechanisms, which may account for the post-treatment increase in range of motion and pain pressure threshold (Young et al., 2018, Wilke et al., 2020).



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=873

Key Takeaways

The addition of self-massage may decrease muscle excitability and improve stretch tolerance, which may account for the post-treatment increase in range of motion and pain pressure threshold.

References and Sources

Behm, D. G., & Wilke, J. (2019). Do Self-Myofascial Release Devices Release Myofascia? Rolling Mechanisms: A Narrative Review. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 49(8), 1173–1181. doi:10.1007/s40279-019-01149-y

Capobianco, R. A., Almuklass, A. M., & Enoka, R. M. (2018). Manipulation of sensory input can improve stretching outcomes. *European journal of sport science*, 18(1), 83–91. doi:10.1080/17461391.2017.1394370

Drinkwater, E. J., Latella, C., Wilsmore, C., Bird, S. P., & Skein, M. (2019). Foam Rolling as a Recovery Tool Following Eccentric Exercise: Potential Mechanisms Underpinning Changes in Jump Performance. *Frontiers in physiology*, 10, 768. doi:10.3389/fphys.2019.00768

Krause, F., Wilke, J., Niederer, D., Vogt, L., & Banzer, W. (2019). Acute effects of foam rolling on passive stiffness, stretch sensation and fascial sliding: A randomized controlled trial. *Human movement science*, 67, 102514. doi:10.1016/j.humov.2019.102514

Wiewelhove, T., Döweling, A., Schneider, C., Hottenrott, L., Meyer, T., Kellmann, M., ... Ferrauti, A. (2019). A Meta-Analysis of the Effects of Foam Rolling on Performance and Recovery. *Frontiers in physiology*, 10, 376. doi:10.3389/ fphys.2019.00376

Wilke, J., Niemeyer, P., Niederer, D., Schleip, R., & Banzer, W. (2019). Influence of Foam Rolling Velocity on Knee Range of Motion and Tissue Stiffness: A Randomized, Controlled Crossover Trial. *Journal of sport rehabilitation*, 28(7), 711–715. doi:10.1123/jsr.2018-0041

Wilke, J., Müller, A. L., Giesche, F., Power, G., Ahmedi, H., & Behm, D. G. (2020). Acute Effects of Foam Rolling on Range of Motion in Healthy Adults: A Systematic Review with Multilevel Meta-analysis. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 50(2), 387–402. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-019-01205-7

Young, J. D., Spence, A. J., & Behm, D. G. (2018). Roller massage decreases spinal excitability to the soleus. *Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md.: 1985)*, 124(4), 950–959. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00732.2017

CUPPING THERAPY

The Use of Cupping Massage in Musculoskeletal Medicine

Cupping has been practiced in most cultures in one form or another throughout history but the true origin of cupping therapy remains uncertain (<u>Qureshi et al., 2017</u>). The practice of cupping is a technique where a vacuum is created in a cup, drawing the skin up and decompressing the layers of the epidermis and subcutaneous superficial fascia.

Cupping massage is a modern version of a traditional therapy, frequently carried out using plastic cups and a manual hand-pump to create the vacuum. The vacuum draws the soft tissue perpendicular to the skin, providing a tensile force, which can be left in one site or moved along the tissue. The practitioner can control the intensity of the desired suction from 80 mmHg to 250 mmHg.

The most common sites of application are the back, chest, abdomen and hips. The cups are typically left in place for 5-15 minutes depending on the client's reaction and sensitivity. To cover a wider area, cupping massage can also be used with varying amounts of suction.

Why Does Cupping Work?

The responses to cupping are multifactorial – physiological and psychological factors interplay in a complex manner. The biopsychosocial provides a practical framework for investigating the complex interplay between cupping therapy and clinical outcomes. Based on the biopsychosocial model, investigation into mechanisms of action should extend beyond local tissue changes and include peripheral and central endogenous pain modulation. An observed favorable outcome may be explained by a number of overlapping mechanism in the periphery, spinal cord, and brain including, but not limited to:

- Affective Touch Interpersonal touch and therapeutic stimulation of somatosensory nerves (C-tactile afferent) mediates the release of oxytocin. Which can result in reduced reactivity to stressors and improved mood/affect.
- Contextual Factors A positive therapeutic encounter is tied to clinical outcomes, the magnitude of a response may be influenced by mood, expectation, and conditioning.
- Mechanical Factors Gentle stretching of neurovascular structures and muscles induces a molecular response that helps diminish edema and expedite clearance of noxious biochemical by-products of inflammation (cytokines, prostaglandins, and creatine kinase).
- Neurological Factors The skin, subcutaneous tissue and fascia are all embedded with mechanosensitive nerve

fibers, so the application of cupping invokes a number of neurophysiological responses. One being, input from low-threshold A β fibers inhibits nociceptive processing and contributes to the activation of endogenous pain inhibitory mechanisms.

Is Cupping Safe?

Cupping is generally considered a safe therapy with minor side effects such as erythema, edema, and ecchymosis in a characteristic circular arrangement. The longer a cup is left on the skin and the higher tensile stress inside of the cup, the more of a circular mark is created this is due to capillary dilation. Cupping encourages blood flow to the cupped region (hyperemia), often the patient may feel warmer and/or hotter as a result of vasodilatation taking place, slight sweating may occur.

Key Takeaways

Cupping is a technique where a vacuum is created in a cup, drawing the skin and subcutaneous superficial fascia up into the cup. The use of cupping originated as early as 3000 B.C.E in a pre-scientific era and much of the reasoning once used to explain the effects do not make sense in the light of what we know today. Anecdotally cupping is used to alleviate pain, whether cupping works via contextual factors, neurophysiological responses or mechanical factors are all up for discussion.

References and Sources

Aboushanab, T. S., & AlSanad, S. (2018). Cupping Therapy: An Overview from a Modern Medicine Perspective. *Journal of acupuncture and meridian studies*, 11(3), 83–87. doi:10.1016/j.jams.2018.02.001

Al-Bedah, A., Elsubai, I. S., Qureshi, N. A., Aboushanab, T. S., Ali, G., El-Olemy, A. T., ... Alqaed, M. S. (2018). The medical perspective of cupping therapy: Effects and mechanisms of action. *Journal of traditional and complementary medicine*, 9(2), 90–97. doi:10.1016/j.jtcme.2018.03.003

AlKhadhrawi, N., & Alshami, A. (2019). Effects of myofascial trigger point dry cupping on pain and function in patients with plantar heel pain: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of bodywork and movement therapies*, 23(3), 532–538. doi:10.1016/j.jbmt.2019.05.016

Bialosky, J. E., Beneciuk, J. M., Bishop, M. D., Coronado, R. A., Penza, C. W., Simon, C. B., & George, S. Z. (2018). Unraveling the Mechanisms of Manual Therapy: Modeling an Approach. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(1), 8–18. doi:10.2519/jospt.2018.7476

86 | CUPPING THERAPY

Bridgett, R., Klose, P., Duffield, R., Mydock, S., & Lauche, R. (2018). Effects of Cupping Therapy in Amateur and Professional Athletes: Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Journal of alternative and complementary medicine (New York, N.Y.)*, 24(3), 208–219. doi:10.1089/acm.2017.0191

Cramer, H., Klose, P., Teut, M., Rotter, G., Ortiz, M., Anheyer, D., ... Brinkhaus, B. (2020). Cupping for patients with chronic pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, S1526-5900(20)30003-1. Advance online publication. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2020.01.002

Escaloni, J., Young, I., & Loss, J. (2019). Cupping with neural glides for the management of peripheral neuropathic plantar foot pain: a case study. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 27(1), 54–61. doi:10.1080/10669817.2018.1514355

Kim, S., Lee, S. H., Kim, M. R., Kim, E. J., Hwang, D. S., Lee, J., ... Lee, Y. J. (2018). Is cupping therapy effective in patients with neck pain? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ open*, 8(11), e021070. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2017-021070

Leggit, J. C. (2018). Musculoskeletal Therapies: Acupuncture, Dry Needling, Cupping. FP essentials, 470, 27-31.

Murray, D., & Clarkson, C. (2019). Effects of moving cupping therapy on hip and knee range of movement and knee flexion power: a preliminary investigation. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 27(5), 287–294. doi:10.1080/10669817.2019.1600892

Qureshi, N. A., Ali, G. I., Abushanab, T. S., El-Olemy, A. T., Alqaed, M. S., El-Subai, I. S., & Al-Bedah, A. (2017). History of cupping (Hijama): a narrative review of literature. *Journal of integrative medicine*, 15(3), 172–181. doi:10.1016/S2095-4964(17)60339-X

Rozenfeld, E., & Kalichman, L. (2016). New is the well-forgotten old: The use of dry cupping in musculoskeletal medicine. *Journal of bodywork and movement therapies*, 20(1), 173–178. doi:10.1016/j.jbmt.2015.11.009

Tham, L. M., Lee, H. P., & Lu, C. (2006). Cupping: from a biomechanical perspective. *Journal of biomechanics*, 39(12), 2183–2193. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2005.06.027

ELASTIC THERAPEUTIC TAPE

Elastic Therapeutic Tape

Elastic therapeutic tape is an elastic cotton strip with an acrylic adhesive that is used with the intent of treating pain and disability from athletic injuries and a variety of other physical disorders. Unlike conventional athletic taping it is applied in a manner that allows the body to move freely without restriction. Research suggests that elastic taping may help relieve pain, but not more than other treatment approaches.

What is The Role of Taping?

The tape lifts the skin (decompression technique), increasing the space below it, and increasing blood flow and circulation of lymphatic fluids (swelling). This increase in the interstitial space is said to lead to less pressure on the body's nociceptors, which detect pain, and to stimulate mechanoreceptors, to improve overall joint proprioception. Performance Taping works by affecting the specialized nerve receptors of the skin and the underlying fascia through the gentle tugging action the tape offers during movement. The intention is to optimize motor recruitment in order to improve the quality of movement of a specific region, and to reduce pain.

Therapeutic Taping for Pain Management

There are many brands of elastic therapeutic tape, the most well known brand being Kinesio tape. This brand of therapeutic tape was developed by Kenzo Kase in 1970 as an adjunct treatment for athletic injuries and a variety of musculoskeletal disorders. Despite being around for nearly forty years, taping remained relatively unknown until a surge in popularity after the product was donated to Olympic athletes in the 2008 Beijing Summer Olympics and the 2012 London Summer Olympics. After being featured on this global stage it became common practice to add therapeutic taping to treatments in an effort to accelerate the return to activity, specifically for cases of low back pain. Evidence of efficacy is mostly anecdotal, but there are recent randomized controlled clinical trials showing clinically significant improvements in pain and disability.

The application of taping stays on the skin for 3-7 days, during this time the tape stimulates large diameter mechanosensitive nerve fibers. This novel sensory input helps to alleviate pain by preventing or reducing nociceptive traffic into the central nervous system. Essentially, this involves the gate control theory of pain, insofar as nociceptive signals are often modifiable in such a way that the pain experience greatly subsides or disappears altogether. Another proposed mechanism of action is that the application of tape facilitates tissue perfusion and lymphatic flow through a

88 | ELASTIC THERAPEUTIC TAPE

sympathetic vascular reflex and by mechanically increasing the interstitial space where the exchange of gases, nutrients, and metabolites between the blood and tissues occurs (<u>Cimino et al., 2018</u>).

In acute cases of low back pain, there are studies that show therapeutic taping provided clinically significant improvements in pain and disability (Kelle et al., 2016). In chronic cases of low back pain the literature on therapeutic taping is mixed. However there is a recent randomized controlled trial published in the journal Spine, that showed simple application of Kinesio tape over the erector muscle group reduces pain and disability in people who suffer from chronic non-specific low back pain (Al-Shareef et al., 2016).

Key Takeaways

For those who suffer from low back pain, taping has been shown to be a safe non-pharmacological therapeutic intervention that is simple to carry out, economical, and has very few and relatively minor side effects. Existing evidence suggests that therapeutic taping decreases the frequency, intensity and duration of non-specific low back pain, giving people confidence in their recovery and may lead to a reduced need for additional medication. However, it does not establish the superiority of taping to most sham interventions and other treatment approaches in terms of pain reduction. Additional rigorous study into the mechanisms behind and therapeutic values of taping would be of value.

References and Sources

Al-Shareef, A. T., Omar, M. T., & Ibrahim, A. H. (2016). Effect of Kinesio Taping on Pain and Functional Disability in Chronic Nonspecific Low Back Pain: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *Spine*, 41(14), E821–E828. doi:10.1097/BRS.000000000001447

Cimino, S. R., Beaudette, S. M., & Brown, S. (2018). Kinesio taping influences the mechanical behaviour of the skin of the low back: A possible pathway for functionally relevant effects. *Journal of biomechanics*, 67, 150–156. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2017.12.005

Draper, C., Azad, A., Littlewood, D., Morgan, C., Barker, L., & Weis, C. A. (2019). Taping protocol for two presentations of pregnancy-related back pain: a case series. *The Journal of the Canadian Chiropractic Association*, 63(2), 111–118.

Ghozy, S., Dung, N. M., Morra, M. E., Morsy, S., Elsayed, G. G., Tran, L., Minh, L., Abbas, A. S., Loc, T., Hieu, T. H., Dung, T. C., & Huy, N. T. (2019). Efficacy of kinesio taping in treatment of shoulder pain and disability: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Physiotherapy*, 107, 176–188. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physio.2019.12.001

Kelle, B., Güzel, R., & Sakallı, H. (2016). The effect of Kinesio taping application for acute non-specific low back pain: a randomized controlled clinical trial. *Clinical rehabilitation*, 30(10), 997–1003. doi:10.1177/0269215515603218

Lim, E. C., & Tay, M. G. (2015). Kinesio taping in musculoskeletal pain and disability that lasts for more than 4 weeks: is it time to peel off the tape and throw it out with the sweat? A systematic review with meta-analysis focused on pain and also methods of tape application. *British journal of sports medicine*, 49(24), 1558–1566. doi:10.1136/ bjsports-2014-094151

Lin, S., Zhu, B., Huang, G., Wang, C., Zeng, Q., & Zhang, S. (2020). Short-Term Effect of Kinesiotaping on Chronic Nonspecific Low Back Pain and Disability: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Physical therapy*, 100(2), 238–254. https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/pzz163

Luz Júnior, M., Almeida, M. O., Santos, R. S., Civile, V. T., & Costa, L. (2019). Effectiveness of Kinesio Taping in Patients With Chronic Nonspecific Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review With Meta-analysis. *Spine*, 44(1), 68–78. doi:10.1097/BRS.00000000002756

Macedo, L. B., Richards, J., Borges, D. T., Melo, S. A., & Brasileiro, J. S. (2019). Kinesio Taping reduces pain and improves disability in low back pain patients: a randomised controlled trial. *Physiotherapy*, 105(1), 65–75. doi:10.1016/j.physio.2018.07.005

Nelson, N. L. (2016). Kinesio taping for chronic low back pain: A systematic review. *Journal of bodywork and movement therapies*, 20(3), 672–681. doi:10.1016/j.jbmt.2016.04.018

Tu, S. J., Woledge, R. C., & Morrissey, D. (2016). Does 'Kinesio tape' alter thoracolumbar fascia movement during lumbar flexion? An observational laboratory study. *Journal of bodywork and movement therapies*, 20(4), 898–905. doi:10.1016/j.jbmt.2016.04.007

Velasco-Roldán, O., Riquelme, I., Ferragut-Garcías, A., Heredia-Rizo, A. M., Rodríguez-Blanco, C., & Oliva-Pascual-Vaca, Á. (2018). Immediate and Short-Term Effects of Kinesio Taping Tightness in Mechanical Low Back Pain: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *PM & R: the journal of injury, function, and rehabilitation*, 10(1), 28–35. doi:10.1016/ j.pmrj.2017.05.003

MEDICAL ACUPUNCTURE

Medical Acupuncture

The earliest detailed report on Chinese and Japanese medicine to be written by a European was by Willem ten Rhyne, a Dutch physician who published Dissertatio de arthritide in 1683 (Bivins, 2001). In this book Willem ten Rhyne documented the practice of acupuncture in detail, this was the first time that Europeans were introduced to the practice of acupuncture. Since then there have been specific branches of acupuncture that have developed in Europe and North America independent of Traditional narratives. The practices are often referred to as medical acupuncture or western acupuncture. Regardless of its theoretical basis and based on the traditional definition, the term acupuncture refers to the actual insertion of a needle (usually a solid needle) into the body.

"The term 'acupuncture' is a translation of 针刺术 (zhen ci shu in Chinese pin yin) or in short 针 (zhen), and is literally equivalent to the term 'needling' or 'needling technique'. Based on the traditional and official definition, the term acupuncture refers to the actual insertion of a needle (usually a solid needle) into the body, which describes a family of procedures involving the stimulation of points on the body using a variety of techniques" — (Fan et al., 2016).

Each date of the second
Sites for the application of acupuncture documented by Willem ten Rhyne.

Following the European lineage, the concept of medical acupuncture was pioneered by Felix

Mann who began to view acupuncture as a form of peripheral nerve stimulation technique. Fast forward to contemporary practice and Medical Acupuncture is a precise peripheral nerve stimulation technique, in which acupuncture needles are inserted into anatomically defined sites, and stimulated manually or with electricity. Needle insertion is based on an understanding of anatomy and neurophysiology and acknowledges the fact that, regardless of where the needle is inserted (skin, fascia, muscles, tendons, periosteum, joint capsules, etc.), there will be a number of physiological responses.

A Neurological Model: Many clinicians explain the mechanism of action in neurophysiological terms.

Acknowledging that traditional narratives outdated, medical acupuncture is an approach that is based upon a theory that is inline current scientific understanding of how the body works (<u>Robinson, 2016</u>; <u>White, 2009</u>). Acupuncture originated in a pre-scientific era – Meridians and the concepts of Qi ought to be replaced by systems biology and an understanding of neurophysiology (endogenous opioids, endocannabinoid, and purinergic signalling).

The insertion of an acupuncture needle provides mechanical stimulation of specialized sensory receptors located in the cutaneous and subcutaneous structures. Preferential sites for acupuncture stimulation are associated with areas rich in specialized sensory receptors such as muscle spindles, Golgi tendon organs, ligament receptors, Paciniform and Ruffini's receptors (joint capsules), deep pressure endings (within muscle belly), and free nerve endings (muscle and fascia). Based on the neurological model, all of these areas are highly innervated and as a result there are a number of physiological responses that help modulate the experience of pain. An observed favorable outcome may be explained by a number of overlapping mechanisms in the periphery, spinal cord, and brain (<u>Yin et al., 2017</u>; <u>Zhang et al., 2014</u>).

Acupuncture Research Has Matured

The most comprehensive overview of acupuncture is published in *The Journal of Pain*, it is a meta-analysis using data from 39 trials and 20 827 patients showing that acupuncture helps with pain and effects exist beyond placebo. In this paper researchers looked at all accumulated randomized controlled trials and examined how acupuncture fared in treating people with chronic pain, what it found was acupuncture often worked better than sham acupuncture and other control groups (Vickers et al., 2018).

As research into acupuncture continues to mature, more clinical practice guidelines, randomized controlled trials and systematic reviews now support the use of acupuncture as part of a multidimensional approach for patients suffering from common musculoskeletal symptoms including:

- Chronic pain (Vickers et al., 2018)
- Acute pain (Cohen et al., 2017; Jan et al., 2017; Murakami et al., 2017; Sakamoto et al., 2018)
- Low back pain (Chou et al., 2017; Foster et al., 2018; Qaseem et al., 2017)
- Neck pain (<u>Blanpied et al., 2017; Chou et al., 2018; Kjaer et al., 2017</u>)
- Pelvic pain (<u>Franco et al., 2018</u>)
- Tension-type headaches (Busse et al., 2017; Linde et al., 2016)
- Migraines (Busse et al., 2017; Linde et al., 2016; Xu et al., 2020; Yang et al. 2016; Zhang et al., 2020)
- Osteoarthritis (Busse et al. 2017; Lin et al. 2016)
- Postoperative Pain (<u>Tedesco et al., 2017</u>)
- Cancer Pain (<u>He et al., 2019; Hershman et al., 2018</u>)

Auricular Acupuncture for Pain

A specific branch of acupuncture is auricular acupuncture, which has been shown to be an easy to carry out nonpharmacological pain management method that may be of use for patients as a part of a larger multidisciplinary pain management pain strategy (Jan et al., 2017; Murakami et al., 2017; Ushinohama et al., 2016). Acknowledging that traditional narratives outdated auricular acupuncture is being reframed as a form of peripheral nerve stimulation technique in which acupuncture needles are inserted into anatomically defined sites, and stimulated manually or with electricity. Auricular acupuncture is interesting because it can be used to stimulate the auricular branch of the vagus nerve (the inner conch of the ear) which may have therapeutic benefits (<u>Butt et al., 2020; Usichenko et al., 2017</u>).

Michigan Medicine: Deconstructing the Legitimization of Acupuncture: How Science Helped Move Acupuncture to Mainstream



The responses to acupuncture are multifactorial – physiological and psychological factors interplay in a complex manner.

The existence of placebo-induced effects do not negate treatment-induced results, the meaning response, therapeutic alliance, ritual and context all play into the effects, the magnitude of a response may be influenced by mood, expectation, and conditioning (Kong et al., 2018).

The placebo response is real and it is effective, which is why some may overlook other subtle physiological responses such as sensory gating. In addition to the placebo response the insertion of an acupuncture needle provides mechanical stimulation of specialized sensory receptors located in the cutaneous and subcutaneous structures. This can have an analgesic & anti-inflammatory effect via the inflammatory reflex, endogenous opioids, endogenous cannabinoids and purinergic signalling (<u>Yin et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2014</u>).

Adopting a neurophysiological explanation can lead to a wider acceptance in both research and clinical settings. Primary mechanism of action is likely through inhibition of nociceptive processing (bottom-up) and stimulation of endogenous pain inhibitory mechanisms (top-down) (<u>Yu et al., 2020</u>).

Key Takeaways

Acknowledging that traditional narratives outdated, medical acupuncture is an approach that is based upon a theory that is inline current scientific understanding of how the body works. For those who are unfamiliar with the literature, it may be easy to assume that acupuncture is just a placebo. It is clear that the placebo response is a big part of why patients feel better, but it is also within the realm of reasons that patients have a complex biopsychosocial response to acupuncture that INCLUDES but is not LIMITED to placebo.

Acupuncture needles stimulate afferent nerves (A-beta, A-delta and C fibers), which triggers mechanical, contextual and neurological responses that help modulate the experience of pain.

References and Sources

Andrews, B. (2014). The making of modern Chinese medicine 1850–1960. UBC Press.

Bivins, R. (2001). The needle and the lancet: acupuncture in Britain, 1683-2000. *Acupuncture in medicine: journal of the British Medical Acupuncture Society*, 19(1), 2–14. doi:10.1136/aim.19.1.2

Busse, J. W., Craigie, S., Juurlink, D. N., Buckley, D. N., Wang, L., Couban, R. J., ... Guyatt, G. H. (2017). Guideline for opioid therapy and chronic noncancer pain. *CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne*, 189(18), E659–E666. doi:10.1503/cmaj.170363

Butt, M. F., Albusoda, A., Farmer, A. D., & Aziz, Q. (2020). The anatomical basis for transcutaneous auricular vagus nerve stimulation. *Journal of anatomy*, 236(4), 588–611. https://doi.org/10.1111/joa.13122

Chae, Y., & Olausson, H. (2017). The role of touch in acupuncture treatment. *Acupuncture in medicine: journal of the British Medical Acupuncture Society*, 35(2), 148–152. doi:10.1136/acupmed-2016-011178

Chae, Y., Lee, Y. S., & Enck, P. (2018). How Placebo Needles Differ From Placebo Pills?. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, 9, 243. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00243

Chou, R., Deyo, R., Friedly, J., Skelly, A., Hashimoto, R., Weimer, M., ... Brodt, E. D. (2017). Nonpharmacologic Therapies for Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review for an American College of Physicians Clinical Practice Guideline. *Annals of internal medicine*, 166(7), 493–505. doi:10.7326/M16-2459

94 | MEDICAL ACUPUNCTURE

Chou, R., Côté, P., Randhawa, K., Torres, P., Yu, H., Nordin, M., ... Cedraschi, C. (2018). The Global Spine Care Initiative: applying evidence-based guidelines on the non-invasive management of back and neck pain to low- and middle-income communities. *European spine journal*, 27(Suppl 6), 851–860. doi:10.1007/s00586-017-5433-

Cohen, M. M., Smit, V., Andrianopoulos, N., Ben-Meir, M., Taylor, D. M., Parker, S. J., ... Cameron, P. A. (2017). Acupuncture for analgesia in the emergency department: a multicentre, randomised, equivalence and non-inferiority trial. *The Medical journal of Australia*, 206(11), 494–499. doi:10.5694/mja16.00771

Cook, H. (2020). Translation at Work: Chinese Medicine in the First Global Age. Brill Rodopi.

Fan, A. Y., & He, H. (2016). Dry needling is acupuncture. *Acupuncture in medicine: journal of the British Medical Acupuncture Society*, 34(3), 241. doi:10.1136/acupmed-2015-011010

Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., & Nijs, J. (2019). Trigger point dry needling for the treatment of myofascial pain syndrome: current perspectives within a pain neuroscience paradigm. *Journal of pain research*, 12, 1899–1911. doi:10.2147/JPR.S154728

Filshie, J. (2016). Medical Acupuncture: A Western Scientific Approach (2nd ed.). Elsevier.

Foster, N. E., Anema, J. R., Cherkin, D., Chou, R., Cohen, S. P., Gross, D. P., ... Lancet Low Back Pain Series Working Group (2018). Prevention and treatment of low back pain: evidence, challenges, and promising directions. *Lancet (London, England)*, 391(10137), 2368–2383. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30489-6

Franco, J. V., Turk, T., Jung, J. H., Xiao, Y. T., Iakhno, S., Garrote, V., & Vietto, V. (2018). Non-pharmacological interventions for treating chronic prostatitis/chronic pelvic pain syndrome. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 5(5), CD012551. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD012551.pub3

He, Y., Guo, X., May, B. H., Zhang, A. L., Liu, Y., Lu, C., ... Zhang, H. (2019). Clinical Evidence for Association of Acupuncture and Acupressure With Improved Cancer Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *JAMA oncology*, 10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.5233. Advance online publication. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.5233

Hershman, D. L., Unger, J. M., Greenlee, H., Capodice, J. L., Lew, D. L., Darke, A. K., ... Crew, K. D. (2018). Effect of Acupuncture vs Sham Acupuncture or Waitlist Control on Joint Pain Related to Aromatase Inhibitors Among Women With Early-Stage Breast Cancer: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA*, 320(2), 167–176. doi:10.1001/jama.2018.8907

Ijaz, N., & Boon, H. (2019). Evaluating the international standards gap for the use of acupuncture needles by physiotherapists and chiropractors: A policy analysis. *PloS one*, 14(12), e0226601. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0226601

Jan, A. L., Aldridge, E. S., Rogers, I. R., Visser, E. J., Bulsara, M. K., & Niemtzow, R. C. (2017). Review article: Does acupuncture have a role in providing analgesia in the emergency setting? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Emergency medicine Australasia: EMA*, 29(5), 490–498. doi:10.1111/1742-6723.12832

Ji, R. R., Chamessian, A., & Zhang, Y. Q. (2016). Pain regulation by non-neuronal cells and inflammation. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 354(6312), 572–577. doi:10.1126/science.aaf8924

Ji, R. R., Nackley, A., Huh, Y., Terrando, N., & Maixner, W. (2018). Neuroinflammation and Central Sensitization in Chronic and Widespread Pain. *Anesthesiology*, 129(2), 343–366. doi:10.1097/ALN.00000000002130

Ji, R. R., Donnelly, C. R., & Nedergaard, M. (2019). Astrocytes in chronic pain and itch. Nature reviews. *Neuroscience*, 20(11), 667–685. doi:10.1038/s41583-019-0218-1

Kaptchuk, T. J. (2002). Acupuncture: theory, efficacy, and practice. *Annals of internal medicine*, 136(5), 374–383. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-136-5-200203050-00010

Kim, S., Zhang, X., O'Buckley, S. C., Cooter, M., Park, J. J., & Nackley, A. G. (2018). Acupuncture Resolves Persistent Pain and Neuroinflammation in a Mouse Model of Chronic Overlapping Pain Conditions. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 19(12), 1384.e1–1384.e14. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2018.05.013

Kjaer, P., Kongsted, A., Hartvigsen, J., Isenberg-Jørgensen, A., Schiøttz-Christensen, B., Søborg, B., ... Povlsen, T. M. (2017). National clinical guidelines for non-surgical treatment of patients with recent onset neck pain or cervical radiculopathy. *European spine journal: official publication of the European Spine Society, the European Spinal Deformity Society, and the European Section of the Cervical Spine Research Society,* 26(9), 2242–2257. doi:10.1007/ s00586-017-5121-8

Kobayashi, A., Uefuji, M., & Yasumo, W. (2010). History and progress of Japanese acupuncture. *Evidence-based* complementary and alternative medicine: eCAM, 7(3), 359–365. doi:10.1093/ecam/nem155

Kong, J., Wang, Z., Leiser, J., Minicucci, D., Edwards, R., Kirsch, I., ... Gollub, R. L. (2018). Enhancing treatment of osteoarthritis knee pain by boosting expectancy: A functional neuroimaging study. *NeuroImage*. Clinical, 18, 325–334. doi:10.1016/j.nicl.2018.01.021

Lin, X., Huang, K., Zhu, G., Huang, Z., Qin, A., & Fan, S. (2016). The Effects of Acupuncture on Chronic Knee Pain Due to Osteoarthritis: A Meta-Analysis. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery*. American volume, 98(18), 1578–1585. doi:10.2106/JBJS.15.00620

Linde, K., Allais, G., Brinkhaus, B., Fei, Y., Mehring, M., Shin, B. C., ... White, A. R. (2016). Acupuncture for the prevention of tension-type headache. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 4, CD007587. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD007587.pub2

Linde, K., Allais, G., Brinkhaus, B., Fei, Y., Mehring, M., Vertosick, E. A., ... White, A. R. (2016). Acupuncture for the prevention of episodic migraine. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 2016(6), CD001218. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD001218.pub3

Maeda, Y., Kim, H., Kettner, N., Kim, J., Cina, S., Malatesta, C., ... Napadow, V. (2017). Rewiring the primary somatosensory cortex in carpal tunnel syndrome with acupuncture. *Brain: a journal of neurology*, 140(4), 914–927. doi:10.1093/brain/awx015

Mann, F. (1992). Reinventing acupuncture: a new concept of ancient medicine. Butterworth-Heinemann.

96 | MEDICAL ACUPUNCTURE

Melzack, R., & Wall, P. D. (1965). Pain mechanisms: a new theory. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 150(3699), 971–979. doi:10.1126/science.150.3699.971

Murakami, M., Fox, L., & Dijkers, M. P. (2017). Ear Acupuncture for Immediate Pain Relief-A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, 18(3), 551–564. doi:10.1093/pm/pnw215

Musial, F. (2019). Acupuncture for the Treatment of Pain – A Mega-Placebo?. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, 13, 1110. doi:10.3389/fnins.2019.01110

Paley, C. A., & Johnson, M. I. (2019). Acupuncture for the Relief of Chronic Pain: A Synthesis of Systematic Reviews. *Medicina (Kaunas, Lithuania)*, 56(1), E6. doi:10.3390/medicina56010006

Plaza-Manzano, G., Gómez-Chiguano, G. F., Cleland, J. A., Arías-Buría, J. L., Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., & Navarro-Santana, M. J. (2020). Effectiveness of Percutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation for Musculoskeletal Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *European journal of pain (London, England)*, 10.1002/ejp.1559. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.1559

Qaseem, A., Wilt, T. J., McLean, R. M., Forciea, M. A., & Clinical Guidelines Committee of the American College of Physicians (2017). Noninvasive Treatments for Acute, Subacute, and Chronic Low Back Pain: A Clinical Practice Guideline From the American College of Physicians. *Annals of internal medicine*, 166(7), 514–530. doi:10.7326/M16-2367

Robinson, N. G. (2016). Why We Need Minimum Basic Requirements in Science for Acupuncture Education. *Medicines (Basel, Switzerland)*, 3(3), 21. doi:10.3390/medicines3030021

Sakamoto, J. T., Ward, H. B., Vissoci, J., & Eucker, S. A. (2018). Are Nonpharmacologic Pain Interventions Effective at Reducing Pain in Adult Patients Visiting the Emergency Department? A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Academic emergency medicine: official journal of the Society for Academic Emergency Medicine*, 10.1111/acem.13411. Advance online publication. doi:10.1111/acem.13411

Salazar, T. E., Richardson, M. R., Beli, E., Ripsch, M. S., George, J., Kim, Y., ... Grant, M. B. (2017). Electroacupuncture Promotes Central Nervous System-Dependent Release of Mesenchymal Stem Cells. *Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio)*, 35(5), 1303–1315. doi:10.1002/stem.2613

Tang, Y., Yin, H. Y., Rubini, P., & Illes, P. (2016). Acupuncture-Induced Analgesia: A Neurobiological Basis in Purinergic Signaling. *The Neuroscientist: a review journal bringing neurobiology, neurology and psychiatry*, 22(6), 563–578. doi:10.1177/1073858416654453

Tedesco, D., Gori, D., Desai, K. R., Asch, S., Carroll, I. R., Curtin, C., ... Hernandez-Boussard, T. (2017). Drug-Free Interventions to Reduce Pain or Opioid Consumption After Total Knee Arthroplasty: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis. *JAMA surgery*, 152(10), e172872. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2017.2872

Ushinohama, A., Cunha, B. P., Costa, L. O., Barela, A. M., & Freitas, P. B. (2016). Effect of a single session of ear

acupuncture on pain intensity and postural control in individuals with chronic low back pain: a randomized controlled trial. *Brazilian journal of physical therapy*, 20(4), 328–335. doi:10.1590/bjpt-rbf.2014.0158

Usichenko, T., Hacker, H., & Lotze, M. (2017). Transcutaneous auricular vagal nerve stimulation (taVNS) might be a mechanism behind the analgesic effects of auricular acupuncture. *Brain stimulation*, 10(6), 1042–1044. doi:10.1016/j.brs.2017.07.013

Vickers, A. J., Vertosick, E. A., Lewith, G., MacPherson, H., Foster, N. E., Sherman, K. J., ... Acupuncture Trialists' Collaboration (2018). Acupuncture for Chronic Pain: Update of an Individual Patient Data Meta-Analysis. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 19(5), 455–474. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2017.11.005

Wirz-Ridolfi, A. (2019). The History of Ear Acupuncture and Ear Cartography: Why Precise Mapping of Auricular Points Is Important. *Medical acupuncture*, 31(3), 145–156. doi:10.1089/acu.2019.1349

White, A., & Ernst, E. (2004). A brief history of acupuncture. *Rheumatology (Oxford, England)*, 43(5), 662–663. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keg005

White, A., & Editorial Board of Acupuncture in Medicine (2009). Western medical acupuncture: a definition. *Acupuncture in medicine: journal of the British Medical Acupuncture Society*, 27(1), 33–35. doi:10.1136/ aim.2008.000372

Xu, S., Yu, L., Luo, X., Wang, M., Chen, G., Zhang, Q., ... Wang, W. (2020). Manual acupuncture versus sham acupuncture and usual care for prophylaxis of episodic migraine without aura: multicentre, randomised clinical trial. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 368, m697. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m697

Yang, Y., Que, Q., Ye, X., & Zheng, G. h. (2016). Verum versus sham manual acupuncture for migraine: a systematic review of randomised controlled trials. *Acupuncture in medicine: journal of the British Medical Acupuncture Society*, 34(2), 76–83. doi:10.1136/acupmed-2015-010903

Yin, C., Buchheit, T. E., & Park, J. J. (2017). Acupuncture for chronic pain: an update and critical overview. *Current opinion in anaesthesiology*, 30(5), 583–592. doi:10.1097/ACO.00000000000000501

You, E., Kim, D., Harris, R., & D'Alonzo, K. (2019). Effects of Auricular Acupressure on Pain Management: A Systematic Review. *Pain management nursing: official journal of the American Society of Pain Management Nurses*, 20(1), 17–24. doi:10.1016/j.pmn.2018.07.010

Yu, S., Ortiz, A., Gollub, R. L., Wilson, G., Gerber, J., Park, J., ... Kong, J. (2020). Acupuncture Treatment Modulates the Connectivity of Key Regions of the Descending Pain Modulation and Reward Systems in Patients with Chronic Low Back Pain. *Journal of clinical medicine*, 9(6), E1719. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9061719

Zhang, N., Houle, T., Hindiyeh, N., & Aurora, S. K. (2020). Systematic Review: Acupuncture vs Standard Pharmacological Therapy for Migraine Prevention. *Headache*, 60(2), 309–317. https://doi.org/10.1111/head.13723

Zhang, R., Lao, L., Ren, K., & Berman, B. M. (2014). Mechanisms of acupuncture-electroacupuncture on persistent pain. *Anesthesiology*, 120(2), 482–503. doi:10.1097/ALN.000000000000101

Zhao, L., Chen, J., Li, Y., Sun, X., Chang, X., Zheng, H., ... Liang, F. (2017). The Long-term Effect of Acupuncture for Migraine Prophylaxis: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA internal medicine*, 177(4), 508–515. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2016.9378

Zhou, K., Ma, Y., & Brogan, M. S. (2015). Dry needling versus acupuncture: the ongoing debate. *Acupuncture in medicine: journal of the British Medical Acupuncture Society*, 33(6), 485–490. doi:10.1136/acupmed-2015-010911

15.

TRANSCUTANEOUS ELECTRICAL NERVE STIMULATION (TENS)

Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS)

Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation (TENS) involves the delivery of electrical stimuli with the aim of relieving acute and chronic pain. Primary mechanism of action is likely through inhibition of nociceptive processing (bottom-up) and stimulation of endogenous pain inhibitory mechanisms (top-down) (<u>de Oliveira et al., 2019; Peng et al., 2019</u>).

Based on randomized controlled trials and systematic reviews TENS therapy does not have a large body of evidence, but there is still some research that supports the use of TENS as part of a multidimensional approach for patients suffering from fibromyalgia (Dailey et al., 2020).

The University of Vermont: How to Use a TENS Unit



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=875

Key Takeaways

Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation (TENS) involves the delivery of electrical stimuli that stimulates afferent nerve (A-beta, A-delta and C fibers), which triggers neurological responses in the periphery, spinal cord, and brain that may help modulate the experience of pain.

References and Sources

Behm, D. G., Colwell, E. M., Power, G., Ahmadi, H., Behm, A., Bishop, A., ... Ryan, M. (2019). Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation improves fatigue performance of the treated and contralateral knee extensors. *European journal of applied physiology*, 119(11-12), 2745–2755. doi:10.1007/s00421-019-04253-z
Binny, J., Joshua Wong, N. L., Garga, S., Lin, C. C., Maher, C. G., McLachlan, A. J., ... Shaheed, C. A. (2019). Transcutaneous electric nerve stimulation (TENS) for acute low back pain: systematic review. *Scandinavian journal of pain*, 19(2), 225–233. doi:10.1515/sjpain-2018-0124

Butt, M. F., Albusoda, A., Farmer, A. D., & Aziz, Q. (2020). The anatomical basis for transcutaneous auricular vagus nerve stimulation. *Journal of anatomy*, 236(4), 588–611. https://doi.org/10.1111/joa.13122

Costa, B., Ferreira, I., Trevizol, A., Thibaut, A., & Fregni, F. (2019). Emerging targets and uses of neuromodulation for pain. *Expert review of neurotherapeutics*, 19(2), 109–118. doi:10.1080/14737175.2019.1567332

Dailey, D. L., Vance, C., Rakel, B. A., Zimmerman, M. B., Embree, J., Merriwether, E. N., Geasland, K. M., ... Sluka, K. A. (2020). Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation Reduces Movement-Evoked Pain and Fatigue: A Randomized, Controlled Trial. *Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, N.J.)*, 72(5), 824–836. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.41170

de Oliveira, H. U., Silva Dos Santos, R., Silva Malta, I. H., Pinho, J. P., Almeida, A., Sorgi, C. A., ... Galdino, G. (2019). Investigation of the Involvement of the Endocannabinoid System in TENS-induced Antinociception. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, S1526-5900(19)30868-5. Advance online publication. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2019.11.009

Gibson, W., Wand, B. M., & O'Connell, N. E. (2017). Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) for neuropathic pain in adults. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 9(9), CD011976. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD011976.pub2

Gibson, W., Wand, B. M., Meads, C., Catley, M. J., & O'Connell, N. E. (2019). Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) for chronic pain – an overview of Cochrane Reviews. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 4(4), CD011890. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD011890.pub3

Heidland, A., Fazeli, G., Klassen, A., Sebekova, K., Hennemann, H., Bahner, U., & Di Iorio, B. (2013). Neuromuscular electrostimulation techniques: historical aspects and current possibilities in treatment of pain and muscle waisting. *Clinical nephrology*, 79 Suppl 1, S12–S23.

Johnson, M. I., Claydon, L. S., Herbison, G. P., Jones, G., & Paley, C. A. (2017). Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) for fibromyalgia in adults. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 10(10), CD012172. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD012172.pub2

Leemans, L., Elma, Ö., Nijs, J., Wideman, T. H., Siffain, C., den Bandt, H., Van Laere, S., & Beckwée, D. (2020). Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation and heat to reduce pain in a chronic low back pain population: a randomized controlled clinical trial. *Brazilian journal of physical therapy*, S1413-3555(19)30687-2. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjpt.2020.04.001

Macdonald, A. J. R. (1993). A Brief Review of the History of Electrotherapy and Its Union with Acupuncture. *Acupuncture in Medicine*, 11(2), 66–75. https://doi.org/10.1136/aim.11.2.66

Martimbianco, A., Porfírio, G. J., Pacheco, R. L., Torloni, M. R., & Riera, R. (2019). Transcutaneous electrical nerve

102 | TRANSCUTANEOUS ELECTRICAL NERVE STIMULATION (TENS)

stimulation (TENS) for chronic neck pain. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 12, CD011927. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD011927.pub2

Mokhtari, T., Ren, Q., Li, N., Wang, F., Bi, Y., & Hu, L. (2020). Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation in Relieving Neuropathic Pain: Basic Mechanisms and Clinical Applications. *Current pain and headache reports*, 24(4), 14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11916-020-0846-1

Peng, W. W., Tang, Z. Y., Zhang, F. R., Li, H., Kong, Y. Z., Iannetti, G. D., & Hu, L. (2019). Neurobiological mechanisms of TENS-induced analgesia. *NeuroImage*, 195, 396–408. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2019.03.077

Sanchis-Gomar, F., Lopez-Lopez, S., Romero-Morales, C., Maffulli, N., Lippi, G., & Pareja-Galeano, H. (2019). Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation: A New Therapeutic Option for Chronic Diseases Based on Contraction-Induced Myokine Secretion. *Frontiers in physiology*, 10, 1463. doi:10.3389/fphys.2019.01463

Sato, K. L., Sanada, L. S., Silva, M., Okubo, R., & Sluka, K. A. (2020). Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation, acupuncture, and spinal cord stimulation on neuropathic, inflammatory and, non-inflammatory pain in rat models. *The Korean journal of pain*, 33(2), 121–130. https://doi.org/10.3344/kjp.2020.33.2.121

THERMAL APPLICATIONS: HEAT & COLD

Thermal Applications: Heat & Cold

Heat Therapy

Heat therapy in the form of deep moist heat or a heating pad is a mild analgesic that has a number of effects on the human body including increases in blood flow, increases in the expression of heat shock proteins and pain relief (McGorm et al. 2018). A number of clinical practice guidelines recommend the use of heat to manage acute and chronic low back pain (Chou et al., 2018; Qaseem et al., 2017).

Cold Therapy

Cold therapy in the form of cold compress, ice pack or ice massage is also a mild mild analgesic, the physiological effects of cold therapy include reduced blood flow, reduced metabolic demand, and pain relief. There is limited evidence from randomized clinical trials (RCTs) supporting the use of cold therapy following acute musculoskeletal injury and delayed-onset muscle soreness (DOMS), also a mounting body of research has shown that ice can delay healing, increase swelling, and possibly cause additional damage to injured tissues (Duchesne et al., 2017; Fuchs et al., 2020; Peake et al., 2017).

PEACE & LOVE: New acronym for the treatment of traumatic injuries

One of the primary changes surrounding the management of acute injuries is that most guidelines recommend against the use of ice to control inflammation. It is now recognized that ice can delay healing, increase swelling, and possibly cause additional damage to injured tissues. Traditionally treatment of an acute sprain or strain consists of RICE (Rest, Ice, Compression, Elevation), the most recent recommendation has been to provide soft tissue injuries with the PEACE & LOVE protocol to encourage optimal loading of the joint and tissue around the affected injury to can impact the amount swelling leading to a faster recovery (Dubois & Esculier, 2020).

- **PEACE** makes up the first steps you would take after an injury. Immediately after the injury you would want to protect (P) the injured structure, followed by elevating (E) the limb higher than the heart, avoid anti-inflammatory (A) both over-the-counter or prescriptions and ice, as they slow down tissue healing. Compress (C) the injured area to decrease swelling. Ensure patient education (E) on the risks of overtreatment.
- LOVE makes up the progressive return to activities a few days after the injury. Gradual load (L) will facilitate healing, optimistic (O) influences the perception of pain and recovery speed. Loading and progressive return to activity will facilitate vascularization (V) of the injured tissues. The last step involves activity exercises (E) can help

recover range of motion, strength and proprioception.

Ice baths (also known as cold-water immersion or whole body cryotherapy)

Even though ice baths may delay healing, that does not mean that there is no use for the techniques. Controlled stress is a way to promote adaptation in the body, this may include, but it is not limited to: training, fasting, cold immersions, breathing exercises. One prominent figure in the world of body experimentation is Wim Hof a Dutch adventurer, known by the name "The Iceman" who has popularized the Wim Hof Method and cold-water immersion. Research on this method of cold exposure suggest that people can learn to modulate their immune responses — a finding that has raised hopes for patients who have chronic inflammatory disorders such as rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease (Kox et al., 2014).

Thermal Applications: Summary

| Technique | Application | Application notes (e.g. anatomical location, conditions) |
|------------------------|---|---|
| Application of cold | Local application of cold/ice (e.g. compress, ice pack, ice massage) often for 15 minutes or less. | Used over areas of acute inflammation or pain. Generally not used over areas of chronic inflammation. |
| Application of heat | Local application of heat (e.g. compress, magic bag) often for 10 – 5 minutes. | Used for chronic pain. Not used over areas of acute inflammation. |
| Contrast application | Alternating application of cold (e.g., 3 minutes) with application of heat (e.g., 1 minute). | Used for subacute pain |

Key Takeaways

For those who suffer from musculoskeletal pain, thermal applications have been shown to be a safe nonpharmacological therapeutic intervention that is simple to carry out, economical, and has relatively minor side effects.

References and Sources

Bleakley, C. M., Bieuzen, F., Davison, G. W., & Costello, J. T. (2014). Whole-body cryotherapy: empirical evidence and theoretical perspectives. *Open access journal of sports medicine*, 5, 25–36. https://doi.org/10.2147/OAJSM.S41655

Brasure, M., Nelson, V.A., Scheiner, S., Forte, M.L., Butler, M., Nagarkar, S., Saha, J., Wilt, T.J. (2019). Treatment for Acute Pain: An Evidence Map. *Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US)*.

Broatch, J. R., Petersen, A., & Bishop, D. J. (2018). The Influence of Post-Exercise Cold-Water Immersion on Adaptive Responses to Exercise: A Review of the Literature. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 48(6), 1369–1387. doi:10.1007/s40279-018-0910-8

Chou, R., Côté, P., Randhawa, K., Torres, P., Yu, H., Nordin, M., ... Cedraschi, C. (2018). The Global Spine Care Initiative: applying evidence-based guidelines on the non-invasive management of back and neck pain to low- and middle-income communities. *European spine journal: official publication of the European Spine Society, the European Spinal Deformity Society, and the European Section of the Cervical Spine Research Society,* 27(Suppl 6), 851–860. doi:10.1007/s00586-017-5433-8

Dubois, B., & Esculier, J. F. (2020). Soft-tissue injuries simply need PEACE and LOVE. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(2), 72–73. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-101253

Duchesne, E., Dufresne, S. S., & Dumont, N. A. (2017). Impact of Inflammation and Anti-inflammatory Modalities on Skeletal Muscle Healing: From Fundamental Research to the Clinic. *Physical therapy*, 97(8), 807–817. doi:10.1093/ptj/pzx056

Freiwald, J., Hoppe, M. W., Beermann, W., Krajewski, J., & Baumgart, C. (2018). Effects of supplemental heat therapy in multimodal treated chronic low back pain patients on strength and flexibility. *Clinical biomechanics (Bristol, Avon)*, 57, 107–113. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2018.06.008

Fuchs, C. J., Kouw, I., Churchward-Venne, T. A., Smeets, J., Senden, J. M., Lichtenbelt, W., Verdijk, L. B., & van Loon, L. (2020). Postexercise cooling impairs muscle protein synthesis rates in recreational athletes. *The Journal of physiology*, 598(4), 755–772. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP278996

Kox, M., van Eijk, L. T., Zwaag, J., van den Wildenberg, J., Sweep, F. C., van der Hoeven, J. G., & Pickkers, P. (2014). Voluntary activation of the sympathetic nervous system and attenuation of the innate immune response in humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(20), 7379–7384. doi:10.1073/pnas.1322174111

Malanga, G. A., Yan, N., & Stark, J. (2015). Mechanisms and efficacy of heat and cold therapies for musculoskeletal injury. *Postgraduate medicine*, 127(1), 57–65. https://doi.org/10.1080/00325481.2015.992719

McGorm, H., Roberts, L. A., Coombes, J. S., & Peake, J. M. (2018). Turning Up the Heat: An Evaluation of the Evidence for Heating to Promote Exercise Recovery. Muscle Rehabilitation and Adaptation. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 48(6), 1311–1328. doi:10.1007/s40279-018-0876-6

106 | THERMAL APPLICATIONS: HEAT & COLD

Muzik, O., Reilly, K. T., & Diwadkar, V. A. (2018). "Brain over body"-A study on the willful regulation of autonomic function during cold exposure. *NeuroImage*, 172, 632–641. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.01.067

Nadler, S. F., Weingand, K., & Kruse, R. J. (2004). The physiologic basis and clinical applications of cryotherapy and thermotherapy for the pain practitioner. *Pain physician*, 7(3), 395–399

Peake, J. M., Roberts, L. A., Figueiredo, V. C., Egner, I., Krog, S., Aas, S. N., ... Raastad, T. (2017). The effects of cold water immersion and active recovery on inflammation and cell stress responses in human skeletal muscle after resistance exercise. *The Journal of physiology*, 595(3), 695–711. doi:10.1113/JP272881

Peake, J. M. (2020). Independent, corroborating evidence continues to accumulate that post-exercise cooling diminishes muscle adaptations to strength training. The Journal of physiology, 598(4), 625–626. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP279343

Petrofsky, J. S., Khowailed, I. A., Lee, H., Berk, L., Bains, G. S., Akerkar, S., ... Laymon, M. S. (2015). Cold Vs. Heat After Exercise-Is There a Clear Winner for Muscle Soreness. *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, 29(11), 3245–3252. doi:10.1519/JSC.000000000001127

Petrofsky, J., Berk, L., Bains, G., Khowailed, I. A., Lee, H., & Laymon, M. (2017). The Efficacy of Sustained Heat Treatment on Delayed-Onset Muscle Soreness. *Clinical journal of sport medicine : official journal of the Canadian Academy of Sport Medicine*, 27(4), 329–337. doi:10.1097/JSM.00000000000375

Qaseem, A., Wilt, T. J., McLean, R. M., Forciea, M. A., & Clinical Guidelines Committee of the American College of Physicians (2017). Noninvasive Treatments for Acute, Subacute, and Chronic Low Back Pain: A Clinical Practice Guideline From the American College of Physicians. *Annals of internal medicine*, 166(7), 514–530. doi:10.7326/M16-2367

Skelly, A.C., Chou, R., Dettori, J.R., Turner, J.A., Friedly, J.L., Rundell, S.D., ... Ferguson, A.J.R. (2018). *Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review*. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). DOI: https://doi.org/10.23970/AHRQEPCCER209

Skelly, A.C., Chou, R., Dettori, J.R., Turner, J.A., Friedly, J.L., Rundell, S.D., ... Ferguson, A.J.R. (2020). *Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review Update*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). DOI: https://doi.org/10.23970/AHRQEPCCER227

Van Hooren, B., & Peake, J. M. (2018). Do We Need a Cool-Down After Exercise? A Narrative Review of the Psychophysiological Effects and the Effects on Performance, Injuries and the Long-Term Adaptive Response. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 48(7), 1575–1595. doi:10.1007/s40279-018-0916-2

Wilson, L. J., Dimitriou, L., Hills, F. A., Gondek, M. B., & Cockburn, E. (2019). Whole body cryotherapy, cold water immersion, or a placebo following resistance exercise: a case of mind over matter?. *European journal of applied physiology*, 119(1), 135–147. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-018-4008-7

PART IV CLINICAL EXAMINATION

A Person-Centered Approach to Clinical Examination

Increasingly, research has shown that attributing the experience pain solely to poor posture, minor leg length discrepancies, vertebral misalignment and other structural abnormalities is an oversimplification of a complex process (Green et al., 2018; Lewis et al., 2020; Swain et al., 2020). Even in the case of osteoarthritis wear and tear on the joints may not be the primary cause of pain (Culvenor et al., 2019; Girish et al., 2011; Sihvonen et al., 2018). This may sound counter-intuitive but it is part of our ever changing understanding of the experience of pain and disability.

Contemporary pain management is shifting away from a pathoanatomical model to a person-centered model of care that is responsive to the individual context of each patient. Clinical examination and decision-making ought to reflect this change by understanding that structural abnormalities alone do not explain or necessarily predict pain.

Postural Assessment

The idea that poor posture is a contributor to spinal pain is being called into question as this long-held belief is not supported by strong evidence (Swain et al., 2020). When assessing posture there is a low inter and intra-rater reliability as patient presentation may vary greatly based on a number of factors. Secondly static posture has limited validity in predicting the cause of pain and long-term research trials have demonstrated that posture during sitting, standing and lifting does not predict low back pain or its persistence (O'Sullivan et al., 2020).

For most of the population structural asymmetries and poor posture is not the primary cause of chronic pain. The human body is a complex and adaptable network of overlapping systems. Minor biomechanical variation is considered normal and is not considered a pathological abnormality. The reason people experience pain differently is in part due to differences in genetics, emotional stress, history of physical trauma and sensitization of the nervous system (Rethorn et al., 2019; Swain et al., 2020). A person-centered care model acknowledges that patient presentation may vary based on biopsychosocial factors (Engel, 1980).

Orthopedic Special Testing

Traditionally the role of orthopedic testing is to define a treatable pathology, which does have a role in the management of acute injuries. However, in the chronic pain population orthopedic special tests involve a degree of subjectivity and few are sensitive or specific enough to have clinical value on their own (<u>Cook, 2010</u>; <u>Hegedus et al., 2017</u>; <u>Salamh & Lewis</u>, 2020). Even when orthopedic special tests are clustered there are issues with testing validity, this is because these tests are often good at reproducing pain but not great at telling us what structures the symptoms are coming from (<u>Salamh & Lewis</u>, 2020).

Orthopedic special testing is focused on the biomechanical aspects of pain which can overlook important underlying

108 | CLINICAL EXAMINATION

processes such as sensitization of the nervous system or underlying psychological factors. Traditional orthopedic special testing can help identify potential red flags but may often give limited information about the experience of pain. A modern understanding is that chronic pain patients often suffer from multiple ongoing issues compounded by peripheral and central sensitization, which may lead to inconclusive testing (Wideman et al., 2019).

Clinical Tests: Sensitivity & Specificity

- Sensitivity refers to the percentage of people who test positive for a specific disease among a group of people who have the disease.
- Specificity refers to the percentage of people who test negative for a specific disease among a group of people who do no have the disease.

Musculoskeletal Imaging

The current use of musculoskeletal imaging is focused on a black and white pathoanatomical diagnosis; this often does not determine the source of pain. One of the big revelations of widespread imaging has been that if tested a majority of the population will have degenerative changes in the knee, hip, shoulder, and spine. These are age-related changes that are part of normal aging and often unassociated with pain (<u>Horga et al., 2020; Hunter & Bierma-Zeinstra, 2019; Lewis et al., 2020; Maher et al., 2019</u>).

Incidental findings such as tissue degeneration are so common that even after 'diagnostic imaging' we may still have limited information as to how we should proceed and formulate a meaningful treatment plan. Since a large portion of people with no pain show abnormalities or degenerative tissue (e.g. degenerative disk disease, rotator cuff tear, degenerative torn meniscus, femoroacetabular impingement, etc.) most clinical practice guidelines now recommend against widespread musculoskeletal imaging (Foster et al., 2018; Kamper et al., 2020; Lin et al., 2020).

A Person-Centered Approach to Pain & Disability

This disconnect between structural abnormalities and clinical presentation can create confusion for both patients and clinicians. This does not mean we should give up performing a thorough health history and physical examination of our patients. What it does mean is that we ought to adopt a person-centered model of care and interpret these findings in the context of individual patient presentation. A person-centered model of care is a multidimensional approach that gives therapists a better understanding of an individual's symptoms.

A skilled clinical examination helps to orientate, and aid clinical decision-making based on patients' limitations, goals,

and course of pain. By capturing the patient's narrative, it can also help to identify meaningful goals and direct the most appropriate intervention based on pain presentation, functional limitations, and psychosocial factors.

The added value of a person-centered assessment is that even when underlying mechanisms are unclear, by understanding the patient's functional limitations and how pain is affecting their activities of daily life we can still formulate a meaningful treatment plan. A skilled clinical examination and a comprehensive health history taking has even been shown to have a therapeutic effect related to pain, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophization, and functional measures of mobility and sensitivity (Louw et al., 2020).

Foundations of a Person-Centered Approach

| Evidence-Based Healthcare | A clinically-oriented approach based on the three pillars of evidence-based practice (best available evidence, clinical expertise and patient values) |
|--|---|
| Biopsychosocial Model of Health & Disease | A holistic approach that addresses biomechanical, psychological, and social factors while using a shared decision- making process |
| Shared-Decision Making | Employs effective communication and is responsive to the individual context of the patient. |

The Multidimensional Clinical Examination

Massage therapists often are already taking a person-centered approach to the assessment of pain. An example of this would be the use of SOAP notes to combine quantitative measurements (questionnaires, scales and tests), with qualitative reporting (patient's narratives).

In practice a thorough health history is done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors (e.g. coping style) and answers to health-related questions. This information is then blended with the patient narrative and information gathered from a traditional physical examination including orthopedic special testing, neurological screening tests, mobility and/or muscle strength assessment. For assessing and monitoring patient progress validated outcome measurements (e.g. patient-specific functional scale, brief pain inventory, visual analog scale, McGill pain questionnaire, global impression of change, patient-centered outcomes questionnaire) can be used to capture quantitative measurements.

A person-centered clinical examination is one that seeks to better understand the complex web of interactions in the

110 | CLINICAL EXAMINATION

patient's history, physiology and lifestyle. This information is then used to formulate a clinical hypothesis that does not seek a single source of pain. If adopted widely a person-centered model of care helps to reconceptualize pain leading to improved patient-clinician relationships, improved self-efficacy, and better health outcomes for patients with pain.

Summary

Contemporary best-practices for pain supports a multidimensional approach that addresses biopsychosocial influences and empowers people with shared decision-making. Adopting a person-centered model of care does not discount the use of a traditional orthopedic assessments, it helps to put into context the interconnected and multi-directional interaction between physiology, thoughts, emotions, behaviors, culture, and beliefs.

If adopted a person-centered model of care could help reduce suffering and costs associated with musculoskeletal pain in our society. By helping patients avoid unnecessary procedures, minimize unnecessary harms and decrease economic burden associated with low-value care.

Key Takeaways

Contemporary pain management is shifting away from a pathoanatomical model to a person-centered model of care that is responsive to the individual context of each patient. Clinical examination and decision-making ought to reflect this change by understanding that structural abnormalities alone do not explain or necessarily predict pain. This section of the textbook will explore treatment options and best-practice recommendations for evidence-based assessment strategies.

References and Sources

Ballantyne, J. C., & Sullivan, M. D. (2015). Intensity of Chronic Pain–The Wrong Metric?. *The New England journal of medicine*, 373(22), 2098–2099. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp1507136

Barnard, K. & Ryder, D. (2017). Musculoskeletal Examination and Assessment, Vol. 1. (3rd. ed.). Elsevier.

Caneiro, J. P., Roos, E. M., Barton, C. J., O'Sullivan, K., Kent, P., Lin, I., ... O'Sullivan, P. (2020). It is time to move beyond 'body region silos' to manage musculoskeletal pain: five actions to change clinical practice. *British journal of sports medicine*, *54*(8), 438–439. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018-100488

Chaitow, L. (2017). Palpation and Assessment in Manual Therapy (4th ed.). Handspring Publishing.

Cleland, J. (2015). Netter's Orthopaedic Clinical Examination: An Evidence-Based Approach (3rd Ed.). Elsevier Canada.

Cook, C. (2010). The lost art of the clinical examination: an overemphasis on clinical special tests. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 18(1), 3–4.

Cook, C. & Hegedus, E. (2013). Orthopedic Physical Examination Tests (2nd ed.). Pearson.

Cook, C. E., & Décary, S. (2020). Higher order thinking about differential diagnosis. *Brazilian journal of physical therapy*, 24(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjpt.2019.01.010

Culvenor, A. G., Øiestad, B. E., Hart, H. F., Stefanik, J. J., Guermazi, A., & Crossley, K. M. (2019). Prevalence of knee osteoarthritis features on magnetic resonance imaging in asymptomatic uninjured adults: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *British journal of sports medicine*, 53(20), 1268–1278. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099257

Décary, S., Longtin, C., Naye, F., & Tousignant-Laflamme, Y. (2020). Driving the Musculoskeletal Diagnosis Train on the High-Value Track. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 50(3), 118–120. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2020.0603

Engel, G. L. (1980). The clinical application of the biopsychosocial model. *The American journal of psychiatry*, 137(5), 535–544. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.137.5.535

Foster, N. E., Anema, J. R., Cherkin, D., Chou, R., Cohen, S. P., Gross, D. P., ... Lancet Low Back Pain Series Working Group (2018). Prevention and treatment of low back pain: evidence, challenges, and promising directions. *Lancet (London, England)*, 391(10137), 2368–2383. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30489-6

Girish, G., Lobo, L. G., Jacobson, J. A., Morag, Y., Miller, B., & Jamadar, D. A. (2011). Ultrasound of the shoulder: asymptomatic findings in men. *AJR. American journal of roentgenology*, 197(4), W713–W719. doi:10.2214/AJR.11.6971

Green, B. N., Johnson, C. D., Haldeman, S., Griffith, E., Clay, M. B., Kane, E. J., ... Nordin, M. (2018). A scoping review of biopsychosocial risk factors and co-morbidities for common spinal disorders. *PloS one*, 13(6), e0197987. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0197987

Hegedus, E. J., Wright, A. A., & Cook, C. (2017). Orthopaedic special tests and diagnostic accuracy studies: house wine served in very cheap containers. *British journal of sports medicine*, 51(22), 1578–1579. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2017-097633

Horga, L. M., Hirschmann, A. C., Henckel, J., Fotiadou, A., Di Laura, A., Torlasco, C., ... Hart, A. J. (2020). Prevalence of abnormal findings in 230 knees of asymptomatic adults using 3.0 T MRI. *Skeletal radiology*, 10.1007/s00256-020-03394-z. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00256-020-03394-z

Hunter, D. J., & Bierma-Zeinstra, S. (2019). Osteoarthritis. *Lancet (London, England)*, 393(10182), 1745–1759. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30417-9

Kamper, S. J., Logan, G., Copsey, B., Thompson, J., Machado, G. C., Abdel-Shaheed, C., ... Hall, A. M. (2020). What is usual care for low back pain? A systematic review of health care provided to patients with low back pain in family practice and emergency departments. *Pain*, 161(4), 694–702. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000001751

112 | CLINICAL EXAMINATION

Jarvis, C. (2018). Physical Examination and Health Assessment (3rd. ed.). Elsevier Canada.

Jones, M. & Rivett, D. (2019). Clinical Reasoning in Musculoskeletal Practice (2nd ed.). Elsevier.

Lederman, E. (2011). The fall of the postural-structural-biomechanical model in manual and physical therapies: exemplified by lower back pain. *Journal of bodywork and movement therapies*, 15(2), 131–138.

Lewis, J., & O'Sullivan, P. (2018). Is it time to reframe how we care for people with non-traumatic musculoskeletal pain?. *British journal of sports medicine*, 52(24), 1543–1544. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099198

Lewis, J. S., Cook, C. E., Hoffmann, T. C., & O'Sullivan, P. (2020). The Elephant in the Room: Too Much Medicine in Musculoskeletal Practice. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 50(1), 1–4.

Liebenson, C. (2020). Rehabilitation of the Spine: A Patient-Centered Approach (3rd ed.). Wolters Kluwer.

Lin, I., Wiles, L., Waller, R., Goucke, R., Nagree, Y., Gibberd, M., ... O'Sullivan, P. (2020). What does best practice care for musculoskeletal pain look like? Eleven consistent recommendations from high-quality clinical practice guidelines: systematic review. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(2), 79–86. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099878

Louw, A., Goldrick, S., Bernstetter, A., Van Gelder, L. H., Parr, A., Zimney, K., & Cox, T. (2020). Evaluation is treatment for low back pain. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 1–10. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/10669817.2020.1730056

Magee, D. (2020). Orthopedic Physical Assessment (7th ed.). Elsevier.

Maher, C. G., O'Keeffe, M., Buchbinder, R., & Harris, I. A. (2019). Musculoskeletal healthcare: Have we over-egged the pudding?. *International journal of rheumatic diseases*, 22(11), 1957–1960. doi:10.1111/1756-185X.13710

Malanga, G. & Mautner, K. (2016). *Musculoskeletal Physical Examination: An Evidence-Based Approach* (2nd ed.). Elsevier.

Musolino, G.M., Jensen, G. (2019). Clinical Reasoning and Decision Making in Physical Therapy. Slack Incorporated.

O'Sullivan, P. B., Caneiro, J. P., O'Sullivan, K., Lin, I., Bunzli, S., Wernli, K., & O'Keeffe, M. (2020). Back to basics: 10 facts every person should know about back pain. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(12), 698–699. https://doi.org/ 10.1136/bjsports-2019-101611

Rabi, D. M., Kunneman, M., & Montori, V. M. (2020). When Guidelines Recommend Shared Decision-making. *JAMA*, 10.1001/jama.2020.1525. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.1525

Rethorn, Z. D., Cook, C., & Reneker, J. C. (2019). Social Determinants of Health: If You Aren't Measuring Them, You Aren't Seeing the Big Picture. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 49(12), 872–874. doi:10.2519/ jospt.2019.0613

Salamh, P., & Lewis, J. (2020). It Is Time to Put Special Tests for Rotator Cuff-Related Shoulder Pain out to Pasture. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 50(5), 222–225. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2020.0606

Sihvonen, R., Paavola, M., Malmivaara, A., Itälä, A., Joukainen, A., Nurmi, H., ... FIDELITY (Finnish Degenerative Meniscal Lesion Study) Investigators (2018). Arthroscopic partial meniscectomy versus placebo surgery for a degenerative meniscus tear: a 2-year follow-up of the randomised controlled trial. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*, 77(2), 188–195. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2017-211172

Slater, D., Korakakis, V., O'Sullivan, P., Nolan, D., & O'Sullivan, K. (2019). "Sit Up Straight": Time to Re-evaluate. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 49(8), 562–564. doi:10.2519/jospt.2019.0610

Swain, C., Pan, F., Owen, P. J., Schmidt, H., & Belavy, D. L. (2020). No consensus on causality of spine postures or physical exposure and low back pain: A systematic review of systematic reviews. *Journal of biomechanics*, 102, 109312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2019.08.006

Walton, D. M., & Elliott, J. M. (2018). A new clinical model for facilitating the development of pattern recognition skills in clinical pain assessment. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 36, 17–24. doi:10.1016/j.msksp.2018.03.006

Walton, D. & Elliott, J. (2020). Musculoskeletal Pain – Assessment, Prediction and Treatment: A pragmatic approach. Handspring Publishing.

Werner, R. (2020). A Massage Therapist's Guide to Pathology (7th ed). Books of Discovery.

Wideman, T. H., Edwards, R. R., Walton, D. M., Martel, M. O., Hudon, A., & Seminowicz, D. A. (2019). The Multimodal Assessment Model of Pain: A Novel Framework for Further Integrating the Subjective Pain Experience Within Research and Practice. *The Clinical journal of pain*, 35(3), 212–221. doi:10.1097/AJP.000000000000670

Zadro, J. R., Décary, S., O'Keeffe, M., Michaleff, Z. A., & Traeger, A. C. (2020). Overcoming Overuse: Improving Musculoskeletal Health Care. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 50(3), 113–115. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2020.0102

Zulak, D. (2018). Clinical Assessment for Massage Therapy. Handspring Publishing.

Zulman, D. M., Haverfield, M. C., Shaw, J. G., Brown-Johnson, C. G., Schwartz, R., Tierney, A. A., ... Verghese, A. (2020). Practices to Foster Physician Presence and Connection With Patients in the Clinical Encounter. *JAMA*, 323(1), 70–81. doi:10.1001/jama.2019.19003

INTERPERSONAL COMMUNICATION SKILLS

Interpersonal Communication Skills

A Person-Centered Approach to The Clinical Encounter

Adopting a person-centered model of care gives therapists a better understanding of an individual's symptoms by capturing the patient's narrative. It can also help identify meaningful goals and direct the most appropriate intervention based on pain presentation, functional limitations, and psychosocial factors. The added value of a person-centered model is that even when underlying mechanisms are unclear, by understanding the patient's functional limitations and how pain is affecting their activities of daily life we can still formulate a meaningful treatment plan.

5 Practices to Help Establish a Meaningful Connection with Patients in The Clinical Encounter

- 1. Prepare with intention (take a moment to prepare and focus before greeting a patient);
- 2. Listen intently and completely (sit down, lean forward, avoid interruptions);
- 3. Agree on what matters most (find out what the patient cares about and incorporate these priorities into the visit agenda);
- 4. Connect with the patient's story (consider life circumstances that influence the patient's health; acknowledge positive efforts; celebrate successes);
- 5. Explore emotional cues (notice, name, and validate the patient's emotions)

(Zulman et al., 2020)

Practical Application: How I Interview New Massage Clients – From Massage Sloth



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=727

Key Takeaways

A person-centered clinical examination is one that seeks to better understand the complex web of interactions in the patient's history, physiology and lifestyle. If adopted widely a person-centered model of care helps to reconceptualize pain leading to improved patient-clinician relationships, improved self-efficacy, and better health outcomes for patients with pain.

References and Sources

Colloca, L., & Barsky, A. J. (2020). Placebo and Nocebo Effects. *The New England journal of medicine*, 382(6), 554–561. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1907805

Fitch, P. (2019). Talking Body, Listening Hands: Talking Body Listening Hands: A Guide to Professionalism, Communication and the Therapeutic Relationship (2nd ed.). AC Press.

Hoffmann, T. C., & Del Mar, C. B. (2014). Shared decision making: what do clinicians need to know and why should they bother?. *The Medical journal of Australia*, 201(9), 513–514. https://doi.org/10.5694/mja14.01124

Hoffmann, T. C., Lewis, J., & Maher, C. G. (2020). Shared decision making should be an integral part of physiotherapy practice. *Physiotherapy*, 107, 43–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physio.2019.08.012

Jensen, K., Gollub, R. L., Kong, J., Lamm, C., Kaptchuk, T. J., & Petrovic, P. (2020). Reward and empathy in the treating clinician: the neural correlates of successful doctor-patient interactions. *Translational psychiatry*, 10(1), 17. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-020-0712-2

Louw, A., Goldrick, S., Bernstetter, A., Van Gelder, L. H., Parr, A., Zimney, K., & Cox, T. (2020). Evaluation is treatment for low back pain. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 1–10. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/10669817.2020.1730056

Rabi, D. M., Kunneman, M., & Montori, V. M. (2020). When Guidelines Recommend Shared Decision-making. *JAMA*, 10.1001/jama.2020.1525. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.1525

Søndenå, P., Dalusio-King, G., & Hebron, C. (2020). Conceptualisation of the therapeutic alliance in physiotherapy: is it adequate?. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 46, 102131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msksp.2020.102131

Stewart, M., & Loftus, S. (2018). Sticks and Stones: The Impact of Language in Musculoskeletal Rehabilitation. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(7), 519–522. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2018.0610

Zulman, D. M., Haverfield, M. C., Shaw, J. G., Brown-Johnson, C. G., Schwartz, R., Tierney, A. A., ... Verghese, A. (2020). Practices to Foster Physician Presence and Connection With Patients in the Clinical Encounter. *JAMA*, 323(1), 70–81. doi:10.1001/jama.2019.19003

SCREENING FOR RED AND YELLOW FLAGS

Screening for Red and Yellow Flags

Red flags are signs and symptoms that raise suspicion of serious underlying pathology, if a serious pathology is suspected a clinical decision should be made to refer the patient to an appropriate healthcare practitioner.

• **Red Flags for Back Pain** – For patients with low back pain there are a number of serious spinal pathologies to be aware of, these are cauda equina syndrome, spinal fracture, malignancy, and spinal infection (<u>Finucane et al.</u>, 2020).

Yellow flags are psychosocial and occupational factors that may affect patient presentation and treatment approaches and outcomes.

PhysioTutors: Screening for Red Flags



PhysioTutors: What are Yellow Flags and Why are They Important?



References and Sources

Artus, M., Campbell, P., Mallen, C. D., Dunn, K. M., & van der Windt, D. A. (2017). Generic prognostic factors for musculoskeletal pain in primary care: a systematic review. *BMJ open*, 7(1), e012901. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012901

Cook, C. E., George, S. Z., & Reiman, M. P. (2018). Red flag screening for low back pain: nothing to see here, move along: a narrative review. *British journal of sports medicine*, 52(8), 493–496. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2017-098352

Finucane, L. M., Downie, A., Mercer, C., Greenhalgh, S. M., Boissonnault, W. G., Pool-Goudzwaard, A. L., Beneciuk, J. M., Leech, R. L., & Selfe, J. (2020). International Framework for Red Flags for Potential Serious Spinal Pathologies. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 1–23. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2020.9971

Galliker, G., Scherer, D. E., Trippolini, M. A., Rasmussen-Barr, E., LoMartire, R., & Wertli, M. M. (2020). Low Back Pain in the Emergency Department: Prevalence of Serious Spinal Pathologies and Diagnostic Accuracy of Red Flags. *The American journal of medicine*, 133(1), 60–72.e14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2019.06.005

Green, D. J., Lewis, M., Mansell, G., Artus, M., Dziedzic, K. S., Hay, E. M., ... van der Windt, D. A. (2018). Clinical course and prognostic factors across different musculoskeletal pain sites: A secondary analysis of individual patient data from randomised clinical trials. *European journal of pain (London, England)*, 22(6), 1057–1070. doi:10.1002/ejp.1190

Hayden, J. A., Wilson, M. N., Riley, R. D., Iles, R., Pincus, T., & Ogilvie, R. (2019). Individual recovery expectations and prognosis of outcomes in non-specific low back pain: prognostic factor review. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 2019(11), CD011284. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD011284.pub2

Heck, A. & Sigel, K. (2019). The Assessment Book – Physiotutors Guide to Orthopedic Physical Assessment (3rd ed.). Physiotutors.

Kim, Y. J. (2019). Red flag rules for knee and lower leg differential diagnosis. *Annals of translational medicine*, 7(Suppl 7), S250. doi:10.21037/atm.2019.07.62

Parreira, P., Maher, C. G., Traeger, A. C., Hancock, M. J., Downie, A., Koes, B. W., & Ferreira, M. L. (2019). Evaluation of guideline-endorsed red flags to screen for fracture in patients presenting with low back pain. *British journal of sports medicine*, 53(10), 648–654. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099525

Premkumar, A., Godfrey, W., Gottschalk, M. B., & Boden, S. D. (2018). Red Flags for Low Back Pain Are Not Always Really Red: A Prospective Evaluation of the Clinical Utility of Commonly Used Screening Questions for Low Back Pain. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery*. American volume, 100(5), 368–374. doi:10.2106/JBJS.17.00134

Protheroe, J., Saunders, B., Bartlam, B., Dunn, K. M., Cooper, V., Campbell, P., ... Foster, N. E. (2019). Matching treatment options for risk sub-groups in musculoskeletal pain: a consensus groups study. *BMC musculoskeletal disorders*, 20(1), 271. doi:10.1186/s12891-019-2587-z

Shaw, B., Kinsella, R., Henschke, N., Walby, A., & Cowan, S. (2020). Back pain "red flags": which are most predictive of serious pathology in the Emergency Department?. *European spine journal: official publication of the European Spine Society, the European Spinal Deformity Society, and the European Section of the Cervical Spine Research Society,* 10.1007/ s00586-020-06452-1. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-020-06452-1

Thomas, L., & Treleaven, J. (2020). Should we abandon positional testing for vertebrobasilar insufficiency?. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 46, 102095. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msksp.2019.102095

Tseli, E., Boersma, K., Stålnacke, B. M., Enthoven, P., Gerdle, B., Äng, B. O., & Grooten, W. (2019). Prognostic Factors for Physical Functioning After Multidisciplinary Rehabilitation in Patients With Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *The Clinical journal of pain*, 35(2), 148–173. doi:10.1097/AJP.000000000000669

Tsiang, J. T., Kinzy, T. G., Thompson, N., Tanenbaum, J. E., Thakore, N. L., Khalaf, T., & Katzan, I. L. (2019).

122 | SCREENING FOR RED AND YELLOW FLAGS

Sensitivity and specificity of patient-entered red flags for lower back pain. *The spine journal: official journal of the North American Spine Society*, 19(2), 293–300. doi:10.1016/j.spinee.2018.06.342

ORTHOPEDIC PHYSICAL EXAMINATION

Orthopedic Physical Examination

Most orthopedic special tests involve a degree of subjectivity and few are sensitive or specific enough to have clinical value on their own. Even when these tests are clustered there are issues with testing validity, this is because these tests are often good at reproducing pain but not great at telling us what structures the symptoms are coming from (Docking et al., 2016; Hegedus et al., 2017; Salamh & Lewis, 2020).

The current use of clinical tests is focused on a black and white pathoanatomical diagnosis, this often does not determine the source of pain. Increasingly, research shows that attributing the experience of pain solely to poor posture, minor leg length discrepancies, vertebral misalignment and other structural abnormalities is an oversimplification of a complex process (Green et al., 2018).

In some cases degenerative changes in the knee, shoulder, and spine are a normal part of normal aging and not associated with symptom presentation (Brinjikji et al., 2015; Culvenor et al., 2019; Farrell et al., 2019; Girish et al., 2011; Sihvonen et al., 2018). This disconnect between tissue damage seen on imaging and clinical presentation often creates confusion for both patients and clinicians. As a result, the medical community has moved on from a traditional biomechanical framework into a biopsychosocial framework (Lewis et al., 2020; Lin et al., 2020).

All this does not mean we should give up on performing a physical examination of our patients, what it means is that we ought to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors (eg, coping style). This information is then blended with information gathered from a traditional clinical examination including special testing, neurological examination, mobility and/or muscle strength assessment.

PhysioTutors: Special Tests Are Not So Special... and when to use them



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=968

Key Takeaways

Increasingly, research shows that attributing the experience of pain solely to poor posture, minor leg length discrepancies, vertebral misalignment and other structural abnormalities is an oversimplification of a complex process. The human body is not a simple structure, but rather a complex and adaptable network of overlapping systems. We must move from the myth of a simple biomechanical framework, or pathoanatomical model of trying to fix the structure, to understanding the complexity of a biopsychosocial framework and how all of the systems within the body interact to experience all types of pain.

References and Sources

Barnard, K. & Ryder, D. (2017). Musculoskeletal Examination and Assessment, Vol. 1. (3rd. ed.). Elsevier.

Brinjikji, W., Luetmer, P. H., Comstock, B., Bresnahan, B. W., Chen, L. E., Deyo, R. A., ... Jarvik, J. G. (2015). Systematic literature review of imaging features of spinal degeneration in asymptomatic populations. *AJNR. American journal of neuroradiology*, 36(4), 811–816. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A4173

Caneiro, J. P., Roos, E. M., Barton, C. J., O'Sullivan, K., Kent, P., Lin, I., ... O'Sullivan, P. (2020). It is time to move beyond 'body region silos' to manage musculoskeletal pain: five actions to change clinical practice. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(8), 438–439. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018-100488

Clarkson, H. (2020). *Musculoskeletal Assessment: Joint Range of Motion, Muscle Testing, and Function* (4th ed.) Wolters Kluwer.

Cook, C. (2010). The lost art of the clinical examination: an overemphasis on clinical special tests. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 18(1), 3–4. https://doi.org/10.1179/106698110X12595770849362

Cook, C. & Hegedus, E. (2013). Orthopedic Physical Examination Tests (2nd ed.). Pearson.

Culvenor, A. G., Øiestad, B. E., Hart, H. F., Stefanik, J. J., Guermazi, A., & Crossley, K. M. (2019). Prevalence of knee osteoarthritis features on magnetic resonance imaging in asymptomatic uninjured adults: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *British journal of sports medicine*, 53(20), 1268–1278. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099257

Docking, S. I., Cook, J., & Rio, E. (2016). The diagnostic dartboard: is the bullseye a correct pathoanatomical diagnosis or to guide treatment?. *British journal of sports medicine*, *50*(16), 959–960. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2015-095484

Farrell, S. F., Smith, A. D., Hancock, M. J., Webb, A. L., & Sterling, M. (2019). Cervical spine findings on MRI in people with neck pain compared with pain-free controls: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of magnetic resonance imaging: JMRI*, 49(6), 1638–1654. doi:10.1002/jmri.26567

Girish, G., Lobo, L. G., Jacobson, J. A., Morag, Y., Miller, B., & Jamadar, D. A. (2011). Ultrasound of the shoulder: asymptomatic findings in men. *AJR. American journal of roentgenology*, 197(4), W713–W719. doi:10.2214/AJR.11.6971

Green, B. N., Johnson, C. D., Haldeman, S., Griffith, E., Clay, M. B., Kane, E. J., ... Nordin, M. (2018). A scoping review of biopsychosocial risk factors and co-morbidities for common spinal disorders. *PloS one*, 13(6), e0197987. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0197987

Heck, A. & Sigel, K. (2019). The Assessment Book – Physiotutors Guide to Orthopedic Physical Assessment (3rd ed.). Physiotutors.

Hegedus, E. J., Wright, A. A., & Cook, C. (2017). Orthopaedic special tests and diagnostic accuracy studies: house

wine served in very cheap containers. British journal of sports medicine, 51(22), 1578–1579. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2017-097633

Jones, M. & Rivett, D. (2019). Clinical Reasoning in Musculoskeletal Practice (2nd ed.). Elsevier.

Kaizik, M. A., Hancock, M. J., & Herbert, R. D. (2019). DiTA: a database of diagnostic test accuracy studies for physiotherapists. *Journal of physiotherapy*, 65(3), 119–120. doi:10.1016/j.jphys.2019.05.006

Koulidis, K., Veremis, Y., Anderson, C., Heneghan, N.R. (2019). Diagnostic accuracy of upperlimb neurodynamic tests for the assessment of peripheral neuropathic pain: A systematic review. *Musculoskelet Sci Pract*. Apr;40:21-33. doi:10.1016/j.msksp.2019.01.001.

Lewis, J., & O'Sullivan, P. (2018). Is it time to reframe how we care for people with non-traumatic musculoskeletal pain?. *British journal of sports medicine*, 52(24), 1543–1544. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099198

Lewis, J. S., Cook, C. E., Hoffmann, T. C., & O'Sullivan, P. (2020). The Elephant in the Room: Too Much Medicine in Musculoskeletal Practice. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 50(1), 1–4.

Lin, I., Wiles, L., Waller, R., Goucke, R., Nagree, Y., Gibberd, M., ... O'Sullivan, P. (2020). What does best practice care for musculoskeletal pain look like? Eleven consistent recommendations from high-quality clinical practice guidelines: systematic review. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(2), 79–86. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099878

Magee, D. (2020). Orthopedic Physical Assessment (7th ed.). Elsevier.

Maher, C. G., O'Keeffe, M., Buchbinder, R., & Harris, I. A. (2019). Musculoskeletal healthcare: Have we over-egged the pudding?. *International journal of rheumatic diseases*, 22(11), 1957–1960. doi:10.1111/1756-185X.13710

Malanga, G. & Mautner, K. (2016). *Musculoskeletal Physical Examination: An Evidence-Based Approach* (2nd ed.). Elsevier.

Musolino, G.M., Jensen, G. (2019). Clinical Reasoning and Decision Making in Physical Therapy. Slack Incorporated.

Salamh, P., & Lewis, J. (2020). It Is Time to Put Special Tests for Rotator Cuff-Related Shoulder Pain out to Pasture. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 50(5), 222–225. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2020.0606

Sihvonen, R., Paavola, M., Malmivaara, A., Itälä, A., Joukainen, A., Nurmi, H., ... Finnish Degenerative Meniscal Lesion Study (FIDELITY) Group (2013). Arthroscopic partial meniscectomy versus sham surgery for a degenerative meniscal tear. *The New England journal of medicine*, *369*(26), 2515–2524. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1305189

Sihvonen, R., Paavola, M., Malmivaara, A., Itälä, A., Joukainen, A., Nurmi, H., ... FIDELITY (Finnish Degenerative Meniscal Lesion Study) Investigators (2018). Arthroscopic partial meniscectomy versus placebo surgery for a degenerative meniscus tear: a 2-year follow-up of the randomised controlled trial. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*, 77(2), 188–195. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2017-211172

Slater, D., Korakakis, V., O'Sullivan, P., Nolan, D., & O'Sullivan, K. (2019). "Sit Up Straight": Time to Re-evaluate. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, *49*(8), 562–564. doi:10.2519/jospt.2019.0610

Sleijser-Koehorst, M., Bijker, L., Cuijpers, P., Scholten-Peeters, G., & Coppieters, M. W. (2019). Preferred selfadministered questionnaires to assess fear of movement, coping, self-efficacy, and catastrophizing in patients with musculoskeletal pain-A modified Delphi study. *Pain*, *160*(3), 600–606. doi:10.1097/j.pain.000000000001441

Swain, C., Pan, F., Owen, P. J., Schmidt, H., & Belavy, D. L. (2020). No consensus on causality of spine postures or physical exposure and low back pain: A systematic review of systematic reviews. *Journal of biomechanics*, *102*, 109312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2019.08.006

Vizniak, N. (2018). Orthopedic Assessment (5th ed.). Professional Health Systems Inc.

Wideman, T. H., Edwards, R. R., Walton, D. M., Martel, M. O., Hudon, A., & Seminowicz, D. A. (2019). The Multimodal Assessment Model of Pain: A Novel Framework for Further Integrating the Subjective Pain Experience Within Research and Practice. *The Clinical journal of pain*, 35(3), 212–221. doi:10.1097/AJP.000000000000670

NEUROLOGICAL EXAMINATION

The Nervous System Becomes Sensitive When it is Exposed to a Pathological Environment

As peripheral nerves pass through the body they may be exposed to mechanical or chemical irritation at different anatomical points. Prolonged compression or fixation of a nerve may result in a reduction of intraneural blood flow. This then triggers the release of pro-inflammatory substances (calcitonin gene-related peptide and substance P) from the nerve. This by product is referred to as neurogenic inflammation and it can disrupt the normal function of nerves even without overt nerve damage, it can also contribute to the initiation and propagation of chronic pain (Barbe et al., 2019; Bove et al., 2019; Matsuda et al., 2019).

Examination: Clinical Sensory Testing Can Be Used to Assess for Increased Sensitivity of the Nervous System

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors (e.g. coping style) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

If there is an irritated peripheral nerve, clinical sensory testing can be used to assess for areas of hypersensitivity. In addition to orthopedic testing this could involve palpation (neural and non-neural structures). If a hypersensitive peripheral nerve has been identified, a treatment plan is then implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance.

Upper Limb Neurodynamic Tests

| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
|---------------|-----------------|-----------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-----------|
| ULNT – Median | Shoulder girdle | Shoulder | Wrist/finger | Forearm | Shoulder | Elbow |
| (1) | stabilization | abduction | extension | supination | external rotation | extension |
| ULNT – Median | Shoulder girdle | Elbow | Shoulder | Forearm | Wrist/finger | Shoulder |
| (2) | depression | extension | external rotation | supination | extension | abduction |
| ULNT – Radial | Shoulder girdle | Elbow | Shoulder | Forearm | Wrist/finger | Shoulder |
| (3) | depression | extension | internal rotation | pronation | flexion | abduction |
| ULNT – Ulnar | Wrist/finger | Forearm | Elbow flexion | Shoulder | Shoulder girdle | Shoulder |
| (4) | extension | pronation | | external rotation | depression | abduction |

Lower Limb Neurodynamic Tests

| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | |
|---------------------------|------------------------|---|---|---|------------------|--|
| Slump | Hands behind back | Thoracic flexion | Extend one knee | Dorsiflex foot | Cervical flexion | |
| Straight Leg Raise | Supine position | Raise the leg with the knee extended | If pain radiates when the angle of the leg is between 30 and 70 degrees (positive) | Increased pain on dorsiflexion of the patient's foot increases sensitivity of the test | | |
| Femoral Nerve Test | Prone or side lying | Knee flexion | Extension at the hip | | | |
| Dorsiflexion- Eversion | Supine | Place foot into full dorsiflexion & eversion | Hold for 5-10 sec. | | | |

Synopsis of Common Peripheral Nerve Complaints

| Affected Nerve | Symptoms | Peripheral Nerve Palpation Point |
|--------------------------|--|--|
| Head, Necl | k & Upper Limb | |
| Occipital nerve | Pain, numbness or tingling at the base of the occiput | Base of the occiput |
| Suprascapular n. | Shoulder pain, weakness in shoulder abduction and external rotation | Suprascapular notch |
| Dorsal scapular nerve | Upper and mid-thoracic pain, stiffness | Medial border of rhomboids |
| Long thoracic nerve | Pain, numbness or tingling over lateral flank. Winging of the scapula is possible | In-between scapula and chest wall |
| Median nerve | Pain, numbness or tingling in the thumb, index, middle, and ring fingers. | Upper arm, pronator teres and carpal tunnel |
| Ulnar nerve | Pain, numbness or tingling in ring and little finger | Upper arm, cubital tunnel |
| Radial nerve | Pain, numbness or tingling over common extensor tendon | Triangle interval, spiral grove, epimysial groove – extensor, snuff box |
| Back & Hip | | |
| | | |

| Spinal nerve (dorsal cutaneous ramus) | Dysesthesia on the upper back between the vertebra and scapula (T2-T6) | Deep to back muscles |
|--|---|---|
| Intercostal nerve | sharp or shooting thoracic pain | Anterior cutaneous branches of the thoracoabdominal (T7 –11) and subcostal (T12) nerves – lateral border of the rectus muscle |
| Cluneal nerve | Pain, numbness or tingling along iliac crest or into gluteus muscles | Superior rim of the iliac crest |

| Sciatic nerve | Pain, numbness or tingling felt in the buttock, back of the thigh down to the calf, into the toes | Popliteal fossa |
|---------------------------------|---|-----------------------------|
| Lateral femoral cutaneous nerve | Paresthesia of the lateral upper thigh | Distal to inguinal ligament |

Lower Limb

| Saphenous nerve | Knee pain or paresthesia medial thigh | Adductor canal |
|--------------------------------|--|--|
| Tibial nerve | Pain, numbness or tingling over medial ankle and arch of the foot | Tarsal tunnel, posterior to the medial malleolus |
| Medial & lateral plantar n. | Sharp or stabbing heel pain | Deep to plantar muscle – running under the calcaneus |
| Peroneal nerve | Pain, numbness or tingling over lateral ankle and dorsum of foot | Over peroneal muscle belly & dorsum of foot |
| Sural nerve | Pain, numbness or tingling over entrapment site and lateral calf | Mid-belly of the gastrocnemius, lateral ankle |

UBC Medicine Neurology Clinical Skills – Motor, Sensory, and Reflex Examination



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=538

Key Takeaways

As peripheral nerves pass through the body they may be exposed to mechanical or chemical irritation at different anatomical points. Prolonged compression or fixation of neurovascular structures may result in reduced intraneural blood flow and ischemia, this then triggers the release of pro-inflammatory substances from the nerve. This by product is referred to as neurogenic inflammation and it can contribute to the propagation of acute and chronic pain.

References and Sources

Apok, V., Gurusinghe, N. T., Mitchell, J. D., & Emsley, H. C. (2011). Dermatomes and dogma. *Practical neurology*, 11(2), 100–105. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2011.242222

Barbe, M. F., Hilliard, B. A., Fisher, P. W., White, A. R., Delany, S. P., Iannarone, V. J., ... Popoff, S. N. (2019). Blocking substance P signaling reduces musculotendinous and dermal fibrosis and sensorimotor declines in a rat model of overuse injury. *Connective tissue research*, 1–16. Advance online publication. doi:10.1080/03008207.2019.1653289

Bove, G. M., Harris, M. Y., Zhao, H., & Barbe, M. F. (2016). Manual therapy as an effective treatment for fibrosis in a rat model of upper extremity overuse injury. *Journal of the neurological sciences*, 361, 168–180. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2015.12.029

Bove, G. M., Delany, S. P., Hobson, L., Cruz, G. E., Harris, M. Y., Amin, M., ... Barbe, M. F. (2019). Manual therapy prevents onset of nociceptor activity, sensorimotor dysfunction, and neural fibrosis induced by a volitional repetitive task. *Pain*, 160(3), 632–644. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001443

Bove, G. M., & Dilley, A. (2019). A lesson from classic British literature. *Lancet (London, England)*, 393(10178), 1297-1298. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32533-9

Butler, D. (2000). The Sensitive Nervous System. Rittenhouse Book Distributors.

Butler, D. & Moseley, G.L. (2017). Explain Pain Supercharged. NOI Group.

Campbell, W. & Barohn, R. (2019). DeJong's The Neurologic Examination (8th ed). Wolters Kluwer.

Challoumas, D., Ferro, A., Walker, A., & Brassett, C. (2018). Observations on the inconsistency of dermatome maps and its effect on knowledge and confidence in clinical students. *Clinical anatomy (New York, N.Y.)*, 31(2), 293–300. https://doi.org/10.1002/ca.23031

Downs, M. B., & Laporte, C. (2011). Conflicting dermatome maps: educational and clinical implications. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 41(6), 427–434. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2011.3506

Goodwin, G., Bove, G. M., Dayment, B., & Dilley, A. (2020). Characterizing the Mechanical Properties of Ectopic Axonal Receptive Fields in Inflamed Nerves and Following Axonal Transport Disruption. *Neuroscience*, 429, 10–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2019.11.042

Govea, R. M., Barbe, M. F., & Bove, G. M. (2017). Group IV nociceptors develop axonal chemical sensitivity during neuritis and following treatment of the sciatic nerve with vinblastine. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 118(4), 2103–2109. doi:10.1152/jn.00395.2017

Greening, J., Anantharaman, K., Young, R., & Dilley, A. (2018). Evidence for Increased Magnetic Resonance Imaging Signal Intensity and Morphological Changes in the Brachial Plexus and Median Nerves of Patients With Chronic Arm and Neck Pain Following Whiplash Injury. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(7), 523–532. doi:10.2519/jospt.2018.7875

Koulidis, K., Veremis, Y., Anderson, C., Heneghan, N.R. (2019). Diagnostic accuracy of upperlimb neurodynamic tests for the assessment of peripheral neuropathic pain: A systematic review. Musculoskelet Sci Pract. Apr;40:21-33. doi:10.1016/j.msksp.2019.01.001.

Jacobs, D. (2016). Dermoneuromodulating. Diane Jacobs.

Ji, R. R., Nackley, A., Huh, Y., Terrando, N., & Maixner, W. (2018). Neuroinflammation and Central Sensitization in Chronic and Widespread Pain. *Anesthesiology*, 129(2), 343–366. doi:10.1097/ALN.000000000002130

Ladak, A., Tubbs, R. S., & Spinner, R. J. (2014). Mapping sensory nerve communications between peripheral nerve territories. *Clinical anatomy (New York, N.Y.)*, 27(5), 681–690. https://doi.org/10.1002/ca.22285

Lee, M. W., McPhee, R. W., & Stringer, M. D. (2008). An evidence-based approach to human dermatomes. *Clinical anatomy (New York, N.Y.)*, 21(5), 363–373. https://doi.org/10.1002/ca.20636

Lees, A. J., & Hurwitz, B. (2019). Testing the reflexes. BMJ (Clinical research ed.), 366, 14830. doi:10.1136/bmj.14830

Mackinnon, S.E. (2015). Nerve Surgery. Thieme.

Matsuda, M., Huh, Y., & Ji, R. R. (2019). Roles of inflammation, neurogenic inflammation, and neuroinflammation in pain. *Journal of anesthesia*, 33(1), 131–139. doi:10.1007/s00540-018-2579-4

Nee, R. J., Jull, G. A., Vicenzino, B., & Coppieters, M. W. (2012). The validity of upper-limb neurodynamic tests for detecting peripheral neuropathic pain. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 42(5), 413–424. doi:10.2519/jospt.2012.3988

Ridehalgh, C., Sandy-Hindmarch, O. P., & Schmid, A. B. (2018). Validity of Clinical Small-Fiber Sensory Testing to Detect Small-Nerve Fiber Degeneration. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(10), 767–774. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2018.8230

Rigoard, P. (2020). Atlas of Anatomy of the peripheral nerves: The Nerves of the Limbs. Springer.

Plaza-Manzano, G., Ríos-León, M., Martín-Casas, P., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., & Ortega-Santiago, R. (2019). Widespread Pressure Pain Hypersensitivity in Musculoskeletal and Nerve Trunk Areas as a Sign of Altered Nociceptive Processing in Unilateral Plantar Heel Pain. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 20(1), 60–67. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2018.08.001

Satkeviciute, I., Goodwin, G., Bove, G. M., & Dilley, A. (2018). Time course of ongoing activity during neuritis and following axonal transport disruption. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 119(5), 1993–2000. doi:10.1152/jn.00882.2017

Schmid, A. B., Nee, R. J., & Coppieters, M. W. (2013). Reappraising entrapment neuropathies-mechanisms, diagnosis and management. *Manual therapy*, 18(6), 449–457. doi:10.1016/j.math.2013.07.006

Schmid, A. B., Hailey, L., & Tampin, B. (2018). Entrapment Neuropathies: Challenging Common Beliefs With Novel Evidence. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(2), 58–62. doi:10.2519/jospt.2018.0603

Shacklock, M. (2005). Clinical Neurodynamics. Elsevier.

Spicher, C. (2020). Atlas of Cutaneous Branch Territories for the Diagnosis of Neuropathic Pain. Springer.

Stonner, M. M., Mackinnon, S. E., & Kaskutas, V. (2020). Predictors of functional outcome after peripheral nerve injury and compression. *Journal of hand therapy: official journal of the American Society of Hand Therapists*, S0894-1130(20)30039-9. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jht.2020.03.008

Trescot, A. (2016). Peripheral Nerve Entrapments: Clinical Diagnosis and Management. Springer.

Zhu, G. C., Böttger, K., Slater, H., Cook, C., Farrell, S. F., Hailey, L., ... Schmid, A. B. (2019). Concurrent validity of a low-cost and time-efficient clinical sensory test battery to evaluate somatosensory dysfunction. *European journal of pain (London, England), 23*(10), 1826–1838. doi:10.1002/ejp.1456
PART V MASSAGE THERAPY FOR MUSCULOSKELETAL PAIN

Massage Therapy for Musculoskeletal Pain

Now that massage therapy is recognized for being an evidence-based treatment option for the management of pain means the profession is moving into new formal settings. As part of this shift, it is important that therapists learn to think critically and evaluate research. This section aims to outline best-practice recommendations and connect readers with resources to help bridge the gap between research and clinical practice.

Contemporary massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate multi-modal management strategies based on patient-specific assessment findings. The Canadian Massage Therapists Alliance (CMTA) defines Massage Therapy as "The practice of massage therapy is the assessment of the Musculoskeletal system of the body and the treatment and prevention of physical dysfunction, injury and pain by manipulation, mobilization and other manual methods to develop, maintain, rehabilitate or augment physical function, relieve pain or promote health. Massage therapy is a clinically-oriented healthcare option that helps alleviate the Musculoskeletal disorders associated with everyday stress, physical manifestation of mental distress, muscular overuse and many persistent pain syndromes."

The definition used in this book, defines massage therapy as a multi-modal approach that includes, but is not limited to classical swedish massage, myofascial mobilization, instrument-assisted soft tissue mobilization (IASTM), cupping, non-thrust mobilization, strain-counterstrain, muscle energy techniques, neural mobilizations and education. Despite being called different names, most of these techniques use a combination of – loading, stretching, compression and shearing.

Best Practice Recommendations for Musculoskeletal Pain

The medical community is acutely aware of the economic and social burden of musculoskeletal disorders and the overuse of radiological imaging and invasive interventions and opioids. Contemporary best-practices for musculoskeletal pain supports a multidisciplinary approach that addresses biopsychosocial influences and empowers patients to actively self-manage.

If a best practice approach for musculoskeletal pain was adopted, it would massively reduce suffering and costs associated with musculoskeletal pain in our society. A systematic review and narrative synthesis published in the *British Journal of Sports Medicine* identified eleven consistent best-practice recommendations for musculoskeletal pain (Lin et al., 2020):

- 1. Care should be patient centred. This includes care that responds to the individual context of the patient, employs effective communication and uses shared decision-making processes.
- 2. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions.

138 | MASSAGE THERAPY FOR MUSCULOSKELETAL PAIN

- 3. Assess psychosocial factors.
- 4. Radiological imaging is discouraged unless:
 - 1. Serious pathology is suspected.
 - 2. There has been an unsatisfactory response to conservative care or unexplained progression of signs and symptoms.
 - 3. It is likely to change management.
- 5. Undertake a physical examination, which could include neurological screening tests, assessment of mobility and/ or muscle strength.
- 6. Patient progress should be evaluated including the use of outcome measures.
- 7. Provide patients with education/information about their condition and management options.
- 8. Provide management addressing physical activity and/or exercise.
- 9. Apply manual therapy only as an adjunct to other evidence-based treatments.
- 10. Unless specifically indicated (e.g. red flag condition), offer evidence-informed non-surgical care prior to surgery
- 11. Facilitate continuation or resumption of work.

If Massage Therapists adopt these best-practice recommendations, we could be part of the solution as we can reduce the suffering and costs of musculoskeletal pain in our society.

Key Takeaways

Evidence-Based Massage therapy is a clinically-oriented multi-modal approach (manual therapy, remedial exercise and patient education) based on a biopsychosocial model and on the three pillars of evidence based practice (best available evidence, clinical expertise and patient values). This section of the textbook will explore treatment options and best-practice recommendations for common clinical issues.

References and Sources

Busse, J. W., Craigie, S., Juurlink, D. N., Buckley, D. N., Wang, L., Couban, R. J., ... Guyatt, G. H. (2017). Guideline for opioid therapy and chronic noncancer pain. *CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association journal*, 189(18), E659–E666. doi:10.1503/cmaj.170363

Caneiro, J. P., Roos, E. M., Barton, C. J., O'Sullivan, K., Kent, P., Lin, I., Choong, P., Crossley, K. M., Hartvigsen, J., Smith, A. J., & O'Sullivan, P. (2020). It is time to move beyond 'body region silos' to manage musculoskeletal pain: five actions to change clinical practice. *British journal of sports medicine*, *54*(8), 438–439. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018-100488

Chou, R., Hartung, D., Turner, J., Blazina, I., Chan, B., Levander, X., ... Pappas, M. (2020). *Opioid Treatments for Chronic Pain*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). DOI: https://doi.org/10.23970/AHRQEPCCER229

Engel, G. L. (1980). The clinical application of the biopsychosocial model. *The American journal of psychiatry*, 137(5), 535–544. doi:10.1176/ajp.137.5.535

Lin, I., Wiles, L., Waller, R., Goucke, R., Nagree, Y., Gibberd, M., ... O'Sullivan, P. (2020). What does best practice care for musculoskeletal pain look like? Eleven consistent recommendations from high-quality clinical practice guidelines: systematic review. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(2), 79–86. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099878

Skelly, A.C., Chou, R., Dettori, J.R., Turner, J.A., Friedly, J.L., Rundell, S.D., ... Ferguson, A.J.R. (2020). *Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review Update*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). https://doi.org/10.23970/AHRQEPCCER227

TEMPOROMANDIBULAR DISORDERS

Temporomandibular Disorders

Temporomandibular disorders (TMDs) affect up to 15% of adults and 7% of adolescents, this umbrella term may include jaw pain, movement limitations, and clicking of the jaw (List et al., 2017).

Pathophysiology

Many factors may play a role in the progression of TMD, this may include soft-tissue dysfunction, joint disorders and central sensitization. On its own TMD can have a significant impact on quality of life and there are other comorbidities associated with TMD, as it may be a contributing factor to cervicogenic headache (von Piekartz & Hall, 2013).

Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors (eg, coping style) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient-specific Functional Scale
- Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)
- Visual Analog Scale (VAS)
- Numeric Pain Rating Scale (NRS)
- Jaw Functional Limitation (JFL-8)
- Mandibular Function Impairment Questionnaire (MFIQ)

142 | TEMPOROMANDIBULAR DISORDERS

- Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia for Temporomandibular disorders (TSK/TMD)
- Neck Disability Index (NDI)

Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

A massage therapy treatment plan should be implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance. Intra-oral and extra-oral massage can be performed in the clinic or as self care. In its simplest form it could include working on:

- Medial Pterygoid
- Temporalis
- Masseter
- Sternocleidomastoid
- Suprahyoid Muscle Group(digastric, stylohyoid, geniohyoid, and mylohyoid)
- Infrahyoids Muscle Group (sternohyoid, sternothyroid, thyrohyoid, and omohyoid)
- Scalene Muscle Group (anterior scalene, middle scalene, and posterior scalene)
- Upper Cervical Spine (suboccipitals, upper trapezius, splenius cervicis, splenius capitis)

Massage Sloth: Self-Massage for TMJ Pain



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=42

Prognosis

The therapeutic effects of intra-oral, extra-oral massage, and self-care management of temporomandibular dysfunction has been demonstrated in a number of randomized control trials and systematic reviews (<u>Martins et al., 2016</u>; <u>Randhawa et al., 2016</u>).

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation

strategies for temporomandibular disorder based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (intra-oral and extra-oral massage)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Banigo, A., Watson, D., Ram, B., & Ah-See, K. (2018). Orofacial pain. BMJ, 361, k1517. doi:10.1136/bmj.k1517

Bond, E. C., Mackey, S., English, R., Liverman, C. T., Yost, O., Committee on Temporomandibular Disorders (TMDs): From Research Discoveries to Clinical Treatment, Board on Health Sciences Policy, Board on Health Care Services, Health and Medicine Division, & National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2020). *Temporomandibular Disorders: Priorities for Research and Care*. National Academies Press (US). https://doi.org/ 10.17226/25652

Delgado de la Serna, P., Plaza-Manzano, G., Cleland, J., Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., Martín-Casas, P., & Díaz-Arribas, M. J. (2020). Effects of Cervico-Mandibular Manual Therapy in Patients with Temporomandibular Pain Disorders and Associated Somatic Tinnitus: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, 21(3), 613–624. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnz278

Fernandez-de-las-Peñas, C. (2018). *Temporomandibular Disorders: Manual therapy, exercise and needling*. Handspring Publishing.

Kahn, S. & Ehrlich, P. (2018). Jaws: The Story of a Hidden Epidemic. Stanford University Press.

La Touche, R., Martínez García, S., Serrano García, B., Proy Acosta, A., Adraos Juárez, D., Fernández Pérez, J. J., Angulo-Díaz-Parreño, S., Cuenca-Martínez, F., Paris-Alemany, A., & Suso-Martí, L. (2020). Effect of Manual Therapy and Therapeutic Exercise Applied to the Cervical Region on Pain and Pressure Pain Sensitivity in Patients with Temporomandibular Disorders: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, pnaa021. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnaa021

List, T., & Jensen, R. H. (2017). Temporomandibular disorders: Old ideas and new concepts. *Cephalalgia: an international journal of headache*, 37(7), 692–704. doi:10.1177/0333102416686302

Martins, W. R., Blasczyk, J. C., Aparecida Furlan de Oliveira, M., Lagôa Gonçalves, K. F., Bonini-Rocha, A. C., Dugailly,

P. M., & de Oliveira, R. J. (2016). Efficacy of musculoskeletal manual approach in the treatment of temporomandibular joint disorder: A systematic review with meta-analysis. *Manual therapy*, 21, 10–17. doi:10.1016/j.math.2015.06.009

Moayedi, M., Krishnamoorthy, G., He, P. T., Agur, A., Weissman-Fogel, I., Tenenbaum, H. C., ... Cioffi, I. (2020). Structural abnormalities in the temporalis musculo-aponeurotic complex in chronic muscular temporomandibular disorders. *Pain*, 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001864. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000001864

Ohrbach, R., & Dworkin, S. F. (2019). AAPT Diagnostic Criteria for Chronic Painful Temporomandibular Disorders. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 20(11), 1276–1292. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2019.04.003

Randhawa, K., Bohay, R., Côté, P., van der Velde, G., Sutton, D., Wong, J. J., ... Taylor-Vaisey, A. (2016). The Effectiveness of Noninvasive Interventions for Temporomandibular Disorders: A Systematic Review by the Ontario Protocol for Traffic Injury Management (OPTIMa) Collaboration. *The Clinical journal of pain*, 32(3), 260–278. doi:10.1097/AJP.00000000000247

Reneker, J., Paz, J., Petrosino, C., & Cook, C. (2011). Diagnostic accuracy of clinical tests and signs of temporomandibular joint disorders: a systematic review of the literature. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 41(6), 408–416. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2011.3644

von Piekartz, H., & Hall, T. (2013). Orofacial manual therapy improves cervical movement impairment associated with headache and features of temporomandibular dysfunction: a randomized controlled trial. *Manual therapy*, 18(4), 345–350. doi:10.1016/j.math.2012.12.005

von Piekartz, H., Schwiddessen, J., Reineke, L., Armijo-Olivio, S., Bevilaqua-Grossi, D., Biasotto Gonzalez, D., ... Ballenberger, N. (2020). International consensus on the most useful assessments used by physical therapists to evaluate patients with temporomandibular disorders: A Delphi study. *Journal of oral rehabilitation*, 10.1111/joor.12959. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1111/joor.12959

MIGRAINES AND TENSION-TYPE HEADACHES

Migraines and Tension-Type Headaches

With an estimated three billion individuals world-wide living with migraine or tension-type headache *The Global Burden of Diseases, Injuries, and Risk Factors* list migraine and tension-type headaches as one of the leading causes of disability worldwide (<u>GBD 2016 Headache Collaborators</u>).

Pathophysiology

Migraine has two major types.

- 1. Migraine without aura is a clinical syndrome characterized by headache with specific features and associated symptoms.
- 2. Migraine with aura is primarily characterized by the transient focal neurological symptoms that usually precede or sometimes accompany the headache. Some patients also experience a prodromal phase, occurring hours or days before the headache, and/or a postdromal phase following headache resolution. Prodromal and postdromal symptoms include hyperactivity, hypoactivity, depression, cravings for particular foods, repetitive yawning, fatigue and neck stiffness and/or pain.

Tension-type headache is very common, with a lifetime prevalence in the general population ranging in different studies between 30% and 78%. Tension-type headaches are divided into two categories: episodic and chronic.

TED-ED: What Causes Headaches



Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Red Flag Screen

- Thunderclap Headache a severe headache reaching at least 7 (out of 10) in intensity within 1 min of onset
- Fever and Meningismus
- New headache with cognitive change in an elderly patient

Outcome Measurements

148 | MIGRAINES AND TENSION-TYPE HEADACHES

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient Specific Functional Scale
- Headache Impact Test 6-item (HIT-6)
- Migraine-Specific Quality of Life Questionnaire (MSQ v2.1)
- Patient Perception of Migraine Questionnaire (PPMQ-R)
- The Migraine Disability Assessment (MIDAS)
- Headache Disability Index

Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

A massage therapy treatment plan should be implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance. For patients with persisting headaches it is important to work with the patient and their physician to develop strategies to manage symptoms. For people who suffer from migraine and tension-type headaches soft tissue irritation and nerve sensitization may be a major contributor to symptoms (Do et al., 2018). Gentle manual therapy of the upper cervical spine may help avoid ongoing nociceptive input into the trigeminocervical complex (Luedtke et al., 2017). Structures to keep in mind while assessing and treating patients suffering from headaches may include neurovascular structures and investing fascia of:

- Upper Cervical Spine (suboccipitals, upper trapezius, splenius cervicis, splenius capitis)
- Levator Scapula
- Longus Colli & Capitis
- Rhomboid Minor and Major
- Occipitofrontalis
- Corrugator Supercilii
- Sternocleidomastoid
- Scalene Muscle Group (anterior scalene, middle scalene, and posterior scalene)
- Temporomandibular Joint
 - Medial Pterygoid
 - Temporalis
 - Masseter
 - Suprahyoid Muscle Group (digastric, stylohyoid, geniohyoid, and mylohyoid)
 - Infrahyoids Muscle Group (sternohyoid, sternothyroid, thyrohyoid, and omohyoid)

Self-Care

Mindfulness based stress reduction has been shown to be safe and effective for reducing headaches, with little to no side effects. It can be used a part of a multidimensional treatment approach (<u>Seminowicz et al., 2020</u>)

Prognosis

Globally physicians, now more than ever are recommending complementary treatment options (ie. manual therapy, acupuncture, mindfulness based stress reduction, pain neuroscience education, and exercise) as part of a multi-modal approach to decrease the individual's headache frequency, intensity, duration and acute medication requirements. Massage therapy specifically is included in a number of practice guidelines for the treatment of headaches (<u>Busse et al.</u>, 2017; <u>Côté et al.</u>, 2019)

Massage Sloth: Myofascial Release for Headache



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=44 Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for tension-type headaches and migraines based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Barmherzig, R., & Kingston, W. (2019). Occipital Neuralgia and Cervicogenic Headache: Diagnosis and Management. *Current neurology and neuroscience reports*, 19(5), 20. doi:10.1007/s11910-019-0937-8

Busse, J. W., Craigie, S., Juurlink, D. N., Buckley, D. N., Wang, L., Couban, R. J., ... Guyatt, G. H. (2017). Guideline for opioid therapy and chronic noncancer pain. *CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association journal*, *189*(18), E659–E666. doi:10.1503/cmaj.170363

Carvalho, G. F., Schwarz, A., Szikszay, T. M., Adamczyk, W. M., Bevilaqua-Grossi, D., & Luedtke, K. (2019). Physical therapy and migraine: musculoskeletal and balance dysfunctions and their relevance for clinical practice. *Brazilian journal of physical therapy*, S1413-3555(19)30792-0. Advance online publication. doi:10.1016/j.bjpt.2019.11.001

Côté, P., Yu, H., Shearer, H.M., Randhawa, K., Wong, J.J., Mior, S., ... Lacerte, M. (2019). Non-pharmacological management of persistent headaches associated with neck pain: A clinical practice guideline from the Ontario protocol for traffic injury management (OPTIMa) collaboration. *Eur J Pain.*, 23(6), 1051-1070. doi: 10.1002/ejp.1374.

Do, T. P., Heldarskard, G. F., Kolding, L. T., Hvedstrup, J., & Schytz, H. W. (2018). Myofascial trigger points in migraine and tension-type headache. *The journal of headache and pain*, *19*(1), 84. doi:10.1186/s10194-018-0913-8

Do, T. P., Remmers, A., Schytz, H. W., Schankin, C., Nelson, S. E., Obermann, M., ... Schoonman, G. G. (2019). Red and orange flags for secondary headaches in clinical practice: SNNOOP10 list. *Neurology*, 92(3), 134–144. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000006697

Dodick, D. W. (2018). Migraine. *Lancet (London, England)*, 391(10127), 1315–1330. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(18)30478-1 Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., Florencio, L. L., Plaza-Manzano, G., & Arias-Buría, J. L. (2020). Clinical Reasoning Behind Non-Pharmacological Interventions for the Management of Headaches: A Narrative Literature Review. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 17(11), E4126. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17114126

Foxhall, K. (2019). Migraine: A History. Johns Hopkins University Press. doi:10.1353/book.66229.

GBD 2016 Headache Collaborators (2018). Global, regional, and national burden of migraine and tension-type headache, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet. Neurology*, *17*(11), 954–976. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30322-3

Haywood, K. L., Mars, T. S., Potter, R., Patel, S., Matharu, M., & Underwood, M. (2018). Assessing the impact of headaches and the outcomes of treatment: A systematic review of patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs). *Cephalalgia: an international journal of headache*, 38(7), 1374–1386. doi:10.1177/0333102417731348

Headache Classification Committee of the International Headache Society (IHS) The International Classification of Headache Disorders, 3rd edition. (2018). *Cephalalgia*, 38(1), 1–211. doi:10.1177/0333102417738202

Lemmens, J., De Pauw, J., Van Soom, T., Michiels, S., Versijpt, J., van Breda, E., ... De Hertogh, W. (2019). The effect of aerobic exercise on the number of migraine days, duration and pain intensity in migraine: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *The journal of headache and pain*, 20(1), 16. doi:10.1186/s10194-019-0961-8

Leroux, E. (2016). Migraines: More than a Headache. Dundurn.

Liang, Z., Galea, O., Thomas, L., Jull, G., & Treleaven, J. (2019). Cervical musculoskeletal impairments in migraine and tension type headache: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 42, 67–83. doi:10.1016/j.msksp.2019.04.007

Luedtke, K., Boissonnault, W., Caspersen, N., Castien, R., Chaibi, A., Falla, D., ... May, A. (2016). International consensus on the most useful physical examination tests used by physiotherapists for patients with headache: A Delphi study. *Manual therapy*, 23, 17–24. doi:10.1016/j.math.2016.02.010

Luedtke, K., & May, A. (2017). Stratifying migraine patients based on dynamic pain provocation over the upper cervical spine. *The journal of headache and pain*, *18*(1), 97. doi:10.1186/s10194-017-0808-0

Luedtke, K., Starke, W., & May, A. (2018). Musculoskeletal dysfunction in migraine patients. *Cephalalgia*, 38(5), 865–875. doi:10.1177/0333102417716934

Luedtke, K., Basener, A., Bedei, S., Castien, R., Chaibi, A., Falla, D., ... Wollesen, B. (2020). Outcome measures for assessing the effectiveness of non-pharmacological interventions in frequent episodic or chronic migraine: a Delphi study. *BMJ open*, 10(2), e029855. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-029855

Millstine, D., Chen, C. Y., & Bauer, B. (2017). Complementary and integrative medicine in the management of headache. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 357, j1805. doi:10.1136/bmj.j1805

Moraska, A. F., Stenerson, L., Butryn, N., Krutsch, J. P., Schmiege, S. J., & Mann, J. D. (2015). Myofascial trigger point-

152 | MIGRAINES AND TENSION-TYPE HEADACHES

focused head and neck massage for recurrent tension-type headache: a randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial. *The Clinical journal of pain*, 31(2), 159–168. doi:10.1097/AJP.00000000000000091

Moraska, A. F., Schmiege, S. J., Mann, J. D., Butryn, N., & Krutsch, J. P. (2017). Responsiveness of Myofascial Trigger Points to Single and Multiple Trigger Point Release Massages: A Randomized, Placebo Controlled Trial. *American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation*, 96(9), 639–645. doi:10.1097/PHM.000000000000728

Negro, A., Delaruelle, Z., Ivanova, T. A., Khan, S., Ornello, R., Raffaelli, B., ... European Headache Federation School of Advanced Studies (EHF-SAS) (2017). Headache and pregnancy: a systematic review. *The journal of headache and pain*, 18(1), 106. doi:10.1186/s10194-017-0816-0

Orr, S. L., Kabbouche, M. A., O'Brien, H. L., Kacperski, J., Powers, S. W., & Hershey, A. D. (2018). Paediatric migraine: evidence-based management and future directions. *Nature reviews*. Neurology, 14(9), 515–527. doi:10.1038/ s41582-018-0042-7

Palacios-Ceña, M., Ferracini, G. N., Florencio, L. L., Ruíz, M., Guerrero, Á. L., Arendt-Nielsen, L., & Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C. (2017). The Number of Active But Not Latent Trigger Points Associated with Widespread Pressure Pain Hypersensitivity in Women with Episodic Migraines. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, 18(12), 2485–2491. doi:10.1093/pm/pnx130

Seminowicz, D. A., Burrowes, S. A., Kearson, A., Zhang, J., Krimmel, S. R., Samawi, L., ... Haythornthwaite, J. A. (2020). Enhanced mindfulness based stress reduction (MBSR+) in episodic migraine: a randomized clinical trial with MRI outcomes. *Pain*, 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001860. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000001860

Szikszay, T. M., Luedtke, K., & Harry von, P. (2018). Increased mechanosensivity of the greater occipital nerve in subjects with side-dominant head and neck pain – a diagnostic case-control study. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 26(4), 237–248. https://doi.org/10.1080/10669817.2018.1480912

Szikszay, T. M., Hoenick, S., von Korn, K., Meise, R., Schwarz, A., Starke, W., & Luedtke, K. (2019). Which Examination Tests Detect Differences in Cervical Musculoskeletal Impairments in People With Migraine? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Physical therapy*, 99(5), 549–569. doi:10.1093/ptj/pzz007

Varatharajan, S., Ferguson, B., Chrobak, K., Shergill, Y., Côté, P., Wong, J. J., ... Taylor-Vaisey, A. (2016). Are noninvasive interventions effective for the management of headaches associated with neck pain? An update of the Bone and Joint Decade Task Force on Neck Pain and Its Associated Disorders by the Ontario Protocol for Traffic Injury Management (OPTIMa) Collaboration. *European spine journal*, 25(7), 1971–1999. doi:10.1007/s00586-016-4376-9

Xu, S., Yu, L., Luo, X., Wang, M., Chen, G., Zhang, Q., ... Wang, W. (2020). Manual acupuncture versus sham acupuncture and usual care for prophylaxis of episodic migraine without aura: multicentre, randomised clinical trial. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 368, m697. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m697

Zhang, N., Houle, T., Hindiyeh, N., & Aurora, S. K. (2020). Systematic Review: Acupuncture vs Standard Pharmacological Therapy for Migraine Prevention. *Headache*, 60(2), 309–317. https://doi.org/10.1111/head.13723

POST-CONCUSSION SYNDROME

Post Concussion Syndrome

A concussion is a brain injury caused by a complex physical process affecting the brain, induced by biomechanical forces. The most commonly reported symptoms are occipital headache, blurry vision, nausea, dizziness, balance problems, a "foggy feeling," difficulty with concentration, difficulty with memory, fatigue, confusion, drowsiness, and irritability. Clinically these symptoms fall into four major categories:

- 1. Somatic: Headaches, nausea, vomiting, balance and or visual problems, and sensitivity to light and noise
- 2. Emotional: Sadness to the point of depression, nervousness, and irritability
- 3. Sleep disturbance: Sleeping more or less than usual and having trouble falling asleep
- 4. Cognitive: Difficulty concentrating, troubles with memory, feeling mentally slow or as if in a fog that will not lift

Pathophysiology

Persistent symptoms' does not reflect a single pathophysiological entity, but describes a constellation of non-specific post-traumatic symptoms that may be linked to coexisting and/or confounding factors, which do not necessarily reflect ongoing physiological injury to the brain (<u>McCrory et al., 2017</u>).

Concussion is an injury that typically resolves relatively quickly in most people (symptoms generally disappear for 80-90% of patients within 7 to 10 days), however whiplash symptoms can linger for up to a year or more. Persistent symptoms after concussive injuries often include headaches and neck pain. Post-traumatic headache (PTH) is a highly disabling secondary headache disorder and one of the most common symptoms after a concussion (<u>Ashina et al., 2019</u>). In these demographics soft tissue irritation and subsequent nerve sensitization may be a major contributor to symptoms. With the high impact nature of most concussive injuries, the assessment and rehabilitation of cervical spine may decrease the likelihood that an individual will develop persistent headaches and neck pain (<u>Kennedy et al., 2019</u>).

Ted Ed: What Happens When You Have A Concussion?



Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient Specific Functional Scale
- Sport Concussion Assessment Tool 5th Edition (SCAT5)
- Headache Impact Test 6-item (HIT-6)

- The Migraine Disability Assessment (MIDAS)
- Post Concussion Symptom Scale

Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms. After an initial short rest period lasting 24-48 hours, the early introduction of light cognitive and physical activity can be initiated as long as the activity does not exacerbate symptoms (sub-threshold activities).

Manual Therapy

Post-concussion headaches are multifactorial with evidence for the contributions of muscles and other structures surrounding the cervical spine. A massage therapy treatment plan should be implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance. Structures to keep in mind while assessing and treating patients suffering from cervicogenic headaches may include neurovascular structures and investing fascia of:

- Upper Cervical Spine (suboccipitals, upper trapezius, splenius cervicis, splenius capitis)
- Levator Scapula
- Longus Colli & Capitis
- Rhomboid Minor and Major
- Occipitofrontalis
- Corrugator Supercilii
- Sternocleidomastoid
- Scalene Muscle Group (anterior scalene, middle scalene, and posterior scalene)
- Temporomandibular Joint
 - Medial Pterygoid
 - Temporalis
 - Masseter
 - Suprahyoid Muscle Group (digastric, stylohyoid, geniohyoid, and mylohyoid)
 - Infrahyoids Muscle Group (sternohyoid, sternothyroid, thyrohyoid, and omohyoid)

Prognosis

Persistent symptoms often reflect a constellation of symptoms that may be linked to coexisting and/or confounding factors. Early intervention reduces the risk of cervicogenic headaches developing into chronic post concussion headaches, but, do not attempt to treat the concussion directly, instead treat the impairments that may be related to or irritating, based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance.

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for post-concussion syndrome based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Ashina, H., Porreca, F., Anderson, T., Amin, F. M., Ashina, M., Schytz, H. W., & Dodick, D. W. (2019). Post-traumatic headache: epidemiology and pathophysiological insights. *Nature reviews*. Neurology, 15(10), 607–617. doi:10.1038/ s41582-019-0243-8

Ellis, M. J., McDonald, P. J., Olson, A., Koenig, J., & Russell, K. (2019). Cervical Spine Dysfunction Following Pediatric Sports-Related Head Trauma. *The Journal of head trauma rehabilitation*, 34(2), 103–110. doi:10.1097/HTR.00000000000411

Ellis, M. J., Leddy, J., Cordingley, D., & Willer, B. (2018). A Physiological Approach to Assessment and Rehabilitation of Acute Concussion in Collegiate and Professional Athletes. *Frontiers in neurology*, *9*, 1115. doi:10.3389/ fneur.2018.01115

Harmon, K. G., Clugston, J. R., Dec, K., Hainline, B., Herring, S. A., Kane, S., ... Roberts, W. O. (2019). American Medical Society for Sports Medicine Position Statement on Concussion in Sport. *Clinical journal of sport medicine*, 29(2), 87–100. doi:10.1097/JSM.000000000000720

Heneghan, N. R., Smith, R., Tyros, I., Falla, D., & Rushton, A. (2018). Thoracic dysfunction in whiplash associated disorders: A systematic review. *PloS one*, *13*(3), e0194235. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0194235

Kennedy, E., Quinn, D., Tumilty, S., & Chapple, C. M. (2017). Clinical characteristics and outcomes of treatment of the cervical spine in patients with persistent post-concussion symptoms: A retrospective analysis. *Musculoskeletal science* & practice, 29, 91–98. doi:10.1016/j.msksp.2017.03.002

Kennedy, E., Quinn, D., Chapple, C., & Tumilty, S. (2019). Can the Neck Contribute to Persistent Symptoms Post

Concussion? A Prospective Descriptive Case Series. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 49(11), 845–854. doi:10.2519/jospt.2019.8547

Lal, A., Kolakowsky-Hayner, S. A., Ghajar, J., & Balamane, M. (2018). The Effect of Physical Exercise After a Concussion: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *The American journal of sports medicine*, 46(3), 743–752. doi:10.1177/0363546517706137

Leddy, J. J., Haider, M. N., Ellis, M. J., Mannix, R., Darling, S. R., Freitas, M. S., ... Willer, B. (2019). Early Subthreshold Aerobic Exercise for Sport-Related Concussion: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA pediatrics*, 173(4), 319–325. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.4397

Makdissi, M., Schneider, K. J., Feddermann-Demont, N., Guskiewicz, K. M., Hinds, S., Leddy, J. J., ... Johnston, K. M. (2017). Approach to investigation and treatment of persistent symptoms following sport-related concussion: a systematic review. *British journal of sports medicine*, 51(12), 958–968. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2016-097470

Mares, C., Dagher, J. H., & Harissi-Dagher, M. (2019). Narrative Review of the Pathophysiology of Headaches and Photosensitivity in Mild Traumatic Brain Injury and Concussion. *The Canadian journal of neurological sciences*, 46(1), 14–22. doi:10.1017/cjn.2018.361

McCrory, P., Meeuwisse, W., Dvořák, J., Aubry, M., Bailes, J., Broglio, S., ... Vos, P. E. (2017). Consensus statement on concussion in sport-the 5th international conference on concussion in sport held in Berlin, October 2016. *British journal of sports medicine*, 51(11), 838–847. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2017-097699

McIntyre, M., Kempenaar, A., Amiri, M., Alavinia, S. M., & Kumbhare, D. (2020). The Role of Subsymptom Threshold Aerobic Exercise for Persistent Concussion Symptoms in Patients With Postconcussion Syndrome: A Systematic Review. *American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation*, 99(3), 257–264. https://doi.org/10.1097/ PHM.000000000001340

Quatman-Yates, C. C., Hunter-Giordano, A., Shimamura, K. K., Landel, R., Alsalaheen, B. A., Hanke, T. A., ... Silverberg, N. (2020). Physical Therapy Evaluation and Treatment After Concussion/Mild Traumatic Brain Injury. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 50(4), CPG1–CPG73. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2020.0301

Schneider, K. J., Leddy, J. J., Guskiewicz, K. M., Seifert, T., McCrea, M., Silverberg, N. D., ... Makdissi, M. (2017). Rest and treatment/rehabilitation following sport-related concussion: a systematic review. *British journal of sports medicine*, 51(12), 930–934. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2016-097475

Schneider K. J. (2019). Concussion – Part I: The need for a multifaceted assessment. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 42, 140–150. doi:10.1016/j.msksp.2019.05.007

Schneider K. J. (2019). Concussion Part II: Rehabilitation – The need for a multifaceted approach. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 42, 151–161. doi:10.1016/j.msksp.2019.01.006

Schneider, K. J., Emery, C. A., Black, A., Yeates, K. O., Debert, C. T., Lun, V., & Meeuwisse, W. H. (2019). Adapting the Dynamic, Recursive Model of Sport Injury to Concussion: An Individualized Approach to Concussion Prevention,

Detection, Assessment, and Treatment. The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy, 49(11), 799-810. doi:10.2519/jospt.2019.8926

Silverberg, N. D., Iaccarino, M. A., Panenka, W. J., Iverson, G. L., McCulloch, K. L., Dams-O'Connor, K., Reed, N., McCrea, M., & American Congress of Rehabilitation Medicine Brain Injury Interdisciplinary Special Interest Group Mild TBI Task Force (2020). Management of Concussion and Mild Traumatic Brain Injury: A Synthesis of Practice Guidelines. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 101(2), 382–393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2019.10.179

Streifer, M., Brown, A. M., Porfido, T., Anderson, E. Z., Buckman, J. F., & Esopenko, C. (2019). The Potential Role of the Cervical Spine in Sports-Related Concussion: Clinical Perspectives and Considerations for Risk Reduction. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 49(3), 202–208. doi:10.2519/jospt.2019.8582

NECK PAIN

Neck Pain

Pathophysiology

Recent clinical guidelines published in the *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy (JOSPT)* suggest a pragmatic approach to the management of neck pain. These guidelines describe four subcategories of neck pain: neck pain with limited motion, neck pain associated with whiplash, headaches related to neck pain, neck and nerve-related pain into the arm (also known as radicular pain) (<u>Blandpied et al., 2017</u>).

Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient-specific Functional Scale
- Neck Pain and Disability Scale
- Neck Disability Index

Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

Randomized controlled trials have demonstrated that compression at myofascial triggerpoints (MTrPs) significantly improved subjective pain scores compared with compression at Non-MTrPs and the control treatments for patients suffering from neck pain (Morikawa et al., 2017).

A massage therapy treatment plan should be implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance. Structures to keep in mind while assessing and treating people suffering from neck pain may include neurovascular structures and investing fascia of:

- Upper Cervical Spine (suboccipitals, upper trapezius, splenius cervicis, splenius capitis)
- Levator Scapula
- Longus Colli & Capitis
- Rhomboid Minor and Major
- Occipitofrontalis
- Corrugator Supercilii
- Sternocleidomastoid
- Scalene Muscle Group (anterior scalene, middle scalene, and posterior scalene)
- Temporomandibular Joint
 - Medial Pterygoid
 - Temporalis
 - Masseter
 - Suprahyoid Muscle Group (digastric, stylohyoid, geniohyoid, and mylohyoid)
 - Infrahyoids Muscle Group (sternohyoid, sternothyroid, thyrohyoid, and omohyoid)

Rehabilitation

With simple home-care recommendations, people can often self-manage this condition and follow up with massage therapy as needed.

Prognosis

Clinical practice guidelines for neck pain support the need for a multidimensional therapeutic approach with consistent recommendations including universal provision of information and advice to remain active, discouraging routine referral for imaging, and limited prescription of opioids (<u>Chou et al., 2018</u>). A multidimensional treatment approach can involve a number of management strategies that include but is not limited to education, reassurance, analgesic medicines and a number of non-pharmacological therapies (<u>Blandpied et al., 2017</u>; <u>Chou et al., 2018</u>).

Massage Sloth: Neck Massage Tutorial



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=40

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for neck pain based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)

• Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Bier, J. D., Scholten-Peeters, W., Staal, J. B., Pool, J., van Tulder, M. W., Beekman, E., ... Verhagen, A. P. (2018). Clinical Practice Guideline for Physical Therapy Assessment and Treatment in Patients With Nonspecific Neck Pain. *Physical therapy*, 98(3), 162–171. doi:10.1093/ptj/pzx118

Blanpied, P. R., Gross, A. R., Elliott, J. M., Devaney, L. L., Clewley, D., Walton, D. M., ... Robertson, E. K. (2017). Neck Pain: Revision 2017. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 47(7), A1–A83. doi:10.2519/ jospt.2017.0302

Bobos, P., MacDermid, J. C., Walton, D. M., Gross, A., & Santaguida, P. L. (2018). Patient-Reported Outcome Measures Used for Neck Disorders: An Overview of Systematic Reviews. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(10), 775–788. doi:10.2519/jospt.2018.8131

Chou, R., Côté, P., Randhawa, K., Torres, P., Yu, H., Nordin, M., ... Cedraschi, C. (2018). The Global Spine Care Initiative: applying evidence-based guidelines on the non-invasive management of back and neck pain to low- and middle-income communities. *European spine journal*, 27(Suppl 6), 851–860. doi:10.1007/s00586-017-5433-8

Cohen, S. P., & Hooten, W. M. (2017). Advances in the diagnosis and management of neck pain. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 358, j3221. doi:10.1136/bmj.j3221

Cook, A. J., Wellman, R. D., Cherkin, D. C., Kahn, J. R., & Sherman, K. J. (2015). Randomized clinical trial assessing whether additional massage treatments for chronic neck pain improve 12- and 26-week outcomes. *The spine journal*, 15(10), 2206–2215. doi:10.1016/j.spinee.2015.06.049

Côté, P., Wong, J. J., Sutton, D., Shearer, H. M., Mior, S., Randhawa, K., ... Salhany, R. (2016). Management of neck pain and associated disorders: A clinical practice guideline from the Ontario Protocol for Traffic Injury Management (OPTIMa) Collaboration. *European spine journal*, 25(7), 2000–2022. doi:10.1007/s00586-016-4467-7

Côté, P., Yu, H., Shearer, H. M., Randhawa, K., Wong, J. J., Mior, S., ... Lacerte, M. (2019). Non-pharmacological management of persistent headaches associated with neck pain: A clinical practice guideline from the Ontario protocol for traffic injury management (OPTIMa) collaboration. *European journal of pain (London, England)*, 23(6), 1051–1070. doi:10.1002/ejp.1374

Farag, A. M., Malacarne, A., Pagni, S. E., & Maloney, G. E. (2020). The effectiveness of acupuncture in the management of persistent regional myofascial head and neck pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Complementary therapies in medicine*, 49, 102297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2019.102297

Farrell, S. F., Smith, A. D., Hancock, M. J., Webb, A. L., & Sterling, M. (2019). Cervical spine findings on MRI in people with neck pain compared with pain-free controls: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of magnetic resonance imaging: JMRI*, 49(6), 1638–1654. doi:10.1002/jmri.26567

Greening, J., Anantharaman, K., Young, R., & Dilley, A. (2018). Evidence for Increased Magnetic Resonance Imaging Signal Intensity and Morphological Changes in the Brachial Plexus and Median Nerves of Patients With Chronic Arm and Neck Pain Following Whiplash Injury. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(7), 523–532. doi:10.2519/jospt.2018.7875

Kjaer, P., Kongsted, A., Hartvigsen, J., Isenberg-Jørgensen, A., Schiøttz-Christensen, B., Søborg, B., ... Povlsen, T. M. (2017). National clinical guidelines for non-surgical treatment of patients with recent onset neck pain or cervical radiculopathy. *European spine journal*, 26(9), 2242–2257. doi:10.1007/s00586-017-5121-8

Morikawa, Y., Takamoto, K., Nishimaru, H., Taguchi, T., Urakawa, S., Sakai, S., ... Nishijo, H. (2017). Compression at Myofascial Trigger Point on Chronic Neck Pain Provides Pain Relief through the Prefrontal Cortex and Autonomic Nervous System: A Pilot Study. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, 11, 186. doi:10.3389/fnins.2017.00186

Nakashima, H., Yukawa, Y., Suda, K., Yamagata, M., Ueta, T., & Kato, F. (2015). Abnormal findings on magnetic resonance images of the cervical spines in 1211 asymptomatic subjects. *Spine*, 40(6), 392–398. doi:10.1097/ BRS.000000000000775

Pico-Espinosa, O. J., Aboagye, E., Côté, P., Peterson, A., Holm, L. W., Jensen, I., & Skillgate, E. (2020). Deep tissue massage, strengthening and stretching exercises, and a combination of both compared with advice to stay active for subacute or persistent non-specific neck pain: A cost-effectiveness analysis of the Stockholm Neck trial (STONE). *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 46, 102109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msksp.2020.102109

Safiri, S., Kolahi, A. A., Hoy, D., Buchbinder, R., Mansournia, M. A., Bettampadi, D., ... Ferreira, M. L. (2020). Global, regional, and national burden of neck pain in the general population, 1990-2017: systematic analysis of the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 368, m791. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m791

Sherman, K. J., Cook, A. J., Wellman, R. D., Hawkes, R. J., Kahn, J. R., Deyo, R. A., & Cherkin, D. C. (2014). Five-week outcomes from a dosing trial of therapeutic massage for chronic neck pain. *Annals of family medicine*, 12(2), 112–120. doi:10.1370/afm.1602

Skelly, A.C., Chou, R., Dettori, J.R., Turner, J.A., Friedly, J.L., Rundell, S.D., ... Ferguson, A.J.R. (2020). *Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review Update*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). DOI: https://doi.org/10.23970/ AHRQEPCCER227

Skillgate, E., Pico-Espinosa, O. J., Côté, P., Jensen, I., Viklund, P., Bottai, M., & Holm, L. W. (2020). Effectiveness of deep tissue massage therapy, and supervised strengthening and stretching exercises for subacute or persistent disabling neck pain. The Stockholm Neck (STONE) randomized controlled trial. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 45, 102070. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msksp.2019.102070

Thomas, L., & Treleaven, J. (2020). Should we abandon positional testing for vertebrobasilar insufficiency?. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 46, 102095. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msksp.2019.102095

Walton, D. M., & Elliott, J. M. (2017). An Integrated Model of Chronic Whiplash-Associated Disorder. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 47(7), 462–471. doi:10.2519/jospt.2017.7455

SHOULDER PAIN

Shoulder Pain

The rotator cuff is a group of tendons that holds the shoulder joint in place allowing people to lift their arm and reach overhead. Rotator cuff related shoulder pain is a term that encompasses a spectrum of conditions including subacromial pain syndrome, rotator cuff tendinopathy, and symptomatic partial and full thickness rotator cuff tears (Lewis, 2016).

Pathophysiology

Rotator Cuff Related Shoulder Pain

In some cases of rotator cuff disorders pathoanatomical explanations do not account for why pain persists, which is why it is important to take into account patient-specific assessment findings and psychosocial factors (Wylie et al., 2016; Wong et al., 2020). In other cases pathological changes (eg. fibrosis, interstitial collagen deposition, and inflammatory cells) may be associated with sensorimotor declines, and symptomatic rotator cuff disorders (Fouda et al., 2017).

Frozen Shoulder

Frozen shoulder also known as "Adhesive Capsulitis" is classified as idiopathic (primary) or following shoulder surgery or trauma (secondary). Traditionally it has been taught that regardless of therapeutic intervention the affected shoulder will eventually improve or "thaw out". This long held idea of complete resolution without treatment for frozen shoulder is unfounded. In most cases an understanding of the pathophysiology of frozen shoulder will lead to improved treatment outcomes, reduced pain and suffering associated with the condition (<u>Wong et al., 2017</u>).

The progression of the frozen shoulder is a complicated process, involving a cascade of molecular and cellular events. Connective tissue fibrosis and storage of leukocytes and chronic inflammatory cells is thought to play a fundamental role. Ongoing inflammation feeds into a cycle and upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokine production, namely transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β). This may be further perpetuated by sympathetic dominance of autonomic balance, and neuro-immune activation (<u>Pietrzak, 2016</u>).

Clinical Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fearavoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher

166 | SHOULDER PAIN

likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient-specific Functional Scale
- DASH Outcome Measure
- Upper Extremity Functional Index
- Western Ontario Rotator Cuff (WORC) Index

Neurovascular Assessment

Medial axillary space – The Axillary space is bounded by teres major muscle, teres minor muscle and humerus. The long head of triceps brachii splits this area into medial and lateral groups. Scapular circumflex artery and scapular circumflex vein pass through it.

Lateral axillary space – The axillary nerve and posterior circumflex humeral artery can be irritated by soft tissue structures. Symptoms include axillary nerve related weakness of the deltoid muscle, resulting in a reduction in shoulder abduction. The pain from axillary neuropathy is usually dull and aching rather than sharp, and increases with increasing range of motion. Many people notice only mild pain but considerable weakness when they try to use the affected shoulder.

Triangular interval – The radial nerve and profunda brachii artery pass through the triangular interval, on route to the posterior compartment of the arm. The triceps brachii has potential to irritate the radial nerve in the triangular interval.

Drag and Drop: Anatomy Review



An interactive or media element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=38

Special Testing

- Subacromial impingement Neer test, Hawkins-Kennedy test, and painful arc
- Superior labral anterior to posterior (SLAP) tears relocation test, Yergason's test, compression-rotation test
- Stiffness-related disorders (osteoarthritis and adhesive capsulitis) shoulder shrug sign

• Subscapularis tendinopathy - The belly-off and modified belly press tests

Jeremy Lewis: Rotator Cuff Shoulder Pain – Exercise is as effective as surgery



Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

A massage therapy treatment plan should be implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance. Structures to keep in mind while assessing and treating patients suffering from shoulder pain may include neurovascular structures and investing fascia of:

- Rotator Cuff (subscapularis, infraspinatus, teres minor, supraspinatus)
- Pectoral Region (pectoralis major, pectoralis minor, serratus anterior and subclavius)
- The Upper Arm (biceps brachii, brachialis, coracobrachialis, triceps brachii)
- Deltoid Muscle Group (anterior, middle, posterior)
- Erector Spinae (iliocostalis, longissimus, spinalis) & Multifidus
- External Obliques, Internal Obliques, and Transverse Abdominal
- Thoracolumbar Fascia, Latissimus Dorsi and Teres Major
- Quadratus Lumborum

Prognosis

Prognosis is favorable when therapists use a multidisciplinary approach to treatments. Exercise is the mainstay of treatment, a strong recommendation may be made regarding the effectiveness of manual therapy when combined with exercise for subacromial shoulder pain (<u>Pieters et al., 2020</u>). A number of additional systematic reviews support the use of manual therapy for the treatment of shoulder pain (<u>Hawk et al., 2017</u>; <u>Steuri et al., 2017</u>).

Massage Therapeutics: How to treat frozen shoulder: Massage video with Maria Natera



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=38

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for acute and chronic shoulder pain based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization, IASTM)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)

- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Alsubheen, S. A., Nazari, G., Bobos, P., MacDermid, J. C., Overend, T. J., & Faber, K. (2019). Effectiveness of Nonsurgical Interventions for Managing Adhesive Capsulitis in Patients With Diabetes: A Systematic Review. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 100(2), 350–365. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2018.08.181

Bailey, L. B., Thigpen, C. A., Hawkins, R. J., Beattie, P. F., & Shanley, E. (2017). Effectiveness of Manual Therapy and Stretching for Baseball Players With Shoulder Range of Motion Deficits. *Sports health*, 9(3), 230–237. doi:10.1177/1941738117702835

Beard, D. J., Rees, J. L., Cook, J. A., Rombach, I., Cooper, C., Merritt, N., ... CSAW Study Group (2018). Arthroscopic subacromial decompression for subacromial shoulder pain (CSAW): a multicentre, pragmatic, parallel group, placebocontrolled, three-group, randomised surgical trial. *Lancet (London, England)*, 391(10118), 329–338. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(17)32457-1

Dueñas, L., Balasch-Bernat, M., Aguilar-Rodríguez, M., Struyf, F., Meeus, M., & Lluch, E. (2019). A Manual Therapy and Home Stretching Program in Patients With Primary Frozen Shoulder Contracture Syndrome: A Case Series. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 49(3), 192–201. doi:10.2519/jospt.2019.8194

Fouda, M. B., Thankam, F. G., Dilisio, M. F., & Agrawal, D. K. (2017). Alterations in tendon microenvironment in response to mechanical load: potential molecular targets for treatment strategies. *American journal of translational research*, 9(10), 4341–4360.

Funk, L. (2018). Shoulder Rehabilitation: A Comprehensive Guide To Shoulder Exercise Therapy (4th ed). Shoulderdoc.co.uk.

Gismervik, S. Ø., Drogset, J. O., Granviken, F., Rø, M., & Leivseth, G. (2017). Physical examination tests of the shoulder: a systematic review and meta-analysis of diagnostic test performance. *BMC musculoskeletal disorders*, 18(1), 41. doi:10.1186/s12891-017-1400-0

Greening, J., Anantharaman, K., Young, R., & Dilley, A. (2018). Evidence for Increased Magnetic Resonance Imaging Signal Intensity and Morphological Changes in the Brachial Plexus and Median Nerves of Patients With Chronic Arm and Neck Pain Following Whiplash Injury. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(7), 523–532. doi:10.2519/jospt.2018.7875

Hawk, C., Minkalis, A. L., Khorsan, R., Daniels, C. J., Homack, D., Gliedt, J. A., ... Bhalerao, S. (2017). Systematic

Review of Nondrug, Nonsurgical Treatment of Shoulder Conditions. *Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics*, 40(5), 293–319. doi:10.1016/j.jmpt.2017.04.001

Hegedus, E. J., Goode, A. P., Cook, C. E., Michener, L., Myer, C. A., Myer, D. M., & Wright, A. A. (2012). Which physical examination tests provide clinicians with the most value when examining the shoulder? Update of a systematic review with meta-analysis of individual tests. British journal of sports medicine, 46(14), 964–978. doi:10.1136/ bjsports-2012-091066

Hegedus, E. J., Michener, L. A., & Seitz, A. L. (2020). Three Key Findings When Diagnosing Shoulder Multidirectional Instability: Patient Report of Instability, Hypermobility, and Specific Shoulder Tests. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 50(2), 52–54. doi:10.2519/jospt.2020.0602

Karjalainen, T. V., Jain, N. B., Heikkinen, J., Johnston, R. V., Page, C. M., & Buchbinder, R. (2019). Surgery for rotator cuff tears. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews, 12, CD013502.doi:10.1002/14651858.CD013502

Lähdeoja, T., Karjalainen, T., Jokihaara, J., Salamh, P., Kavaja, L., Agarwal, A., ... Ardern, C. L. (2019). Subacromial decompression surgery for adults with shoulder pain: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *British journal of sports medicine*, bjsports-2018-100486. Advance online publication. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-100486

Le, H. V., Lee, S. J., Nazarian, A., & Rodriguez, E. K. (2017). Adhesive capsulitis of the shoulder: review of pathophysiology and current clinical treatments. *Shoulder & elbow*, 9(2), 75–84. doi:10.1177/1758573216676786

Lewis, J. (2016). Rotator cuff related shoulder pain: Assessment, management and uncertainties. *Manual therapy*, 23, 57–68. doi:10.1016/j.math.2016.03.009

Pieters, L., Lewis, J., Kuppens, K., Jochems, J., Bruijstens, T., Joossens, L., & Struyf, F. (2020). An Update of Systematic Reviews Examining the Effectiveness of Conservative Physical Therapy Interventions for Subacromial Shoulder Pain. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 50(3), 131–141. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2020.8498

Pietrzak, M. (2016). Adhesive capsulitis: An age related symptom of metabolic syndrome and chronic low-grade inflammation?. *Medical hypotheses*, 88, 12–17. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2016.01.002

Richardson, E., Lewis, J. S., Gibson, J., Morgan, C., Halaki, M., Ginn, K., & Yeowell, G. (2020). Role of the kinetic chain in shoulder rehabilitation: does incorporating the trunk and lower limb into shoulder exercise regimes influence shoulder muscle recruitment patterns? Systematic review of electromyography studies. *BMJ open sport & exercise medicine*, 6(1), e000683. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjsem-2019-000683

Salamh, P., & Lewis, J. (2020). It Is Time to Put Special Tests for Rotator Cuff-Related Shoulder Pain out to Pasture. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 50(5), 222–225. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2020.0606

Steuri, R., Sattelmayer, M., Elsig, S., Kolly, C., Tal, A., Taeymans, J., & Hilfiker, R. (2017). Effectiveness of conservative interventions including exercise, manual therapy and medical management in adults with shoulder impingement: a systematic review and meta-analysis of RCTs. *British journal of sports medicine*, 51(18), 1340–1347. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2016-096515

Struyf, F., Tate, A., Kuppens, K., Feijen, S., & Michener, L. A. (2017). Musculoskeletal dysfunctions associated with swimmers' shoulder. *British journal of sports medicine*, 51(10), 775–780. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2016-096847

Weber, S., & Chahal, J. (2020). Management of Rotator Cuff Injuries. *The Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons*, 28(5), e193-e201. https://doi.org/10.5435/JAAOS-D-19-00463

Weiss, L. J., Wang, D., Hendel, M., Buzzerio, P., & Rodeo, S. A. (2018). Management of Rotator Cuff Injuries in the Elite Athlete. *Current reviews in musculoskeletal medicine*, 11(1), 102–112. doi:10.1007/s12178-018-9464-5

Wong, C. K., Levine, W. N., Deo, K., Kesting, R. S., Mercer, E. A., Schram, G. A., & Strang, B. L. (2017). Natural history of frozen shoulder: fact or fiction? A systematic review. *Physiotherapy*, 103(1), 40–47. doi:10.1016/j.physio.2016.05.009

Wong, W. K., Li, M. Y., Yung, P. S., & Leong, H. T. (2020). The effect of psychological factors on pain, function and quality of life in patients with rotator cuff tendinopathy: A systematic review. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 47, 102173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msksp.2020.102173

Wylie, J. D., Suter, T., Potter, M. Q., Granger, E. K., & Tashjian, R. Z. (2016). Mental Health Has a Stronger Association with Patient-Reported Shoulder Pain and Function Than Tear Size in Patients with Full-Thickness Rotator Cuff Tears. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume*, 98(4), 251–256. doi:10.2106/JBJS.O.00444
26. ELBOW PAIN

Elbow Pain

Lateral elbow tendinopathy (LET), also known as Tennis elbow is described as pain at the outside of the elbow and in the upper forearm where the muscle tendon attaches to the bone. Medial elbow tendinopathy (MET), also known as Golfer's elbow is described as pain at the inside of the elbow and in the upper forearm where the muscle tendon attaches to the bone.



Tennis elbow is described as pain at the outside of the elbow and Golfer's elbow is described as pain at the inside of the elbow.

Pathophysiology

The presentation of pain in a tendon, does not always mean that the tendon itself is the primary contributor to pain. There is research that suggests a majority of nerves are found in peritendinous tissue, which is likely contributes to the

174 | ELBOW PAIN

complex clinical picture of tendon pain. There may be times that focal irritability (ie. nerve irritation, triggerpoints, nervous system sensitization) co-exists with lateral elbow tendinopathy.

Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient-specific Functional Scale
- Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)
- Visual Analog Scale (VAS)
- Patient-Rated Elbow Evaluation (PREE)
- Patient-Rated Tennis Elbow Evaluation (PRTEE)
- DASH Outcome Measure
- Upper Extremity Functional Index

Treatment

Education

Radius

Elbow Joint From Gray's Anatomy (1918)

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

A massage therapy treatment plan for elbow pain should be implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance. Structures to keep in mind while assessing and treating patients suffering from elbow pain may include neurovascular structures and investing fascia of:

- Scalene Muscle Group (anterior scalene, middle scalene, and posterior scalene)
- Pectoral Region (pectoralis major, pectoralis minor, serratus anterior and subclavius)
- Rotator Cuff (subscapularis, infraspinatus, teres minor, supraspinatus)
- The Upper Arm (biceps brachii, brachialis, coracobrachialis, triceps brachii)
- Anterior Interosseous Membrane

- Common Extensor Tendon (extensor carpi radialis brevis, extensor digitorum, extensor digiti minimi, extensor carpi ulnaris)
- Common Flexor Tendon (pronator teres, flexor carpi radialis, palmaris longus, flexor digitorum superficialis, flexor carpi ulnaris)
- Carpal Bones (trapezium, trapezoid, capitate, hamate, scaphoid, lunate, triquetrum, pisiform)

Prognosis

Prognosis is good for the conservative management of elbow pain (<u>Piper et al., 2016</u>). Massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for patients with elbow pain including soft tissue massage, simple home-care recommendations and remedial exercise.

Massage Sloth: Massage for Elbow Pain



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=34 Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for elbow pain based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Bordachar, D. (2019). Lateral epicondylalgia: A primary nervous system disorder. *Medical hypotheses*, 123, 101–109. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2019.01.009

Coombes, B. K., Bisset, L., & Vicenzino, B. (2015). Management of Lateral Elbow Tendinopathy: One Size Does Not Fit All. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 45(11), 938–949. doi:10.2519/jospt.2015.5841

Coombes, B. K., Connelly, L., Bisset, L., & Vicenzino, B. (2016). Economic evaluation favours physiotherapy but not corticosteroid injection as a first-line intervention for chronic lateral epicondylalgia: evidence from a randomised clinical trial. *British journal of sports medicine*, 50(22), 1400–1405. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2015-094729

Docking, S. I., & Cook, J. (2019). How do tendons adapt? Going beyond tissue responses to understand positive adaptation and pathology development: A narrative review. *Journal of musculoskeletal & neuronal interactions*, 19(3), 300–310.

Gadau, M., Zhang, S. P., Wang, F. C., Liguori, S., Zaslawski, C., Liu, W. H., ... Xie, C. L. (2020). A multi-center international study of Acupuncture for lateral elbow pain – Results of a randomized controlled trial. *European journal of pain (London, England)*, 10.1002/ejp.1574. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.1574

Lucado, A. M., Dale, R. B., Vincent, J., & Day, J. M. (2019). Do joint mobilizations assist in the recovery of lateral elbow tendinopathy? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of hand therapy*, 32(2), 262–276.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jht.2018.01.010

Magnusson, S. P., & Kjaer, M. (2019). The impact of loading, unloading, ageing and injury on the human tendon. *The Journal of physiology*, 597(5), 1283–1298. doi:10.1113/JP275450

Piper, S., Shearer, H. M., Côté, P., Wong, J. J., Yu, H., Varatharajan, S., ... Taylor-Vaisey, A. L. (2016). The effectiveness of soft-tissue therapy for the management of musculoskeletal disorders and injuries of the upper and lower extremities: A systematic review by the Ontario Protocol for Traffic Injury management (OPTIMa) collaboration. *Manual therapy*, 21, 18–34. doi:10.1016/j.math.2015.08.011

Yi, R., Bratchenko, W. W., & Tan, V. (2018). Deep Friction Massage Versus Steroid Injection in the Treatment of Lateral Epicondylitis. *Hand (New York, N.Y.)*, 13(1), 56–59. doi:10.1177/1558944717692088

THORACIC OUTLET SYNDROME

Thoracic Outlet Syndrome

Thoracic outlet syndrome is a neurovascular compression injury characterized by tingling, numbness and pain in the shoulder and upper extremity, hand and fingers.

Pathophysiology

Symptoms are often the result of irritation or compression at the thoracic outlet (three structures are at risk: the brachial plexus, the subclavian vein, and the subclavian artery). Compression of these structures is classified as neurogenic (NTOS), venous (VTOS), and arterial (ATOS) thoracic outlet syndromes. Although each of these three are separate entities, multiple sites of compression can coexist and have overlapping symptoms.

Osmosis: Klumpke's palsy and thoracic outlet syndrome



Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient-specific Functional Scale
- Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)
- Visual Analog Scale (VAS)
- DASH Outcome Measure

180 | THORACIC OUTLET SYNDROME

• Upper Extremity Functional Index

Ariella.Studies – Injuries Associated with The Brachial Plexus



Injuries associated with the brachial plexus.

Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

The responses to massage therapy are complex and multifactorial – physiological and psychological factors interplay in a complex manner. Massage therapy combined with multimodal care may improve symptoms, decrease disability and improve function for patients who suffer from mild forms of thoracic outlet syndrome. Massage has a modulating effect on peripheral and central processes via input from large sensory neurons that prevents the spinal cord from amplifying the nociceptive signal. This anti-nociceptive effect of massage therapy can help ease discomfort in patients who suffer from peripheral nerve entrapment.

Structures to be Aware of When Treating Thoracic Outlet Syndrome

A massage therapy treatment plan should be implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance. Structures to keep in mind while assessing and treating patients suffering from thoracic outlet syndrome may include neurovascular structures and investing fascia of:

- Interscalene Triangle (anterior scalene muscle, middle scalene muscle, and first rib)
- Costoclavicular Space (subclavius muscle, clavicle, the first rib, and anterior scalene muscle)
- Subcoracoid Space (pectoralis minor muscle, and the ribs)
- The Upper Arm (biceps brachii, brachialis, coracobrachialis, triceps brachii)
- Common Extensor Tendon (extensor carpi radialis brevis, extensor digitorum, extensor digiti minimi, extensor carpi ulnaris)
- Common Flexor Tendon (pronator teres, flexor carpi radialis, palmaris longus, flexor digitorum superficialis, flexor carpi ulnaris)
- Carpal Bones (trapezium, trapezoid, capitate, hamate, scaphoid, lunate, triquetrum, pisiform)

Prognosis

Prognosis for the conservative management of thoracic outlet syndrome is mixed. Massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for patients with thoracic outlet syndrome including soft tissue massage, simple home-care recommendations and remedial exercise. It is not suggested that massage therapy alone can control symptoms but be can used to help relieve pain & reduce anxiety when integrated with standard care.

Massage Tutorial: Thoracic outlet syndrome, tingling fingers, myofascial release



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=722

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for thoracic outlet syndrome based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)

- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Barbe, M. F., Hilliard, B. A., Fisher, P. W., White, A. R., Delany, S. P., Iannarone, V. J., ... Popoff, S. N. (2019). Blocking substance P signaling reduces musculotendinous and dermal fibrosis and sensorimotor declines in a rat model of overuse injury. *Connective tissue research*, 1–16. Advance online publication. doi:10.1080/03008207.2019.1653289

Basson, A., Olivier, B., Ellis, R., Coppieters, M., Stewart, A., & Mudzi, W. (2017). The Effectiveness of Neural Mobilization for Neuromusculoskeletal Conditions: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 47(9), 593–615. doi:10.2519/jospt.2017.7117

Buller, L. T., Jose, J., Baraga, M., & Lesniak, B. (2015). Thoracic Outlet Syndrome: Current Concepts, Imaging Features, and Therapeutic Strategies. *American journal of orthopedics (Belle Mead*, *N.J.)*, 44(8), 376–382.

Greening, J., Anantharaman, K., Young, R., & Dilley, A. (2018). Evidence for Increased Magnetic Resonance Imaging Signal Intensity and Morphological Changes in the Brachial Plexus and Median Nerves of Patients With Chronic Arm and Neck Pain Following Whiplash Injury. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(7), 523–532. doi:10.2519/jospt.2018.7875

Hixson, K. M., Horris, H. B., McLeod, T., & Bacon, C. (2017). The Diagnostic Accuracy of Clinical Diagnostic Tests for Thoracic Outlet Syndrome. *Journal of sport rehabilitation*, 26(5), 459–465. doi:10.1123/jsr.2016-0051

Illig, K. A., Donahue, D., Duncan, A., Freischlag, J., Gelabert, H., Johansen, K., ... Thompson, R. (2016). Reporting standards of the Society for Vascular Surgery for thoracic outlet syndrome. *Journal of vascular surgery*, 64(3), e23–e35. doi:10.1016/j.jvs.2016.04.039

Jones, M. R., Prabhakar, A., Viswanath, O., Urits, I., Green, J. B., Kendrick, J. B., ... Kaye, A. D. (2019). Thoracic Outlet Syndrome: A Comprehensive Review of Pathophysiology, Diagnosis, and Treatment. *Pain and therapy*, 8(1), 5–18. doi:10.1007/s40122-019-0124-2

Nee, R. J., Jull, G. A., Vicenzino, B., & Coppieters, M. W. (2012). The validity of upper-limb neurodynamic tests for detecting peripheral neuropathic pain. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 42(5), 413–424. doi:10.2519/jospt.2012.3988

Povlsen, S., & Povlsen, B. (2018). Diagnosing Thoracic Outlet Syndrome: Current Approaches and Future Directions. *Diagnostics (Basel, Switzerland)*, 8(1), 21. doi:10.3390/diagnostics8010021

Verenna, A. A., Alexandru, D., Karimi, A., Brown, J. M., Bove, G. M., Daly, F. J., ... Barbe, M. F. (2016). Dorsal Scapular Artery Variations and Relationship to the Brachial Plexus, and a Related Thoracic Outlet Syndrome Case. *Journal of brachial plexus and peripheral nerve injury*, 11(1), e21–e28. doi:10.1055/s-0036-1583756

Wakefield, M. L. (2014). Case report: the effects of massage therapy on a woman with thoracic outlet syndrome. *International journal of therapeutic massage & bodywork*, 7(4), 7–14. doi:10.3822/ijtmb.v7i4.221

Carpal Tunnel Syndrome

Carpal tunnel syndrome is a condition characterized by tingling, numbress and pain in the hand and fingers (particularly the thumb, index, middle and ring fingers). These symptoms are often the result of median nerve irritation in the wrist or forearm.



Carpal tunnel syndrome is a condition characterized by tingling, numbness and pain in the hand and fingers (particularly the thumb, index, middle and ring fingers).

Pathophysiology

The median nerve passes through a number of anatomical structures and it may be exposed to mechanical irritation at many different points. Prolonged irritation may result in a reduction of intraneural blood flow. In turn, local hypoxia of a peripheral nerve leads to a drop in tissue pH that triggers the release of inflammatory mediators, known as "inflammatory soup"; this noxious substance can disrupt the normal function of nerves. Ongoing tissue hypoxia or inflammatory responses lead to molecular signaling that promote the development of fibrosis, this may contribute to further peripheral nerve dysfunction (<u>Barbe et al., 2019</u>; <u>Bove et al., 2019</u>).

Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient Specific Functional Scale
- Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)
- Visual Analog Scale (VAS)
- DASH Outcome Measure
- Upper Extremity Functional Index
- Brigham and Women's Carpal Tunnel Questionnaire
- Boston Carpal Tunnel Questionnaire (BCTQ)
- Patient-Rated Wrist Evaluation (PRWE)
- Patient-Rated Wrist/Hand Evaluation (PRWHE)

Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

The responses to massage therapy are complex and multifactorial – physiological and psychological factors interplay in a complex manner. Systematic reviews have also shown that manual therapy combined with multimodal care can improve symptoms, decrease disability and improve function for patients who suffer from carpal tunnel syndrome (<u>Huisstede et al., 2018</u>). Research has looked at both peripheral and central responses elicited by massage therapy treatments.

Central Response

Massage has a modulatory effect on peripheral and central processes via input from large sensory neurons that prevents

the spinal cord from amplifying the nociceptive signal. This anti-nociceptive effect of massage therapy can help ease discomfort in patients who suffer from carpal tunnel syndrome.

Peripheral Response

Carpal tunnel specific work may also involve specific soft tissue treatment to optimize the ability of mechanical interfaces to glide relative to the median nerve. The application of appropriate shear force and pressure impart a mechanical stimulus that may attenuate tissue levels of fibrosis and TGF- β 1 (Bove et al., 2016; Bove et al., 2019). Furthermore, passive stretching may help diminish intraneural edema and/or pressure by mobilizing the median nerve as well as associated vascular structures (Boudier-Revéret et al., 2017).

Myofascial Triggerpoint: Infraspinatus – The etiology of myofascial triggerpoints are still not well understood, but that does not deny the existence of the clinical phenomenon. From a clinical perspective, myofascial triggerpoints describe an observable phenomenon that may help clinicians investigate common pain patterns. An international panel of 60 clinicians and researchers was recently consulted to establish a consensus for identification of a myofascial trigger point. The panel agreed on two palpatory and one symptom criteria: a taut band, a hypersensitive spot, and referred pain (Fernández-de-Las-Peñas & Dommerholt, 2018). For patients with carpal tunnel syndrome studies have demonstrated that assessing and treating the infraspinatus muscle may be an effective treatment option for a sub-group of patients (Meder et al., 2017).

Structures to be Aware of When Treating Carpal Tunnel Syndrome

A massage therapy treatment plan should be implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance. Structures to keep in mind while assessing and treating patients suffering from carpal tunnel syndrome may include neurovascular structures and investing fascia of:

- Costo-Clavicle Space
- Scalene Muscle Group (anterior scalene, middle scalene, and posterior scalene)
- Pectoral Region (pectoralis major, pectoralis minor, serratus anterior and subclavius)
- Rotator Cuff (subscapularis, infraspinatus, teres minor, supraspinatus)
- The Upper Arm (biceps brachii, brachialis, coracobrachialis, triceps brachii)
- Superficial Anterior Compartment of the Forearm (pronator teres, flexor carpi radialis, palmaris longus, flexor digitorum superficialis, flexor carpi ulnaris)
- Deep Anterior Compartment of the Forearm (flexor digitorum profundus, flexor pollicis longus, and pronator quadratus)
- Anterior Interosseous Membrane
- Carpal Bones (trapezium, trapezoid, capitate, hamate, scaphoid, lunate, triquetrum, pisiform)
- Palmar Aponeurosis & Transverse Carpal Ligament
- Lumbricals

Prognosis

Massage therapy as a therapeutic intervention is being embraced by the medical community, it is simple to carry out,

economical, and has very few side effects. Randomized clinical trials have demonstrated that for some patients who suffer from carpal tunnel syndrome there is no significant differences in pain and functional outcomes at six and twelve months when surgical and conservative care are tested (<u>Fernández-de-Las Peñas et al., 2017</u>; <u>Fernández-de-Las-Peñas et al., 2019</u>).

Massage Sloth: Massage Tutorial: Carpal Tunnel Syndrome



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=36

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation

strategies for carpal tunnel syndrome based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Barbe, M. F., Hilliard, B. A., Fisher, P. W., White, A. R., Delany, S. P., Iannarone, V. J., ... Popoff, S. N. (2019). Blocking substance P signaling reduces musculotendinous and dermal fibrosis and sensorimotor declines in a rat model of overuse injury. *Connective tissue research*, 1–16. Advance online publication. doi:10.1080/03008207.2019.1653289

Boudier-Revéret, M., Gilbert, K. K., Allégue, D. R., Moussadyk, M., Brismée, J. M., Sizer, P. S., Jr, ... Sobczak, S. (2017). Effect of neurodynamic mobilization on fluid dispersion in median nerve at the level of the carpal tunnel: A cadaveric study. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 31, 45–51. doi:10.1016/j.msksp.2017.07.004

Bove, G. M., Harris, M. Y., Zhao, H., & Barbe, M. F. (2016). Manual therapy as an effective treatment for fibrosis in a rat model of upper extremity overuse injury. *Journal of the neurological sciences*, 361, 168–180. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2015.12.029

Bove, G. M., Delany, S. P., Hobson, L., Cruz, G. E., Harris, M. Y., Amin, M., ... Barbe, M. F. (2019). Manual therapy prevents onset of nociceptor activity, sensorimotor dysfunction, and neural fibrosis induced by a volitional repetitive task. *Pain*, 160(3), 632–644. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001443

Bueno-Gracia, E., Ruiz-de-Escudero-Zapico, A., Malo-Urriés, M., Shacklock, M., Estébanez-de-Miguel, E., Fanlo-Mazas, P., ... Jiménez-Del-Barrio, S. (2018). Dimensional changes of the carpal tunnel and the median nerve during manual mobilization of the carpal bones. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 36, 12–16. doi:10.1016/j.msksp.2018.04.002

Erickson, M., Lawrence, M., Jansen, C., Coker, D., Amadio, P., & Cleary, C. (2019). Hand Pain and Sensory Deficits: Carpal Tunnel Syndrome. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 49(5), CPG1–CPG85. doi:10.2519/ jospt.2019.0301

Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., Cleland, J., Palacios-Ceña, M., Fuensalida-Novo, S., Pareja, J. A., & Alonso-Blanco, C. (2017). The Effectiveness of Manual Therapy Versus Surgery on Self-reported Function, Cervical Range of Motion, and Pinch Grip Force in Carpal Tunnel Syndrome: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 47(3), 151–161. doi:10.2519/jospt.2017.7090

Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., & Dommerholt, J. (2018). International Consensus on Diagnostic Criteria and Clinical Considerations of Myofascial Trigger Points: A Delphi Study. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, 19(1), 142–150. doi:10.1093/pm/pnx207

Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., Ortega-Santiago, R., Díaz, H. F., Salom-Moreno, J., Cleland, J. A., Pareja, J. A., & Arias-Buría, J. L. (2019). Cost-Effectiveness Evaluation of Manual Physical Therapy Versus Surgery for Carpal Tunnel Syndrome: Evidence From a Randomized Clinical Trial. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 49(2), 55–63. doi:10.2519/jospt.2019.8483

Huisstede, B. M., van den Brink, J., Randsdorp, M. S., Geelen, S. J., & Koes, B. W. (2018). Effectiveness of Surgical and Postsurgical Interventions for Carpal Tunnel Syndrome-A Systematic Review. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 99(8), 1660–1680.e21. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2017.04.024

Huisstede, B. M., Hoogvliet, P., Franke, T. P., Randsdorp, M. S., & Koes, B. W. (2018). Carpal Tunnel Syndrome: Effectiveness of Physical Therapy and Electrophysical Modalities. An Updated Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 99(8), 1623–1634.e23. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2017.08.482

Lewis, K. J., Coppieters, M. W., Ross, L., Hughes, I., Vicenzino, B., & Schmid, A. B. (2020). Group education, night splinting and home exercises reduce conversion to surgery for carpal tunnel syndrome: a multicentre randomised trial. *Journal of physiotherapy*, 66(2), 97–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphys.2020.03.007

Maeda, Y., Kim, H., Kettner, N., Kim, J., Cina, S., Malatesta, C., ... Napadow, V. (2017). Rewiring the primary somatosensory cortex in carpal tunnel syndrome with acupuncture. *Brain: a journal of neurology*, 140(4), 914–927. doi:10.1093/brain/awx015

Meder, M. A., Amtage, F., Lange, R., & Rijntjes, M. (2017). Reliability of the Infraspinatus Test in Carpal Tunnel Syndrome: A Clinical Study. *Journal of clinical and diagnostic research: JCDR*, 11(5), YC01–YC04. doi:10.7860/JCDR/2017/25096.9831

Piper, S., Shearer, H. M., Côté, P., Wong, J. J., Yu, H., Varatharajan, S., ... Taylor-Vaisey, A. L. (2016). The effectiveness of soft-tissue therapy for the management of musculoskeletal disorders and injuries of the upper and lower extremities: A systematic review by the Ontario Protocol for Traffic Injury management (OPTIMa) collaboration. *Manual therapy*, 21, 18–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2015.08.011.

Shem, K., Wong, J., & Dirlikov, B. (2020). Effective self-stretching of carpal ligament for the treatment of carpal tunnel syndrome: A double-blinded randomized controlled study. *Journal of hand therapy: official journal of the American Society of Hand Therapists*, S0894-1130(20)30001-6. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jht.2019.12.002

Shi, Q., Bobos, P., Lalone, E. A., Warren, L., & MacDermid, J. C. (2020). Comparison of the Short-Term and Long-Term Effects of Surgery and Nonsurgical Intervention in Treating Carpal Tunnel Syndrome: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Hand (New York, N.Y.)*, *15*(1), 13–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558944718787892 Stecco, C., Giordani, F., Fan, C., Biz, C., Pirri, C., Frigo, A. C., ... De Caro, R. (2020). Role of fasciae around the median nerve in pathogenesis of carpal tunnel syndrome: microscopic and ultrasound study. *Journal of anatomy*, 236(4), 660–667. https://doi.org/10.1111/joa.13124

Wolny, T., & Linek, P. (2019). Is manual therapy based on neurodynamic techniques effective in the treatment of carpal tunnel syndrome? A randomized controlled trial. *Clinical rehabilitation*, 33(3), 408–417. doi:10.1177/0269215518805213

DUPUYTREN'S DISEASE

Dupuytren's Disease

Dupuytren's disease (also known as Dupuytren's contracture) is a progressive fibroproliferative disorder of the hand that eventually can cause contractures of the affected fingers. Typical presentation is a gradual onset in males over 50 years of age. At first people may not notice the development of changes in their palms, the condition may even go dormant, but if the palmar fascia begins to thicken and contractions develop, the condition is recognizable – this is the ideal time to seek help from massage therapy.

Pathophysiology

The progression of the disease is a complicated process, involving a cascade of molecular and cellular events, in which the cytokines transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) and tumour necrosis factor (TNF) play a fundamental role during the course of Dupuytren disease. High levels of TGF- β & TNF contribute to the contractile activity of myofibroblasts, which drives disease development, in Dupuytren's patients (<u>Hinz & Lagares, 2020</u>). This leads to a thickening of the tendons of the forearm and the palmar fascia.

Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient-Specific Functional Scale (PSFS)
- Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)
- Visual Analog Scale (VAS)
- DASH Outcome Measure
- Upper Extremity Functional Index
- Patient-Rated Wrist Evaluation (PRWE)

194 | DUPUYTREN'S DISEASE

• Patient-Rated Wrist/Hand Evaluation (PRWHE)

Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

Studies have demonstrated that non-operative treatments such as massage therapy combined with active and passive stretching may affect progression (Christie et al., 2012). As a therapeutic intervention massage therapy has the potential to attenuate TGF- β 1 induced fibroblast to myofibroblast transformation. Recent studies have looked at the effect of modeled massage therapy and mechanical stretching on tissue levels of TGF- β 1. In these studies, it was demonstrated that manual therapy has the potential to attenuate tissue levels of TGF- β 1 and the development of fibrosis (Bove et al., 2016; Bove et al., 2019). This is potentially impactful in the treatment of Dupuytren's disease because TGF- β 1 plays a key role in tissue remodeling and fibrosis.

Treatment focus is on the intrinsic hand muscles and carpal bones of the wrist, while also addressing areas of compensation, such as the flexors and extensors of the forearm. Massage therapy may delay the progression of contractures and decrease recurrence in post-operative patients. Massage therapy treatment for duputren's disease should not be vigorous and stretching should be a gentle exploration of range of motion. A massage therapy treatment plan should be implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance. Structures to keep in mind while assessing and treating patients suffering from dupuytren's may include neurovascular structures and investing fascia of:

- Biceps Brachii (bicipital aponeurosis)
- Triceps Brachii
- Common Extensor Tendon (extensor carpi radialis brevis, extensor digitorum, extensor digiti minimi, extensor carpi ulnaris)
- Common Flexor Tendon (pronator teres, flexor carpi radialis, palmaris longus, flexor digitorum superficialis, flexor carpi ulnaris)
- Anterior Interosseous Membrane
- Palmar Aponeurosis
- Carpal Bones (trapezium, trapezoid, capitate, hamate, scaphoid, lunate, triquetrum, pisiform)
- Lumbricals

Rehabilitation Program

Tension and compression orthotic devices and splinting is often used after surgery in the short term. This has been shown

to reduce the chances of recurrence in some people. Long term use of orthotic devices and splinting has mixed evidence. There have been modeled experiments to demonstrate the impact of stretching on inflammation-regulation mechanisms within connective tissue. Patients should be educated on the benefits of gentle stretching routines. Stretching should not be vigorous, it should be a gentle exploration of range of motion.

Prognosis

There is a high rate of recurrence in the post-operative population. In the early stages a trial of conservative care is the preferred treatment approach, this often includes physical therapy, night splinting, and home hand exercises. Persistent inflammation has the potential to interfere with the tissue remodelling, early conservative interventions may serve to interrupt the sequelae of pathological healing.

The ideal treatment for patients with progressive dupuytren disease would be at the early stage to prevent or delay the development of flexion deformities and loss of manual dexterity. Prophylactic massage therapy treatments may inhibit inflammatory processes and affect the development of fibrosis by mediating differential cytokine production. Consequently, this may stabilize the progression of contractures and in some cases ameliorate the degree of deformity.

Niel Asher Education: Detailed Palm Massage – Dupuytren's Contracture



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=323

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for dupuytren's disease based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization, IASTM)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)

- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Bove, G. M., Harris, M. Y., Zhao, H., & Barbe, M. F. (2016). Manual therapy as an effective treatment for fibrosis in a rat model of upper extremity overuse injury. *Journal of the neurological sciences*, 361, 168–180. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2015.12.029

Bove, G. M., Delany, S. P., Hobson, L., Cruz, G. E., Harris, M. Y., Amin, M., ... Barbe, M. F. (2019). Manual therapy prevents onset of nociceptor activity, sensorimotor dysfunction, and neural fibrosis induced by a volitional repetitive task. *Pain*, 160(3), 632–644. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001443

Christie, W. S., Puhl, A. A., & Lucaciu, O. C. (2012). Cross-frictional therapy and stretching for the treatment of palmar adhesions due to Dupuytren's contracture: a prospective case study. *Manual therapy*, 17(5), 479–482. doi:10.1016/j.math.2011.11.001

Hinz, B., & Lagares, D. (2020). Evasion of apoptosis by myofibroblasts: a hallmark of fibrotic diseases. *Nature reviews. Rheumatology*, 16(1), 11–31. doi:10.1038/s41584-019-0324-5

Huisstede, B. M., Gladdines, S., Randsdorp, M. S., & Koes, B. W. (2018). Effectiveness of Conservative, Surgical, and Postsurgical Interventions for Trigger Finger, Dupuytren Disease, and De Quervain Disease: A Systematic Review. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 99(8), 1635–1649.e21. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2017.07.014

Karpinski, M., Moltaji, S., Baxter, C., Murphy, J., Petropoulos, J. A., & Thoma, A. (2020). A systematic review identifying outcomes and outcome measures in Dupuytren's disease research. *The Journal of hand surgery*, European volume, 1753193420903624. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1177/1753193420903624

Kitridis, D., Karamitsou, P., Giannaros, I., Papadakis, N., Sinopidis, C., & Givissis, P. (2019). Dupuytren's disease: limited fasciectomy, night splinting, and hand exercises-long-term results. *European journal of orthopaedic surgery & traumatology*, 29(2), 349–355. doi:10.1007/s00590-018-2340-6

Soreide, E., Murad, M. H., Denbeigh, J. M., Lewallen, E. A., Dudakovic, A., Nordsletten, L., ... Kakar, S. (2018). Treatment of Dupuytren's contracture: a systematic review. *The bone & joint journal*, 100-B(9), 1138–1145. doi:10.1302/0301-620X.100B9.BJJ-2017-1194.R2

Stecco, C., Macchi, V., Barbieri, A., Tiengo, C., Porzionato, A., & De Caro, R. (2018). Hand fasciae innervation: The palmar aponeurosis. *Clinical anatomy (New York, N.Y.)*, 31(5), 677–683. doi:10.1002/ca.23076

van Kooij, Y. E., Poelstra, R., Porsius, J. T., Slijper, H. P., Warwick, D., Selles, R. W., & Hand-Wrist Study Group (2020).

198 | DUPUYTREN'S DISEASE

Content validity and responsiveness of the Patient-Specific Functional Scale in patients with Dupuytren's disease. *Journal of hand therapy: official journal of the American Society of Hand Therapists*, S0894-1130(20)30040-5. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jht.2020.03.009

BACK PAIN

30.

Back Pain

Back pain affects 540 million people worldwide and is often classified by duration of injury, such as acute (pain lasting less than 6 weeks), sub-chronic (6 to 12 weeks), or chronic (more than 12 weeks). Symptoms may vary from a dull ache to a sudden sharp shooting pain.

DocMikeEvans: Low Back Pain



Pathophysiology

Increasingly, research shows that attributing the experience of back pain solely to poor posture, minor leg length discrepancies, vertebral misalignment and other structural abnormalities is an oversimplification of a complex process (Green et al., 2018; Swain et al., 2020). So-called abnormalities are often normal variations or adaptations, in some cases they may even be advantageous. Even in the case of degenerative changes in the spine, landmark studies have shown that tissue tears revealed on imaging are a part of normal aging (Brinjikji et al., 2015). What's more is that in the case of herniated discs 60-80% have been shown to spontaneously resorb (Zhong et al., 2017). This disconnect between tissue damage seen on imaging and clinical presentation often creates confusion for both patients and clinicians.

Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Red Flags for Serious Spinal Pathology

Red flags are signs and symptoms that raise suspicion of serious underlying pathology, for patients with low back pain there are a number of serious spinal pathologies to be aware of, these are cauda equina syndrome (0.08% of low back pain patients presenting to primary care), spinal fracture, malignancy, and spinal infection (<u>Finucane et al., 2020</u>; <u>Hoeritzauer et al., 2020</u>).

Outcome Measurements

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient-specific Functional Scale
- Oswestry Disability Index
- Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire
- STarT Back Screening Tool (SBST)

Treatment

Most clinical practice guidelines for low back pain are moving towards an interdisciplinary approach with an emphasis on self-management, physical and psychological therapies and less emphasis on pharmacological and surgical treatments (Foster et al., 2018). Pharmacological treatments options such as opioid analgesics and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) have small effects on low back pain (Chou et al., 2020; Kamper et al., 2020; Tucker et al., 2020; van

<u>der Gaag et al., 2020</u>). Embracing an interprofessional strategy for pain management can include the use of education, exercise, acupuncture, massage therapy and spinal manipulation as part of a multi-dimensional approach for the management of back pain.

| Recommendations | Acute low back pain (less than six weeks duration) | Chronic low back pain (more than 12 weeks duration) |
|--|---|---|
| First line treatments | Advice to stay active; patient education | Advice to stay active; patient education; exercise therapy; cognitive behavioral therapy |
| Second line treatments | Spinal manipulation; massage; acupuncture | Spinal manipulation; massage; acupuncture; yoga; mindfulness-based stress reduction; interdisciplinary rehabilitation |
| If the above treatments fail | Non-steroidal anti- inflammatory drugs | Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors; surgery |
| *R eference - Foster et al. (2018) Drevention and treatment of low back pain: evidence, challenges, and promising directions | | |

*Reference – Foster et al., (2018). Prevention and treatment of low back pain: evidence, challenges, and promising directions. Lancet.

Education

When consulting with someone living with low back pain provide reassurance and educational resources on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (e.g. lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms. As an example of an educational resource a recent review published in the *British Journal of Sports Medicine* provided a list of ten sensible evidence-based recommendations for the management of low back pain (<u>O'Sullivan et al.</u>, 2020).

Back to basics: 10 facts every person should know about back pain

Once red flags and serious pathology are excluded, evidence supports that:

- 1. Low back pain (LBP) is not a serious life-threatening medical condition.
- 2. Most episodes of low back pain improve and LBP does not get worse as we age.
- 3. A negative mindset, fear-avoidance behaviour, negative recovery expectations, and poor pain coping behaviours are more strongly associated with persistent pain than is tissue damage.
- 4. Scans do not determine prognosis of the current episode of LBP, the likelihood of future LBP disability, and do not improve LBP clinical outcomes.
- 5. Graduated exercise and movement in all directions is safe and healthy for the spine.
- 6. Spine posture during sitting, standing and lifting does not predict LBP or its persistence.
- 7. A weak core does not cause LBP, and some people with LBP tend to tense their 'core' muscles. While it is good to keep the trunk muscles strong, it is also helpful to relax them when they aren't needed.

202 | BACK PAIN

- 8. Spine movement and loading is safe and builds structural resilience when it is graded.
- 9. Pain flare-ups are more related to changes in activity, stress and mood rather than structural damage.
- 10. Effective care for LBP is relatively cheap and safe. This includes: education that is patient-centred and fosters a positive mindset, and coaching people to optimise their physical and mental health (such as engaging in physical activity and exercise, social activities, healthy sleep habits and body weight, and remaining in employment).



Manual Therapy

There have been a number of studies looking at the use of massage therapy for patients with low back. One study published in the *Annals of Internal Medicine* randomized 401 people with nonspecific chronic low back pain. The control group in the study received usual care and the other two groups received two different types of massage, what this study found was that massage therapy was beneficial for this patient population and there did not appear to be a meaningful difference between the two types of massage that patients received (<u>Cherkin et al., 2011</u>).

Two additional randomized controlled trials demonstrated that a treatment approach focused on the compression at myofascial triggerpoints (MTrPs) significantly improved subjective pain scores compared with compression at non-MTrPs for patients suffering for back pain (<u>Takamoto et al., 2015</u>; <u>Kodama et al., 2019</u>).

Structures to be Aware of When Treating Back Pain

A massage therapy treatment plan should be implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance, back pain may be caused by disc herniation, spondylolisthesis or soft tissue irritation. Structures to keep in mind while assessing and treating patients suffering from sciatica may include neurovascular structures and investing fascia of:

- Erector Spinae (iliocostalis, longissimus, spinalis)
- Quadratus Lumborum
- Multifidus
- Thoracolumbar Fascia and Latissimus Dorsi
- External Obliques, Internal Obliques, and Transverse Abdominis
- Iliopsoas (iliacus and psoas major)
- External Rotators of The Hip (piriformis, gemellus superior, externus and internus obturators, gemellus inferior, and quadratus femoris)
- Gluteal Muscles (gluteus maximus, gluteus medius, gluteus minimus, and tensor fasciae latae)
- Quadricep Muscles (rectus femoris, vastus lateralis, vastus medialis, vastus intermedius)
- Hamstring Muscles (semimembranosus, semitendinosus and biceps femoris)

Rehabilitation Program

Massage therapists not only provide massage treatments to help symptoms, they can also help develop movement based self-care strategies and insight into the nature of pain. Evidence supports the use of pilates, stabilisation/motor control, resistance training and aerobic exercise training for the management of low back pain (<u>Owen et al., 2019</u>).

Prognosis

International clinical practice guidelines for low back pain contain consistent recommendations including the need for a multi-modal therapeutic approach, advice to remain active, discouraging routine referral for imaging, and limited prescription of opioids (Kamper et al., 2020). A multi-modal approach can involve a number of management strategies that include but is not limited to education, reassurance, analgesic medicines and a number of non-pharmacological therapies (Chou et al., 2018).

Recommendations from The American College of Physicians and The Canadian Medical Association represent a monumental shift in pain management. Physicians now more than ever are recommending conservative treatment options including massage, spinal manipulation, acupuncture and exercise as part of a multi-modal approach for patients suffering from low back pain (Chou et al., 2017; Qaseem et al., 2017; Traeger et al., 2017)

Massage Sloth: Massage Tutorial – Full Back Massage Routine



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=32

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for back pain based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)

• Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Bade, M., Cobo-Estevez, M., Neeley, D., Pandya, J., Gunderson, T., & Cook, C. (2017). Effects of manual therapy and exercise targeting the hips in patients with low-back pain-A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of evaluation in clinical practice*, 23(4), 734–740. doi:10.1111/jep.12705

Bardin, L. D., King, P., & Maher, C. G. (2017). Diagnostic triage for low back pain: a practical approach for primary care. *The Medical journal of Australia*, 206(6), 268–273. doi:10.5694/mja16.00828

Brinjikji, W., Diehn, F. E., Jarvik, J. G., Carr, C. M., Kallmes, D. F., Murad, M. H., & Luetmer, P. H. (2015). MRI Findings of Disc Degeneration are More Prevalent in Adults with Low Back Pain than in Asymptomatic Controls: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *AJNR. American journal of neuroradiology*, 36(12), 2394–2399. doi:10.3174/ ajnr.A4498

Brinjikji, W., Luetmer, P. H., Comstock, B., Bresnahan, B. W., Chen, L. E., Deyo, R. A., ... Jarvik, J. G. (2015). Systematic literature review of imaging features of spinal degeneration in asymptomatic populations. *AJNR. American journal of neuroradiology*, 36(4), 811–816. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A4173

Cherkin, D. C., Sherman, K. J., Kahn, J., Wellman, R., Cook, A. J., Johnson, E., ... Deyo, R. A. (2011). A comparison of the effects of 2 types of massage and usual care on chronic low back pain: a randomized, controlled trial. *Annals of internal medicine*, 155(1), 1–9. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-155-1-201107050-00002

Cherkin, D. C., Sherman, K. J., Balderson, B. H., Cook, A. J., Anderson, M. L., Hawkes, R. J., ... Turner, J. A. (2016). Effect of Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction vs Cognitive Behavioral Therapy or Usual Care on Back Pain and Functional Limitations in Adults With Chronic Low Back Pain: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA*, 315(12), 1240–1249. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.2323

Chou, R., Deyo, R., Friedly, J., Skelly, A., Hashimoto, R., Weimer, M., ... Brodt, E. D. (2017). Nonpharmacologic Therapies for Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review for an American College of Physicians Clinical Practice Guideline. *Annals of internal medicine*, 166(7), 493–505. doi:10.7326/M16-2459

Chou, R., Côté, P., Randhawa, K., Torres, P., Yu, H., Nordin, M., ... Cedraschi, C. (2018). The Global Spine Care Initiative: applying evidence-based guidelines on the non-invasive management of back and neck pain to low- and middle-income communities. *European spine journal*, 27(Suppl 6), 851–860. doi:10.1007/s00586-017-5433-8

Chou, R., Hartung, D., Turner, J., Blazina, I., Chan, B., Levander, X., ... Pappas, M. (2020). *Opioid Treatments for Chronic Pain. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality* (US). DOI: https://doi.org/10.23970/AHRQEPCCER229.

206 | BACK PAIN

Cook, C. E., George, S. Z., & Reiman, M. P. (2018). Red flag screening for low back pain: nothing to see here, move along: a narrative review. *British journal of sports medicine*, 52(8), 493–496. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2017-098352

Cook, C. J., Cook, C. E., Reiman, M. P., Joshi, A. B., Richardson, W., & Garcia, A. N. (2020). Systematic review of diagnostic accuracy of patient history, clinical findings, and physical tests in the diagnosis of lumbar spinal stenosis. *European spine journal: official publication of the European Spine Society, the European Spinal Deformity Society, and the European Section of the Cervical Spine Research Society,* 29(1), 93–112. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-019-06048-4

De Carvalho, D. E., de Luca, K., Funabashi, M., Breen, A., Wong, A., Johansson, M. S., ... Hartvigsen, J. (2020). Association of Exposures to Seated Postures With Immediate Increases in Back Pain: A Systematic Review of Studies With Objectively Measured Sitting Time. *Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics*, 43(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmpt.2019.10.001

Deer, T., Sayed, D., Michels, J., Josephson, Y., Li, S., & Calodney, A. K. (2019). A Review of Lumbar Spinal Stenosis with Intermittent Neurogenic Claudication: Disease and Diagnosis. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, 20(Suppl 2), S32–S44. doi:10.1093/pm/pnz161

Elder, W. G., Munk, N., Love, M. M., Bruckner, G. G., Stewart, K. E., & Pearce, K. (2017). Real-World Massage Therapy Produces Meaningful Effectiveness Signal for Primary Care Patients with Chronic Low Back Pain: Results of a Repeated Measures Cohort Study. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, 18(7), 1394–1405. doi:10.1093/pm/pnw347

Foster, N. E., Anema, J. R., Cherkin, D., Chou, R., Cohen, S. P., Gross, D. P., ... Lancet Low Back Pain Series Working Group (2018). Prevention and treatment of low back pain: evidence, challenges, and promising directions. *Lancet (London, England)*, 391(10137), 2368–2383. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30489-6

Finucane, L. M., Downie, A., Mercer, C., Greenhalgh, S. M., Boissonnault, W. G., Pool-Goudzwaard, A. L., Beneciuk, J. M., Leech, R. L., & Selfe, J. (2020). International Framework for Red Flags for Potential Serious Spinal Pathologies. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 1–23. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2020.9971

Galliker, G., Scherer, D. E., Trippolini, M. A., Rasmussen-Barr, E., LoMartire, R., & Wertli, M. M. (2020). Low Back Pain in the Emergency Department: Prevalence of Serious Spinal Pathologies and Diagnostic Accuracy of Red Flags. *The American journal of medicine*, 133(1), 60–72.e14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2019.06.005

Gao, S., Geng, X., & Fang, Q. (2018). Spontaneous Disappearance of Large Lumbar Disk Herniation. *JAMA neurology*, 75(1), 123–124. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.3178

Green, B. N., Johnson, C. D., Haldeman, S., Griffith, E., Clay, M. B., Kane, E. J., ... Nordin, M. (2018). A scoping review of biopsychosocial risk factors and co-morbidities for common spinal disorders. *PloS one*, 13(6), e0197987. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0197987

Hartvigsen, J., Hancock, M. J., Kongsted, A., Louw, Q., Ferreira, M. L., Genevay, S., ... Lancet Low Back Pain Series Working Group (2018). What low back pain is and why we need to pay attention. *Lancet (London, England)*, 391(10137), 2356–2367. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30480-X

Herman, P. M., Lavelle, T. A., Sorbero, M. E., Hurwitz, E. L., & Coulter, I. D. (2019). Are Nonpharmacologic Interventions for Chronic Low Back Pain More Cost Effective Than Usual Care? Proof of Concept Results From a Markov Model. *Spine*, 44(20), 1456–1464. doi:10.1097/BRS.000000000000003097

Hodges, P. W., Barbe, M. F., Loggia, M. L., Nijs, J., & Stone, L. S. (2019). Diverse Role of Biological Plasticity in Low Back Pain and Its Impact on Sensorimotor Control of the Spine. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 49(6), 389–401. doi:10.2519/jospt.2019.8716

Hoeritzauer, I., Wood, M., Copley, P. C., Demetriades, A. K., & Woodfield, J. (2020). What is the incidence of cauda equina syndrome? A systematic review. *Journal of neurosurgery: Spine*, 1–10. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.3171/2019.12.SPINE19839

Kamper, S. J., Logan, G., Copsey, B., Thompson, J., Machado, G. C., Abdel-Shaheed, C., ... Hall, A. M. (2020). What is usual care for low back pain? A systematic review of health care provided to patients with low back pain in family practice and emergency departments. *Pain*, 161(4), 694–702. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000001751

Kikuta, S., Iwanaga, J., Watanabe, K., Haładaj, R., Wysiadecki, G., Dumont, A. S., & Tubbs, R. S. (2020). Posterior Sacrococcygeal Plexus: Application to Spine Surgery and Better Understanding Low-Back Pain. *World neurosurgery*, 135, e567–e572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2019.12.061

Klerx, S. P., Pool, J., Coppieters, M. W., Mollema, E. J., & Pool-Goudzwaard, A. L. (2019). Clinimetric properties of sacroiliac joint mobility tests: A systematic review. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 102090.

Kodama, K., Takamoto, K., Nishimaru, H., Matsumoto, J., Takamura, Y., Sakai, S., ... Nishijo, H. (2019). Analgesic Effects of Compression at Trigger Points Are Associated With Reduction of Frontal Polar Cortical Activity as Well as Functional Connectivity Between the Frontal Polar Area and Insula in Patients With Chronic Low Back Pain: A Randomized Trial. *Frontiers in systems neuroscience*, 13, 68. doi:10.3389/fnsys.2019.00068

Layne, E. I., Roffey, D. M., Coyle, M. J., Phan, P., Kingwell, S. P., & Wai, E. K. (2018). Activities performed and treatments conducted before consultation with a spine surgeon: are patients and clinicians following evidence-based clinical practice guidelines?. *The spine journal*, 18(4), 614–619. doi:10.1016/j.spinee.2017.08.259

Liebenson, C. (2020). Rehabilitation of the Spine: A Patient-Centered Approach (3rd ed.). Wolters Kluwer.

Lederman, E. (2011). The fall of the postural-structural-biomechanical model in manual and physical therapies: exemplified by lower back pain. *Journal of bodywork and movement therapies*, 15(2), 131–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbmt.2011.01.011

Lewis, J., & O'Sullivan, P. (2018). Is it time to reframe how we care for people with non-traumatic musculoskeletal pain?. *British journal of sports medicine*, 52(24), 1543–1544. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099198

Lewis, J. S., Cook, C. E., Hoffmann, T. C., & O'Sullivan, P. (2020). The Elephant in the Room: Too Much Medicine in Musculoskeletal Practice. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 50(1), 1–4.

Louw, A., Goldrick, S., Bernstetter, A., Van Gelder, L. H., Parr, A., Zimney, K., & Cox, T. (2020). Evaluation is

208 | BACK PAIN

treatment for low back pain. The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy, 1-10. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/10669817.2020.1730056

Maher, C., Underwood, M., & Buchbinder, R. (2017). Non-specific low back pain. *Lancet (London, England)*, 389(10070), 736–747. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30970-9

O'Sullivan, P. B., Caneiro, J. P., O'Sullivan, K., Lin, I., Bunzli, S., Wernli, K., & O'Keeffe, M. (2020). Back to basics: 10 facts every person should know about back pain. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(12), 698–699. https://doi.org/ 10.1136/bjsports-2019-101611

Owen, P. J., Miller, C. T., Mundell, N. L., Verswijveren, S. J., Tagliaferri, S. D., Brisby, H., ... Belavy, D. L. (2019). Which specific modes of exercise training are most effective for treating low back pain? Network meta-analysis. *British journal of sports medicine*, bjsports-2019-100886. Advance online publication. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2019-100886

Palsson, T. S., Gibson, W., Darlow, B., Bunzli, S., Lehman, G., Rabey, M., ... Travers, M. (2019). Changing the Narrative in Diagnosis and Management of Pain in the Sacroiliac Joint Area. *Physical therapy*, pzz108.

Pangarkar, S. S., Kang, D. G., Sandbrink, F., Bevevino, A., Tillisch, K., Konitzer, L., & Sall, J. (2019). VA/DoD Clinical Practice Guideline: Diagnosis and Treatment of Low Back Pain. *Journal of general internal medicine*, 34(11), 2620–2629. doi:10.1007/s11606-019-05086-4

Prather, H., Cheng, A., Steger-May, K., Maheshwari, V., & Van Dillen, L. (2017). Hip and Lumbar Spine Physical Examination Findings in People Presenting With Low Back Pain, With or Without Lower Extremity Pain. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 47(3), 163–172. doi:10.2519/jospt.2017.6567

Qaseem, A., Wilt, T. J., McLean, R. M., Forciea, M. A., & Clinical Guidelines Committee of the American College of Physicians (2017). Noninvasive Treatments for Acute, Subacute, and Chronic Low Back Pain: A Clinical Practice Guideline From the American College of Physicians. *Annals of internal medicine*, 166(7), 514–530. doi:10.7326/M16-2367

Rampersaud, Y. R., Power, J. D., Perruccio, A. V., Paterson, J. M., Veillette, C., Coyte, P. C., ... Mahomed, N. N. (2020). Healthcare utilization and costs for spinal conditions in Ontario, Canada – opportunities for funding high-value care: a retrospective cohort study. *The spine journal: official journal of the North American Spine Society*, S1529-9430(20)30041-3. Advance online publication. doi:10.1016/j.spinee.2020.01.013

Skelly, A.C., Chou, R., Dettori, J.R., Turner, J.A., Friedly, J.L., Rundell, S.D., ... Ferguson, A.J.R. (2020). *Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review Update*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). DOI: https://doi.org/10.23970/AHRQEPCCER227

Stolz, M., von Piekartz, H., Hall, T., Schindler, A., & Ballenberger, N. (2020). Evidence and recommendations for the use of segmental motion testing for patients with LBP – A systematic review. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 45, 102076. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msksp.2019.102076

Swain, C., Pan, F., Owen, P. J., Schmidt, H., & Belavy, D. L. (2020). No consensus on causality of spine postures or
physical exposure and low back pain: A systematic review of systematic reviews. *Journal of biomechanics*, 102, 109312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiomech.2019.08.006

Tagliaferri, S. D., Miller, C. T., Owen, P. J., Mitchell, U. H., Brisby, H., Fitzgibbon, B., ... Belavy, D. L. (2019). Domains of Chronic Low Back Pain and Assessing Treatment Effectiveness: A Clinical Perspective. *Pain practice*, 10.1111/ papr.12846.

Takamoto, K., Bito, I., Urakawa, S., Sakai, S., Kigawa, M., Ono, T., & Nishijo, H. (2015). Effects of compression at myofascial trigger points in patients with acute low back pain: A randomized controlled trial. *European journal of pain (London, England)*, 19(8), 1186–1196. doi:10.1002/ejp.694

Traeger, A., Buchbinder, R., Harris, I., & Maher, C. (2017). Diagnosis and management of low-back pain in primary care. *CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association journal*, 189(45), E1386–E1395. doi:10.1503/cmaj.170527

Traeger, A. C., Buchbinder, R., Elshaug, A. G., Croft, P. R., & Maher, C. G. (2019). Care for low back pain: can health systems deliver?. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 97(6), 423–433. doi:10.2471/BLT.18.226050

Tucker, H. R., Scaff, K., McCloud, T., Carlomagno, K., Daly, K., Garcia, A., & Cook, C. E. (2020). Harms and benefits of opioids for management of non-surgical acute and chronic low back pain: a systematic review. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(11), 664. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018-099805

van der Gaag, W. H., Roelofs, P. D., Enthoven, W. T., van Tulder, M. W., & Koes, B. W. (2020). Non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs for acute low back pain. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 4, CD013581. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/14651858.CD013581

Vining, R. D., Shannon, Z. K., Minkalis, A. L., & Twist, E. J. (2019). Current Evidence for Diagnosis of Common Conditions Causing Low Back Pain: Systematic Review and Standardized Terminology Recommendations. *Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics*, 42(9), 651–664. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmpt.2019.08.002

Vining, R. D., Minkalis, A. L., Shannon, Z. K., & Twist, E. J. (2019). Development of an Evidence-Based Practical Diagnostic Checklist and Corresponding Clinical Exam for Low Back Pain. *Journal of manipulative and physiological therapeutics*, 42(9), 665–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmpt.2019.08.003

Zhong, M., Liu, J. T., Jiang, H., Mo, W., Yu, P. F., Li, X. C., & Xue, R. R. (2017). Incidence of Spontaneous Resorption of Lumbar Disc Herniation: A Meta-Analysis. *Pain physician*, 20(1), E45–E52.

SCIATICA

31.

Sciatica

Sciatica is a condition characterized by symptoms of radiating pain in one leg with or without associated neurological deficits on examination. Lumbar disk herniations are a frequent cause of sciatica, for a majority of the population (70 to 90% of patients) symptoms are generally self-limited and often resolve within 3 months (<u>Schoenfeld & Weiner, 2010</u>).



Sciatica is a condition characterized by symptoms of radiating pain in one leg.

Pathophysiology

Symptoms of sciatica radiates along the path of the sciatic nerve, which branches from your lower back through your hips and buttocks and down the leg. Neurovascular bundles may be exposed to mechanical irritation or a noxious biochemical environment at many different points. Prolonged irritation may result in a reduction of intraneural blood flow. In turn, local hypoxia of a peripheral nerve leads to a drop in tissue pH that triggers the release of inflammatory mediators, known as "inflammatory soup". This noxious substance may contribute to ongoing nociception without overt nerve damage. The application of specific soft tissue treatments and neural mobilization may help to decrease sciatic nerve stiffness and diminish intraneural edema and/or pressure by mobilizing neural tubes (<u>Gilbert et al., 2015</u>; <u>Neto et al., 2020</u>).

Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Red Flags for Serious Spinal Pathology

Red flags are signs and symptoms that raise suspicion of serious underlying pathology, for patients with low back pain there are a number of serious spinal pathologies to be aware of, these are cauda equina syndrome (0.08% of low back pain patients presenting to primary care), spinal fracture, malignancy, and spinal infection (<u>Finucane et al., 2020</u>; <u>Hoeritzauer et al., 2020</u>).

Orthopaedic Physical Examination

A straight leg raise or slump test can be used to assess for sensitization and may give valuable information about the clinical presentation. Sometimes patients may test negative, but this does still not rule out nerve irritation, in these cases a more refined neurological assessment approach may be needed (<u>Schmid et al., 2013</u>).

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient Specific Functional Scale
- Oswestry Disability Index
- Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire
- Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)
- Visual Analog Scale (VAS)
- Lower Extremity Functional Scale (LEFS)

Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

212 | SCIATICA

Manual Therapy

A treatment plan should be implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance. Structures to keep in mind while assessing and treating patients suffering from sciatica may include neurovascular structures and investing fascia of:

- Gluteal Muscles (gluteus maximus, gluteus medius, gluteus minimus, and tensor fasciae latae)
- Hamstring Muscle Group (biceps femoris, semitendinosus, and semimembranosus)
- External Rotators of The Hip (piriformis, gemellus superior, externus and internus obturators, gemellus inferior, and quadratus femoris)
- Erector Spinae (iliocostalis, longissimus, spinalis) & Multifidus
- Quadratus Lumborum
- Thoracolumbar Fascia & Latissimus Dorsi

Prognosis

Most patients improve over time with conservative treatment including exercise, manual therapy, and pain management (<u>Stochkendahl et al., 2018; Jensen et al., 2019</u>).

Sciatic Nerve Mobilization Technique with Erik Dalton



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=341

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for sciatica based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)

• Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Andrade, R. J., Freitas, S. R., Hug, F., Le Sant, G., Lacourpaille, L., Gross, R., ... Nordez, A. (2018). The potential role of sciatic nerve stiffness in the limitation of maximal ankle range of motion. *Scientific reports*, 8(1), 14532. doi:10.1038/ s41598-018-32873-6

Bailey, C. S., Rasoulinejad, P., Taylor, D., Sequeira, K., Miller, T., Watson, J., Rosedale, R., Bailey, S. I., Gurr, K. R., Siddiqi, F., Glennie, A., & Urquhart, J. C. (2020). Surgery versus Conservative Care for Persistent Sciatica Lasting 4 to 12 Months. *The New England journal of medicine*, 382(12), 1093–1102. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1912658

Basson, A., Olivier, B., Ellis, R., Coppieters, M., Stewart, A., & Mudzi, W. (2017). The Effectiveness of Neural Mobilization for Neuromusculoskeletal Conditions: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 47(9), 593–615. doi:10.2519/jospt.2017.7117

Bueno-Gracia, E., Pérez-Bellmunt, A., Estébanez-de-Miguel, E., López-de-Celis, C., Shacklock, M., Caudevilla-Polo, S., & González-Rueda, V. (2019). Differential movement of the sciatic nerve and hamstrings during the straight leg raise with ankle dorsiflexion: Implications for diagnosis of neural aspect to hamstring disorders. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 43, 91–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msksp.2019.07.011

Clark, R., Weber, R. P., & Kahwati, L. (2019). Surgical Management of Lumbar Radiculopathy: a Systematic Review. *Journal of general internal medicine*, 10.1007/s11606-019-05476-8.

Finucane, L. M., Downie, A., Mercer, C., Greenhalgh, S. M., Boissonnault, W. G., Pool-Goudzwaard, A. L., Beneciuk, J. M., Leech, R. L., & Selfe, J. (2020). International Framework for Red Flags for Potential Serious Spinal Pathologies. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 1–23. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2020.9971

Gilbert, K. K., Smith, M. P., Sobczak, S., James, C. R., Sizer, P. S., & Brismée, J. M. (2015). Effects of lower limb neurodynamic mobilization on intraneural fluid dispersion of the fourth lumbar nerve root: an unembalmed cadaveric investigation. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 23(5), 239–245. doi:10.1179/2042618615Y.0000000009

Gilbert, K. K., Roger James, C., Apte, G., Brown, C., Sizer, P. S., Brismée, J. M., & Smith, M. P. (2015). Effects of simulated neural mobilization on fluid movement in cadaveric peripheral nerve sections: implications for the treatment of neuropathic pain and dysfunction. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 23(4), 219–225. doi:10.1179/2042618614Y.0000000094

Hoeritzauer, I., Wood, M., Copley, P. C., Demetriades, A. K., & Woodfield, J. (2020). What is the incidence of

cauda equina syndrome? A systematic review. *Journal of neurosurgery: Spine*, 1–10. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.3171/2019.12.SPINE19839

Jensen, R. K., Kongsted, A., Kjaer, P., & Koes, B. (2019). Diagnosis and treatment of sciatica. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 367, 16273. doi:10.1136/bmj.16273

Kikuta, S., Iwanaga, J., Watanabe, K., Haładaj, R., Wysiadecki, G., Dumont, A. S., & Tubbs, R. S. (2020). Posterior Sacrococcygeal Plexus: Application to Spine Surgery and Better Understanding Low-Back Pain. *World neurosurgery*, 135, e567–e572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2019.12.061

Kizaki, K., Uchida, S., Shanmugaraj, A., Aquino, C. C., Duong, A., Simunovic, N., Martin, H. D., & Ayeni, O. R. (2020). Deep gluteal syndrome is defined as a non-discogenic sciatic nerve disorder with entrapment in the deep gluteal space: a systematic review. *Knee surgery, sports traumatology, arthroscopy: official journal of the ESSKA*, 10.1007/ s00167-020-05966-x. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-020-05966-x

Neto, T., Freitas, S. R., Andrade, R. J., Vaz, J. R., Mendes, B., Firmino, T., Bruno, P. M., Nordez, A., & Oliveira, R. (2020). Shear Wave Elastographic Investigation of the Immediate Effects of Slump Neurodynamics in People With Sciatica. *Journal of ultrasound in medicine: official journal of the American Institute of Ultrasound in Medicine*, 39(4), 675–681. https://doi.org/10.1002/jum.15144

Park, J. W., Lee, Y. K., Lee, Y. J., Shin, S., Kang, Y., & Koo, K. H. (2020). Deep gluteal syndrome as a cause of posterior hip pain and sciatica-like pain. *The bone & joint journal*, 102-B(5), 556–567. https://doi.org/10.1302/0301-620X.102B5.BJJ-2019-1212.R1

Pesonen, J., Rade, M., Könönen, M., Marttila, J., Shacklock, M., ... Airaksinen, O. (2019). Normalization of Spinal Cord Displacement With the Straight Leg Raise and Resolution of Sciatica in Patients With Lumbar Intervertebral Disc Herniation: A 1.5-year Follow-up Study. *Spine*, 44(15), 1064–1077. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.00000000003047

Probst, D., Stout, A., & Hunt, D. (2019). Piriformis Syndrome: A Narrative Review of the Anatomy, Diagnosis, and Treatment. *PM & R: the journal of injury, function, and rehabilitation*, 11 Suppl 1, S54–S63. doi:10.1002/pmrj.12189

Rade, M., Pesonen, J., Könönen, M., Marttila, J., Shacklock, M., Vanninen, R., ... Airaksinen, O. (2017). Reduced Spinal Cord Movement With the Straight Leg Raise Test in Patients With Lumbar Intervertebral Disc Herniation. *Spine*, 42(15), 1117–1124. doi:10.1097/BRS.00000000002235

Ropper, A. H., & Zafonte, R. D. (2015). Sciatica. *The New England journal of medicine*, 372(13), 1240–1248. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1410151

Schmid, A. B., Nee, R. J., & Coppieters, M. W. (2013). Reappraising entrapment neuropathies-mechanisms, diagnosis and management. *Manual therapy*, 18(6), 449–457. doi:10.1016/j.math.2013.07.006

Schoenfeld, A. J., & Weiner, B. K. (2010). Treatment of lumbar disc herniation: Evidence-based practice. *International journal of general medicine*, *3*, 209–214. https://doi.org/10.2147/ijgm.s12270

Stochkendahl, M. J., Kjaer, P., Hartvigsen, J., Kongsted, A., Aaboe, J., Andersen, M., ... Vaagholt, M. (2018). National

216 | SCIATICA

Clinical Guidelines for non-surgical treatment of patients with recent onset low back pain or lumbar radiculopathy. *European spine journal*, 27(1), 60–75. doi:10.1007/s00586-017-5099-2

HIP PAIN

Hip Pain

Hip-related pain is common in young to middle aged active adults (usually aged 18–50 years) and has a significant impact on physical activity and quality of life (Kemp et al., 2020).

Pathophysiology

The presentation of hip pain does not always mean that the joint is the primary contributor to pain. Another peripheral generator that is often overlooked is peripheral nerve irritation, namely, sciatic, pudendal, obturator, femoral, and lateral femoral cutaneous (Martin et al., 2017). There are also twenty one muscles that cross the hip providing both movement and stability between the femur and acetabulum, all of this contributes to the complex clinical picture of hip pain.

Classification of hip-related pain

Osteoarthritis Related Hip Pain – Osteoarthritis of the hip is a common finding in the general population, and in a majority of cases these degenerative changes are asymptomatic. However in some cases this condition involves sensitization of nociceptive pathways, which may result in patients with osteoarthritis perceiving relatively low level stimuli as being overtly painful (Hunter & Bierma-Zeinstra, 2019).

Gluteal Tendinopathy – Tendinopathy of the gluteus medius and gluteus minimus tendons is now recognized as a primary local source of lateral hip pain. Many cases of hip "bursitis", should be more correctly classified as a non-inflammatory insertional tendinopathy of the gluteus medius or gluteus minimus tendons, that attach just deep to the greater trochanteric bursa. This condition interferes with sleep (side lying) and common weight-bearing tasks. The cardinal sign for this diagnosis is pain on palpation of the soft tissues over the greater trochanter.

Greater Trochanteric Pain Syndrome – An umbrella term used to encompass trochanteric bursitis, snapping hip syndrome, and abductor tendinopathy.

218 | HIP PAIN

Femoroacetabular Impingement (FAI) Syndrome – The diagnosis of FAI syndrome currently includes bony morphological changes in the hip which may cause aberrant joint forces during hip movements and possible damage to the intra-articular structures of the joint.

Ischiofemoral Impingement – Refers to the painful entrapment of the quadratus femoris muscle between the lesser trochanter and the ischial tuberosity. The quadratus femoris acts synergistically with the other short external rotators but also serves as a secondary adductor of the hip.

Snapping Hip Syndrome – (iliopsoas tendinitis, or dancer's hip) is characterized by a snapping sensation felt when the hip is flexed and extended. This may be accompanied by an audible snapping or popping noise and pain or discomfort. Pain often decreases with rest and diminished activity. Snapping hip syndrome is classified by location of the snapping, either extra-articular or intra-articular.



- **Intra-articular** Because the iliopsoas or hip flexor crosses directly over the anterior superior labrum of the hip, an intra-articular hip derangement (i.e. labral tears, hip impingement, loose bodies) can lead to an effusion that subsequently produces internal snapping hip symptoms.
- Extra-articular
 - **Lateral extra-articular (More common)** Occurs when the iliotibial band, tensor fasciae latae, or gluteus medius tendon slides back and forth across the greater trochanter. This normal action becomes a snapping hip syndrome when one of these connective tissue bands thickens and catches with motion. The underlying bursa may also become inflamed, causing a painful external snapping hip syndrome.
 - **Medial extra-articular (Less common)** The iliopsoas tendon catches on the anterior inferior iliac spine, the lesser trochanter, or the iliopectineal ridge during hip extension, as the tendon moves from an anterolateral to a posterior medial position. With overuse, the resultant friction may eventually cause painful symptoms, resulting in muscle trauma, bursitis, or inflammation in the area.

Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Physical Examination

According to a recent systematic review the most useful clinical finding to identify patients most likely to have osteoarthritis of the hip are (Metcalfe et al., 2019):

- Posterior Pain with squatting
- Groin pain with passive abduction or adduction
- Hip abductor weakness
- Decreased passive hip adduction or internal rotation as measured by a goniometer or compared with the contralateral leg.

Outcome Measurements

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient Specific Functional Scale
- Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)
- Visual Analog Scale (VAS)
- The Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Arthritis Index (WOMAC)
- Lower Extremity Functional Scale (LEFS)

Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

The use of massage therapy has been shown to improve outcomes in post-operative hip patients. One recent randomized controlled trial published in the journal $PM \mathscr{CR}$, looked at the use of manual therapy following total hip arthroplasty (Busato et al., 2016). In this study two treatment sessions were able to significantly improve functional outcomes in patients when used in addition to usual treatment.

Structures to be Aware of When Treating Hip Pain

A massage therapy treatment plan should be implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance. Structures to keep in mind while assessing and treating patients suffering from hip pain may include neurovascular structures and investing fascia of:

- Iliopsoas (iliacus and psoas major)
- Hip Adductors (adductor brevis, adductor longus, adductor magnus, pectineus, gracilis)
- External Rotators of The Hip (piriformis, gemellus superior, externus and internus obturators, gemellus inferior,

220 | HIP PAIN

and quadratus femoris)

- Quadricep Muscles (rectus femoris, vastus lateralis, vastus mediali, vastus intermedius)
- Hamstring Muscles (semimembranosus, semitendinosus and biceps femoris)
- Gluteal Muscles (gluteus maximus, gluteus medius, gluteus minimus, and tensor fasciae latae)
- Erector Spinae (iliocostalis, longissimus, spinalis) & Multifidus
- Quadratus Lumborum
- Thoracolumbar Fascia & Latissimus Dorsi

Rehabilitation Program

Patient education to remove or reduce loads that exacerbate symptoms, this may be sitting or standing with crossed legs, standing out onto one hip, and side lying (without pillows between the knees).

Prognosis

Prognosis is good, manual therapy is supported by clinical practice guidelines for the management of hip pain and mobility deficits (<u>Ceballos-Laita et al. 2019</u>; <u>Cibulka et al., 2017</u>).

Massage Tutorial: Hip Pain



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=28

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for acute and chronic hip pain based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)

- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Alentorn-Geli, E., Samuelsson, K., Musahl, V., Green, C. L., Bhandari, M., & Karlsson, J. (2017). The Association of Recreational and Competitive Running With Hip and Knee Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 47(6), 373–390. doi:10.2519/jospt.2017.7137

Battaglia, P. J., D'Angelo, K., & Kettner, N. W. (2016). Posterior, Lateral, and Anterior Hip Pain Due to Musculoskeletal Origin: A Narrative Literature Review of History, Physical Examination, and Diagnostic Imaging. *Journal of chiropractic medicine*, 15(4), 281–293. doi:10.1016/j.jcm.2016.08.004

Busato, M., Quagliati, C., Magri, L., Filippi, A., Sanna, A., Branchini, M., ... Stecco, A. (2016). Fascial Manipulation Associated With Standard Care Compared to Only Standard Postsurgical Care for Total Hip Arthroplasty: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *PM & R: the journal of injury, function, and rehabilitation*, 8(12), 1142–1150. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2016.04.007

Ceballos-Laita, L., Estébanez-de-Miguel, E., Martín-Nieto, G., Bueno-Gracia, E., Fortún-Agúd, M., & Jiménez-Del-Barrio, S. (2019). Effects of non-pharmacological conservative treatment on pain, range of motion and physical function in patients with mild to moderate hip osteoarthritis. A systematic review. *Complementary therapies in medicine*, 42, 214–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2018.11.021

Ceballos-Laita, L., Jiménez-Del-Barrio, S., Marín-Zurdo, J., Moreno-Calvo, A., Marín-Boné, J., Albarova-Corral, M. I., & Estébanez-de-Miguel, E. (2019). Effects of dry needling in HIP muscles in patients with HIP osteoarthritis: A randomized controlled trial. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 43, 76–82. doi:10.1016/j.msksp.2019.07.006

Cheatham, S. W., Kolber, M. J., & Salamh, P. A. (2013). Meralgia paresthetica: a review of the literature. *International journal of sports physical therapy*, 8(6), 883–893.

Cibulka, M. T., Bloom, N. J., Enseki, K. R., Macdonald, C. W., Woehrle, J., & McDonough, C. M. (2017). Hip Pain and Mobility Deficits-Hip Osteoarthritis: Revision 2017. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 47(6), A1–A37. doi:10.2519/jospt.2017.0301

Cowan, R. M., Semciw, A. I., Pizzari, T., Cook, J., Rixon, M. K., Gupta, G., ... Ganderton, C. L. (2019). Muscle Size and Quality of the Gluteal Muscles and Tensor Fasciae Latae in Women with Greater Trochanteric Pain Syndrome. *Clinical anatomy (New York, N.Y.)*, 10.1002/ca.23510. Advance online publication. doi:10.1002/ca.23510

Czuppon, S., Prather, H., Hunt, D. M., Steger-May, K., Bloom, N. J., Clohisy, J. C., ... Harris-Hayes, M. (2017).

Gender-Dependent Differences in Hip Range of Motion and Impingement Testing in Asymptomatic College Freshman Athletes. *PM & R: the journal of injury, function, and rehabilitation, 9*(7), 660–667. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2016.10.022

Ferguson, R. J., Palmer, A. J., Taylor, A., Porter, M. L., Malchau, H., & Glyn-Jones, S. (2018). Hip replacement. *Lancet (London, England)*, 392(10158), 1662–1671. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31777-X

Grimaldi, A., Mellor, R., Hodges, P., Bennell, K., Wajswelner, H., & Vicenzino, B. (2015). Gluteal Tendinopathy: A Review of Mechanisms, Assessment and Management. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 45(8), 1107–1119. doi:10.1007/s40279-015-0336-5

Ganderton, C., Semciw, A., Cook, J., & Pizzari, T. (2017). Demystifying the Clinical Diagnosis of Greater Trochanteric Pain Syndrome in Women. *Journal of women's health (2002)*, 26(6), 633–643. doi:10.1089/jwh.2016.5889

Hunter, D. J., & Bierma-Zeinstra, S. (2019). Osteoarthritis. Lancet (London, England), 393(10182), 1745–1759. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30417-9

Kemp, J. L., Risberg, M. A., Mosler, A., Harris-Hayes, M., Serner, A., Moksnes, H., ... Bizzini, M. (2020). Physiotherapist-led treatment for young to middle-aged active adults with hip-related pain: consensus recommendations from the International Hip-related Pain Research Network, Zurich 2018. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(9), 504–511. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-101458

Kemp, J. L., Mosler, A. B., Hart, H., Bizzini, M., Chang, S., Scholes, M. J., Semciw, A. I., & Crossley, K. M. (2020). Improving function in people with hip-related pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis of physiotherapist-led interventions for hip-related pain. *British journal of sports medicine*, bjsports-2019-101690. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-101690

Kolasinski, S. L., Neogi, T., Hochberg, M. C., Oatis, C., Guyatt, G., Block, J., ... Reston, J. (2020). 2019 American College of Rheumatology/Arthritis Foundation Guideline for the Management of Osteoarthritis of the Hand, Hip, and Knee. *Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, N.J.)*, 72(2), 220–233. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.41142

Kompel, A. J., Roemer, F. W., Murakami, A. M., Diaz, L. E., Crema, M. D., & Guermazi, A. (2019). Intra-articular Corticosteroid Injections in the Hip and Knee: Perhaps Not as Safe as We Thought?. *Radiology*, 293(3), 656–663. doi:10.1148/radiol.2019190341

Martin, R., Martin, H. D., & Kivlan, B. R. (2017). Nerve Entrapment in the Hip region: Current Concepts Review. *International journal of sports physical therapy*, 12(7), 1163–1173. https://doi.org/10.26603/ijspt20171163

Mellor, R., Bennell, K., Grimaldi, A., Nicolson, P., Kasza, J., Hodges, P., ... Vicenzino, B. (2018). Education plus exercise versus corticosteroid injection use versus a wait and see approach on global outcome and pain from gluteal tendinopathy: prospective, single blinded, randomised clinical trial. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 361, k1662. doi:10.1136/bmj.k1662

Metcalfe, D., Perry, D. C., Claireaux, H. A., Simel, D. L., Zogg, C. K., & Costa, M. L. (2019). Does This Patient Have Hip Osteoarthritis?: The Rational Clinical Examination Systematic Review. *JAMA*, 322(23), 2323–2333. doi:10.1001/jama.2019.19413

224 | HIP PAIN

Neumann, D. A. (2010). Kinesiology of the hip: a focus on muscular actions. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 40(2), 82–94. doi:10.2519/jospt.2010.3025

Reiman, M. P., Mather, R. C., 3rd, & Cook, C. E. (2015). Physical examination tests for hip dysfunction and injury. *British journal of sports medicine*, 49(6), 357–361. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2012-091929

Reiman, M. P., Agricola, R., Kemp, J. L., Heerey, J. J., Weir, A., van Klij, P., ... Dijkstra, H. P. (2020). Consensus recommendations on the classification, definition and diagnostic criteria of hip-related pain in young and middle-aged active adults from the International Hip-related Pain Research Network, Zurich 2018. *British journal of sports medicine*, bjsports-2019-101453. Advance online publication. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2019-101453

KNEE PAIN

33.

Knee Pain

Physicians now more than ever are recommending conservative treatment including but not limited to: low-impact exercise, acupuncture, and manual therapy as part of a multi-modal approach for patients suffering from knee pain.

Pathophysiology

Degenerative meniscus and osteoarthritis of the knee is a common finding in the general population, and in a majority of cases these degenerative knee changes are asymptomatic (<u>Hortga et al., 2020</u>). However in some cases this condition involves sensitization of nociceptive pathways, which may result in patients with osteoarthritis perceiving relatively low level stimuli as being overtly painful (<u>Hunter & Bierma-Zeinstra, 2019</u>).

Patellar tendinopathy is the preferred term for persistent patellar tendon pain and loss of function related to mechanical loading.



Physicians, now more than ever are recommending conservative treatment options for patients suffering from knee pain.

Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient Specific Functional Scale
- Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)
- Visual Analog Scale (VAS)
- The Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Arthritis Index (WOMAC)
- Lower Extremity Functional Scale (LEFS)

Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

A massage therapy treatment plan should be implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance. Structures to keep in mind while assessing and treating patients suffering from hip pain may include neurovascular structures and investing fascia of:

- Erector Spinae (iliocostalis, longissimus, spinalis) & Multifidus
- Quadratus Lumborum
- Thoracolumbar Fascia & Latissimus Dorsi
- Hip Adductors (adductor brevis, adductor longus, adductor magnus, pectineus, gracilis)
- Quadricep Muscles (rectus femoris, vastus lateralis, vastus medialis, vastus intermedius)
- Gluteal Muscles (gluteus maximus, gluteus medius, gluteus minimus, and tensor fasciae latae)
- Hamstring Muscles (semimembranosus, semitendinosus and biceps femoris)
- Anterior Compartment of the Leg (tibialis anterior, extensor hallucis longus, extensor digitorum longus, peroneus tertius)
- Superficial Posterior Compartment of the Leg (gastrocnemius, soleus, plantaris)
- Deep Posterior Compartment of the Leg (flexor hallucis longus, flexor digitorum longus, tibialis posterior, popliteus)
- Proximal Tibiofibular Joint
- Ankle Joint (talocrural joint, subtalar joint and inferior tibiofibular joint)

Massage Sloth: Massage Tutorial – Knee Pain



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=26

Prognosis

Physicians now more than ever are recommending conservative treatment options for patients suffering from knee pain. Two recent randomized clinical trials have highlighted the effect of conservative treatment options for patients suffering from osteoarthritis related knee pain. In one randomized clinical trial published in the *Journal of General Internal Medicine* massage therapy was shown to improve function in patients who suffer from osteoarthritis related knee pain (Perlman et al., 2019). In addition a randomized trial published in *The New England journal of medicine* demonstrated the benefits of a conservative multimodal approach (manual therapy + exercise) for patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis of the knee (Deyle et al., 2020).

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for knee pain based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Alentorn-Geli, E., Samuelsson, K., Musahl, V., Green, C. L., Bhandari, M., & Karlsson, J. (2017). The Association of Recreational and Competitive Running With Hip and Knee Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 47(6), 373–390. doi:10.2519/jospt.2017.7137

Ali, A., Rosenberger, L., Weiss, T. R., Milak, C., & Perlman, A. I. (2017). Massage Therapy and Quality of Life in Osteoarthritis of the Knee: A Qualitative Study. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, 18(6), 1168–1175. doi:10.1093/pm/pnw217

Chughtai, M., Mont, M. A., Cherian, C., Cherian, J. J., Elmallah, R. D., Naziri, Q., ... Bhave, A. (2016). A Novel, Nonoperative Treatment Demonstrates Success for Stiff Total Knee Arthroplasty after Failure of Conventional Therapy. *The journal of knee surgery*, 29(3), 188–193. doi:10.1055/s-0035-1569482

Courtney, C. A., Steffen, A. D., Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., Kim, J., & Chmell, S. J. (2016). Joint Mobilization Enhances Mechanisms of Conditioned Pain Modulation in Individuals With Osteoarthritis of the Knee. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 46(3), 168–176. doi:10.2519/jospt.2016.6259

Deyle, G. D., Allen, C. S., Allison, S. C., Gill, N. W., Hando, B. R., Petersen, E. J., Dusenberry, D. I., & Rhon, D. I. (2020). Physical Therapy versus Glucocorticoid Injection for Osteoarthritis of the Knee. *The New England journal of medicine*, 382(15), 1420–1429. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1905877

Eckenrode, B. J., Kietrys, D. M., & Parrott, J. S. (2018). Effectiveness of Manual Therapy for Pain and Self-reported Function in Individuals With Patellofemoral Pain: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(5), 358–371. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2018.7243

Gregori, D., Giacovelli, G., Minto, C., Barbetta, B., Gualtieri, F., Azzolina, D., ... Rovati, L. C. (2018). Association of Pharmacological Treatments With Long-term Pain Control in Patients With Knee Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA*, 320(24), 2564–2579. doi:10.1001/jama.2018.19319

Hamstra-Wright, K. L., Earl-Boehm, J., Bolgla, L., Emery, C., & Ferber, R. (2017). Individuals With Patellofemoral Pain

Have Less Hip Flexibility Than Controls Regardless of Treatment Outcome. *Clinical journal of sport medicine: official journal of the Canadian Academy of Sport Medicine*, 27(2), 97–103. https://doi.org/10.1097/JSM.000000000000307

Hunter, D. J., & Bierma-Zeinstra, S. (2019). Osteoarthritis. *Lancet (London, England)*, 393(10182), 1745–1759. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30417-9

Horga, L. M., Hirschmann, A. C., Henckel, J., Fotiadou, A., Di Laura, A., Torlasco, C., ... Hart, A. J. (2020). Prevalence of abnormal findings in 230 knees of asymptomatic adults using 3.0 T MRI. *Skeletal radiology*, 10.1007/s00256-020-03394-z. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00256-020-03394-z

Kolasinski, S. L., Neogi, T., Hochberg, M. C., Oatis, C., Guyatt, G., Block, J., ... Reston, J. (2020). 2019 American College of Rheumatology/Arthritis Foundation Guideline for the Management of Osteoarthritis of the Hand, Hip, and Knee. *Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, N.J.)*, 72(2), 220–233. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.41142

Kompel, A. J., Roemer, F. W., Murakami, A. M., Diaz, L. E., Crema, M. D., & Guermazi, A. (2019). Intra-articular Corticosteroid Injections in the Hip and Knee: Perhaps Not as Safe as We Thought?. *Radiology*, 293(3), 656–663. doi:10.1148/radiol.2019190341

Kraus, V. B., Sprow, K., Powell, K. E., Buchner, D., Bloodgood, B., Piercy, K., ... 2018 PHYSICAL ACTIVITY GUIDELINES ADVISORY COMMITTEE* (2019). Effects of Physical Activity in Knee and Hip Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Umbrella Review. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 51(6), 1324–1339. doi:10.1249/MSS.000000000001944

Li, L. W., Harris, R. E., Tsodikov, A., Struble, L., & Murphy, S. L. (2018). Self-Acupressure for Older Adults With Symptomatic Knee Osteoarthritis: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Arthritis care & research*, 70(2), 221–229. doi:10.1002/acr.23262

Matthews, M., Rathleff, M. S., Claus, A., McPoil, T., Nee, R., Crossley, K. M., Kasza, J., & Vicenzino, B. T. (2020). Does foot mobility affect the outcome in the management of patellofemoral pain with foot orthoses versus hip exercises? A randomised clinical trial. *British journal of sports medicine*, bjsports-2019-100935. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-100935

Nascimento, L. R., Teixeira-Salmela, L. F., Souza, R. B., & Resende, R. A. (2018). Hip and Knee Strengthening Is More Effective Than Knee Strengthening Alone for Reducing Pain and Improving Activity in Individuals With Patellofemoral Pain: A Systematic Review With Meta-analysis. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2018.7365

Newberry, S.J., FitzGerald, J., SooHoo, N.F., Booth, M., Marks, J., ... Shekelle, P. (2017). *Treatment of Osteoarthritis of the Knee: An Update Review*. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). DOI: https://doi.org/10.23970/AHRQEPCCER190

Perlman, A., Fogerite, S. G., Glass, O., Bechard, E., Ali, A., Njike, V. Y., ... Katz, D. L. (2019). Efficacy and Safety of Massage for Osteoarthritis of the Knee: a Randomized Clinical Trial. *Journal of general internal medicine*, 34(3), 379–386. doi:10.1007/s11606-018-4763-5

Petushek, E. J., Sugimoto, D., Stoolmiller, M., Smith, G., & Myer, G. D. (2019). Evidence-Based Best-Practice Guidelines for Preventing Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injuries in Young Female Athletes: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *The American journal of sports medicine*, 47(7), 1744–1753. doi:10.1177/0363546518782460

Price, A. J., Alvand, A., Troelsen, A., Katz, J. N., Hooper, G., Gray, A., ... Beard, D. (2018). Knee replacement. *Lancet* (*London, England*), 392(10158), 1672–1682. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32344-4

Rogan, S., Haehni, M., Luijckx, E., Dealer, J., Reuteler, S., & Taeymans, J. (2019). Effects of Hip Abductor Muscles Exercises on Pain and Function in Patients With Patellofemoral Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, 33(11), 3174–3187. doi:10.1519/JSC.00000000002658

Salamh, P., Cook, C., Reiman, M. P., & Sheets, C. (2017). Treatment effectiveness and fidelity of manual therapy to the knee: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Musculoskeletal care*, 15(3), 238–248. doi:10.1002/msc.1166

Siemieniuk, R., Harris, I. A., Agoritsas, T., Poolman, R. W., Brignardello-Petersen, R., Van de Velde, S., ... Kristiansen, A. (2017). Arthroscopic surgery for degenerative knee arthritis and meniscal tears: a clinical practice guideline. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 357, j1982. doi:10.1136/bmj.j1982

Sihvonen, R., Paavola, M., Malmivaara, A., Itälä, A., Joukainen, A., Nurmi, H., ... Finnish Degenerative Meniscal Lesion Study (FIDELITY) Group (2013). Arthroscopic partial meniscectomy versus sham surgery for a degenerative meniscal tear. *The New England journal of medicine*, 369(26), 2515–2524. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1305189

Sihvonen, R., Paavola, M., Malmivaara, A., Itälä, A., Joukainen, A., Nurmi, H., ... FIDELITY (Finnish Degenerative Meniscal Lesion Study) Investigators (2018). Arthroscopic partial meniscectomy versus placebo surgery for a degenerative meniscus tear: a 2-year follow-up of the randomised controlled trial. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*, 77(2), 188–195. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2017-211172

Sisk, D., & Fredericson, M. (2019). Update of Risk Factors, Diagnosis, and Management of Patellofemoral Pain. *Current reviews in musculoskeletal medicine*, 12(4), 534–541. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12178-019-09593-z

Snoeker, B., Turkiewicz, A., Magnusson, K., Frobell, R., Yu, D., Peat, G., & Englund, M. (2019). Risk of knee osteoarthritis after different types of knee injuries in young adults: a population-based cohort study. *British journal of sports medicine*, bjsports-2019-100959. Advance online publication. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2019-100959

Taylor, A. L., Wilken, J. M., Deyle, G. D., & Gill, N. W. (2014). Knee extension and stiffness in osteoarthritic and normal knees: a videofluoroscopic analysis of the effect of a single session of manual therapy. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 44(4), 273–282. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2014.4710

Tedesco, D., Gori, D., Desai, K. R., Asch, S., Carroll, I. R., Curtin, C., ... Hernandez-Boussard, T. (2017). Drug-Free Interventions to Reduce Pain or Opioid Consumption After Total Knee Arthroplasty: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis. *JAMA surgery*, 152(10), e172872. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2017.2872

Turner, M. N., Hernandez, D. O., Cade, W., Emerson, C. P., Reynolds, J. M., & Best, T. M. (2020). The Role of

Resistance Training Dosing on Pain and Physical Function in Individuals With Knee Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review. *Sports health*, 12(2), 200–206. https://doi.org/10.1177/1941738119887183

van de Graaf, V. A., Noorduyn, J., Willigenburg, N. W., Butter, I. K., de Gast, A., Mol, B. W., ... ESCAPE Research Group (2018). Effect of Early Surgery vs Physical Therapy on Knee Function Among Patients With Nonobstructive Meniscal Tears: The ESCAPE Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA*, 320(13), 1328–1337. doi:10.1001/jama.2018.13308

Vander Doelen, T., & Jelley, W. (2020). Non-surgical treatment of patellar tendinopathy: A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Journal of science and medicine in sport*, 23(2), 118–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2019.09.008

Willy, R. W., Hoglund, L. T., Barton, C. J., Bolgla, L. A., Scalzitti, D. A., Logerstedt, D. S., ... McDonough, C. M. (2019). Patellofemoral Pain. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 49(9), CPG1–CPG95. doi:10.2519/jospt.2019.0302

ACHILLES TENDINOPATHY

Achilles Tendinopathy

Tendinopathy is the preferred term for persistent tendon pain and loss of function related to mechanical loading. Achilles tendinopathy is the preferred term for persistent achilles tendon pain and loss of function related to mechanical loading, this injury is commonly categorized into two types:

- Insertional (affects 20–25%)
- Non-insertional (affects 75-80%)

Pathophysiology

The presentation of pain in a tendon, does not always mean that the tendon is the primary contributor to pain. The multifactorial model of tendinopathy suggests that an impaired motor system, local tendon pathology, and changes in the pain/nociceptive system contributes to the complex clinical picture of tendon pain (Eckenrode et al., 2019).

Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient Specific Functional Scale
- Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)
- Visual Analog Scale (VAS)
- Lower Extremity Functional Scale (LEFS)
- Foot and Ankle Ability Measure
- Foot and Ankle Disability Index

Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

A massage therapy treatment plan should be implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance. There may be times that focal irritability (ie. nerve irritation, triggerpoints, nervous system sensitization) coexists with achilles tendinopathy. Structures to keep in mind while assessing and treating patients suffering from achilles tendon pain may include neurovascular structures and investing fascia of:

- Plantar Fascia
- Lumbricals
- Adductor Hallucis
- Flexor Hallucis Brevis
- Metatarsals & Interossei
- Peroneals (peroneus longus, peroneus brevis)
- Hamstring Muscles (semimembranosus, semitendinosus and biceps femoris)
- Anterior Compartment of the Leg (tibialis anterior, extensor hallucis longus, extensor digitorum longus, peroneus tertius)
- Superficial Posterior Compartment of the Leg (gastrocnemius, soleus, plantaris)
- Deep Posterior Compartment of the Leg (flexor hallucis longus, flexor digitorum longus, tibialis posterior, popliteus)
- Ankle Joint (the talocrural joint, subtalar joint and the inferior tibiofibular joint)

Rehabilitation Considerations

Massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for patients with achilles pain including manual therapy, simple home-care recommendations and remedial exercise, such as slow eccentric heeldrops. Remedial loading programs such as eccentric heel drops do-as-tolerated repetition and specific Alfredson achilles tendinopathy rehabilitation protocol have both been shown to be useful for achilles tendon pain (<u>Head et al., 2019</u>).

Prognosis

Multimodality options self-care techniques such as exercise therapy, relative rest, activity modifications should be considered as the first line treatment of tendon pain (<u>van der Vlist et al., 2020</u>). Clinicians should be thoughtful and skilled in managing the load on the tendons and supporting structures through a number of rehabilitation

considerations including, but are not limited to manual therapy, education on psychosocial factors such as fear avoidance, and remedial loading programs.

Manual joint mobilization and soft tissue techniques for the calf muscles may modify a contributing factor in the experience of pain. In cases that involve nerve entrapment, a massage therapist may use a specialized technique called neural mobilization. The goal of neural mobilization is to free the entrapped nerve by mobilization of the nerve itself or muscles that surround the nerve. There is a fair-bit of research to support the use of neural mobilization. A 2017 meta-analysis published in the *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy* showed that nerve mobilizations are an effective treatment approach for patients with back, neck and foot pain (<u>Basson et al., 2017</u>).

PhysioTutors: Alfredson Achilles Tendinopathy Rehab Protocol



Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for achilles tendon pain based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization, IASTM)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Albin, S. R., Koppenhaver, S. L., Bailey, B., Blommel, H., Fenter, B., Lowrimore, C., ... McPoil, T. G. (2019). The effect of manual therapy on gastrocnemius muscle stiffness in healthy individuals. *Foot (Edinburgh, Scotland)*, 38, 70–75. doi:10.1016/j.foot.2019.01.006

Basson, A., Olivier, B., Ellis, R., Coppieters, M., Stewart, A., & Mudzi, W. (2017). The Effectiveness of Neural Mobilization for Neuromusculoskeletal Conditions: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 47(9), 593–615. doi:10.2519/jospt.2017.7117

Challoumas, D., Clifford, C., Kirwan, P., & Millar, N. L. (2019). How does surgery compare to sham surgery or physiotherapy as a treatment for tendinopathy? A systematic review of randomised trials. *BMJ open sport & exercise medicine*, 5(1), e000528. doi:10.1136/bmjsem-2019-000528

Chimenti, R. L., Cychosz, C. C., Hall, M. M., & Phisitkul, P. (2017). Current Concepts Review Update: Insertional Achilles Tendinopathy. *Foot & ankle international*, 38(10), 1160–1169. doi:10.1177/1071100717723127

Cook, J. L. (2018). Ten treatments to avoid in patients with lower limb tendon pain. *British journal of sports medicine*, 52(14), 882. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099045

Coppieters, M. W., Crooke, J. L., Lawrenson, P. R., Khoo, S. J., Skulstad, T., & Bet-Or, Y. (2015). A modified straight leg raise test to differentiate between sural nerve pathology and Achilles tendinopathy. A cross-sectional cadaver study. *Manual therapy*, 20(4), 587–591. doi:10.1016/j.math.2015.01.013

Dilger, C. P., & Chimenti, R. L. (2019). Nonsurgical Treatment Options for Insertional Achilles Tendinopathy. *Foot and ankle clinics*, 24(3), 505–513. doi:10.1016/j.fcl.2019.04.004

Docking, S. I., & Cook, J. (2019). How do tendons adapt? Going beyond tissue responses to understand positive adaptation and pathology development: A narrative review. *Journal of musculoskeletal & neuronal interactions*, 19(3), 300-310.

Eckenrode, B. J., Kietrys, D. M., & Stackhouse, S. K. (2019). Pain Sensitivity in Chronic Achilles Tendinopathy. *International journal of sports physical therapy*, 14(6), 945–956.

Head, J., Mallows, A., Debenham, J., Travers, M. J., & Allen, L. (2019). The efficacy of loading programmes for improving patient-reported outcomes in chronic midportion Achilles tendinopathy: A systematic review. *Musculoskeletal care*, 17(4), 283–299. https://doi.org/10.1002/msc.1428

Jayaseelan, D. J., Weber, M. J., & Jonely, H. (2019). Potential Nervous System Sensitization in Patients With Persistent Lower Extremity Tendinopathies: 3 Case Reports. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 49(4), 272–279. doi:10.2519/jospt.2019.8600

Magnusson, S. P., & Kjaer, M. (2019). The impact of loading, unloading, ageing and injury on the human tendon. *The Journal of physiology*, 597(5), 1283–1298. doi:10.1113/JP275450

Martin, R. L., Chimenti, R., Cuddeford, T., Houck, J., Matheson, J. W., McDonough, C. M., ... Carcia, C. R. (2018). Achilles Pain, Stiffness, and Muscle Power Deficits: Midportion Achilles Tendinopathy Revision 2018. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(5), A1–A38. doi:10.2519/jospt.2018.0302

Reiman, M., Burgi, C., Strube, E., Prue, K., Ray, K., Elliott, A., & Goode, A. (2014). The utility of clinical measures for the diagnosis of achilles tendon injuries: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Journal of athletic training*, 49(6), 820–829. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-49.3.36

Scott, A., Squier, K., Alfredson, H., Bahr, R., Cook, J. L., Coombes, B., ... Zwerver, J. (2020). ICON 2019: International Scientific Tendinopathy Symposium Consensus: Clinical Terminology. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(5), 260–262. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-100885

Silbernagel, K. G., Hanlon, S., & Sprague, A. (2020). Current Clinical Concepts: Conservative Management of Achilles Tendinopathy. *Journal of athletic training*, 10.4085/1062-6050-356-19. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/ 10.4085/1062-6050-356-19

Stefansson, S. H., Brandsson, S., Langberg, H., & Arnason, A. (2019). Using Pressure Massage for Achilles Tendinopathy: A Single-Blind, Randomized Controlled Trial Comparing a Novel Treatment Versus an Eccentric Exercise Protocol. *Orthopaedic journal of sports medicine*, 7(3), 2325967119834284. doi:10.1177/2325967119834284

van der Vlist, A. C., Breda, S. J., Oei, E., Verhaar, J., & de Vos, R. J. (2019). Clinical risk factors for Achilles tendinopathy: a systematic review. *British journal of sports medicine*, 53(21), 1352–1361. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099991

van der Vlist, A. C., Winters, M., Weir, A., Ardern, C. L., Welton, N. J., Caldwell, D. M., Verhaar, J., & de Vos, R. J. (2020). Which treatment is most effective for patients with Achilles tendinopathy? A living systematic review

238 | ACHILLES TENDINOPATHY

with network meta-analysis of 29 randomised controlled trials. *British journal of sports medicine*, bjsports-2019-101872. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-101872

ANKLE PAIN

Ankle Pain

There are a number of different things to take into consideration when assessing a patient with ankle pain.

- One cause of ankle pain can be peroneal tendinopathy, which is described as persistent peroneal tendon pain and loss of function related to mechanical loading (<u>Scott et al., 2020</u>).
- Another causes of ankle pain is a sprained ankle, there are three different types of ankle sprain all with varying severity:
 - Inversion (lateral) ankle sprain The most common type of ankle sprain involving tearing of the ligaments on the outside of the ankle (anterior talofibular ligament).
 - Eversion (medial) ankle sprain Involving a tear of the deltoid ligaments, on the inside of the ankle.
 - High (syndesmotic) ankle sprain Injury to the tibiofibular ligament above the ankle.

Pathophysiology

The structure of the foot consists of 26 bones, 33 joints (20 of which are actively articulated), 4 layers of arch muscles, and 100+ muscles, tendons, and ligaments. Following an initial ankle injury there is a risk of re-injury dependent on a combination of factors including, but not limited to: sensorimotor deficits and changes in ankle biomechanics.

Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient Specific Functional Scale
- Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)
- Visual Analog Scale (VAS)

35.

- Lower Extremity Functional Scale (LEFS)
- Foot and Ankle Ability Measure
- Foot and Ankle Disability Index

Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

Massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number sensory-targeted rehabilitation strategies for patients with chronic ankle instability (Mckeon et al., 2016). This may include superficial peroneal nerve mobilization – the superficial peroneal nerve passes between peroneal muscles and the extensor digitorum longus. It then pierces the deep fascia and is divided in cutaneous nerves that enter the foot to innervate the dorsal surface (Plaza-Manzano et al., 2016). The specific movement to mobilize the superficial peroneal nerve involves plantar flexion with inversion combined with straight leg raise. Branches of the saphenous nerve also innervate the talocrural capsule.

Structures to be Aware of When Treating Ankle Sprains

A massage therapy treatment plan should be implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance. Structures to keep in mind while assessing and treating patients suffering from ankle pain may include neurovascular structures and investing fascia of:

- Plantar Fascia
- Lumbricals
- Adductor Hallucis
- Flexor Hallucis Brevis
- Metatarsals & Interossei
- Peroneals (peroneus longus, peroneus brevis)
- Anterior Compartment of the Leg (tibialis anterior, extensor hallucis longus, extensor digitorum longus, peroneus tertius)
- Superficial Posterior Compartment of the Leg (gastrocnemius, soleus, plantaris)
- Deep Posterior Compartment of the Leg (flexor hallucis longus, flexor digitorum longus, tibialis posterior, popliteus)
- Ankle Joint (talocrural joint, subtalar joint and the inferior tibiofibular joint)

Prognosis

Prognosis is favorable, a multi-modal rehabilitation approach utilizing exercise (proprioceptive and strengthening) and manual therapy (plantar massage, joint mobilizations and nerve mobilization) can be used to enhance motor control in patients (<u>Doherty et al., 2017; Plaza-Manzano et al., 2016</u>).

Massage Sloth: Massage Tutorial – Ankle Pain Techniques and Strategy



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=24

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for ankle pain based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Albin, S. R., Koppenhaver, S. L., Van Boerum, D. H., McPoil, T. G., Morgan, J., & Fritz, J. M. (2018). Timing of initiating manual therapy and therapeutic exercises in the management of patients after hindfoot fractures: a randomized controlled trial. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 26(3), 147–156. doi:10.1080/10669817.2018.1432542

Albin, S. R., Koppenhaver, S. L., Marcus, R., Dibble, L., Cornwall, M., & Fritz, J. M. (2019). Short-term Effects of Manual Therapy in Patients After Surgical Fixation of Ankle and/or Hindfoot Fracture: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 49(5), 310–319. doi:10.2519/jospt.2019.8864

Cleland, J. A., Mintken, P. E., McDevitt, A., Bieniek, M. L., Carpenter, K. J., Kulp, K., & Whitman, J. M. (2013). Manual physical therapy and exercise versus supervised home exercise in the management of patients with inversion ankle sprain: a multicenter randomized clinical trial. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 43(7), 443–455. doi:10.2519/jospt.2013.4792

Cox, T., Sneed, T., & Hamann, H. (2018). Neurodynamic mobilization in a collegiate long jumper with exercise-induced lateral leg and ankle pain: A case report. *Physiotherapy theory and practice*, 34(3), 241–249. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593985.2017.1377793

Delahunt, E., Bleakley, C. M., Bossard, D. S., Caulfield, B. M., Docherty, C. L., Doherty, C., ... Gribble, P. A. (2018). Clinical assessment of acute lateral ankle sprain injuries (ROAST): 2019 consensus statement and recommendations of the International Ankle Consortium. *British journal of sports medicine*, 52(20), 1304–1310. doi:10.1136/ bjsports-2017-098885

Doherty, C., Bleakley, C., Delahunt, E., & Holden, S. (2017). Treatment and prevention of acute and recurrent ankle sprain: an overview of systematic reviews with meta-analysis. *British journal of sports medicine*, 51(2), 113–125. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2016-096178

Fraser, J. J., Saliba, S. A., Hart, J. M., Park, J. S., & Hertel, J. (2020). Effects of midfoot joint mobilization on ankle-foot morphology and function following acute ankle sprain. A crossover clinical trial. *Musculoskeletal science & practice*, 46, 102130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msksp.2020.102130

Hertel, J., & Corbett, R. O. (2019). An Updated Model of Chronic Ankle Instability. *Journal of athletic training*, 54(6), 572–588. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-344-18

Khalaj, N., Vicenzino, B., Heales, L. J., & Smith, M. D. (2020). Is chronic ankle instability associated with impaired muscle strength? Ankle, knee and hip muscle strength in individuals with chronic ankle instability: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *British journal of sports medicine*, bjsports-2018-100070. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018-100070

McKeon, P. O., & Donovan, L. (2019). A Perceptual Framework for Conservative Treatment and Rehabilitation of Ankle Sprains: An Evidence-Based Paradigm Shift. *Journal of athletic training*, 54(6), 628–638. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-474-17

McKeon, P. O., & Wikstrom, E. A. (2016). Sensory-Targeted Ankle Rehabilitation Strategies for Chronic Ankle Instability. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 48(5), 776–784. doi:10.1249/MSS.00000000000859

Plaza-Manzano, G., Vergara-Vila, M., Val-Otero, S., Rivera-Prieto, C., Pecos-Martin, D., Gallego-Izquierdo, T., ... Romero-Franco, N. (2016). Manual therapy in joint and nerve structures combined with exercises in the treatment of recurrent ankle sprains: A randomized, controlled trial. *Manual therapy*, 26, 141–149. doi:10.1016/j.math.2016.08.006

Porter, D. & Schon, L. (2020). Baxter's The Foot and Ankle in Sport (3rd ed.) Elsevier.

Powden, C. J., Hoch, J. M., Jamali, B. E., & Hoch, M. C. (2019). A 4-Week Multimodal Intervention for Individuals With Chronic Ankle Instability: Examination of Disease-Oriented and Patient-Oriented Outcomes. *Journal of athletic training*, 54(4), 384–396. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-344-17

Rosen, A. B., Needle, A. R., & Ko, J. (2019). Ability of Functional Performance Tests to Identify Individuals With Chronic Ankle Instability: A Systematic Review With Meta-Analysis. *Clinical journal of sport medicine: official journal of the Canadian Academy of Sport Medicine*, 29(6), 509–522. doi:10.1097/JSM.00000000000535

Scott, A., Squier, K., Alfredson, H., Bahr, R., Cook, J. L., Coombes, B., ... Zwerver, J. (2020). ICON 2019: International Scientific Tendinopathy Symposium Consensus: Clinical Terminology. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(5), 260–262. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-100885

Urits, I., Hasegawa, M., Orhurhu, V., Peck, J., Kelly, A. C., Kaye, R. J., ... Viswanath, O. (2020). Minimally Invasive Treatment of Chronic Ankle Instability: a Comprehensive Review. *Current pain and headache reports*, 24(3), 8. doi:10.1007/s11916-020-0840-7

Vuurberg, G., Hoorntje, A., Wink, L. M., van der Doelen, B., van den Bekerom, M. P., Dekker, R., ... Kerkhoffs, G. (2018). Diagnosis, treatment and prevention of ankle sprains: update of an evidence-based clinical guideline. *British journal of sports medicine*, 52(15), 956. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2017-098106

Walsh, B. M., Bain, K. A., Gribble, P. A., & Hoch, M. C. (2020). Exercise-Based Rehabilitation and Manual Therapy Compared With Exercise-Based Rehabilitation Alone in the Treatment of Chronic Ankle Instability: A Critically Appraised Topic. *Journal of sport rehabilitation*, 1–5. Advance online publication. doi:10.1123/jsr.2019-0337

244 | ANKLE PAIN

Weerasekara, I., Osmotherly, P., Snodgrass, S., Marquez, J., de Zoete, R., & Rivett, D. A. (2018). Clinical Benefits of Joint Mobilization on Ankle Sprains: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 99(7), 1395–1412.e5. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2017.07.019

Wikstrom, E. A., Song, K., Lea, A., & Brown, N. (2017). Comparative Effectiveness of Plantar-Massage Techniques on Postural Control in Those With Chronic Ankle Instability. *Journal of athletic training*, 10.4085/1062-6050.52.4.02. Advance online publication. doi:10.4085/1062-6050.52.4.02

Zhao, M., Gao, W., Zhang, L., Huang, W., Zheng, S., Wang, G., ... Tang, B. (2018). Acupressure Therapy for Acute Ankle Sprains: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *PM & R: the journal of injury, function, and rehabilitation*, 10(1), 36–44. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2017.06.009
PLANTAR HEEL PAIN

Plantar Heel Pain

Plantar heel pain, also known as plantar fasciitis is generally described as sharp or stabbing, and worse in the morning. The pain can decrease with activity but can return after long periods of standing or after getting up from a seated position.

Pathophysiology

Just because this condition is referred to as plantar fasciitis, does not mean that the plantar fascia is the primary contributor to symptoms. Entrapment of the tibial nerve and its branches in the tarsal tunnel (along the inner leg behind the ankle) may mimic symptoms of plantar fasciitis. Inside the tunnel, the nerve splits into three different segments – one nerve continues to the heel, the other two continue to the bottom of the foot. Entrapment of any of these nerves may contribute to the complex clinical picture of plantar fasciitis (<u>Plaza-Manzano et al., 2019</u>).

Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fearavoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient Specific Functional Scale
- Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)
- Visual Analog Scale (VAS)
- Lower Extremity Functional Scale (LEFS)
- Foot and Ankle Ability Measure
- Foot and Ankle Disability Index

Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

A massage therapy treatment plan should be implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance. Structures to keep in mind while assessing and treating patients suffering from plantar heel pain may include neurovascular structures and investing fascia of:

- Plantar Fascia
- Lumbricals
- Adductor Hallucis
- Flexor Hallucis Brevis
- Metatarsals & Interossei
- Peroneals (peroneus longus, peroneus brevis)
- Hamstring Muscles (semimembranosus, semitendinosus and biceps femoris)
- Anterior Compartment of the Leg (tibialis anterior, extensor hallucis longus, extensor digitorum longus, peroneus tertius)
- Superficial Posterior Compartment of the Leg (gastrocnemius, soleus, plantaris)
- Deep Posterior Compartment of the Leg (flexor hallucis longus, flexor digitorum longus, tibialis posterior, popliteus)
- Ankle Joint (the talocrural joint, subtalar joint and the inferior tibiofibular joint)

Rehabilitation Considerations

Foot Core Exercise – Intrinsic foot muscles play a crucial role in supporting the medial longitudinal arch, providing the foot stability and flexibility for shock absorption. There are a number of foot core exercises that will help recondition foot muscles (McKeon et al., 2015).

- Toe Adduction & Abduction
- Doming & Arching
- Toe Splaying
- Big Toe Press
- Reverse Tandem Gait
- Vele's Forward Lean

Prognosis

Massage therapy as a therapeutic intervention is being embraced by the medical community. This is in part because it is a non-pharmacological therapeutic intervention that is simple to carry out, economical, and has very few side effects. Existing evidence suggests that massage therapy (joint mobilization and soft tissue massage) is helpful in improving function and reducing plantar heel pain (Fraser et al., 2018).

In cases that involve nerve entrapment, a massage therapist may use a specialized technique called neural mobilization. The goal of neural mobilization is to free the entrapped nerve by mobilization of the nerve itself or muscles that surround the nerve. There is a fair-bit of research to support the use of neural mobilization. A 2017 meta-analysis published in the *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy* showed that nerve mobilizations are an effective treatment approach for patients with back, neck and foot pain (Basson et al., 2017).

Massage Sloth: Massage Tutorial – Myofascial Release for Plantar Fasciitis and Heel Pain



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=22

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for plantar heel pain based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization, IASTM)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Albin, S. R., Koppenhaver, S. L., Bailey, B., Blommel, H., Fenter, B., Lowrimore, C., ... McPoil, T. G. (2019). The effect of manual therapy on gastrocnemius muscle stiffness in healthy individuals. *Foot (Edinburgh, Scotland)*, 38, 70–75. doi:10.1016/j.foot.2019.01.006

AlKhadhrawi, N., & Alshami, A. (2019). Effects of myofascial trigger point dry cupping on pain and function in patients with plantar heel pain: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of bodywork and movement therapies*, 23(3), 532–538. doi:10.1016/j.jbmt.2019.05.016

Basson, A., Olivier, B., Ellis, R., Coppieters, M., Stewart, A., & Mudzi, W. (2017). The Effectiveness of Neural Mobilization for Neuromusculoskeletal Conditions: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 47(9), 593–615. doi:10.2519/jospt.2017.7117

Caratun, R., Rutkowski, N. A., & Finestone, H. M. (2018). Stubborn heel pain: Treatment of plantar fasciitis using high-load strength training. *Canadian family physician*, 64(1), 44–46.

Escaloni, J., Young, I., & Loss, J. (2019). Cupping with neural glides for the management of peripheral neuropathic plantar foot pain: a case study. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 27(1), 54–61. doi:10.1080/10669817.2018.1514355

Fraser, J. J., Corbett, R., Donner, C., & Hertel, J. (2018). Does manual therapy improve pain and function in patients with plantar fasciitis? A systematic review. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 26(2), 55–65. doi:10.1080/10669817.2017.1322736

Nahin, R. L. (2018). Prevalence and Pharmaceutical Treatment of Plantar Fasciitis in United States Adults. *The journal of pain*, 19(8), 885–896. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2018.03.003

McKeon, P. O., Hertel, J., Bramble, D., & Davis, I. (2015). The foot core system: a new paradigm for understanding intrinsic foot muscle function. *British journal of sports medicine*, 49(5), 290. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2013-092690

Plaza-Manzano, G., Ríos-León, M., Martín-Casas, P., Arendt-Nielsen, L., Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., & Ortega-Santiago, R. (2019). Widespread Pressure Pain Hypersensitivity in Musculoskeletal and Nerve Trunk Areas as a Sign of Altered Nociceptive Processing in Unilateral Plantar Heel Pain. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 20(1), 60–67. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2018.08.001

Rasenberg, N., Riel, H., Rathleff, M. S., Bierma-Zeinstra, S., & van Middelkoop, M. (2018). Efficacy of foot orthoses for the treatment of plantar heel pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *British journal of sports medicine*, 52(16), 1040–1046. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2017-097892

Renan-Ordine, R., Alburquerque-Sendín, F., de Souza, D. P., Cleland, J. A., & Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C. (2011). Effectiveness of myofascial trigger point manual therapy combined with a self-stretching protocol for the management of plantar heel pain: a randomized controlled trial. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 41(2), 43–50. doi:10.2519/jospt.2011.3504

Saban, B., Deutscher, D., & Ziv, T. (2014). Deep massage to posterior calf muscles in combination with neural mobilization exercises as a treatment for heel pain: a pilot randomized clinical trial. *Manual therapy*, 19(2), 102–108. doi:10.1016/j.math.2013.08.001

REHABILITATION FOR STRAINS AND SPRAINS

Rehabilitation for Strains and Sprains

Pathophysiology

Many of the current clinical practice guidelines for acute care of sprains and strains run counter to some long held beliefs. One of the primary changes surrounding the management of acute injuries is that most guidelines recommend against the use of ice to control inflammation. It is now recognized that ice can delay healing, increase swelling, and possibly cause additional damage to injured tissues (<u>Duchesne et al., 2017</u>).

Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient Specific Functional Scale
- Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)
- Visual Analog Scale (VAS)

Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

Ascribing a patient's pain solely to a tissue-driven pain problem is often an oversimplification of a complex process. This insight provides us with an opportunity to re-frame our clinical models. Gently stretching the muscles, neurovascular structures, and investing fascia activates endogenous pain modulating systems that help to modulate neuro-immune responses. There is initial evidence indicating that conservative methods (exercise or manual therapy) may be able to mitigate the development of fibrosis and other similar pathologies by attenuating tissue levels of fibrosis and TGF- β 1 (Bove et al., 2016; Bove et al., 2019).

Rehabilitation Considerations

By following the principles of load and exercise progression early movement and rehabilitation for acute muscle strains may accelerate return to sport. A recent article published in the New England Journal of Medicine highlights the role of early movement and rehabilitation for acute muscle strains (<u>Bayer et al., 2017</u>), this study used a combination of loads to accelerate return to sport including:

- Static stretching (Three times a day 30 seconds)
- Isometric exercises
- Dynamic resistance exercises
- Heavy slow resistance exercises

PEACE & LOVE: New acronym for the treatment of traumatic injuries

One of the primary changes surrounding the management of acute injuries is that most guidelines recommend against the use of ice to control inflammation. It is now recognized that ice can delay healing, increase swelling, and possibly cause additional damage to injured tissues. Traditionally treatment of an acute sprain or strain consists of RICE (Rest, Ice, Compression, Elevation), the most recent recommendation has been to provide soft tissue injuries with the PEACE & LOVE protocol to encourage optimal loading of the joint and tissue around the affected injury to can impact the amount swelling leading to a faster recovery (Dubois & Esculier, 2020).

- **PEACE** makes up the first steps you would take after an injury. Immediately after the injury you would want to protect (P) the injured structure, followed by elevating (E) the limb higher than the heart, avoid anti-inflammatory (A) both over-the-counter or prescriptions and ice, as they slow down tissue healing. Compress (C) the injured area to decrease swelling. Ensure patient education (E) on the risks of overtreatment.
- LOVE makes up the progressive return to activities a few days after the injury. Gradual load (L) will facilitate healing, optimistic (O) influences the perception of pain and recovery speed. Loading and progressive return to activity will facilitate vascularization (V) of the injured tissues. The last step involves activity exercises (E) can help recover range of motion, strength and proprioception.



A YouTube element has been excluded from this version of the text. You can view it online here: https://ecampusontario.pressbooks.pub/handbookformassagetherapists/?p=881

Prognosis

Massage therapy as a therapeutic intervention is being embraced by the medical community. This is in part because it is a non-pharmacological therapeutic intervention that is simple to carry out, economical, and has very few side effects. Existing evidence suggests that massage therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization) can be utilized to help relieve pain, improve function, and reduce anxiety when integrated with standard care (Brasure et al., 2019). However, massage therapists should not overlook the importance of educating patients and addressing psychosocial factors to enhance recovery, which is the backbone of rehabilitation of acute injuries.

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for acute sprains and strains based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization)
- Education on psychosocial factors (e.g. biopsychosocial framework of pain, fear avoidance, and painrelated coping)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (e.g. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Barbe, M. F., Hilliard, B. A., Delany, S. P., Iannarone, V. J., Harris, M. Y., Amin, M., ... Popoff, S. N. (2019). Blocking CCN2 Reduces Progression of Sensorimotor Declines and Fibrosis in a Rat Model of Chronic Repetitive Overuse. *Journal of orthopaedic research: official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society*, 37(9), 2004–2018. doi:10.1002/jor.24337

Bayer, M. L., Magnusson, S. P., Kjaer, M., & Tendon Research Group Bispebjerg (2017). Early versus Delayed Rehabilitation after Acute Muscle Injury. *The New England journal of medicine*, 377(13), 1300–1301. doi:10.1056/NEJMc1708134

Bayer, M. L., Bang, L., Hoegberget-Kalisz, M., Svensson, R. B., Olesen, J. L., Karlsson, M. M., ... Kjaer, M. (2019). Muscle-strain injury exudate favors acute tissue healing and prolonged connective tissue formation in humans. *FASEB journal: official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, 33(9), 10369–10382. doi:10.1096/fj.201900542R

Berrueta, L., Muskaj, I., Olenich, S., Butler, T., Badger, G. J., Colas, R. A., ... Langevin, H. M. (2016). Stretching Impacts Inflammation Resolution in Connective Tissue. *Journal of cellular physiology*, 231(7), 1621–1627. doi:10.1002/ jcp.25263

Best, T. M., Gharaibeh, B., & Huard, J. (2013). Stem cells, angiogenesis and muscle healing: a potential role in massage therapies?. *British journal of sports medicine*, 47(9), 556–560. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2012-091685

Bojsen-Møller, J., & Magnusson, S. P. (2019). Mechanical properties, physiological behavior, and function of aponeurosis and tendon. *Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md. : 1985)*, 126(6), 1800–1807. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00671.2018

Bove, G. M., Harris, M. Y., Zhao, H., & Barbe, M. F. (2016). Manual therapy as an effective treatment for fibrosis

254 | REHABILITATION FOR STRAINS AND SPRAINS

in a rat model of upper extremity overuse injury. *Journal of the neurological sciences*, 361, 168–180. doi:10.1016/ j.jns.2015.12.029

Bove, G. M., Delany, S. P., Hobson, L., Cruz, G. E., Harris, M. Y., Amin, M., ... Barbe, M. F. (2019). Manual therapy prevents onset of nociceptor activity, sensorimotor dysfunction, and neural fibrosis induced by a volitional repetitive task. *Pain*, 160(3), 632–644. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001443

Brasure, M., Nelson, V.A., Scheiner, S., Forte, M.L., Butler, M., Nagarkar, S., Saha, J., Wilt, T.J. (2019). Treatment for Acute Pain: An Evidence Map [Internet]. *Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US)*.

Cholok, D., Lee, E., Lisiecki, J., Agarwal, S., Loder, S., Ranganathan, K., ... Levi, B. (2017). Traumatic muscle fibrosis: From pathway to prevention. *The journal of trauma and acute care surgery*, 82(1), 174–184. doi:10.1097/ TA.000000000001290

Dubois, B., & Esculier, J. F. (2020). Soft-tissue injuries simply need PEACE and LOVE. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(2), 72–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-101253</u>

Duchesne, E., Dufresne, S. S., & Dumont, N. A. (2017). Impact of Inflammation and Anti-inflammatory Modalities on Skeletal Muscle Healing: From Fundamental Research to the Clinic. *Physical therapy*, 97(8), 807–817. doi:10.1093/ptj/ pzx056

Dunn, S. L., & Olmedo, M. L. (2016). Mechanotransduction: Relevance to Physical Therapist Practice-Understanding Our Ability to Affect Genetic Expression Through Mechanical Forces. *Physical therapy*, 96(5), 712–721. doi:10.2522/ ptj.20150073

Edwards, W. B. (2018). Modeling Overuse Injuries in Sport as a Mechanical Fatigue Phenomenon. *Exercise and sport sciences reviews*, 46(4), 224–231. doi:10.1249/JES.00000000000163

Hamilton, B., Alonso, J. M., & Best, T. M. (2017). Time for a paradigm shift in the classification of muscle injuries. *Journal of sport and health science*, 6(3), 255–261. doi:10.1016/j.jshs.2017.04.011

Hunt, E. R., Baez, S. E., Olson, A. D., Butterfield, T. A., & Dupont-Versteegden, E. (2019). Using Massage to Combat Fear-Avoidance and the Pain Tension Cycle. *International Journal of Athletic Therapy and Training*, 24(5), 198-201.

Hunt, E. R., Confides, A. L., Abshire, S. M., Dupont-Versteegden, E. E., & Butterfield, T. A. (2019). Massage increases satellite cell number independent of the age-associated alterations in sarcolemma permeability. *Physiological reports*, 7(17), e14200. doi:10.14814/phy2.14200

Hsu, J. R., Mir, H., Wally, M. K., Seymour, R. B., & Orthopaedic Trauma Association Musculoskeletal Pain Task Force (2019). Clinical Practice Guidelines for Pain Management in Acute Musculoskeletal Injury. *Journal of orthopaedic trauma*, 33(5), e158–e182. doi:10.1097/BOT.00000000001430

Laumonier, T., & Menetrey, J. (2016). Muscle injuries and strategies for improving their repair. *Journal of experimental orthopaedics*, 3(1), 15. doi:10.1186/s40634-016-0051-7

Magnusson, S. P., & Kjaer, M. (2019). The impact of loading, unloading, ageing and injury on the human tendon. *The Journal of physiology*, 597(5), 1283–1298. doi:10.1113/JP275450

McGorm, H., Roberts, L. A., Coombes, J. S., & Peake, J. M. (2018). Turning Up the Heat: An Evaluation of the Evidence for Heating to Promote Exercise Recovery, Muscle Rehabilitation and Adaptation. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 48(6), 1311–1328. doi:10.1007/s40279-018-0876-6

McKeon, P. O., & Donovan, L. (2019). A Perceptual Framework for Conservative Treatment and Rehabilitation of Ankle Sprains: An Evidence-Based Paradigm Shift. *Journal of athletic training*, 54(6), 628–638. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-474-17

Miller, B. F., Hamilton, K. L., Majeed, Z. R., Abshire, S. M., Confides, A. L., Hayek, A. M., ... Dupont-Versteegden, E. E. (2018). Enhanced skeletal muscle regrowth and remodelling in massaged and contralateral non-massaged hindlimb. *The Journal of physiology*, 596(1), 83–103. doi:10.1113/JP275089

Ng, J. L., Kersh, M. E., Kilbreath, S., & Knothe Tate, M. (2017). Establishing the Basis for Mechanobiology-Based Physical Therapy Protocols to Potentiate Cellular Healing and Tissue Regeneration. *Frontiers in physiology*, 8, 303. doi:10.3389/fphys.2017.00303

Rice, S. M., Gwyther, K., Santesteban-Echarri, O., Baron, D., Gorczynski, P., Gouttebarge, V., ... Purcell, R. (2019). Determinants of anxiety in elite athletes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *British journal of sports medicine*, 53(11), 722–730. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2019-100620

Sato-Suzuki, I., Kagitani, F., & Uchida, S. (2019). Somatosensory regulation of resting muscle blood flow and physical therapy. *Autonomic neuroscience: basic & clinical*, 220, 102557. doi:10.1016/j.autneu.2019.102557

Schleip, R., Gabbiani, G., Wilke, J., Naylor, I., Hinz, B., Zorn, A., ... Klingler, W. (2019). Fascia Is Able to Actively Contract and May Thereby Influence Musculoskeletal Dynamics: A Histochemical and Mechanographic Investigation. *Frontiers in physiology*, 10, 336. doi:10.3389/fphys.2019.00336

Stern, B. D., Hegedus, E. J., & Lai, Y. C. (2020). Injury prediction as a non-linear system. *Physical therapy in sport:* official journal of the Association of Chartered Physiotherapists in Sports Medicine, 41, 43–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ptsp.2019.10.010</u>

Thompson, W. R., Scott, A., Loghmani, M. T., Ward, S. R., & Warden, S. J. (2016). Understanding Mechanobiology: Physical Therapists as a Force in Mechanotherapy and Musculoskeletal Regenerative Rehabilitation. *Physical therapy*, 96(4), 560–569. doi:10.2522/ptj.20150224

Vuurberg, G., Hoorntje, A., Wink, L. M., van der Doelen, B., van den Bekerom, M. P., Dekker, R., ... Kerkhoffs, G.

256 | REHABILITATION FOR STRAINS AND SPRAINS

(2018). Diagnosis, treatment and prevention of ankle sprains: update of an evidence-based clinical guideline. *British journal of sports medicine*, 52(15), 956. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2017-098106

Waters-Banker, C., Dupont-Versteegden, E. E., Kitzman, P. H., & Butterfield, T. A. (2014). Investigating the mechanisms of massage efficacy: the role of mechanical immunomodulation. *Journal of athletic training*, 49(2), 266–273. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-49.2.25

Fibromyalgia

Fibromyalgia is used to describe a 'constellation of symptoms' characterized by widespread pain in the muscles and joints, fatigue, sleep problems and cognitive difficulties (<u>Arnold et al., 2019</u>).

Pathophysiology

The current scientific consensus is that symptoms are caused by ongoing neuro-inflammation and hyper-vigilance of the central nervous system. More specifically sustained glial cell activation and elevated levels of certain inflammatory substances (<u>Albrecht et al., 2019</u>). Symptoms are then exacerbated as the body struggles to dampen neuro-immune responses associated with pain, fatigue and cognitive difficulties.

Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient Specific Functional Scale
- Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)
- Visual Analog Scale (VAS)
- Fatigue Severity Scale
- Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQ)
- Michigan Body Map
- Perceived Stress Questionnaire (PSQ)
- McGill Pain Questionnaire (MPQ)
- Pain Self Efficacy Scale
- Multidimensional Pain Inventory

258 | FIBROMYALGIA

Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

Ascribing a patient's pain solely to a tissue-driven pain problem is often an oversimplification of a complex process. This insight provides us with an opportunity to re-frame our clinical models. Gently stretching the muscles, neurovascular structures, and investing fascia activates endogenous pain modulating systems that help to modulate neuro-immune responses (Espejo et al., 2018).

Prognosis

A number of clinical practice guidelines now recommend the use of massage therapy as part of a multi-modal approach for patients with Fibromyalgia (<u>Busse et al., 2017</u>; <u>Skelly et al., 2020</u>). It is not suggested that massage therapy alone can control symptoms but can be utilized to help relieve pain & reduce anxiety when integrated with standard care.

Massage Sloth: Massage for Fibromyalgia

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=O5UhECAwOHs[/embed]

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for fibromyalgia based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization)
- Education on psychosocial factors (e.g. biopsychosocial framework of pain, fear avoidance, and painrelated coping)

- Stretching & Loading Programs (e.g. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Albrecht, D. S., Forsberg, A., Sandström, A., Bergan, C., Kadetoff, D., Protsenko, E., ... Loggia, M. L. (2019). Brain glial activation in fibromyalgia – A multi-site positron emission tomography investigation. *Brain, behavior, and immunity*, 75, 72–83. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2018.09.018

Arnold, L. M., Bennett, R. M., Crofford, L. J., Dean, L. E., Clauw, D. J., Goldenberg, D. L., ... Macfarlane, G. J. (2019). AAPT Diagnostic Criteria for Fibromyalgia. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 20(6), 611–628. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2018.10.008

Busse, J. W., Craigie, S., Juurlink, D. N., Buckley, D. N., Wang, L., Couban, R. J., ... Guyatt, G. H. (2017). Guideline for opioid therapy and chronic noncancer pain. *CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association journal*, 189(18), E659–E666. doi:10.1503/cmaj.170363

Dailey, D. L., Vance, C., Rakel, B. A., Zimmerman, M. B., Embree, J., Merriwether, E. N., Geasland, K. M., ... Sluka, K. A. (2020). Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation Reduces Movement-Evoked Pain and Fatigue: A Randomized, Controlled Trial. *Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, N.J.)*, 72(5), 824–836. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/art.41170</u>

de Oliveira, F. R., Visnardi Gonçalves, L. C., Borghi, F., da Silva, L., Gomes, A. E., Trevisan, G., ... de Oliveira Crege, D. (2018). Massage therapy in cortisol circadian rhythm, pain intensity, perceived stress index and quality of life of fibromyalgia syndrome patients. *Complementary therapies in clinical practice*, 30, 85–90. doi:10.1016/j.ctcp.2017.12.006

Espejo, J. A., García-Escudero, M., & Oltra, E. (2018). Unraveling the Molecular Determinants of Manual Therapy: An Approach to Integrative Therapeutics for the Treatment of Fibromyalgia and Chronic Fatigue Syndrome/Myalgic Encephalomyelitis. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 19(9), 2673. doi:10.3390/ijms19092673

Skelly, A.C., Chou, R., Dettori, J.R., Turner, J.A., Friedly, J.L., Rundell, S.D., ... Ferguson, A.J.R. (2020). *Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review Update*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.23970/</u> AHRQEPCCER227

Sluka, K. A., & Clauw, D. J. (2016). Neurobiology of fibromyalgia and chronic widespread pain. *Neuroscience*, 338, 114–129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.06.006</u>

Prabhakar, A., Kaiser, J. M., Novitch, M. B., Cornett, E. M., Urman, R. D., & Kaye, A. D. (2019). The Role of Complementary and Alternative Medicine Treatments in Fibromyalgia: a Comprehensive Review. *Current rheumatology reports*, 21(5), 14. doi:10.1007/s11926-019-0814-0

Yuan, S. L., Matsutani, L. A., & Marques, A. P. (2015). Effectiveness of different styles of massage therapy in fibromyalgia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Manual therapy*, 20(2), 257–264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2014.09.003</u>

CHRONIC PAIN

Chronic Pain

Chronic pain is defined as pain that persists or recurs for longer than three months. Such pain often becomes the sole or predominant clinical problem in some patients.

- **Chronic primary pain** is characterized by disability or emotional distress and not better accounted for by another diagnosis of chronic pain. Here, you will find chronic widespread pain, chronic musculoskeletal pain previously termed "non-specific" as well as the primary headaches and conditions such as chronic pelvic pain and irritable bowel syndrome.
- Chronic secondary pain is organized into the following six categories:
 - 1. Chronic cancer-related pain is chronic pain that is due to cancer or its treatment, such as chemotherapy.
 - 2. Chronic postsurgical or post-traumatic pain is chronic pain that develops or increases in intensity after a tissue trauma (surgical or accidental) and persists beyond three months.
 - 3. **Chronic neuropathic pain** is chronic pain caused by a lesion or disease of the somatosensory nervous system. Peripheral and central neuropathic pain are classified here.
 - 4. Chronic secondary headache or orofacial pain contains the chronic forms of symptomatic headaches and follows closely the ICHD-3 classification.
 - 5. **Chronic secondary visceral pain** is chronic pain secondary to an underlying condition originating from internal organs of the head or neck region or of the thoracic, abdominal or pelvic regions. It can be caused by persistent inflammation, vascular mechanisms or mechanical factors.
 - 6. **Chronic secondary musculoskeletal pain** is chronic pain in bones, joints and tendons arising from an underlying disease classified elsewhere. It can be due to persistent inflammation, associated with structural changes or caused by altered biomechanical function due to diseases of the nervous system.

Pathophysiology

Chronic pain is a condition, affecting an estimated 20% of people worldwide. The current scientific consensus is that symptoms are caused by ongoing neuro-inflammation and hyper-vigilance of the central nervous system. More specifically sustained glial cell activation and elevated levels of certain inflammatory substances.

Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following chronic pain outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Patient Global Impression Change
- Pain Self Efficacy Scale
- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient Specific Functional Scale
- Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)
- Numeric Pain Rating Scale (NPRS)
- Visual Analogue Scale (VAS)
- Michigan Body Map
- Perceived Stress Questionnaire (PSQ)
- McGill Pain Questionnaire (MPQ) or The Revised Short McGill Pain Questionnaire Version-2 (SF-MPQ-2)
- Multidimensional Pain Inventory
- Short Musculoskeletal Function Assessment (SMFA)

Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

Ascribing a patient's pain solely to a tissue-driven pain problem is an oversimplification of a complex process. This insight provides us with an opportunity to re-frame our clinical models. Gently stretching the muscles, neurovascular structures, and investing fascia activates endogenous pain modulating systems that help to modulate neuro-immune responses.

Prognosis

A number of clinical practice guidelines now recommend the use of massage therapy as part of a multi-modal approach

for patients with chronic pain (Busse et al., 2017; Skelly et al., 2018). It is not suggested that massage therapy alone can control symptoms but can be utilized to help relieve pain & reduce anxiety when integrated with standard care.

The Mysterious Science of Pain – Joshua W. Pate

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eakyDiXX6Uc[/embed]

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for chronic pain based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization)
- Education on psychosocial factors (e.g. biopsychosocial framework of pain, fear avoidance, and painrelated coping)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (e.g. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Booth, J., Moseley, G. L., Schiltenwolf, M., Cashin, A., Davies, M., & Hübscher, M. (2017). Exercise for chronic musculoskeletal pain: A biopsychosocial approach. *Musculoskeletal care*, 15(4), 413–421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/msc.1191</u>

Busse, J. W., Craigie, S., Juurlink, D. N., Buckley, D. N., Wang, L., Couban, R. J., ... Guyatt, G. H. (2017). Guideline for opioid therapy and chronic noncancer pain. *CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association journal*, 189(18), E659–E666. doi:10.1503/cmaj.170363

Busse, J. W., Wang, L., Kamaleldin, M., Craigie, S., Riva, J. J., Montoya, L., ... Guyatt, G. H. (2018). Opioids for Chronic Noncancer Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA*, 320(23), 2448–2460. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.18472</u>

264 | CHRONIC PAIN

Chen, G., Zhang, Y. Q., Qadri, Y. J., Serhan, C. N., & Ji, R. R. (2018). Microglia in Pain: Detrimental and Protective Roles in Pathogenesis and Resolution of Pain. *Neuron*, 100(6), 1292–1311. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2018.11.009</u>

Chen, L., & Michalsen, A. (2017). Management of chronic pain using complementary and integrative medicine. *BMJ* (*Clinical research ed.*), 357, j1284. doi:10.1136/bmj.j1284

Chen, Q., & Heinricher, M. M. (2019). Descending Control Mechanisms and Chronic Pain. *Current rheumatology* reports, 21(5), 13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11926-019-0813-1</u>

Chou, R., Hartung, D., Turner, J., Blazina, I., Chan, B., Levander, X., ... Pappas, M. (2020). *Opioid Treatments for Chronic Pain. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality* (US). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.23970/AHRQEPCCER229</u>.

Clauw, D. J., Essex, M. N., Pitman, V., & Jones, K. D. (2019). Reframing chronic pain as a disease, not a symptom: rationale and implications for pain management. *Postgraduate medicine*, 131(3), 185–198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00325481.2019.1574403</u>

Courtney, C. A., Fernández-de-Las-Peñas, C., & Bond, S. (2017). Mechanisms of chronic pain – key considerations for appropriate physical therapy management. *The Journal of manual & manipulative therapy*, 25(3), 118–127. https://doi.org/10.1080/10669817.2017.1300397

Haller, H., Lauche, R., Sundberg, T., Dobos, G., & Cramer, H. (2019). Craniosacral therapy for chronic pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *BMC musculoskeletal disorders*, 21(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-019-3017-y

Ji, R. R., Nackley, A., Huh, Y., Terrando, N., & Maixner, W. (2018). Neuroinflammation and Central Sensitization in Chronic and Widespread Pain. *Anesthesiology*, 129(2), 343–366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/ALN.00000000002130</u>

Jonas, W. B., Crawford, C., Colloca, L., Kriston, L., Linde, K., Moseley, B., & Meissner, K. (2019). Are Invasive Procedures Effective for Chronic Pain? A Systematic Review. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, 20(7), 1281–1293. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pny154

Langford, D. J., Tauben, D. J., Sturgeon, J. A., Godfrey, D. S., Sullivan, M. D., & Doorenbos, A. Z. (2018). Treat the Patient, Not the Pain: Using a Multidimensional Assessment Tool to Facilitate Patient-Centered Chronic Pain Care. *Journal of general internal medicine*, 33(8), 1235–1238. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-018-4456-0

Lin, I., Wiles, L., Waller, R., Goucke, R., Nagree, Y., Gibberd, M., Straker, L., Maher, C. G., & O'Sullivan, P. (2020). What does best practice care for musculoskeletal pain look like? Eleven consistent recommendations from high-quality clinical practice guidelines: systematic review. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(2), 79–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018-099878</u>

Loeser, J. D., & Melzack, R. (1999). Pain: an overview. *Lancet (London, England)*, 353(9164), 1607–1609. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(99)01311-2

Martinez-Calderon, J., Flores-Cortes, M., Morales-Asencio, J. M., & Luque-Suarez, A. (2019). Pain-Related Fear, Pain

Intensity and Function in Individuals With Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 20(12), 1394–1415. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2019.04.009</u>

Matsuda, M., Huh, Y., & Ji, R. R. (2019). Roles of inflammation, neurogenic inflammation, and neuroinflammation in pain. *Journal of anesthesia*, 33(1), 131–139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00540-018-2579-4</u>

Miake-Lye, I. M., Mak, S., Lee, J., Luger, T., Taylor, S. L., Shanman, R., Beroes-Severin, J. M., & Shekelle, P. G. (2019). Massage for Pain: An Evidence Map. *Journal of alternative and complementary medicine (New York, N.Y.)*, 25(5), 475–502. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/acm.2018.0282</u>

Meints, S. M., & Edwards, R. R. (2018). Evaluating psychosocial contributions to chronic pain outcomes. *Progress in neuro-psychopharmacology & biological psychiatry*, 87(Pt B), 168–182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2018.01.017</u>

Melzack, R., & Wall, P. D. (1965). Pain mechanisms: a new theory. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 150(3699), 971–979. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.150.3699.971

Melzack, R., & Katz, J. (2013). Pain. Wiley interdisciplinary reviews. *Cognitive science*, 4(1), 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcs.1201</u>

Nahin, R. L., Sayer, B., Stussman, B. J., & Feinberg, T. M. (2019). Eighteen-Year Trends in the Prevalence of, and Health Care Use for, Noncancer Pain in the United States: Data from the Medical Expenditure Panel Survey. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 20(7), 796–809. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2019.01.003

Nijs, J., Mairesse, O., Neu, D., Leysen, L., Danneels, L., Cagnie, B., Meeus, M., Moens, M., Ickmans, K., & Goubert, D. (2018). Sleep Disturbances in Chronic Pain: Neurobiology, Assessment, and Treatment in Physical Therapist Practice. *Physical therapy*, 98(5), 325–335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/pzy020</u>

Nijs, J., Leysen, L., Vanlauwe, J., Logghe, T., Ickmans, K., Polli, A., Malfliet, A., Coppieters, I., & Huysmans, E. (2019). Treatment of central sensitization in patients with chronic pain: time for change?. *Expert opinion on pharmacotherapy*, 20(16), 1961–1970. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14656566.2019.1647166</u>

Nijs, J., Wijma, A. J., Willaert, W., Huysmans, E., Mintken, P., Smeets, R., ... Donaldson, M. (2020). Integrating Motivational Interviewing in Pain Neuroscience Education for People With Chronic Pain: A Practical Guide for Clinicians. *Physical therapy*, pzaa021. Advance online publication. doi:10.1093/ptj/pzaa021

Perrot, S., Cohen, M., Barke, A., Korwisi, B., Rief, W., Treede, R. D., & IASP Taskforce for the Classification of Chronic Pain (2019). The IASP classification of chronic pain for ICD-11: chronic secondary musculoskeletal pain. *Pain*, 160(1), 77–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000001389</u>

Rethorn, Z. D., Cook, C., & Reneker, J. C. (2019). Social Determinants of Health: If You Aren't Measuring Them, You Aren't Seeing the Big Picture. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 49(12), 872–874. <u>https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2019.0613</u>

Rice, D., Nijs, J., Kosek, E., Wideman, T., Hasenbring, M. I., Koltyn, K., Graven-Nielsen, T., & Polli, A. (2019). Exercise-

266 | CHRONIC PAIN

Induced Hypoalgesia in Pain-Free and Chronic Pain Populations: State of the Art and Future Directions. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 20(11), 1249–1266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2019.03.005

Rossettini, G., Carlino, E., & Testa, M. (2018). Clinical relevance of contextual factors as triggers of placebo and nocebo effects in musculoskeletal pain. *BMC musculoskeletal disorders*, 19(1), 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-018-1943-8

Skelly, A. C., Chou, R., Dettori, J. R., Turner, J. A., Friedly, J. L., Rundell, S. D., ... Ferguson, A. (2018). *Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.23970/AHRQEPCCER209</u>

Skelly, A.C., Chou, R., Dettori, J.R., Turner, J.A., Friedly, J.L., Rundell, S.D., ... Ferguson, A.J.R. (2020). *Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review Update*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.23970/</u> AHRQEPCCER227

Treede, R. D., Rief, W., Barke, A., Aziz, Q., Bennett, M. I., Benoliel, R., ... Wang, S. J. (2019). Chronic pain as a symptom or a disease: the IASP Classification of Chronic Pain for the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11). *Pain*, 160(1), 19–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000001384</u>

Veiga, D. R., Monteiro-Soares, M., Mendonça, L., Sampaio, R., Castro-Lopes, J. M., & Azevedo, L. F. (2019). Effectiveness of Opioids for Chronic Noncancer Pain: A Two-Year Multicenter, Prospective Cohort Study With Propensity Score Matching. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 20(6), 706–715. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2018.12.007

Vickers, A. J., Vertosick, E. A., Lewith, G., MacPherson, H., Foster, N. E., Sherman, K. J., Irnich, D., Witt, C. M., Linde, K., & Acupuncture Trialists' Collaboration (2018). Acupuncture for Chronic Pain: Update of an Individual Patient Data Meta-Analysis. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 19(5), 455–474. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2017.11.005</u>

Walton, D. & Elliott, J. (2020). *Musculoskeletal Pain – Assessment, Prediction and Treatment: A pragmatic approach.* Handspring Publishing.

Watson, J. A., Ryan, C. G., Cooper, L., Ellington, D., Whittle, R., Lavender, M., ... & Martin, D. J. (2019). Pain Neuroscience Education for Adults With Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain: A Mixed-Methods Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 20(10), 1140.e1–1140.e22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2019.02.011

Wideman, T. H., Edwards, R. R., Walton, D. M., Martel, M. O., Hudon, A., & Seminowicz, D. A. (2019). The Multimodal Assessment Model of Pain: A Novel Framework for Further Integrating the Subjective Pain Experience Within Research and Practice. *The Clinical journal of pain*, 35(3), 212–221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.000000000000670</u>

OSTEOARTHRITIS

Massage Therapy for People with Osteoarthritis

Osteoarthritis (OA) is the most common form of arthritis, affecting an estimated 302 million people worldwide, this is a condition characterized by cartilage degradation and bone remodeling which in some cases can lead to pain, stiffness, swelling, and loss of normal joint function (Kolasinski et al., 2020).

Pathophysiology

Osteoarthritis is a common finding in the general population, and most commonly will affect knees, hips, hands, and the spine. In addition to tissue degeneration this condition involves sensitization of the nervous system, which may result in patients with osteoarthritis perceiving relatively low level stimuli as being overtly painful (<u>Hunter & Bierma-Zeinstra</u>, 2019).

Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Patient Global Impression Change
- Pain Self Efficacy Scale
- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient Specific Functional Scale
- Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)
- Numeric Pain Rating Scale (NPRS)
- Visual Analogue Scale (VAS)
- McGill Pain Questionnaire (MPQ) or The Revised Short McGill Pain Questionnaire Version-2 (SF-MPQ-2)
- Multidimensional Pain Inventory
- Short Musculoskeletal Function Assessment (SMFA)

268 | OSTEOARTHRITIS

- Knee Injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS)
- The Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC)

Treatment

Skills-based capability framework for health professionals providing care for people with osteoarthritis

There are a number of rehabilitation strategies for osteoarthritis based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to self-management and education, exercise, and manual therapy. A skills-based capability framework helps to facilitate individualized treatment decisions regarding the management of osteoarthritis (<u>Hinman et al., 2020</u>), this includes but is not limited to:

- 1. communication
- 2. person-centred care;
- 3. history-taking;
- 4. physical assessment;
- 5. investigations and diagnosis;
- 6. interventions and care planning;
- 7. prevention and lifestyle interventions;
- 8. self-management and behaviour change;
- 9. rehabilitative interventions;
- 10. pharmacotherapy;
- 11. surgical interventions;
- 12. referrals and collaborative working;
- 13. evidence-based practice and service development

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

A number of clinical practice guidelines and randomized controlled trials recommend the use of manual therapy as part of a multi-modal approach for patients with osteoarthritis related pain (Busse et al., 2017; Kolasinski et al., 2020; Skelly et al., 2020). Two recent randomized clinical trials have highlighted the effect of conservative treatment options for patients suffering from osteoarthritis related knee pain. In one randomized clinical trial published in the *Journal of General Internal Medicine* massage therapy was shown to improve function in patients who suffer from osteoarthritis related knee pain (Perlman et al., 2019). In addition a randomized trial published in *The New England journal of medicine* demonstrated the benefits of a conservative multimodal approach (manual therapy + exercise) for patients with symptomatic osteoarthritis of the knee (Deyle et al., 2020).

It is not suggested that massage therapy alone can control symptoms but can be utilized to help relieve pain & reduce anxiety when integrated with standard care. Ascribing a patient's pain solely to a tissue-driven pain problem is often an oversimplification of a complex process. This insight provides us with an opportunity to re-frame our clinical models. Massage therapy is a form of peripheral somatosensory stimulation that can modulate the activity of neuro-immune (peripheral, cortical, subcortical) processes correlated with the experience of pain (Bialosky et al., 2018). By activating ascending and descending inhibitory systems, massage therapy may be able to mitigate the transition, amplification and development of chronic pain.

Exercise

People with lower-extremity osteoarthritis should be encouraged to engage in physical activity, irrespective of duration. There is good evidence that even modest volumes of exercise will benefit people with arthritis-related pain (Kraus et al., 2019).

Prognosis

Clinical practice guidelines for osteoarthritis are moving towards an interdisciplinary approach with an emphasis on self-management, physical and psychological therapies and less emphasis on pharmacological and surgical treatments (Bannuru et al., 2019; Kolasinski et al., 2020). Pharmacological treatments options such as opioid analgesics and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) have small effects on osteoarthritis related pain and are associated with adverse effects (Chou et al., 2020; Fuggle et al., 2019; Gregori et al., 2018; Machado et al., 2015; Zeng et al., 2019. Research also has demonstrated that corticosteroid injections can harm the joint resulting in cartilage loss, accelerated progression of osteoarthritis, and increase the risk of requiring arthroplasty (Kompel et al., 2019; Wijn et al., 2020).

Embracing an interprofessional strategy for pain treatment can include the use of conservative pain management strategies including but not limited to: low-impact exercise, acupuncture, hydrotherapy, manual therapy, and psychological therapies as part of a multidimensional treatment approach for patients suffering from osteoarthritis related pain (Bannuru et al., 2019; Busse et al., 2017; Kolasinski et al., 2020; Lin et al., 2020; Skelly et al., 2020.

Canadian Chiropractic Guideline Initiative (CCGI): Osteoarthritis Recommendations

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2WfcWMq8bVk[/embed]

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for osteoarthritis based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization)
- Education on psychosocial factors (e.g. biopsychosocial framework of pain, fear avoidance)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (e.g. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Alentorn-Geli, E., Samuelsson, K., Musahl, V., Green, C. L., Bhandari, M., & Karlsson, J. (2017). The Association of Recreational and Competitive Running With Hip and Knee Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 47(6), 373–390. doi:10.2519/jospt.2017.7137

Bacon, K., LaValley, M. P., Jafarzadeh, S. R., & Felson, D. (2020). Does cartilage loss cause pain in osteoarthritis and if so, how much?. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*, annrheumdis-2020-217363. Advance online publication. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-217363</u>

Bannuru, R. R., Osani, M. C., Vaysbrot, E. E., Arden, N. K., Bennell, K., Bierma-Zeinstra, S., ... McAlindon, T. E. (2019). OARSI guidelines for the non-surgical management of knee, hip, and polyarticular osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage*, 27(11), 1578–1589. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2019.06.011

Bennell, K. L., & Hunter, D. J. (2020). Physical Therapy before the Needle for Osteoarthritis of the Knee. *The New England journal of medicine*, 382(15), 1470–1471. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMe2000718

Bialosky, J. E., Beneciuk, J. M., Bishop, M. D., Coronado, R. A., Penza, C. W., Simon, C. B., & George, S. Z. (2018). Unraveling the Mechanisms of Manual Therapy: Modeling an Approach. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(1), 8–18. doi:10.2519/jospt.2018.7476

Bricca, A., Struglics, A., Larsson, S., Steultjens, M., Juhl, C. B., & Roos, E. M. (2019). Impact of Exercise Therapy on Molecular Biomarkers Related to Cartilage and Inflammation in Individuals at Risk of, or With Established, Knee Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Arthritis care & research*, 71(11), 1504–1515. doi:10.1002/acr.23786

Busse, J. W., Craigie, S., Juurlink, D. N., Buckley, D. N., Wang, L., Couban, R. J., ... Guyatt, G. H. (2017). Guideline

for opioid therapy and chronic noncancer pain. *CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne*, 189(18), E659–E666. doi:10.1503/cmaj.170363

Caneiro, J. P., Roos, E. M., Barton, C. J., O'Sullivan, K., Kent, P., Lin, I., Choong, P., Crossley, K. M., Hartvigsen, J., Smith, A. J., & O'Sullivan, P. (2020). It is time to move beyond 'body region silos' to manage musculoskeletal pain: five actions to change clinical practice. *British journal of sports medicine*, *54*(8), 438–439. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018-100488</u>

Caneiro, J. P., O'Sullivan, P. B., Roos, E. M., Smith, A. J., Choong, P., Dowsey, M., ... Barton, C. J. (2020). Three steps to changing the narrative about knee osteoarthritis care: a call to action. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(5), 256–258. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-101328

Charlesworth, J., Fitzpatrick, J., Perera, N., & Orchard, J. (2019). Osteoarthritis- a systematic review of long-term safety implications for osteoarthritis of the knee. *BMC musculoskeletal disorders*, 20(1), 151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-019-2525-0</u>

Chou, R., Hartung, D., Turner, J., Blazina, I., Chan, B., Levander, X., ... Pappas, M. (2020). *Opioid Treatments for Chronic Pain*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.23970/AHRQEPCCER229</u>.

Culvenor, A. G., Øiestad, B. E., Hart, H. F., Stefanik, J. J., Guermazi, A., & Crossley, K. M. (2019). Prevalence of knee osteoarthritis features on magnetic resonance imaging in asymptomatic uninjured adults: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *British journal of sports medicine*, 53(20), 1268–1278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018-099257</u>

Davis, A. M., Kennedy, D., Wong, R., Robarts, S., Skou, S. T., McGlasson, R., ... Roos, E. (2018). Cross-cultural adaptation and implementation of Good Life with osteoarthritis in Denmark (GLA:DTM): group education and exercise for hip and knee osteoarthritis is feasible in Canada. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage*, 26(2), 211–219. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2017.11.005

Deyle, G. D., Allen, C. S., Allison, S. C., Gill, N. W., Hando, B. R., Petersen, E. J., Dusenberry, D. I., & Rhon, D. I. (2020). Physical Therapy versus Glucocorticoid Injection for Osteoarthritis of the Knee. *The New England journal of medicine*, 382(15), 1420–1429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1905877</u>

Fuggle, N., Curtis, E., Shaw, S., Spooner, L., Bruyère, O., Ntani, G., ... Cooper, C. (2019). Safety of Opioids in Osteoarthritis: Outcomes of a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Drugs & aging*, 36(Suppl 1), 129–143. doi:10.1007/s40266-019-00666-9

Gracey, E., Burssens, A., Cambré, I., Schett, G., Lories, R., McInnes, I. B., Asahara, H., & Elewaut, D. (2020). Tendon and ligament mechanical loading in the pathogenesis of inflammatory arthritis. *Nature reviews. Rheumatology*, 16(4), 193–207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41584-019-0364-x</u>

Gregori, D., Giacovelli, G., Minto, C., Barbetta, B., Gualtieri, F., Azzolina, D., ... Rovati, L. C. (2018). Association of Pharmacological Treatments With Long-term Pain Control in Patients With Knee Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA*, 320(24), 2564–2579. doi:10.1001/jama.2018.19319

272 | OSTEOARTHRITIS

Hamasaki, T., Laprise, S., Harris, P. G., Bureau, N. J., Gaudreault, N., Ziegler, D., & Choinière, M. (2019). Efficacy of non-surgical interventions for trapeziometacarpal (thumb base) osteoarthritis: A systematic review. *Arthritis care & research*, 10.1002/acr.24084. Advance online publication. doi:10.1002/acr.24084

Hinman, R. S., Allen, K. D., Bennell, K. L., Berenbaum, F., Betteridge, N., Briggs, A. M., ... van der Esch, M. (2020). Development of a core capability framework for qualified health professionals to optimise care for people with osteoarthritis: an OARSI initiative. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage*, 28(2), 154–166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2019.12.001</u>

Hunter, D. J., & Bierma-Zeinstra, S. (2019). Osteoarthritis. *Lancet (London, England)*, 393(10182), 1745–1759. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30417-9

Kim, C., Stebbings, S., Sundberg, T., Munk, N., Lauche, R., & Ward, L. (2020). Complementary medicine for the management of knee and hip osteoarthritis – A patient perspective. *Musculoskeletal care*, 18(1), 53–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/msc.1441</u>

Kolasinski, S. L., Neogi, T., Hochberg, M. C., Oatis, C., Guyatt, G., Block, J., ... Reston, J. (2020). 2019 American College of Rheumatology/Arthritis Foundation Guideline for the Management of Osteoarthritis of the Hand, Hip, and Knee. *Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, N.J.)*, 72(2), 220–233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/art.41142</u>

Kompel, A. J., Roemer, F. W., Murakami, A. M., Diaz, L. E., Crema, M. D., & Guermazi, A. (2019). Intra-articular Corticosteroid Injections in the Hip and Knee: Perhaps Not as Safe as We Thought?. *Radiology*, 293(3), 656–663. doi:10.1148/radiol.2019190341

Kraus, V. B., Sprow, K., Powell, K. E., Buchner, D., Bloodgood, B., Piercy, K., ... 2018 PHYSICAL ACTIVITY GUIDELINES ADVISORY COMMITTEE* (2019). Effects of Physical Activity in Knee and Hip Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Umbrella Review. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 51(6), 1324–1339. doi:10.1249/MSS.000000000001944

Lin, I., Wiles, L., Waller, R., Goucke, R., Nagree, Y., Gibberd, M., ... O'Sullivan, P. (2020). What does best practice care for musculoskeletal pain look like? Eleven consistent recommendations from high-quality clinical practice guidelines: systematic review. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(2), 79–86. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099878

Machado, G. C., Maher, C. G., Ferreira, P. H., Pinheiro, M. B., Lin, C. W., Day, R. O., McLachlan, A. J., & Ferreira, M. L. (2015). Efficacy and safety of paracetamol for spinal pain and osteoarthritis: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised placebo controlled trials. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 350, h1225. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.h1225

Nelson, N. L., & Churilla, J. R. (2017). Massage Therapy for Pain and Function in Patients With Arthritis: A Systematic Review of Randomized Controlled Trials. *American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation*, 96(9), 665–672. doi:10.1097/PHM.0000000000000712

Perlman, A., Fogerite, S. G., Glass, O., Bechard, E., Ali, A., Njike, V. Y., ... Katz, D. L. (2019). Efficacy and Safety of Massage for Osteoarthritis of the Knee: a Randomized Clinical Trial. *Journal of general internal medicine*, 34(3), 379–386. doi:10.1007/s11606-018-4763-5

Poulsen, E., Goncalves, G. H., Bricca, A., Roos, E. M., Thorlund, J. B., & Juhl, C. B. (2019). Knee osteoarthritis risk is increased 4-6 fold after knee injury – a systematic review and meta-analysis. *British journal of sports medicine*, 53(23), 1454–1463. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-100022

Siemieniuk, R., Harris, I. A., Agoritsas, T., Poolman, R. W., Brignardello-Petersen, R., Van de Velde, S., ... Kristiansen, A. (2017). Arthroscopic surgery for degenerative knee arthritis and meniscal tears: a clinical practice guideline. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 357, j1982. doi:10.1136/bmj.j1982

Skelly, A.C., Chou, R., Dettori, J.R., Turner, J.A., Friedly, J.L., Rundell, S.D., ... Ferguson, A.J.R. (2018). *Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review*. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.23970/AHRQEPCCER209</u>

Skelly, A.C., Chou, R., Dettori, J.R., Turner, J.A., Friedly, J.L., Rundell, S.D., ... Ferguson, A.J.R. (2020). *Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review Update*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.23970/AHRQEPCCER227</u>

Skou, S. T., & Roos, E. M. (2019). Physical therapy for patients with knee and hip osteoarthritis: supervised, active treatment is current best practice. *Clinical and experimental rheumatology*, 37 Suppl 120(5), 112–117.

Turner, M. N., Hernandez, D. O., Cade, W., Emerson, C. P., Reynolds, J. M., & Best, T. M. (2020). The Role of Resistance Training Dosing on Pain and Physical Function in Individuals With Knee Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review. *Sports health*, 12(2), 200–206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1941738119887183</u>

Vickers, A. J., Vertosick, E. A., Lewith, G., MacPherson, H., Foster, N. E., Sherman, K. J., Irnich, D., Witt, C. M., Linde, K., & Acupuncture Trialists' Collaboration (2018). Acupuncture for Chronic Pain: Update of an Individual Patient Data Meta-Analysis. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 19(5), 455–474. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2017.11.005</u>

Wijn, S., Rovers, M. M., van Tienen, T. G., & Hannink, G. (2020). Intra-articular corticosteroid injections increase the risk of requiring knee arthroplasty. *The bone & joint journal*, 102-B(5), 586–592.

Zeng, C., Dubreuil, M., LaRochelle, M. R., Lu, N., Wei, J., Choi, H. K., ... Zhang, Y. (2019). Association of Tramadol With All-Cause Mortality Among Patients With Osteoarthritis. *JAMA*, 321(10), 969–982. doi:10.1001/jama.2019.1347

DELAYED ONSET MUSCLE SORENESS

Delayed Onset Muscle Soreness

Delayed onset muscle soreness (DOMS) is the distinct feeling of discomfort after strenuous physical activity, symptoms typically peak at 24-72 hours.

Pathophysiology

There are different theories of what accounts for this delayed discomfort 24-48 hours post exercise. The inflammation theory proposes that delayed onset muscle soreness is due to the accumulation of histamines, cytokines, and prostaglandins (Vadasz et al., 2020). Another theory is that delayed onset muscle soreness is caused by an acute axonopathy, where increased fluid pressure mechanically irritates nerve endings in the muscle spindle (Sonkodi et al., 2020). Current evidence suggests that lactic acid does not play a role in this condition.

SciShow: Does Lactic Acid Really Cause Muscle Pain?



Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fearavoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)
- Visual Analog Scale (VAS)
- Patient Global Impression of Change (PGIC)

Treatment

Massage therapists are professionally trained to treat active individuals from grassroots sports to professional athletes. They specialize in specific techniques for pre-event, post event and restorative/ training massage. There are important considerations to be made around dosage and timing of massage, but most treatment lengths vary between five and twenty minutes. Therapists use many different techniques, Swedish massage, sports massage, myofascial release and cupping massage, most often patients will feel a difference once they get off the table.

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

Researchers have investigated the effect of soft-tissue massage on cellular signalling and tissue remodelling; this is referred to as mechanotherapy. Research has demonstrated that massage therapy (effleurage in particular) has a modest effect on local circulation and perfusion both in the massaged limb and also in the contralateral limb (Monteiro Rodrigues et al., 2020). Furthermore, a recent joint research effort between Timothy Butterfield of the University of Kentucky and researchers at Colorado State University demonstrated that modelled massage enhanced satellite cell numbers (Miller et al., 2018; Hunt et al., 2019). This was in addition to earlier research from Butterfield and his collaborators at the University of Kentucky, which proposes the idea that mechanical stimulation prompts a phenotype change of pro-inflammatory M^1 macrophages into anti-inflammatory M^2 macrophages (Waters-Banker et al., 2014). Taken together the increase in satellite cell numbers and reduction in inflammatory signaling may improve the body's ability to respond to subsequent rehabilitation.

Also worth noting is that ascribing a patient's pain solely a tissue-driven pain problem is often an oversimplification of a complex process. This insight provides us with an opportunity to re-frame our clinical models. Gently stretching the skin, muscles, neurovascular structures, and investing fascia activates endogenous pain modulating systems that help to modulate neuro-immune responses. There is initial evidence indicating that conservative methods (exercise or manual therapy) can help to ease pain and muscle soreness (Davis et al., 2020; Dupuy et al., 2018; Guo et al., 2017).

Rehabilitation Considerations

When massage therapy is combined with a healthy diet, active recovery and sleep it can be part of an effective post-exercise recovery strategy (Van Hooren & Peake, 2018). The goal of post-exercise recovery is to ensure that athletes possess the physical & mental capacities to compete at their highest level. Which can be a challenge, due to the number of variables can affect athletic performance (eg. fatigue, recovery, training status, health and well-being). However short-term gains in recovery may be balanced out by longer-term costs, ice baths and massage that may artificially accelerate recovery from exercise may carry a hidden cost, since post-exercise inflammation signals your body to adapt and get stronger.

Prognosis

The growing body of literature supports the use of massage therapy to help alleviate the musculoskeletal disorders associated with everyday stress, physical manifestation of mental distress, muscular overuse and many persistent pain syndromes (Skelley at al., 2020). Massage therapy may be an effective recovery tool considering it provides both physical and psychological benefits, examining the basic science behind massage therapy enables us to speculate how specific and nonspecific effects of massage can help to ease pain and muscle soreness (Best, & Crawford, 2017). Existing evidence suggests that massage therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization) can be utilized to help relieve pain, improve function, and reduce anxiety when integrated with standard care (Davis et al., 2020; Dupuy et al., 2018; Guo et al., 2017).

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for delayed onset muscle soreness based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Best, T. M., & Crawford, S. K. (2017). Massage and postexercise recovery: the science is emerging. *British journal of sports medicine*, 51(19), 1386–1387. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2016-096528

Chazaud, B. (2016). Inflammation during skeletal muscle regeneration and tissue remodeling: application to exerciseinduced muscle damage management. *Immunology and cell biology*, 94(2), 140–145. https://doi.org/10.1038/ icb.2015.97

Crane, J. D., Ogborn, D. I., Cupido, C., Melov, S., Hubbard, A., Bourgeois, J. M., & Tarnopolsky, M. A. (2012). Massage therapy attenuates inflammatory signaling after exercise-induced muscle damage. *Science translational medicine*, 4(119), 119ra13. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3002882

278 | DELAYED ONSET MUSCLE SORENESS

Davis, H. L., Alabed, S., & Chico, T. J. A. (2020). Effect of sports massage on performance and recovery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine*, 6(1), e000614. doi: 10.1136/bmjsem-2019-000614

Duchesne, E., Dufresne, S. S., & Dumont, N. A. (2017). Impact of Inflammation and Anti-inflammatory Modalities on Skeletal Muscle Healing: From Fundamental Research to the Clinic. *Physical therapy*, 97(8), 807–817. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/ptj/pzx056

Dupuy, O., Douzi, W., Theurot, D., Bosquet, L., & Dugué, B. (2018). An Evidence-Based Approach for Choosing Postexercise Recovery Techniques to Reduce Markers of Muscle Damage, Soreness, Fatigue, and Inflammation: A Systematic Review With Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in physiology*, 9, 403. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.00403

Gong, W. Y., Abdelhamid, R. E., Carvalho, C. S., & Sluka, K. A. (2016). Resident Macrophages in Muscle Contribute to Development of Hyperalgesia in a Mouse Model of Noninflammatory Muscle Pain. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 17(10), 1081–1094. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2016.06.010

Guo, J., Li, L., Gong, Y., Zhu, R., Xu, J., Zou, J., & Chen, X. (2017). Massage Alleviates Delayed Onset Muscle Soreness after Strenuous Exercise: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Frontiers in physiology*, 8, 747. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2017.00747

Hainline, B., Turner, J. A., Caneiro, J. P., Stewart, M., & Lorimer Moseley, G. (2017). Pain in elite athletesneurophysiological, biomechanical and psychosocial considerations: a narrative review. *British journal of sports medicine*, 51(17), 1259–1264. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-097890

Hunt, E. R., Confides, A. L., Abshire, S. M., Dupont-Versteegden, E. E., & Butterfield, T. A. (2019). Massage increases satellite cell number independent of the age-associated alterations in sarcolemma permeability. *Physiological reports*, 7(17), e14200. doi:10.14814/phy2.14200

Hunt, E. R., Baez, S. E., Olson, A. D., Butterfield, T. A., & Dupont-Versteegden, E. (2019). Using Massage to Combat Fear-Avoidance and the Pain Tension Cycle. *International Journal of Athletic Therapy and Training*, 24(5), 198-201

Ivarsson, A., Johnson, U., Andersen, M. B., Tranaeus, U., Stenling, A., & Lindwall, M. (2017). Psychosocial Factors and Sport Injuries: Meta-analyses for Prediction and Prevention. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 47(2), 353–365. doi:10.1007/s40279-016-0578-x

Kellmann, M., Bertollo, M., Bosquet, L., Brink, M., Coutts, A. J., Duffield, R., ... Beckmann, J. (2018). Recovery and Performance in Sport: Consensus Statement. *International journal of sports physiology and performance*, 13(2), 240–245. https://doi.org/10.1123/ijspp.2017-0759

Kennedy, A. B., Patil, N., & Trilk, J. L. (2018). 'Recover quicker, train harder, and increase flexibility': massage therapy for elite paracyclists, a mixed-methods study. *BMJ open sport & exercise medicine*, 4(1), e000319. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjsem-2017-000319

Kim, M. K., Cha, H. G., & Ji, S. G. (2016). The initial effects of an upper extremity neural mobilization technique

on muscle fatigue and pressure pain threshold of healthy adults: a randomized control trial. *Journal of physical therapy science*, 28(3), 743–746. https://doi.org/10.1589/jpts.28.743

Lawrence, M. M., Van Pelt, D. W., Confides, A. L., Hunt, E. R., Hettinger, Z. R., Laurin, J. L., ... Miller, B. F. (2020). Massage as a mechanotherapy promotes skeletal muscle protein and ribosomal turnover but does not mitigate muscle atrophy during disuse in adult rats. *Acta physiologica (Oxford, England)*, e13460. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1111/apha.13460

Miller, B. F., Hamilton, K. L., Majeed, Z. R., Abshire, S. M., Confides, A. L., Hayek, A. M., Hunt, E. R., Shipman, P., Peelor, F. F., 3rd, Butterfield, T. A., & Dupont-Versteegden, E. E. (2018). Enhanced skeletal muscle regrowth and remodelling in massaged and contralateral non-massaged hindlimb. *The Journal of physiology*, 596(1), 83–103. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP275089

Monteiro Rodrigues, L., Rocha, C., Ferreira, H. T., & Silva, H. N. (2020). Lower limb massage in humans increases local perfusion and impacts systemic hemodynamics. *Journal of applied physiology* (Bethesda, Md.: 1985), 128(5), 1217–1226. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00437.2019

Nunes, G. S., Bender, P. U., de Menezes, F. S., Yamashitafuji, I., Vargas, V. Z., & Wageck, B. (2016). Massage therapy decreases pain and perceived fatigue after long-distance Ironman triathlon: a randomised trial. *Journal of physiotherapy*, 62(2), 83–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphys.2016.02.009

Poppendieck, W., Wegmann, M., Ferrauti, A., Kellmann, M., Pfeiffer, M., & Meyer, T. (2016). Massage and Performance Recovery: A Meta-Analytical Review. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 46(2), 183–204. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-015-0420-x

Romero-Moraleda, B., La Touche, R., Lerma-Lara, S., Ferrer-Peña, R., Paredes, V., Peinado, A. B., & Muñoz-García, D. (2017). Neurodynamic mobilization and foam rolling improved delayed-onset muscle soreness in a healthy adult population: a randomized controlled clinical trial. *PeerJ*, 5, e3908. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3908

Schoenfeld, B. J. (2018). Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs may blunt more than pain. *Acta physiologica (Oxford, England)*, 222(2), 10.1111/apha.12990. https://doi.org/10.1111/apha.12990

Skelly, A.C., Chou, R., Dettori, J.R., Turner, J.A., Friedly, J.L., Rundell, S.D., ... Ferguson, A.J.R. (2020). *Noninvasive Nonpharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain: A Systematic Review Update*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US). DOI: https://doi.org/10.23970/ AHRQEPCCER227

Sonkodi, B., Berkes, I., & Koltai, E. (2020). Have We Looked in the Wrong Direction for More Than 100 Years? Delayed Onset Muscle Soreness Is, in Fact, Neural Microdamage Rather Than Muscle Damage. *Antioxidants (Basel, Switzerland)*, 9(3), E212. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox9030212

Urakawa, S., Takamoto, K., Nakamura, T., Sakai, S., Matsuda, T., Taguchi, T., Mizumura, K., Ono, T., & Nishijo, H. (2015). Manual therapy ameliorates delayed-onset muscle soreness and alters muscle metabolites in rats. *Physiological reports*, 3(2), e12279. https://doi.org/10.14814/phy2.12279

280 | DELAYED ONSET MUSCLE SORENESS

Van Hooren, B., & Peake, J. M. (2018). Do We Need a Cool-Down After Exercise? A Narrative Review of the Psychophysiological Effects and the Effects on Performance, Injuries and the Long-Term Adaptive Response. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 48(7), 1575–1595. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-018-0916-2

Vadasz, B., Gohari, J., West, D., Grosman-Rimon, L., Wright, E., Ozcakar, L., & Kumbhare, D. (2020). Improving characterization and diagnosis quality of Myofascial Pain Syndrome: a systematic review of the clinical and biomarker overlap with Delayed Onset Muscle Soreness. *European journal of physical and rehabilitation medicine*, 10.23736/S1973-9087.20.05820-7. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.23736/S1973-9087.20.05820-7

Waters-Banker, C., Dupont-Versteegden, E. E., Kitzman, P. H., & Butterfield, T. A. (2014). Investigating the mechanisms of massage efficacy: the role of mechanical immunomodulation. *Journal of athletic training*, 49(2), 266–273. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-49.2.25

Wiewelhove, T., Schneider, C., Döweling, A., Hanakam, F., Rasche, C., Meyer, T., Kellmann, M., Pfeiffer, M., & Ferrauti, A. (2018). Effects of different recovery strategies following a half-marathon on fatigue markers in recreational runners. *PloS one*, 13(11), e0207313. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0207313

White, G., West, S., Caterini, J., Di Battista, A., Rhind, S., Wells, G. (2020). Massage Therapy Modulates Inflammatory Mediators Following Sprint Exercise in Healthy Male Athletes. *Journal of Functional Morphology and Kinesiology*, 5(1), 9. http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/jfmk5010009
TENDINOPATHY

Rehabilitation for Tendon Pain

Tendinopathy is the preferred term for persistent tendon pain and loss of function related to mechanical loading (<u>Scott</u> et al., 2020).

- Patellar tendinopathy is the preferred term for persistent patellar tendon pain and loss of function related to mechanical loading.
- Achilles tendinopathy is the preferred term for persistent Achilles tendon pain and loss of function related to mechanical loading.
- Peroneal (fibularis) tendinopathy is the preferred term for persistent peroneal (fibularis) tendon pain and loss of function related to mechanical loading.
- Persistent tendon pain and loss of function related to mechanical loading of the medial or lateral elbow tendons should be referred to as medial or lateral elbow tendinopathy.

Pathophysiology

The presentation of pain in a tendon, does not always mean that the tendon is the primary contributor to pain. The multifactorial model of tendinopathy suggests that an impaired motor system, local tendon pathology, and changes in the pain/nociceptive system contributes to the complex clinical picture of tendon pain.

Examination

A thorough health history intake can be done to gather information about patients' limitations, course of pain, and prognostic factors for delayed recovery (e.g. low self-efficacy, fear of movement, ineffective coping strategies, fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing) and answers to health-related questions. Screen patients to identify those with a higher likelihood of serious pathology/red flag conditions. Then undertake a physical examination: neurological screening test, assess mobility and/or muscle strength.

Incorporate one or more of the following outcome measurements when assessing and monitoring patient progress:

- Self-Rated Recovery Question
- Patient Specific Functional Scale
- Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)

282 | TENDINOPATHY

• Visual Analog Scale (VAS)

Treatment

Education

Provide reassurance and patient education on condition and management options and encourage the use of active approaches (lifestyle, physical activity) to help manage symptoms.

Manual Therapy

A massage therapy treatment plan should be implemented based on patient-specific assessment findings and patient tolerance. There may be times that focal irritability (ie. nerve irritation, triggerpoints, nervous system sensitization) co-exists with tendon pain. Gently stretching the muscles, neurovascular structures, and investing fascia activates endogenous pain modulating systems that help to modulate neuro-immune responses.

Rehabilitation Considerations

Massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for patients with tendon pain including simple home-care recommendations and remedial loading programs.

Tendinitis, Tendinosis, Tendinopathy? Exercise is the best medicine for tendon pain.



Prognosis

Multimodality options self-care techniques such as exercise therapy, relative rest, activity modifications should be considered as the first line treatment of tendon pain (Irby et al., 2020). Clinicians managing tendon pain should be thoughtful and skilled in managing the load on the tendons and supporting structures through a number of rehabilitation considerations including, but are not limited to manual therapy, education on psychosocial factors such as fear avoidance, and remedial loading programs.

Key Takeaways

Contemporary multimodal massage therapists are uniquely suited to incorporate a number of rehabilitation strategies for tendon pain based on patient-specific assessment findings including, but not limited to:

- Manual Therapy (soft tissue massage, neural mobilization, joint mobilization)
- Education on psychosocial factors (eg. BPS framework of pain, fear avoidance)
- Stretching & Loading Programs (eg. concentric, eccentric, isometric)
- Hydrotherapy (hot & cold)
- Self-Care Strategies

References and Sources

Bayer, M. L., Magnusson, S. P., Kjaer, M., & Tendon Research Group Bispebjerg (2017). Early versus Delayed Rehabilitation after Acute Muscle Injury. *The New England journal of medicine*, 377(13), 1300–1301. doi:10.1056/ NEJMc1708134

Bayer, M. L., Bang, L., Hoegberget-Kalisz, M., Svensson, R. B., Olesen, J. L., Karlsson, M. M., ... Kjaer, M. (2019). Muscle-strain injury exudate favors acute tissue healing and prolonged connective tissue formation in humans. *FASEB journal: official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, 33(9), 10369–10382. doi:10.1096/fj.201900542R

Berrueta, L., Muskaj, I., Olenich, S., Butler, T., Badger, G. J., Colas, R. A., ... Langevin, H. M. (2016). Stretching Impacts Inflammation Resolution in Connective Tissue. *Journal of cellular physiology*, 231(7), 1621–1627. doi:10.1002/jcp.25263

Best, T. M., Gharaibeh, B., & Huard, J. (2013). Stem cells, angiogenesis and muscle healing: a potential role in massage therapies?. *British journal of sports medicine*, 47(9), 556–560. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2012-091685

Bojsen-Møller, J., & Magnusson, S. P. (2019). Mechanical properties, physiological behavior, and function of aponeurosis and tendon. *Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md. : 1985)*, 126(6), 1800–1807. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00671.2018

Bove, G. M., Harris, M. Y., Zhao, H., & Barbe, M. F. (2016). Manual therapy as an effective treatment for fibrosis in a rat model of upper extremity overuse injury. *Journal of the neurological sciences*, 361, 168–180. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2015.12.029

Bove, G. M., Delany, S. P., Hobson, L., Cruz, G. E., Harris, M. Y., Amin, M., ... Barbe, M. F. (2019). Manual therapy

prevents onset of nociceptor activity, sensorimotor dysfunction, and neural fibrosis induced by a volitional repetitive task. *Pain*, 160(3), 632–644. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001443

Brasure, M., Nelson, V.A., Scheiner, S., Forte, M.L., Butler, M., Nagarkar, S., Saha, J., Wilt, T.J. (2019). Treatment for Acute Pain: An Evidence Map [Internet]. *Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US)*.

Cardoso, T. B., Pizzari, T., Kinsella, R., Hope, D., & Cook, J. L. (2019). Current trends in tendinopathy management. Best practice & research. *Clinical rheumatology*, 33(1), 122–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2019.02.001

Challoumas, D., Clifford, C., Kirwan, P., & Millar, N. L. (2019). How does surgery compare to sham surgery or physiotherapy as a treatment for tendinopathy? A systematic review of randomised trials. *BMJ open sport & exercise medicine*, 5(1), e000528. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjsem-2019-000528

Cholok, D., Lee, E., Lisiecki, J., Agarwal, S., Loder, S., Ranganathan, K., ... Levi, B. (2017). Traumatic muscle fibrosis: From pathway to prevention. *The journal of trauma and acute care surgery*, 82(1), 174–184. doi:10.1097/ TA.000000000001290

Docking, S. I., & Cook, J. (2019). How do tendons adapt? Going beyond tissue responses to understand positive adaptation and pathology development: A narrative review. *Journal of musculoskeletal & neuronal interactions*, 19(3), 300–310.

Dubois, B., & Esculier, J. F. (2020). Soft-tissue injuries simply need PEACE and LOVE. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(2), 72–73. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-101253

Duchesne, E., Dufresne, S. S., & Dumont, N. A. (2017). Impact of Inflammation and Anti-inflammatory Modalities on Skeletal Muscle Healing: From Fundamental Research to the Clinic. *Physical therapy*, 97(8), 807–817. doi:10.1093/ptj/ pzx056

Dunn, S. L., & Olmedo, M. L. (2016). Mechanotransduction: Relevance to Physical Therapist Practice-Understanding Our Ability to Affect Genetic Expression Through Mechanical Forces. *Physical therapy*, 96(5), 712–721. doi:10.2522/ ptj.20150073

Edwards, W. B. (2018). Modeling Overuse Injuries in Sport as a Mechanical Fatigue Phenomenon. *Exercise and sport sciences reviews*, 46(4), 224–231. doi:10.1249/JES.00000000000163

Gracey, E., Burssens, A., Cambré, I., Schett, G., Lories, R., McInnes, I. B., Asahara, H., & Elewaut, D. (2020). Tendon and ligament mechanical loading in the pathogenesis of inflammatory arthritis. Nature reviews. *Rheumatology*, 16(4), 193–207. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41584-019-0364-x

Hamilton, B., Alonso, J. M., & Best, T. M. (2017). Time for a paradigm shift in the classification of muscle injuries. *Journal of sport and health science*, 6(3), 255–261. doi:10.1016/j.jshs.2017.04.011

Hunt, E. R., Baez, S. E., Olson, A. D., Butterfield, T. A., & Dupont-Versteegden, E. (2019). Using Massage to Combat Fear-Avoidance and the Pain Tension Cycle. *International Journal of Athletic Therapy and Training*, 24(5), 198-201.

286 | TENDINOPATHY

Hunt, E. R., Confides, A. L., Abshire, S. M., Dupont-Versteegden, E. E., & Butterfield, T. A. (2019). Massage increases satellite cell number independent of the age-associated alterations in sarcolemma permeability. *Physiological reports*, 7(17), e14200. doi:10.14814/phy2.14200

Hsu, J. R., Mir, H., Wally, M. K., Seymour, R. B., & Orthopaedic Trauma Association Musculoskeletal Pain Task Force (2019). Clinical Practice Guidelines for Pain Management in Acute Musculoskeletal Injury. *Journal of orthopaedic trauma*, 33(5), e158–e182. doi:10.1097/BOT.00000000001430

Irby, A., Gutierrez, J., Chamberlin, C., Thomas, S. J., & Rosen, A. B. (2020). Clinical Management of Tendinopathy: A Systematic Review of Systematic Reviews Evaluating the Effectiveness of Tendinopathy Treatments. *Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports*, 10.1111/sms.13734. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1111/ sms.13734

Laumonier, T., & Menetrey, J. (2016). Muscle injuries and strategies for improving their repair. *Journal of experimental orthopaedics*, 3(1), 15. doi:10.1186/s40634-016-0051-7

Magnusson, S. P., & Kjaer, M. (2019). The impact of loading, unloading, ageing and injury on the human tendon. *The Journal of physiology*, 597(5), 1283–1298. doi:10.1113/JP275450

McGorm, H., Roberts, L. A., Coombes, J. S., & Peake, J. M. (2018). Turning Up the Heat: An Evaluation of the Evidence for Heating to Promote Exercise Recovery, Muscle Rehabilitation and Adaptation. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 48(6), 1311–1328. doi:10.1007/s40279-018-0876-6

Millar, N. L., Murrell, G., & Kirwan, P. (2020). Time to put down the scalpel? The role of surgery in tendinopathy. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(8), 441–442. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-101084

Miller, B. F., Hamilton, K. L., Majeed, Z. R., Abshire, S. M., Confides, A. L., Hayek, A. M., ... Dupont-Versteegden, E. E. (2018). Enhanced skeletal muscle regrowth and remodelling in massaged and contralateral non-massaged hindlimb. *The Journal of physiology*, 596(1), 83–103. doi:10.1113/JP275089

Ng, J. L., Kersh, M. E., Kilbreath, S., & Knothe Tate, M. (2017). Establishing the Basis for Mechanobiology-Based Physical Therapy Protocols to Potentiate Cellular Healing and Tissue Regeneration. *Frontiers in physiology*, 8, 303. doi:10.3389/fphys.2017.00303

Rice, S. M., Gwyther, K., Santesteban-Echarri, O., Baron, D., Gorczynski, P., Gouttebarge, V., ... Purcell, R. (2019). Determinants of anxiety in elite athletes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *British journal of sports medicine*, 53(11), 722–730. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2019-100620

Rio, E., Moseley, L., Purdam, C., Samiric, T., Kidgell, D., Pearce, A. J., ... Cook, J. (2014). The pain of tendinopathy: physiological or pathophysiological?. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 44(1), 9–23. doi:10.1007/s40279-013-0096-z

Rio, E., & Docking, S. I. (2018). Adaptation of the pathological tendon: you cannot trade in for a new one, but perhaps you don't need to?. *British journal of sports medicine*, 52(10), 622–623. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2016-097325

Sato-Suzuki, I., Kagitani, F., & Uchida, S. (2019). Somatosensory regulation of resting muscle blood flow and physical therapy. *Autonomic neuroscience: basic & clinical*, 220, 102557. doi:10.1016/j.autneu.2019.102557

Schleip, R., Gabbiani, G., Wilke, J., Naylor, I., Hinz, B., Zorn, A., ... Klingler, W. (2019). Fascia Is Able to Actively Contract and May Thereby Influence Musculoskeletal Dynamics: A Histochemical and Mechanographic Investigation. *Frontiers in physiology*, 10, 336. doi:10.3389/fphys.2019.00336

Scott, A., Squier, K., Alfredson, H., Bahr, R., Cook, J. L., Coombes, B., ... Zwerver, J. (2020). ICON 2019: International Scientific Tendinopathy Symposium Consensus: Clinical Terminology. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(5), 260–262. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-100885

Stern, B. D., Hegedus, E. J., & Lai, Y. C. (2020). Injury prediction as a non-linear system. *Physical therapy in sport: official journal of the Association of Chartered Physiotherapists in Sports Medicine*, 41, 43–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ptsp.2019.10.010

Thompson, W. R., Scott, A., Loghmani, M. T., Ward, S. R., & Warden, S. J. (2016). Understanding Mechanobiology: Physical Therapists as a Force in Mechanotherapy and Musculoskeletal Regenerative Rehabilitation. *Physical therapy*, 96(4), 560–569. doi:10.2522/ptj.20150224

van der Vlist, A. C., Winters, M., Weir, A., Ardern, C. L., Welton, N. J., Caldwell, D. M., Verhaar, J., & de Vos, R. J. (2020). Which treatment is most effective for patients with Achilles tendinopathy? A living systematic review with network meta-analysis of 29 randomised controlled trials. *British journal of sports medicine*, bjsports-2019-101872. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-101872

Vicenzino, B., de Vos, R. J., Alfredson, H., Bahr, R., Cook, J. L., Coombes, B. K., ... Zwerver, J. (2020). ICON 2019-International Scientific Tendinopathy Symposium Consensus: There are nine core health-related domains for tendinopathy (CORE DOMAINS): Delphi study of healthcare professionals and patients. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(8), 444–451. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-100894

Waters-Banker, C., Dupont-Versteegden, E. E., Kitzman, P. H., & Butterfield, T. A. (2014). Investigating the mechanisms of massage efficacy: the role of mechanical immunomodulation. *Journal of athletic training*, 49(2), 266–273. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-49.2.25

Wilke, J., Hespanhol, L., & Behrens, M. (2019). Is It All About the Fascia? A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of the Prevalence of Extramuscular Connective Tissue Lesions in Muscle Strain Injury. *Orthopaedic journal of sports medicine*, 7(12), 2325967119888500. doi:10.1177/2325967119888500

Wilke, J., Vleeming, A., & Wearing, S. (2019). Overuse Injury: The Result of Pathologically Altered Myofascial Force Transmission?. *Exercise and sport sciences reviews*, 47(4), 230–236. doi:10.1249/JES.000000000000205

Zügel, M., Maganaris, C. N., Wilke, J., Jurkat-Rott, K., Klingler, W., Wearing, S. C., ... Hodges, P. W. (2018). Fascial

288 | TENDINOPATHY

tissue research in sports medicine: from molecules to tissue adaptation, injury and diagnostics: consensus statement. *British journal of sports medicine*, 52(23), 1497. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099308

SUPPLEMENTARY RESOURCES

Supplementary Resources

Supplementary Resources

Setting The Groundwork For Evidence-Based Massage Therapy: A selection of books and research articles that might be of interest if readers want to explore the topics introduced here in more depth.

General Reference Books

Brassett, C. (2018). The Secret Language of Anatomy: An Illustrated Guide to the Origins of Anatomical Terms. North Atlantic Books.

Cervero, F. (2012). Understanding Pain: Exploring The Perception Of Pain. The MIT Press.

Doidge, N. (2007). The Brain That Changes Itself: Stories of Personal Triumph from the Frontiers of Brain Science. Penguin Books.

Foreman, J. (2014). A Nation in Pain: Healing Our Biggest Health Problem. Oxford University Press.

Hargrove, T. (2014). A Guide to Better Movement: The Science and Practice of Moving with More Skill and Less Pain. Better Movement.

Hargrove, T. (2019). Playing With Movement: How to Explore the Many Dimensions of Physical Health and Performance. Better Movement.

Linden, D. (2015). Touch: The Science of the Hand, Heart, and Mind. Penguin Books.

Marchant, J. (2016). Cure: A Journey Into the Science of Mind Over Body. Broadway Books.

Mlodinow, L. (2015). The Upright Thinkers: The Human Journey from Living in Trees to Understanding the Cosmos. Pantheon.

Murthy, V. (2020). Together: The Healing Power of Human Connection in a Sometimes Lonely World. Harper Wave.

Nisbett, R. (2015). Mindware: Tools for Smart Thinking. Random House Canada.

Spiegelhalter, D. (2019). The Art of Statistics: Learning from Data. Viking.

Technical Books

Agur, A. & Dalley, A. (2020). Grant's Atlas of Anatomy (15th ed.). Wolters Kluwer.

Andrade, C.K. (2103). Outcome-Based Massage: Putting Evidence into Practice (3rd ed.). Wolters Kluwer.

Barnard, K. & Ryder, D. (2017). Musculoskeletal Examination and Assessment, Vol. 1. (3rd. ed.). Elsevier.

Barnard, K. & Petty, N. (2017). Principles of Musculoskeletal Treatment and Management, Vol. 2. (3rd. ed.). Elsevier.

Brukner, P. & Khan, K. (2016). Clinical Sports Medicine: Injuries, Vol. 1. (5th ed.). McGraw-Hill Education.

Brukner, P. & Khan, K. (2019). Clinical Sports Medicine: The Medicine of Exercise, Vol 2. (5th ed.). McGraw-Hill Education.

Butler, D. (2000). The Sensitive Nervous System. Rittenhouse Book Distributors.

Butler, D. & Moseley, G.L. (2017). Explain Pain Supercharged. NOI Group.

Chaitow, L. (2010). Modern Neuromuscular Techniques. (3rd ed.). Churchill Livingstone.

Cook, C. & Hegedus, E. (2013). Orthopedic Physical Examination Tests (2nd ed.). Pearson.

Davies, B., & Logan, J. (2017). Reading Research: A User-Friendly Guide for Health Professionals (6th ed). Elsevier Canada.

Dryden, T. & Moyer, C. (2012). Massage Therapy: Integrating Research and Practice. Human Kinetics.

Fernandez de las Pen, C. (2015). Manual Therapy for Musculoskeletal Pain Syndromes. Elsevier.

Filshie, J. (2016). Medical Acupuncture: A Western Scientific Approach (2nd ed.). Elsevier.

Fitch, P. (2019). Talking Body, Listening Hands: Talking Body Listening Hands: A Guide to Professionalism, Communication and the Therapeutic Relationship (2nd ed.). AC Press.

Fritz, S. & Fritz, L. (2020). Mosby's Fundamentals of Therapeutic Massage (7th ed.) Elsevier Canada.

Grace, S. & Graves, J. (2020). Textbook of Remedial Massage (2nd ed.). Elsevier.

Graham, D. (1884). A Practical Treatise on Massage, Its History, Mode of Application, and Effects. W. Wood & Company.

Hall, J. E. (2020). Guyton and Hall Textbook of Medical Physiology (15th ed.). Elsevier Canada.

Higgs, J. (2018). Clinical Reasoning in the Health Professions (4th ed.) Elsevier.

Hing, W., Hall, T., Mulligan, B. (2019). The Mulligan Concept of Manual Therapy (2nd ed.). Elsevier.

Hutson, M. (2015). The Oxford Textbook of Musculoskeletal Medicine (2nd ed.). Oxford University Press.

Jacobs, D. (2016). Dermoneuromodulating. Diane Jacobs.

Jones, M. & Rivett, D. (2019). Clinical Reasoning in Musculoskeletal Practice (2nd ed.). Elsevier.

Kellgren, A. (1891). *Technic of Ling's system of manual treatment as applicable to surgery and medicine*. The University of Edinburgh.

Lederman, E. (2005). The Science and Practice of Manual Therapy (2nd ed.). Elsevier Canada.

Liebenson, C. (2020). Rehabilitation of the Spine: A Patient-Centered Approach (3rd ed.). Wolters Kluwer.

Louw, A., Puentedura, E., Schmidt, S., Zimney, K. (2020). *Integrating Manual Therapy and Pain Neuroscience: Twelve principles for treating the body and the brain*. Orthopedic Physical Therapy Products.

Magee, D. (2020). Orthopedic Physical Assessment (7th ed.). Elsevier Canada.

McGinnis, P. (2020). Biomechanics of Sport and Exercise (4th ed.). Human Kinetics Pub.

Myers, T. (2020). Anatomy Trains (4th ed.). Elsevier.

Netter, F. (2018). Atlas of Human Anatomy (7th ed). Elsevier Canada.

Nordin, M. & Frankel, V. (2012) Basic Biomechanics of the Musculoskeletal System (4th ed.). Wolters Kluwer.

Rattray, F., & Ludwig, L. (2000). Rattray's Clinical Massage Therapy. Talus Inc.

Reese, N. (2020). Muscle and Sensory Testing (4th ed.). Elsevier Canada.

Salvo, S. (2020). Massage Therapy: Principles and Practice (6th ed.). Elsevier Canada.

Shacklock, M. (2005). Clinical Neurodynamics. Elsevier.

Smith, N. & Ryan, C. (2016). Traumatic Scar Tissue Management. Handspring Publishing.

Soames, R. & Palastanga, N. (2019). Anatomy and Human Movement, Structure and Function (7th ed). Elsevier.

Sullivan, M. (2017). The Patient as Agent of Health and Health Care: Autonomy in Patient-Centered Care for Chronic Conditions. Oxford University Press.

Tortora, G., & Derrickson, B. (2018). Principles of Anatomy and Physiology (15th ed.). Wiley.

Utley, J., Mathena, C., Gunaldo, T. (2020). *Interprofessional Education and Collaboration: An Evidence-Based Approach to Optimizing Health Care*. Human Kinetics, Inc.

Walton, D. & Elliott, J. (2020). Musculoskeletal Pain – Assessment, Prediction and Treatment: A pragmatic approach. Handspring Publishing.

Werner, R. (2020). A Massage Therapist's Guide to Pathology (7th ed). Books of Discovery.

Research Articles

Baskwill, A. (2019). It's Complicated: An exploratory mixed methods study of the professional identity of massage therapists in Ontario (Doctoral dissertation). McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada.

Basson, A., Olivier, B., Ellis, R., Coppieters, M., Stewart, A., & Mudzi, W. (2017). The Effectiveness of Neural Mobilization for Neuromusculoskeletal Conditions: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 47(9), 593–615. doi:10.2519/jospt.2017.7117

Bialosky, J. E., Beneciuk, J. M., Bishop, M. D., Coronado, R. A., Penza, C. W., Simon, C. B., & George, S. Z. (2018). Unraveling the Mechanisms of Manual Therapy: Modeling an Approach. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 48(1), 8–18. doi:10.2519/jospt.2018.7476

Bittencourt, N., Meeuwisse, W. H., Mendonça, L. D., Nettel-Aguirre, A., Ocarino, J. M., & Fonseca, S. T. (2016). Complex systems approach for sports injuries: moving from risk factor identification to injury pattern recognitionnarrative review and new concept. *British journal of sports medicine*, 50(21), 1309–1314. doi:10.1136/ bjsports-2015-095850

Busse, J. W., Craigie, S., Juurlink, D. N., Buckley, D. N., Wang, L., Couban, R. J., ... Guyatt, G. H. (2017). Guideline for opioid therapy and chronic noncancer pain. *CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne*, 189(18), E659–E666. doi:10.1503/cmaj.170363

Chimenti, R. L., Frey-Law, L. A., & Sluka, K. A. (2018). A Mechanism-Based Approach to Physical Therapist Management of Pain. *Physical therapy*, 98(5), 302–314. doi:10.1093/ptj/pzy030

Côté, P., Shearer, H., Ameis, A., Carroll, L., Mior, M., Nordin, M. and the OPTIMa Collaboration. (2015). Enabling recovery from common traffic injuries: A focus on the injured person. *UOIT-CMCC Centre for the Study of Disability Prevention and Rehabilitation*.

Finnerup, N. B. (2019). Nonnarcotic Methods of Pain Management. *The New England journal of medicine*, 380(25), 2440–2448. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1807061

Foster, E., Wildner, H., Tudeau, L., Haueter, S., Ralvenius, W. T., Jegen, M., ... Zeilhofer, H. U. (2015). Targeted ablation, silencing, and activation establish glycinergic dorsal horn neurons as key components of a spinal gate for pain and itch. *Neuron*, 85(6), 1289–1304. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2015.02.028

Foster, N. E., Anema, J. R., Cherkin, D., Chou, R., Cohen, S. P., Gross, D. P., ... Lancet Low Back Pain Series Working Group (2018). Prevention and treatment of low back pain: evidence, challenges, and promising directions. *Lancet (London, England)*, 391(10137), 2368–2383. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30489-6

Freitas, S. R., Mendes, B., Le Sant, G., Andrade, R. J., Nordez, A., & Milanovic, Z. (2018). Can chronic stretching change the muscle-tendon mechanical properties? A review. *Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports*, 28(3), 794–806. doi:10.1111/sms.12957

Furman, D., Campisi, J., Verdin, E., Carrera-Bastos, P., Targ, S., Franceschi, C., ... Slavich, G. M. (2019). Chronic inflammation in the etiology of disease across the life span. *Nature medicine*, 25(12), 1822–1832. doi:10.1038/ s41591-019-0675-0

Giannitrapani, K. F., Holliday, J. R., Miake-Lye, I. M., Hempel, S., & Taylor, S. L. (2019). Synthesizing the Strength of the Evidence of Complementary and Integrative Health Therapies for Pain. *Pain medicine (Malden, Mass.)*, 20(9), 1831–1840. doi:10.1093/pm/pnz068

Gowan, D. M. (2017). Exploring patient safety issues in massage therapy and understanding patient safety incidents (adverse events) (Doctoral dissertation). University of Saskatchewan, Canada.

Lewis, J. S., Cook, C. E., Hoffmann, T. C., & O'Sullivan, P. (2020). The Elephant in the Room: Too Much Medicine in Musculoskeletal Practice. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 50(1), 1–4. doi:10.2519/jospt.2020.0601

Lin, I., Wiles, L., Waller, R., Goucke, R., Nagree, Y., Gibberd, M., ... O'Sullivan, P. (2020). What does best practice care for musculoskeletal pain look like? Eleven consistent recommendations from high-quality clinical practice guidelines: systematic review. *British journal of sports medicine*, 54(2), 79–86. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2018-099878

Maher, C. G., O'Keeffe, M., Buchbinder, R., & Harris, I. A. (2019). Musculoskeletal healthcare: Have we over-egged the pudding?. *International journal of rheumatic diseases*, 22(11), 1957–1960. doi:10.1111/1756-185X.13710

Matsuda, M., Huh, Y., & Ji, R. R. (2019). Roles of inflammation, neurogenic inflammation, and neuroinflammation in pain. *Journal of anesthesia*, 33(1), 131–139. doi:10.1007/s00540-018-2579-4

Meerwijk, E. L., Larson, M. J., Schmidt, E. M., Adams, R. S., Bauer, M. R., Ritter, G. A., Harris, A. (2020). Nonpharmacological Treatment of Army Service Members with Chronic Pain Is Associated with Fewer Adverse Outcomes After Transition to the Veterans Health Administration. *Journal of general internal medicine*, 35(3), 775–783. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-019-05450-4

Melzack, R., & Wall, P. D. (1965). Pain mechanisms: a new theory. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 150(3699), 971–979. doi:10.1126/science.150.3699.971

Melzack, R., & Katz, J. (2013). Pain. Wiley interdisciplinary reviews. Cognitive science, 4(1), 1-15. doi:10.1002/wcs.1201

Miake-Lye, I. M., Mak, S., Lee, J., Luger, T., Taylor, S. L., Shanman, R., ... Shekelle, P. G. (2019). Massage for Pain: An Evidence Map. *Journal of alternative and complementary medicine (New York, N.Y.)*, 25(5), 475–502. doi:10.1089/acm.2018.0282

Nijs, J., Daenen, L., Cras, P., Struyf, F., Roussel, N., & Oostendorp, R. A. (2012). Nociception affects motor output: a

294 | SUPPLEMENTARY RESOURCES

review on sensory-motor interaction with focus on clinical implications. *The Clinical journal of pain*, 28(2), 175–181. doi:10.1097/AJP.0b013e318225daf3

Ongaro, G., & Kaptchuk, T. J. (2019). Symptom perception, placebo effects, and the Bayesian brain. *Pain*, 160(1), 1–4. doi:10.1097/j.pain.000000000001367

Pol, R., Hristovski, R., Medina, D., & Balague, N. (2019). From microscopic to macroscopic sports injuries. Applying the complex dynamic systems approach to sports medicine: a narrative review. *British journal of sports medicine*, 53(19), 1214–1220. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2016-097395

Rethorn, Z. D., Cook, C., & Reneker, J. C. (2019). Social Determinants of Health: If You Aren't Measuring Them, You Aren't Seeing the Big Picture. *The Journal of orthopaedic and sports physical therapy*, 49(12), 872–874. doi:10.2519/ jospt.2019.0613

Rossettini, G., Carlino, E., & Testa, M. (2018). Clinical relevance of contextual factors as triggers of placebo and nocebo effects in musculoskeletal pain. *BMC musculoskeletal disorders*, 19(1), 27. doi:10.1186/s12891-018-1943-8

Sebbag E, Felten R, Sagez F, Sibilia J, Devilliers H, Arnaud L. (2019). The world-wide burden of musculoskeletal diseases: a systematic analysis of the World Health Organization Burden of Diseases Database. *Ann Rheum Dis.* Jun;78(6):844-848.

Simpkin, A. L., & Schwartzstein, R. M. (2016). Tolerating Uncertainty – The Next Medical Revolution?. *The New England journal of medicine*, 375(18), 1713–1715. doi:10.1056/NEJMp1606402

Tesarz, J., Schuster, A. K., Hartmann, M., Gerhardt, A., & Eich, W. (2012). Pain perception in athletes compared to normally active controls: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Pain*, 153(6), 1253–1262. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2012.03.005

Ungar, M., & Theron, L. (2019). Resilience and mental health: how multisystemic processes contribute to positive outcomes. *The lancet. Psychiatry*, S2215-0366(19)30434-1. Advance online publication. doi:10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30434-1

Van Hooren, B., & Peake, J. M. (2018). Do We Need a Cool-Down After Exercise? A Narrative Review of the Psychophysiological Effects and the Effects on Performance, Injuries and the Long-Term Adaptive Response. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 48(7), 1575–1595. doi:10.1007/s40279-018-0916-2

Venhorst, A., Micklewright, D., & Noakes, T. D. (2018). Towards a three-dimensional framework of centrally regulated and goal-directed exercise behaviour: a narrative review. *British journal of sports medicine*, 52(15), 957–966. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2016-096907

Vickers, A. J., Vertosick, E. A., Lewith, G., MacPherson, H., Foster, N. E., Sherman, K. J., ... Acupuncture Trialists' Collaboration (2018). Acupuncture for Chronic Pain: Update of an Individual Patient Data Meta-Analysis. *The journal of pain: official journal of the American Pain Society*, 19(5), 455–474. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2017.11.005

Wallwork, S. B., Bellan, V., Catley, M. J., & Moseley, G. L. (2016). Neural representations and the cortical body matrix:

implications for sports medicine and future directions. *British journal of sports medicine*, 50(16), 990–996. doi:10.1136/ bjsports-2015-095356

Wideman, T. H., Edwards, R. R., Walton, D. M., Martel, M. O., Hudon, A., & Seminowicz, D. A. (2019). The Multimodal Assessment Model of Pain: A Novel Framework for Further Integrating the Subjective Pain Experience Within Research and Practice. *The Clinical journal of pain*, 35(3), 212–221. doi:10.1097/AJP.000000000000670

Zulman, D. M., Haverfield, M. C., Shaw, J. G., Brown-Johnson, C. G., Schwartz, R., Tierney, A. A., ... Verghese, A. (2020). Practices to Foster Physician Presence and Connection With Patients in the Clinical Encounter. *JAMA*, 323(1), 70–81. doi:10.1001/jama.2019.19003

GLOSSARY

Glossary

A Fascia

a fascia is a sheath, a sheet, or any other dissectible aggregations of connective tissue that forms beneath the skin to attach, enclose, and separate muscles and other internal organs

Acupuncture

Acupuncture interventions are defined in accordance with the World Health Organization as body needling (traditional, medical, modern, dryneedling, trigger point needling, etc.), moxibustion (burning of herbs), electroacupuncture, laser acupuncture, microsystem acupuncture (such as ear acupuncture), and acupressure (application of pressure at acupuncture points).

Adhesion

a fibrous band of connective tissue that develops in response to inflammation, trauma, or surgery, resulting in the union of two adjacent structures.

Allodynia

pain due to a stimulus that would not normally cause pain, such as light touch or mild changes in temperature.

Clinical massage

Soft tissue therapies intended to target muscles with specific goals such as relieving pain, releasing muscle spasms or improving restricted motion, performed by a practitioner.

Clinical practice guideline

A systematically developed statement that aims to assist clinicians in providing quality care to patients.

Cognitive behavioural therapy

A therapy that is used to help people think in a healthy way with a focus on thought (cognitive) and action (behavioral).

Cryotherapy

The local use of low temperatures (e.g., ice).

Cupping massage

A form of massage which utilizes cupping glasses being moved over the skin once suction (negative pressure) is created. The aim is to increase local blood circulation and relieve muscle tension.

Descending modulation

The process by which pathways that descend from the brain to the spinal cord modify incoming somatosensory information so that the perception of and reactions to somatosensory stimuli are altered, resulting in increased or decreased pain.

Ectopic discharge

Trains of ongoing electrical nerve impulses that occur spontaneously without stimulation or originate at sites other than normal location (or both). This phenomenon typically occurs after nerve injury.

Electric Muscle Stimulation (EMS)

A passive physical modality that stimulates muscle contraction by electrical impulses.

Electroacupuncture

The stimulation of inserted acupuncture needles with an electrical current. The frequency and intensity of the electrical stimulation may vary.

Enthesis

the site of insertion of tendons or ligaments into bones.

Exercise

Any series of movements with the aim of training or developing the body by routine practice or as physical training to promote good physical health.

Fibrosis

thickening and scarring of connective tissue, most often a consequence of inflammation or injury.

General exercise program

An exercise program incorporating aerobic exercises, stretching, strengthening, endurance, co-ordination and functional activities for the whole body.

298 | GLOSSARY

Guided imagery

A technique used to induce relaxation. Recordings are designed to help individuals visualize themselves relaxing or engaging in positive changes or actions. State of awareness is similar to that of a meditative status.

Ischemic compression

A soft tissue therapy that involves sustained pressure to a muscle that is applied with the hand or a device, performed by a health care professional.

Kinesio tape

A thin, pliable adhesive tape applied to the skin.

Manipulation

Manual treatment applied to the spine or joints of the upper or lower extremity that incorporates a high velocity, low amplitude impulse or thrust applied at or near the end of a joint's passive range of motion.

Manual therapy

Techniques that involve the application of hands-on and/or mechanically assisted treatments, including manipulation, mobilization, and traction.

Massage

A group of soft tissue therapies intended to target muscles for the purpose of specific goals and relax muscles

Mobilization

Manual treatment applied to the spine or joints of the upper or lower extremity that incorporates a low velocity and small or large amplitude oscillatory movement, within a joint's passive range of motion.

Multimodal care

Treatment involving at least two distinct therapeutic modalities, provided by one or more health care disciplines. The following were considered distinct therapeutic modalities: passive physical modalities; exercise; manual therapy which includes mobilization, manipulation or traction; acupuncture; education; psychological interventions; and soft tissue therapies.

Muscle energy technique

A soft tissue therapy performed by a health care professional that involves a stretch to the muscle after the muscle was contracted against resistance.

Myofascial Release Therapy

A soft-tissue therapy aimed at relaxing contracted muscles and improving blood and lymph circulation in associated tissues. It uses slow and sometimes deep pressure applied directly to tissues.

Neuropathic pain

Pain caused by a lesion or disease of the somatosensory nervous system

Neuroplasticity

The brain's ability to reorganize itself by forming new neural connections throughout life.

Nociceptive pain

Pain that arises from actual or threatened damage to non-neural tissue and is due to the activation of nociceptors.

Nociplastic pain

Pain that arises from altered nociception despite no clear evidence of actual or threatened tissue damage causing the activation of peripheral nociceptors or evidence of disease or lesion of the somatosensory system causing the pain.

Pain

an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage, or described in terms of such damage.

Patient education

A process to enable individuals to make informed decisions about their personal health-related behaviour.

Relaxation massage

A group of soft tissue therapies intended to relax muscles, performed by a practitioner.

Relaxation training

Used to guide individuals to relax muscles not needed for various daily Activities. This may include progressive relaxation training (different muscle groups are systematically tensed and relaxed) or autogenic relaxation training (self-control of the body's physiological reactions).

Shock-wave therapy

A passive physical modality that is placed onto the skin; it involves acoustic waves associated with a sudden rise in pressure and are generated by electrohydraulic, piezoelectric and electromagnetic devices to send sound waves into areas of soft tissue.

300 | GLOSSARY

Short term

Less than three months.

Soft tissue therapy

A mechanical therapy in which muscles, tendons, and ligaments are passively pressed and kneaded by hand or with mechanical devices.

Spinal manipulation

Manual therapy applied to the spine that involves a high velocity, low amplitude impulse or thrust applied at or near the end of a joint's passive range of motion.

Strain-counterstrain

A soft tissue therapy that involves applied pressure to a muscle with positioning of the neck to provide a small stretch a muscle, performed by a practitioner.

Tensegrity

An architectural system where the structures stabilize themselves by balancing countering forces of tension and compression.

The Fascial System

The fascial system consists of the three-dimensional continuum of soft, collagen-containing, loose and dense fibrous connective tissues that permeate the body. It incorporates elements such as adipose tissue, adventitiae and neurovascular sheaths, aponeuroses, deep and superficial fasciae, epineurium, joint capsules, ligaments, membranes, meninges, myofascial expansions, periostea, retinacula, septa, tendons, visceral fasciae, and all the intramuscular and intermuscular connective tissues including endo-/peri-/epimysium.

Traction

Manual or mechanically assisted application of an intermittent or continuous distractive force.

Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation (TENS)

A passive physical modality connected to the skin, using two or more electrodes to apply low level electrical current. Typically used with the intent to help pain management.

Triggerpoint Therapy

A form of clinical massage where pressure and/or longitudinal stroking is applied over a trigger point in a muscle.

Yoga

An ancient Indian practice involving postural exercises, breathing control, and meditation.